Promoting Activity Behaviour in Adults with Multiple Sclerosis:

Feasibility, Preliminary Efficacy and Evaluation of Activity Measurement

Tools

by

Golnoush Mehrabani

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Rehabilitation Science

Faculty of Rehabilitation medicine

University of Alberta

© Golnoush Mehrabani, 2021

ABSTRACT

Background: Multiple sclerosis (MS) is the largest cause of non-traumatic neurological disability in young adults. Canada has one of the highest rates of MS in the world, with nearly 1 in every 385 Canadians living with the disease. People with MS deal with a broad range of symptoms including fatigue, pain, depression, cognitive impairment, imbalance, and walking disabilities. They, therefore, are less physically active and more sedentary than healthy peers. The physical activity guidelines specific to people with MS emphasize activities of moderate-intensity, however achieving moderate-intensity physical activity targets may be challenging for many individuals with MS due to associated symptoms. There is also growing evidence that prolonged sitting (sedentary behaviour) has harmful effects on health, regardless of physical activity levels in nondisabled populations. Thus, a new approach focusing on whole day activity behaviour (i.e., sedentary behaviour and light-intensity activities) may be more feasible, sustainable and beneficial to manage MS-related symptoms and function.

Objectives: To test the feasibility and preliminary efficacy of a new physical activity behaviour change intervention on reducing sedentary behaviour, and improving symptoms, quality of life, and physical performance in ambulatory adults with MS. The activity measurement tools used in the intervention have been validated with non-MS populations. To confirm the validity of the tools used, with our sample, two related validity studies were conducted.

Methods: A single-group repeated measure activity behaviour change intervention with the length of 15 weeks in addition to a 7-week follow-up period was designed. The intervention was internet-based and included two stages – 'Sit-Less' stage that focused on interrupting prolonged sitting and

'Move-More' stage that was focusing on increasing steps, improving daily activity levels and reducing overall sitting time. Forty-one persons with MS who were able to walk with or without assistive devices for at least 10 meters were included in the study. Participants attended 3 measurement sessions including pre-intervention (baseline), post-intervention (Week 15) and follow-up (Week 22). At each of these 3 data collection times, participants' activity behaviour and MS-related symptoms, quality of life and physical performance were assessed. They were set up with an ActivPAL3TM to wear for 7 days at each time point. Participants also wore a Fitbit One activity tracker as a motivational and self-monitoring tool for the 15-week intervention period. A laboratory-setting concurrent criterion validity study and a free-living convergent validity study were conducted to evaluate the validity of the 2 activity monitors (ActivePAL3TM and Fitbit One) used in the intervention in people with MS. An unstructured linear mixed-effects model was used to determine change in all outcomes over time. Validity of the ActivPAL3TM and the Fitbit One was tested in several ways including Intraclass correlation coefficients, mean absolute percentage error, and Bland-Altman plots.

Results: There were significant reductions in total sedentary time (d=0.34) and the number of long (≥ 30 minutes) bouts of sedentary time (d=0.39) as measured by the ActivPAL3TM postintervention. All symptoms and physical performance outcomes improved significantly after the intervention except cognition (P < 0.05). Those changes were maintained during the 7-week follow-up, except for sedentary behaviour and sleep quality. The ActivPAL3TM demonstrated validity evidence as a measurement tool for sedentary behaviour (sitting time), standing time and steps (ICC: 0.98). The Fitbit one demonstrated validity evidence (ICC: 0.88) for measurement of steps. There was good agreement between steps recorded by Fitbit One and ActivPAL3TM (ICC: 0.86). On average, the Fitbit One was worn for 85 days (i.e., 85% of the full intervention period) showing that participants were willing to monitor their activity behaviour over a long period and indicated the feasibility of wearing the Fitbit activity tracker in interventions that focus on sedentary behaviour and/or physical activity in the MS population.

Conclusion: This research provides preliminary support for the efficacy of a whole day physical activity behaviour change intervention focused on reducing sitting and increasing light intensity activity for improving outcomes in adults with MS.

PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Golnoush Mehrabani. Three out of 4 clinical studies in this thesis were part of the larger study called "SitLess with MS" led by Dr. Patricia Manns. The "SitLess with MS" study received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board, project name "Reducing sedentary behaviour: A novel opportunity for managing comorbidity in MS?", No. Pro00067657, April 6, 2017. The "SitLess with MS" study also received operational approval from the Northern Alberta Clinical Trials and Research Centre, and the Alberta Health Services Edmonton Zone (operational approval for recruitment through the Northern Alberta MS Clinic).

The study on Chapter 3 was designed by myself, with the assistance of Dr. Saeideh Aminian and Dr. Patricia Manns which received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board, project name "Validity of ActivPAL3TM and Fitbit One activity monitors in adults with multiple sclerosis in a laboratory setting" No. Pro00067657_AME2, June 14, 2017.

For all studies in this thesis, I was responsible for data collection, data cleaning, data analysis and manuscript preparation with assistance in all aspects from my supervisor Dr. Patricia Manns, my committee member Dr. Doug Gross and Dr. Saeideh Aminian. The data collection, data cleaning and analysis in chapters 2, 3, 4 and 5 and the design of the study in chapter 3 are my original work, as well as the literature review in chapter 1.

Chapter 2 of this thesis has been submitted as Golnoush Mehrabani, Saeideh Aminian, Sarah Norton, Robert W. Motl, and Patricia J. Manns. "Preliminary Efficacy of the "SitLess with MS" Intervention for Changing Sedentary Behaviour, Symptoms, and Physical Performance in Multiple Sclerosis" and is currently under review in the Disability and Rehabilitation Journal.

Chapter 3 was submitted as Golnoush Mehrabani, Saeideh Aminian, Douglas P. Gross and Patricia J. Manns[•] "Validity of ActivPAL3TM and Fitbit One activity monitors in adults with multiple sclerosis in a laboratory setting" to the Journal of Medical Engineering and Physics. The paper was rejected with the suggestion to change to a technical report. The deadline for submitting the new manuscript is March 31st.

Chapter 4 was submitted as Golnoush Mehrabani, Douglas P. Gross, Saeideh Aminian, and Patricia J. Manns[•] "Comparison of Fitbit One and ActivPAL3TM in adults with multiple sclerosis in a free-living environment" to the Journal for the Measurement of Physical Behaviour. After the first review, minor revisions were required and the deadline for submitting the revised manuscript is March 31st.

Dr. Patricia Manns is the supervisory author in all the papers and was involved in concept formation and manuscript edits.

DEDICATION

To Mahnaz, Davoud, Golshid, My grandmother Parvin and Steve

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I have been very fortunate throughout my doctoral work to have been supported and encouraged by so many people. For this, I am very grateful.

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Patricia (Trish) Manns who provided superb mentorship, support, and guidance throughout this doctoral program. I have appreciated all of your patience, and willingness to share your vast knowledge and expertise. You are an inspiring example of an excellent researcher who is making a difference in people's lives.

I deeply appreciate my supervisory committee members, Dr. Douglas Gross and Dr. Lesley Wiart who were also so generous with their time and expertise. You both have been very supportive and have guided me on the right path.

The research done in this thesis would not have been possible without the support of Dr, Saeideh Aminian who is a brilliant researcher. I am indeed very grateful!

I would also like to thank Dr. Penny Smyth, Dr. Jennifer McCombe, and Margaret Prociuk, from the Northern Alberta MS Clinic at the University of Alberta, for their invaluable help with recruitment in this project.

I would like to thank all of the participants in my studies whose help made these projects possible.

A sincere thank you also goes to everyone in the Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine at the University of Alberta who has been so supportive in this journey.

My profound gratitude goes to the Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine at the University of Alberta and Alberta Innovates for the financial support that I received over the course of my doctoral studies and research. A heartfelt thank you goes to my devoted mom Mahnaz, my supportive dad Davoud and my lovely sister Golshid for all the love and support that I have received throughout my graduate studies. I would not have been able to undertake this degree without your love, support and patience.

I wish to thank my love, Steve for all the support, caring and encouragement he provided and been so understanding of the hours I have spent working on these projects.

I would like to thank Dr. Victor Ezeugwu, Ms. Delaram Baghoori, Ms. Pegah Firouzeh, Dr. Alireza Rajabpour, Dr. Nevin Hammam, Ms. Lyne Bourassa, Ms. Jacqueline Rowley, Ms. Sarah Norton, and Mr. Felipe Ganz who made this journey very interesting! I cannot list all of them here, but all of you are always in my mind.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER	1. Introduction and Literature Review1
1.1 M	ultiple sclerosis
1.1.1	Epidemiology 2
1.1.2	Etiology 2
1.1.3	Clinical course in MS
1.1.4	Clinical features of MS
1.2 Pł	nysical activity
1.2.1	Physical activity in adults with multiple sclerosis7
1.3 Se	edentary behaviour in adults with multiple sclerosis
1.3.1	Sedentary behaviour and health outcomes 10
1.3.2	Light-intensity physical activity and its association with sedentary behaviour 11
1.3.3	Interventions to reduce sedentary behaviour in non-disabled individuals 14
1.3.4	Interventions to measure and reduce sedentary behaviour in MS population 16
1.4 M	leasurement of physical activity behaviour

1.4.1	Objective measurement of activity behaviour
1.5	Thesis Objectives and hypotheses
1.6	Structure of the Dissertation
СНАРТЕ	ER 2. Preliminary Efficacy of the "SitLess with MS" Intervention for Changing
Sedentary	y Behaviour, Symptoms, and Physical Performance in Multiple Sclerosis50
2.1	Introduction
2.2	Material and Methods 54
2.2.1	Study Design 54
2.2.2	Intervention
2.2.3	Participants and Recruitment 55
2.2.4	Study Procedures
2.2.5	Measures
2.2.6	Data analysis 59
2.3	Results
2.4	Discussion
2.5	Study Limitations

2.6	Conclusion	
CHAPT multiple	TER 3. Validity of ActivPAL3 TM and Fitbit One activity monitors e sclerosis in a laboratory setting	in adults with
3.1	Introduction	86
3.2	Methods	89
3.2.	1 Study Design	89
3.2.	2 Participants	89
3.2.	3 Recruitment	89
3.2.	4 Study Procedures and Data Collection	89
3.2.	5 Instruments	
3.2.	6 Data Analysis	
3.3	Results	
3.4	Discussion	103
3.5	Limitations	107
3.6	Conclusion	

CHAPTER 4. Comparison of Fitbit One and ActivPAL3 TM in adults with multiple sclerosis
in a free-living environment
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Material and Methods 120
4.2.1 Study Design
4.2.2 Study Context
4.2.3 Participants and Recruitment
4.2.4 Study Procedures and Data Collection
4.2.5 Instruments
4.2.6 Data Management and Analysis 124
4.3 Results
4.4 Discussion
4.5 Limitations
4.6 Conclusion
CHAPTER 5. Feasibility of use of a Fitbit activity tracker in adults with multiple sclerosis
over 15 weeks

5.1	Introduction	147
5.2	Material and Methods	149
5.2.	1 Study Design	149
5.2.2	2 Study Context	149
5.2.	3 Participants and Recruitment	150
5.2.4	4 Study Procedures and Data Collection	151
5.2.:	5 Instruments	153
5.2.0	6 Data Management and Analysis	154
5.3	Results	158
5.4	Discussion	163
5.5	Limitations	168
5.6	Conclusion	168
СНАРТ	ER 6. GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS 178	
6.1	Discussion of research findings	178
6.2	Strengths and limitations of the thesis	180

6.3	Practical implications and recommendations		2
6.4	Future research directions		1
6.5	Conclusions		7
REFER	ENCES	192	
APPEN	DICES	222	
Appe	ndix A: Northern Alberta Clinical Trial Research Centre	223	3
Appe	ndix B: Application for Operational Approval	224	1
Appe	ndix C: Approval From	225	5
Appe	ndix D: Notification of Approval – Amendment	227	7
Appe	ndix E: Sit Less with MS Poster	228	3
Appe	ndix F: Information Letter (I)	229)
Appe	ndix G: Information Letter (II)		3
Appe	ndix H: Consent Form		5
Appe	ndix I: Consent to Release Contact Information		7
Appe	ndix J: Consent Form		3

Appendix K: "Sit Less with MS" Manual	239
Appendix L: Fitbit One Manual	262
Appendix M: How to Use Fitbit One	286
Appendix N: ActivPAL3 TM Log	289
Appendix O: Patient-Determined Disease Steps	291
Appendix P: Kurtzke Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS)	292
Appendix Q: Fatigue Severity Scale	297
Appendix R: Modified Fatigue Impact Scale	298
Appendix S: SF-36 Quality of Life Questionnaire	300
Appendix T: Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire	305
Appendix U: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale	306
Appendix V: Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire	308
Appendix W: Symbol Digit Modalities Test	310
Appendix X: 10 Meter Walk Test Score Sheet	311
Appendix Y: 6 Minute Walk Test Score Sheet	312

Appendix Z: Short Physical Performance Battery	Score Sheet	31	5
--	-------------	----	---

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1: Measures of symptoms, quality of life, and physical performance in adults with
MS
Table 2-2: Participant characteristics
Table 2-3: Change in sedentary behaviour outcomes across three time points
Table 2-4: Change in symptoms and quality of life across three time points
Table 2-5: Change in physical performance outcomes across three time points
Table 2-6: Effect size of the "SitLess with MS" intervention on sedentary behaviour outcomes, symptoms and physical performance outcomes 67
Table 2.1. Tasks a suffermed by a sticipants
Table 3-1: Tasks performed by participants
Table 3-2: Participants' characteristics (n = 31)
Table 3-3: Averages for the duration of postures and number of transitions recorded by the
ActivPAL3TM and direct observation
Table 3-4: Step count during the 6-minute walk as measured by direct observation, the
ActivPAL3TM and Fitbit One Locations
Table 3-5: ICC for the ActivPAL3TM and the Fitbits against direct observation

Table 3-6: Bland-Altman mean differences and limits of agreement from the devices against
direct observation and the devices against each other for measuring step counts during the 6-
minute walk
Table 4-1: Participants' characteristics (N = 25) 127
Table 4-2: Daily and average step counts for each device and absolute differences between
the devices during valid days
Table 4-3: Intraclass Correlation Coefficients and paired sample t-test between the devices for
daily stepcounts and the average step counts during valid days
Table 4-4: Average step counts, absolute differences, and Intraclass Correlation Coefficients
for two Fitbit locations
Table 4-5: Average step counts, absolute differences, and Intraclass Correlation Coefficients
for both gait-speed groups
Table 5-1: Three-time points for the measurement of activity behaviour by Fitbit and
ActivPAL
Table 5-2: Participants' characteristics (n = 41)
Table 5-3: Number of Fitbit steps per valid day at each week of the "SitLess with MS"
Intervention
Table 5-4: Number of Fitbit valid days at each stage and full intervention

Table 5-5: Change in number of steps per valid days across three-time points 162

	• ,								162
· · ·							-	•	•

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Activity Continuum 12
Figure 2-1: Timeline of the "SitLess with MS" intervention program
Figure 3-1: Mean absolute percentage error for the steps from the ActivPAL3 TM and the two
Fitbit locations against direct observation
Figure 3-2: Bland-Altman plots comparing step counts over a 6-minute walk test for the
ActivPAL3TM and the two Fitbit One Locations
Figure 4-1: Bland-Altman plot comparing the average step counts over valid days from the
Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM for all participants
Figure 5-1: Timeline of the "SitLess with MS" intervention program

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: Northern Alberta Clinical Trial Research Centre	. 223
Appendix B: Application for Operational Approval	. 224
Appendix C: Approval From	. 225
Appendix D: Notification of Approval – Amendment	. 227
Appendix E: Sit Less with MS Poster	. 228
Appendix F: Information Letter (I)	. 229
Appendix G: Information Letter (II)	. 233
Appendix H: Consent Form	. 236
Appendix I: Consent to Release Contact Information	. 237
Appendix J: Consent Form	. 238
Appendix K: "Sit Less with MS" Manual	. 239
Appendix L: Fitbit One Manual	. 262
Appendix M: How to Use Fitbit One	. 286
Appendix N: ActivPAL3 TM Log	. 289

	Appendix O: Patient-Determined Disease Steps	. 291
	Appendix P: Kurtzke Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS)	. 292
	Appendix Q: Fatigue Severity Scale	. 297
	Appendix R: Modified Fatigue Impact Scale	. 298
	Appendix S: SF-36 Quality of Life Questionnaire	. 300
	Appendix T: Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire	. 305
	Appendix U: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale	. 306
	Appendix V: Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire	. 308
	Appendix W: Symbol Digit Modalities Test	. 310
	Appendix X: 10 Meter Walk Test Score Sheet	. 311
	Appendix Y: 6 Minute Walk Test Score Sheet	. 312
A	Appendix Z: Short Physical Performance Battery Score Sheet	315

CHAPTER 1. Introduction and Literature Review

The introduction and literature review chapter is presented in sections focused on topics related to multiple sclerosis (MS), activity behaviour of persons with MS and its association with health outcomes, and methods for measurement of activity behaviour and their psychometric properties. The information in this chapter provides rationale for the research questions.

1.1 Multiple sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis is a chronic autoimmune inflammatory disease of the central nervous system (CNS), characterized by intermittent and recurrent episodes of inflammation that result in demyelination and consequent damage of the axons in the brain, optic nerve, and spinal cord.^{1,2} The exact etiology and particular mechanisms of the MS disease are not known.³ However, current knowledge suggests that MS comprises an autoimmune process in which the immune system attacks itself against the myelin sheath (i.e., the protective layer surrounding the neural cells) of the CNS axons.⁴ Existence of the myelin sheath is essential to carry the electrical signals through a neuron and among neural cells.⁵ When the myelin is damaged, it is replaced by hardened scar tissue and the electrical impulses are not conveyed efficiently.⁵ The slow or altered conduction of electrical signals has a disrupting influence on almost every physical, sensory, mental, and emotional activity.⁵ Early in the disease progresses and the myelin sheath damage increases, there is a significant reduction in the remyelination process.⁶

1.1.1 Epidemiology

MS is the largest cause of non-traumatic neurological disability in young adults.⁷ Statistics indicate that 2.5 million individuals live with MS worldwide.⁸ The median prevalence of MS is 33 per 100,000 individuals globally with immense variance among different countries.⁹ Canada has one of the highest prevalence of MS in the world (260 per 100,000 individuals), with approximately 77,000 Canadians (1 in every 385 Canadians) living with the disease.¹⁰ On average, 11 Canadians are diagnosed with MS every day.¹⁰

Women are 3 times more likely than men to develop MS.¹⁰ The disease can occur at any age; however, initial symptoms usually emerge during early adulthood, typically between the ages of 20 and 49.¹⁰ The chronic progressive nature of the disease can lead to significant life changes.¹¹ The reported average survival following an MS diagnosis is 38 years.¹¹ With the use of disease-modifying therapies, lifespan has substantially increased over the past few decades among individuals with MS.¹² Indeed, approximately 90% of adults with MS live to 70 years of age or older.¹²

1.1.2 Etiology

Although the exact cause of MS is unknown, genetic and environmental factors both appear to impact an individual's susceptibility to developing the disease.¹³ MS is not considered a genetic disorder, however, there are many genetic factors that appear to play a role to increase the risk of developing the disease. Research shows that 15-20% of persons with MS have a family history of MS.¹⁴ The risk of developing MS in the general population is about 0.1% while the risk for a child with one parent who has MS is almost 2%.¹⁵ For identical twins, studies show that if one twin has

MS, the risk of developing MS in the other is 30%.¹⁶ These findings support the role of genetics in developing MS since relatives of the affected individuals are more likely to develop MS.

Evidence indicates that MS prevalence is strongly correlated with latitudinal gradient (i.e., farther north, greater prevalence). Latitude is significantly linked to ultraviolet light exposure, which is the main stimulant of cutaneous vitamin D production.^{17,18} As expected, the prevalence of MS is greater in more northern countries such as Canada, United States, Norway, Denmark, Sweden and Finland¹⁸ presumably due to the lower ultraviolet radiation and low sun exposure.^{19,20} Moving from one geographical region to another also appears to affect the risk of developing MS.²¹ Migration studies demonstrate that immigrants tend to obtain the risk level of the region to which they move, nevertheless, the risk is mediated by the age at the time of moving.²¹ People who move in early childhood have the same risk level as the native population, however, for persons who move later in life this change in risk level may not appear until the next generation.²¹ For example, if an individual moves to Canada from a Middle Eastern country before puberty, they will adapt the risk level of Canada for developing MS the same as a native Canadian.

In addition, higher levels of vitamin D probably have a protective role in susceptible patients²⁰ as lower rate of MS relapse has been reported in patients with higher serum levels of vitamin D.^{19,20} These findings provide support for the theory that early exposure to an environmental factor in genetically susceptible individuals affects the risk of developing MS.

1.1.3 Clinical course in MS

Prior to receiving a diagnosis of MS, individuals may experience Clinically Isolated Syndrome (CIS), defined as one acute or subacute neurological episode that lasts at least 24 hours, with or without recovery, and in the absence of fever or infection.²² CIS is caused by inflammation or demyelination of the neural cells in CNS and can be either monofocal or multifocal.²² In a monofocal episode, a single neurologic sign or symptom such as optic neuritis develops which is caused by a single lesion. In a multifocal episode, more than one sign or symptom such as optic neuritis and tingling in the legs is experienced by the individual which are caused by lesions in more than one place.²² Therefore, CIS can be a single symptom or combination of a few symptoms depending on the location of the lesion(s) but it is only one clinical episode.²² The conversion rate of CIS to clinically definite MS which is characterised by 1 of the 3 courses (relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS), secondary progressive MS (SPMS), and primary progressive MS (PPMS) is 48.1% at 10 years.²³

At diagnosis, eighty-five percent of individuals with MS have relapsing-remitting MS.^{24,25} A relapse is described as new or recurrent neurologic symptoms which are not associated with fever or infection lasting for at least 24 hours and accompanied by new neurologic signs confirmed by the neurologist.²² Relapses may last for weeks to months and be followed by relative or complete remission for months to years without disease activity.^{9,24} The longer the duration of the disease, it is more probable the relapses leave sequela during the remission phase.^{13,26}

Approximately 80% of individuals with RRMS transition into SPMS in 20 years^{27,28} which is described as progressive neurologic deterioration in the course of the disease between relapses

without any definite duration of remission.^{26,29} Sometimes minor remissions can take place while the occasional relapses exit.²⁴

Ten to 15% of individuals with MS are diagnosed with PPMS.^{25,30} There is no remission after the first relapse and the progression of neurologic deficits from the beginning is the main characteristic of PPMS.^{24,30} However, very minimal and occasional remissions may occur.^{24,30} The common age for onset of the PPMS is older than RRMS and is more similar to SPMS (i.e., 40 years or older)³⁰. In the relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive forms, women are usually affected two to three times more than men while in PPMS, the numbers of women and men are almost equal.³⁰

Awareness of the clinical course of MS provides the opportunity to predict the prognosis and the future course of the disease. It also guides treatment decisions.

1.1.4 Clinical features of MS

Axonal demyelination, transection and loss of the neural cells in the brain and spinal cord over time result in the clinical manifestations of MS.¹ The symptoms experienced by individuals with MS vary significantly depending on the location and size of the CNS lesions.^{1,31} For instance, lesions in the frontal and parietal lobes of the brain usually lead to cognitive and emotional impairments, while lesions in the cerebrum, brain stem, and spinal cord result in impairment of the physical function of the extremities.³² Despite great variability in symptom presentation among individuals with MS, some symptoms are considered hallmark symptoms and are seen more frequently.^{5,33} The most common symptoms independent of the clinical course of the disease are fatigue, with a prevalence of 58%, spasticity (47.5%), voiding disorders (44%), ataxia/tremor

(36%), pain (34%), cognitive impairments (33%), and depression (32.5%).³³ Fatigue is the most frequently reported symptom in individuals with RRMS (58%) while spasticity is the most prevalent symptom in persons with SPMS (82%) and PPMS (74%).³³

The neurodegenerative and progressive nature of MS leads to the accumulation of impairments and dysfunctions in a majority of patients with MS.³⁴ Based on previous studies, 40% to 50% of persons with MS require walking assistance after 15 years of disease onset due to mobility impairments.^{26,35} The great range of impairments result in lower health-related quality of life not only than healthy individuals, ³⁶ but also when compared with patients of other chronic autoimmune and non-autoimmune disorders.³⁷ The impairments and disabilities also limit daily functioning and participation in physical activities.^{38–41}

1.2 Physical activity

Physical activity is defined as body movements produced by skeletal muscle contractions resulting in an increase in energy expenditure of > 1.5 metabolic equivalents (METs).⁴² One MET is the oxygen consumed during rest and is equal to 3.5 ml O_2 per kilogram body weight per minute (ml/kg/min).⁴³ Physical activity is categorized according to the energy expenditure during the activity including light-intensity (1.6-2.9 METs), moderate-intensity (3-5.9 METs) and vigorous-intensity ($\geq 6 \text{ METs}$).^{44,45} Physical activity can be also subdivided into exercise activities (the regular and structured performance of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity) and non-exercise activities (I.e. light-intensity activities include activities of daily living such as fidgeting, or slow walking).⁴²

The 2020 World Health Organization Guidelines for Physical Activity recommend that healthy adults participate in at least 150 to 300 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity, or 75 to 150 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity per week, or an equivalent combination of moderate-and-vigorous intensity aerobic activity.⁴⁶ Adults should also perform muscle-strengthening activities of at least moderate-intensity two or more days per week to gain optimal health benefits.⁴⁶ These guidelines have been recognized as applicable in patients with disability and chronic diseases, including patients with MS.⁴⁶

1.2.1 Physical activity in adults with multiple sclerosis

Virtually every individual can benefit from regular physical activity participation as it leads to the decreases in the risk of more than 25 chronic health conditions such as overweight and obesity, depression, cancers, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and premature mortality.⁴⁷ In addition to these benefits, physical activity is associated with reduction in rates of MS relapses and worsening of MS symptoms and slowed disability progression over time.^{48–51} Physical activity, therefore, has been suggested as a symptomatic and disease-modifying treatment at the early stages of the disease.⁵² Despite the evidence, physical activity levels are significantly reduced in persons with MS.^{41,53} The symptoms of MS such as fatigue, pain or depression in addition to disability accumulation represent the primary explanation for low levels of physical activity in the MS population.⁵⁴ These manifestations make it difficult for patients with MS to achieve or maintain the recommended amount of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity.^{55–57}

Motl et al.,⁵⁸ used a self-report measure of physical activity and reported that patients with MS are 2.5 times more likely to report insufficient physical activity (defined by the score of less

than 14 from the Godin-Shephard Leisure-Time Physical Activity Questionnaire⁵⁹) and 2.3 times less likely to report sufficient physical activity levels for health benefits compared with the healthy control group. They found that approximately 60% of individuals with MS are insufficiently active compared to 23% of healthy controls.⁵⁸ Another study by Klaren and colleagues with the use of an activity monitor for measurement of physical activity levels reported a significant difference in the rate of meeting physical activity health guidelines among the MS population and the healthy controls.⁶⁰ Only 20% of the patients with MS met the physical activity guidelines while the rate of meeting guidelines was 47% in the healthy controls.⁶⁰ Partly as a result of the low levels of reported physical activity in those with MS, a set of physical activity recommendations specific to individuals with MS has been developed.⁶¹ According to the Canadian physical activity guidelines for special populations, adults with MS should engage in a minimum of 30 minutes of moderateintensity aerobic activity twice a week and resistance training activities including all major muscle groups 2 days per week to gain optimal health benefits.⁶¹

There is a strong association between levels of physical activity and level of disability in people with MS.⁶² Individuals with more severe mobility impairment engage in less physical activity and are less likely to meet physical activity guideline' recommendations.^{63,64}

Moreover, the manifestations of MS⁶⁵ in addition to mobility disabling consequences⁶⁵ and concurrent comorbidities such as hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, coronary heart disease, and obesity, which are prevalent and troublesome in patients with MS,⁶⁶ may predispose sedentary behaviour in the MS population.

1.3 Sedentary behaviour in adults with multiple sclerosis

Sedentary behaviour refers to any waking activity characterized by an energy expenditure of ≤ 1.5 METs in a sitting or reclining posture.⁶⁷ Sedentary behaviour is usually described as a total daily volume (e.g., min/day of sitting), but it can be additionally expressed based on its pattern and distribution (i.e., number of sedentary breaks per day, number of daily prolonged sedentary bouts and average duration of daily sedentary bouts).⁶⁸ A break in sedentary behaviour is defined as a point in time where there is a change from a sedentary behaviour to a non-sedentary behaviour.⁶⁸ A sedentary bout is a minimum uninterrupted period of sitting, reclining or lying.⁶⁸ Furthermore, a prolonged sedentary bout is a sedentary bout with a duration > 30 minutes.⁶⁸

People with MS spend a large amount of time in sedentary behaviour.^{65,68,69} A study by Sasaki et al. which assessed the self-reported daily sitting time illustrated that North American adults with MS reported twice as much time sitting (8 hours/day) as the general population of North Americans (4 hours/day).⁷⁰ The results showed that participants with moderate or severe disability but ambulatory, or severe disability but non-ambulatory were 1.57, 2.62, and 8.70 times more likely, respectively, to sit excessively (above the 75th percentile of sitting time) than those with mild disability.⁷⁰

Ezeugwu and colleagues assessed objectively-derived patterns of sedentary and physical activity behaviours in people with MS.⁶⁸ Patients without mobility disability (Patient Determined Disease Steps score < 3) spent 60% of their daily waking hours (8.4 hours) sedentary while those with mobility disability spent 65% of waking time (8.9 hours) sedentary.⁶⁸ They found that higher levels of disability are associated with greater sedentary time and a greater average number of prolonged sedentary bouts (\geq 30 minutes).⁶⁸ Their findings were consistent with a study by

Hubbard et al., that included an objective measurement of sedentary behaviour and found a significant correlation between the disability status and sedentary time in patients with MS.⁷¹ The results of these 2 studies^{68,71} with use of devices for measurement of sedentary behaviour were in agreement with the findings of Sasaki et al.⁷⁰

1.3.1 Sedentary behaviour and health outcomes

In general, there is a consistent link between high levels of sedentary behaviour and increased morbidity and mortality in epidemiological studies.^{72–77} A strong association between high levels of sedentary time with larger waist circumference, greater probability of overweight or obesity, higher triglycerides and lower HDL-cholesterol levels, higher amount of C-reactive protein, fasting plasma glucose and insulin resistance have also been found.^{72–74} Decrease in protective factors such as HDL-cholesterol and increase in the cardiometabolic risk factors (e.g., triglyceride and fasting plasma glucose) leads to higher prevalence of hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, cancers and cardiovascular mortality in sedentary individuals.^{75–78} These associations are independent of physical activity levels^{75,79} and sedentary behaviour is considered an additional and separate detrimental factor to the negative effects of low levels of physical activity on health.⁸⁰

In addition to the negative effects of sedentary behaviour on cardiometabolic health,^{78,81,82} a recent systematic review⁸¹ supporting the new Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines⁸³ demonstrates an association between high levels of sedentary time with cognitive function, fatigue, disability, depression, physical activity levels and physical health-related quality of life in healthy adults. Fatigue, depression and cognitive impairments are amongst the most common symptoms of MS³³ and, based on the results of the systematic review,⁸¹ large amounts of sedentary time in people with MS worsens those symptoms over time in addition to all other negative health consequences.^{68,71,84,85} There is also some evidence regarding the detrimental effects of sedentary behaviour on health outcomes among persons with MS such as increase in blood pressure.⁸⁶ Moreover, sedentary behaviour is negatively associated with disability status,^{68,71,84} function,⁸⁵ walking endurance and walking speed⁷¹ in the MS population. However, there is a lack of research on the consequences of high sedentary time on the risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes and mortality in the MS population.⁸⁷

Despite the significant impact of the total amount of daily sedentary time on health, the pattern of accumulation of sedentary behaviour throughout the day is also important.^{73,88} Evidence indicates that fewer breaks in daily sedentary time, longer durations of uninterrupted sedentary bouts and more long sitting bouts (\geq 30 min) are negatively associated with several cardiometabolic biomarkers including body mass index, waist circumference, HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, blood pressure, 2-hour postprandial glucose and fasting plasma glucose in adults.^{89–91} Nevertheless, it is unknown whether the rates or patterns of sedentary behaviour predict the physical or mental health outcomes and/or quality of life in the MS population. Putting all together, a new approach focusing on reduction of sedentary time and promoting activity level in individuals with MS is needed.

1.3.2 Light-intensity physical activity and its association with sedentary behaviour

The results of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey showed that adults spent an average of 7.7 hours daily in sedentary behaviour, 7.8 hours in light-intensity physical activities, 0.2 hours in moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activities and 8.3 hours in sleep.⁹²

Moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activities make up a very small portion of an individual's waking hours $(3-6\%)^{93}$ and thus focus has broadened to light-intensity physical activities.



Figure 1-1: Activity Continuum

Figure adapted from Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines: Glossary of Terms at https://csep.ca/CMFiles/Guidelines/24hrGlines/24HourGuidelinesGlossary_2017.pdf

METs: Metabolic equivalent.

Light-intensity activities (non-exercise physical activity) include activities such as standing, slow walking, washing dishes, and other routine domestic or occupational tasks.⁹⁴ Evidence indicates that when sedentary time is reduced, it is typically replaced by light-intensity physical activity and not moderate-to-vigorous physical activity.⁹³ These non-exercise physical activities (light intensity activities), constitute a large portion (30%-40%) of an individual's daily activities⁹⁵ and are the main determining factor of variability in total daily energy expenditure.⁹⁶

A recent systematic review which included 72 studies showed that higher levels of lightintensity physical activity were associated with adults' cardiometabolic health and decrease mortality risk in non-disabled populations.⁹⁷ Dunstan et al. reported that breaking up periods of prolonged sitting with 2-min bouts of light-intensity activity each 20-minutes led to a 24% reduction in postprandial glucose and a 23% decrease in insulin resistance in comparison with uninterrupted sitting in obese and overweight individuals.⁹⁸ Another study by Healy and colleagues illustrated that increased breaks in sedentary time lasting at least 1 minute, led to a significant decrease in the levels of triglycerides and 2-hour plasma glucose, BMI, and waist circumference independent of total sedentary time.⁹⁹ These studies provide a better understanding of how adults' metabolic health is related to the pattern of accumulation of physical activity behaviour throughout the day.^{98–100} Since the evidence suggests that interrupting sedentary time with light-intensity activities such as walking with even a relatively short duration (e.g. 1 minute) is associated with benefits to metabolic health, activity guidelines advise to regularly break up sedentary time.^{90,99,101–103}

It is therefore important to consider all activity behaviours across the energy expenditure spectrum (Figure 1-1), and not only focus on the least frequently performed activity behaviour (moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity) in spite of the greatest health benefits through moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity.¹⁰⁴ Based on previous research, sedentary behaviour and light-intensity physical activity play an important role in maintaining health since they make up 93-96 % of the total daily activity behaviours during waking hours.

Sedentary behaviour is considered a health-behaviour target on the non-exercise end of the activity continuum for promoting activity level since it comprises a large volume of an individual's daily waking hours.¹⁰⁵ Consequently, reducing time spent in sedentary behaviour and increasing light-intensity physical activity might be a more feasible and accessible behavioural change approach to promote physical activity in patients with disability such as persons with MS. It is probably more feasible to interrupt sedentary time with short breaks of light-intensity activity such as standing or slow walking across various settings, including home or workplace. Strategies to break up sitting include getting up during television advertisements or taking short breaks during prolonged periods of sitting at work.⁹⁹ Frequent breaks in the sitting time with activities as minimal
as standing lead to significant increases in total daily energy expenditure and battle fat gain.^{106,107} However, to date, no research has explored an approach that mainly incorporates decreasing prolonged sitting, (i.e., breaking up sitting) and increasing light intensity activities (i.e., frequently standing or walking) in the MS population.⁸⁷

1.3.3 Interventions to reduce sedentary behaviour in non-disabled individuals

Older adults are one of the main groups with the greatest amount of time spent on sedentary behaviour^{108–110} and therefore, are more predisposed to negative impacts of prolonged sitting on their health.

One of the first sedentary behaviour interventions was conducted by Gardiner et al.¹¹¹ who examined the feasibility of an acute 1-week intervention to reduce overall sedentary time in older adults. The effect of the intervention on total daily sedentary time, light-intensity and moderate-to-vigorous-intensity physical activities were evaluated using ActiGraph.¹¹¹ The main intervention message was to stand up and move after 30 minutes of uninterrupted sitting.¹¹¹ There was a significant reduction (- 3.2%) in total daily sedentary time and a significant increase in the number of breaks in sedentary time (4 more breaks per day) and the time spent on light-intensity (2.2%) and moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activities (4.6%) at post-intervention.¹¹¹ The results supported the feasibility, safety, and positive effects of an intervention mainly targeting reduction in sedentary behaviour and this work provided the foundation for subsequent sedentary behaviour interventions with longer duration and more complex research designs.

A recent systematic review assessed the feasibility, safety and effectiveness of the interventions focusing on reducing sedentary behaviour in non-working older adults.¹¹² A total of 6 studies were included, 3 of which incorporated control groups, whereas the other three were repeated-measures pre-post designs.¹¹² There was no follow-up in the included studies indicating lack of evidence regarding the sustainability of the intervention effect. Three of the included studies used self-report measure of sedentary behavior and the other three studies used accelerometers for measurement of sedentary time. The intervention duration varied from 2 to 8 weeks with a mean of 5.5 weeks.¹¹² The results demonstrated that those interventions were feasible and safe and had the potential to decrease sitting time.¹¹² They found between 3.2 % to 5.3% reduction (up to 53.9 minutes reduction per day) in objectively measured daily sedentary time following the intervention.¹¹² A recent review also evaluated 15 sedentary behaviour intervention studies in adults.¹¹³ Most interventions (n = 12) were implemented in the workplace, two in the neighbourhood environment and one in an education institution setting.¹¹³ Nine out of 15 studies included a randomised control trial design.¹¹³ Two studies used self-report, nine studies used objective measures, and four used a combination of objective and self-report measures of sedentary behaviour.¹¹³ The results showed a significant reduction in total daily sedentary behaviour, including total sitting time, work sitting time and leisure sitting time in more than 50% of the included studies (n = 9) in adults.¹¹³ On average, there was an 8 to 122 minutes per day reduction in total sedentary behaviour across studies.¹¹³

In relation to the effects of sedentary behaviour on cardiometabolic health, a systematic review by Saunders et al. which included 25 intervention studies, assessed the effect of long sitting bouts on cardiometabolic risk in healthy adults.¹⁰⁰ They found that uninterrupted sedentary behaviour led to moderate and detrimental changes in insulin sensitivity, glucose tolerance, and

plasma triglyceride levels and increases in metabolic risk.¹⁰⁰ Another recent systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the effects of interventions targeting reductions in sedentary behaviour only or combined with increases in physical activity on cardiometabolic biomarkers in adults and the elderly.¹¹⁴ Small significant beneficial effects on weight, waist circumference, percentage body fat, systolic blood pressure, insulin, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol were reported.¹¹⁴

All the above studies demonstrate the feasibility and effectiveness of interventions with a primary focus on reducing sedentary behaviour on increasing daily activity levels and improving health outcomes.

1.3.4 Interventions to measure and reduce sedentary behaviour in MS population

To date, only one sedentary behaviour intervention study specific to patients with MS with mild to moderate disability has been conducted.¹¹⁵ Klaren et al. designed a 6-month internet-based behavioural change intervention including startegies according to social cognitive theory constructs for behaviour change and assessed sedentary behaviour by a self-reported questionnaire before and after the intervention. No follow-up measurement was done to determine whether the results are sustainable over time.¹¹⁵ Participants who received the intervention showed a significant reduction in total daily sitting time¹¹⁵ which is promising. However, although sedentary behaviour was the main outcome of the study¹¹⁵, the use of a self-report measure of sedentary time which is limited by issues such as memory recall, social desirability and underestimation,^{116,117} and differences between the intervention and the control groups in reported sedentary time at baseline limited the conclusions drawn from the study.¹¹⁵

Education (i.e., providing information regarding the beneficial and/or detrimental effect of a behaviour on health), behavioural change strategies using social cognitive theory and exercise prescription are the most common methods used in the design of interventions with focus on promoting physical activity levels in people with MS.^{118–120} In addition, social cognitive theory is the most frequently used behavioural change strategy for understanding, modifying, and promoting physical activity behaviour in person with MS¹²⁰ which might be the reason for use of this theory in the design of the first sedentary behaviour intervention in people with MS.¹¹⁵ Social cognitive theory consists of four main constructs including self-efficacy, outcome expectations, goal setting, and perceived barriers and facilitators.¹²¹ Self-efficacy refers to the level of an individual's confidence in their ability to successfully perform or change a behavior.¹²¹ Outcome expectations refers to the expected costs and benefits and predicted consequences of an individual's behavior and may or may not be health-related.¹²¹ Goal setting refers to setting realistic, measurable and achievable goals to ensure success from beginning.¹²¹ Understanding, perceived barriers and facilitators, and how to overcome or utilize them to change behaviour is the final part of social cognitive theory. ¹²¹

Social cognitive theory constructs have been studied in young, middle-aged and older adults with MS,^{122–126} and significant associations between those constructs and physical activity behaviour were observed. Furthermore, a recent study by Motl et al. showed that both self-reported and device-measured sedentary behaviour is correlated with self-efficacy, goal setting, planning and perceived barriers for reducing sedentary behavior.¹²⁷ All those constructs except goal setting independently explained 33 % of variance in self-reported sedentary behaviour.¹²⁷ while only self-efficacy independently explained 10% of variance in device-measured sedentary behavior.¹²⁷

Therefore, social cognitive theory constructs might be reasonable and modifiable targets for decreasing sedentary behavior in people with MS following activity behavior interventions.

Another recent study¹²⁸ examined the feasibility and initial efficacy of a 3-month behaviour change intervention on activity behaviour outcomes and levels of fatigue and pain in adults with MS. The intervention was comprised of a handbook and four one-on-one face-to-face physical activity sessions with participants, along with the usual care services.¹²⁹ The handbook included effective methods for prompting physical activity levels that were draw from several behaviour change theories and did not focus on a particular behaviour change theory.¹²⁹ They used the ActivPAL for the measurement of sedentary behaviour.¹²⁸ Despite the objective measurement of sedentary behaviour, the intervention primarily focused on increasing physical activity levels and largely did not focus on reducing sedentary behaviour.¹²⁹ There was a decrease in sedentary time in both groups post-intervention, but no significant difference in the total daily sedentary time was found between groups.¹²⁸ Moreover, fatigue and pain were the only MS symptoms that were tested before and after the intervention.¹²⁸

To date, no research has focused on the design and evaluation of an intervention that primarily targets reduction of daily sedentary time and increasing light intensity activities during the day in the MS population. There is also no research on the effectiveness of a sedentary behaviour intervention on activity behaviour change, and on several common MS symptoms such as fatigue, depression, anxiety, and cognitive impairment in persons with MS. Therefore, a new activity behaviour change intervention with the main focus on reducing sedentary time and evaluation of the changes in sedentary and activity behaviours, MS symptoms and physical function is required. However, accurate measurement of sedentary behaviour and physical activity is essential to identify current activity levels and to allow assessment of the effectiveness of activity interventions.

1.4 Measurement of physical activity behaviour

A first step to changing a behaviour is to understand that behaviour. In order to understand an activity behaviour, it has to be measured accurately; self-report and/or observation. Self-report assessment relies on the individuals' ability to recall the activities that they were engaged in during the last few days, few weeks or even a few months.^{130,131} Questionnaires, surveys, diaries and logbooks are self-reported tools that can be used to measure physical activity and sedentary behaviour.^{116,130} Questionnaires are the most frequently used example of the self-report assessment.¹³²They contain a number of selected items with the intention to standardize the collection of specific information about facts or opinions of an individual.¹³² For example, sedentary behaviour consists of various activities in different domains.¹³³ By self-report measurement of sedentary time, categorization into particular behaviours such as TV viewing time or specific domains including work, domestic or transportation is feasible.¹³⁴ Furthermore, selfreport assessment is suitable for measuring the activity levels of a large sample size as it is inexpensive and easy to use. Nevertheless, it may be influenced by overestimation and difficulties with memory recall.^{116,117}

On the other hand, objective measurement (observational measurement) relies on information generated through direct observation or from activity monitors.^{135,136} Although self-report assessment provides researchers useful information, observed measurement appears more accurate.¹³¹ Accelerometry and pedometry are the most commonly used measurement tools, yielding outcomes such as activity counts, sitting time and steps taken. ^{136–140} Accelerometers are

typically consumer-grade such as Fitbit^{141,142} or research-grade such as ActivPAL3TM.^{143,144} Research-grade accelerometers are generally more expensive, more accurate, and not utilised by the public.^{143,144} However, consumer-grade accelerometers are increasingly used by people because of their accessibility and lower price.^{141,142}

When researchers decide to measure sedentary behaviour, they have to consider the measurement method with the ability to assess the frequency, duration, and volume of the exposure with minimal bias.¹³² Objective measurement of sedentary behaviour is more accurate¹³¹ and provides information regarding the overall sedentary time, the number of interruptions in sedentary time known as breaks and the number of sedentary bouts across a day.¹³⁴

1.4.1 Objective measurement of activity behaviour

Accelerometry is the most frequently used objective measurement tool.^{135,139} Accelerometers are motion sensors that detect and measure the accelerations of body movements.¹³⁵ They have the ability to estimate the duration and intensity of movements. Movement counts are the summation of accelerations during a specific period and demonstrate a quantitative measurement related to the intensity of participants' movements.¹³⁵

1.4.1.1 Research-grade Accelerometers

There are many different research-grade accelerometers, but two of the most frequently used ones are the ActiGraph and the ActivPAL.

ActiGraph

The ActiGraph activity monitor (ActiGraph, Pensacola, FL, USA) is a lightweight (27 g),

compact (3.8×3.7×1.8 cm) triaxial accelerometer with a rechargeable lithium-polymer battery.¹⁴⁵ It collects motion data on 3 axes and measures the frequency and amplitude of accelerations of the body segment it is attached to.¹⁴⁶ The ActiGraph uses a proprietary filtering algorithm to convert accelerations to activity counts per minute. They are then reported in specific time intervals or epochs, usually 1-minute epochs.¹⁴⁶ Activity counts per minute are stored in the ActiGraph's memory and the data can be downloaded and processed using ActiLife software. The activity count reflects the energy cost of physical activity.¹⁴⁵ The device is able to provide information regarding the different levels of activity including sedentary behaviour, light and moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity levels, according to the specified cut points, with sedentary behaviour being <100 counts per minute.¹⁴⁶ The device is worn on the hip attached by an elastic belt during waking hours and is a valid and reliable measure of physical activity.⁴⁴

Distinguishing between sitting and standing is an important component of understanding and quantifying sedentary behaviour.¹⁴⁷ The ActiGraph does not distinguish postures (i.e. sitting versus standing) and in case of the lack of movement, such as standing still (a stationary, non-sedentary behaviour), counts may go below 100 counts per minute leading to misclassification of behaviour.¹⁴⁸ This limits the use of the ActiGraph for the measurement of sedentary behaviour.

ActivPAL3TM

The ActivPAL^{3TM} (PAL Technologies Ltd, Glasgow, UK) is a light and small (3.5 cm \times 5.3 cm \times 0.7 cm; 15 gr) triaxial activity monitor that measures accelerations of the thigh at a sampling frequency of 20 Hz.¹⁴⁹ The device has an in-built inclinometer to determine posture based on the thigh inclination ^{149,150} and summarizes data in 15-second intervals (epochs) over a 24-hour period. The ActivPAL provides output for body postures (lying/sitting, standing, and stepping) by use of the proprietary algorithm in the manufacturer-provided software. In general, the

ActivPAL^{3TM} measures time spent on sedentary behaviour (sitting or lying), upright positions (standing and walking), numbers of sit-to-stand and stand-to-sit transitions, and step counts.¹⁴⁹ The ActivPAL^{3TM} monitor is attached to the midline of the anterior aspect of the thigh by waterproof non-allergic adhesive pads (3M Tegaderm TM).¹⁴⁷

Accelerometers worn on the thigh such as the ActivPAL3TM have a greater ability to differentiate between standing (thigh vertical) and sitting (thigh horizontal) in comparison with the waist- or wrist-worn accelerometers such as ActiGraphs.¹⁴⁷ The ActivPAL3TM monitor has previously shown excellent ability to measure sitting and upright times, number of postural transitions and step counts in healthy adults,^{151,152} people with disability such as patients with stroke,¹⁵³ and the elderly.¹⁵³ There is also evidence regarding the validity of the ActivPAL3TM for measuring upright time and step counts in people with MS with moderate disability in a laboratory-setting.¹⁵⁴ Nevertheless, no research on the validity of the ActivPAL3TM for measurement of upright time and step counts has been conducted in persons with MS with mild disability.

Sedentary behaviour has been measured in previous studies with the MS population. However, self-report measurements that might lead to underestimation of total daily sedentary time ^{65,70} and objective measurements including ActiGraph which is not able to differentiate between standing and sitting have been utilized. ⁶⁸ Although evidence suggests that the ActivPAL may be the gold standard for measuring sedentary time,^{131,148} to date, no study has examined the validity of the ActivPAL3TM in assessing sedentary behaviour in individuals with MS. Therefore, sedentary behaviour has not been accurately measured as currently defined in previous studies in the MS population.^{65,68,70}

1.4.1.2 Consumer-grade Accelerometers

There are numerous consumer-grade wearable activity monitors on the market. Many of which have been tested with those with disabilities, including those with MS. Fitbit devices are amongst the most popular and user-friendly ones. Low cost, interface capabilities, ease of use, and wide commercial availability of these activity trackers have attracted the attention of researchers and clinicians to monitor their patients' physical activity by providing remote access to patient-generated data.¹⁵⁵ The device provides the opportunity for the patients to monitor their daily physical activity and can be synchronized to smartphones and computers to generate immediate feedback. These activity trackers, thus, can encourage individuals to promote their activity levels by increasing the daily number of steps taken as a surrogate for physical activity.

Recently, a secondary analysis of randomized controlled trials evaluated the influence of using a consumer-grade activity tracker on daily sedentary time and prolonged sedentary bouts.¹⁵⁶ The changes in sedentary time and prolonged sedentary bouts were not significantly different between the intervention and control groups. However, increases in step counts were associated with decreases in sedentary time and prolonged sedentary bouts, regardless of intervention.¹⁵⁶ They reported that the use of a consumer-grade activity tracker on a daily basis may indirectly prevent an increase in sedentary behaviour by increasing daily steps- a surrogate of light-intensity physical activities. Another recent study found that using consumer-grade activity trackers interrupts workplace sedentary behaviour.¹⁵⁷ Participants were asked to stand at least once every 30 minutes throughout the workday. The purpose of the study was to find out whether standing once every 30 minutes was a feasible strategy for reducing workplace sedentary behaviour.¹⁵⁷

interruptions in sitting time.¹⁵⁷ These studies^{156,157} confirm that using a consumer-grade activity tracker for monitoring daily activity levels will help with increasing physical activity levels and indirectly reducing sedentary behaviour.

Older individuals and people with mobility disability may especially benefit from the utilization of activity monitors since they tend to be less physically active and more sedentary than healthy younger populations.^{70,158,159} Many patients with MS have walking disability, and use assistive devices ^{160–162} and as a result, have slower walking speed than the non-disabled peers. The majority of people who have MS do walk – and despite the use of walking aids or walking slowly – walking is still the most likely way they will get physical activity. Therefore, an activity tracker that can precisely record steps even at slower walking speeds^{163,164} may be beneficial for both health professionals and patients with MS to monitor walking activity goals. A laboratory-setting study by Balto et al.¹⁶⁵ reported the Fitbit One (Fitbit Inc, San Francisco, CA, USA) as the most accurate and precise device in comparison with other consumer-grade activity monitors for measuring steps in ambulatory adults with MS. Nevertheless, there was no criterion measure used in their study.

Fitbit

The Fitbit activity tracker (Fitbit One, Canada) is a small and light device (0.5 cm x 2.03 cm x 5.58 cm; 8.5 gr) that records the steps, stairs climbed, sleep, and calories expended. It has a 5-day battery life and is synchronized to computers and smartphones. It is a relatively affordable device that can provide instant feedback on either the device itself or via simple software accessed via the internet. The device summarizes data in 60-second intervals (epochs). The Fitbit activity trackers are attached to the waistline and ankle with a clip and a flexible band, respectively. Waist

attachment is in accordance with the manufacturers' guidelines. Earlier studies demonstrated the validity of the Fitbit One for measuring step counts in healthy adults¹⁶⁶, the elderly^{164,167} and patients admitted in rehabilitation wards¹⁶³ in a laboratory setting. Furthermore, there is evidence regarding the validity of the Fitbit One for measurement of steps in healthy adults,^{144,168} female adults,¹⁶⁹ men with prostate cancer¹⁷⁰ and stroke survivors¹⁷¹ in free-living environments. However, different gait patterns including frequent bilateral gait deficits and/or slower walking¹⁷² in individuals with MS as compared to non-disabled people or patients with stroke can impact the activity tracker accuracy. Moreover, the use of walking aid (e.g., cane, or walker) is also prevalent in people with MS which probably influences the accuracy of the activity tracker. Therefore, it will be useful if the Fitbit be a valid instrument for self-monitoring of daily steps in both laboratory-setting and the free-living environment in patients with MS. To date, no study has assessed the criterion and/or convergent validity of the Fitbit One activity tracker in measuring steps in the MS population.

1.4.1.3 Feasibility of the use of consumer-grade activity trackers in people with disability

Adherence to wearing an activity tracker is important in order to reap the potential benefits of increasing awareness of activity behaviour through monitoring. For example, a systematic review conducted by Bravata et al. found that consistent use of a pedometer activity tracker is associated with 26.9 % higher levels of physical activity.¹⁵⁹ The use of pedometers significantly increased the physical activity levels by 2491 and 2183 steps per day in randomized control trials and observational studies, respectively.¹⁵⁹ Another study by Hartman et al. using the Fitbit One activity tracker with breast cancer survivors illustrated a significant increase in the moderate-to-vigorous physical activity level in favour of the intervention group.¹⁷³ Vandelanotte et al.

conducted a study to examine the effect of a 12-week web-based physical activity intervention on the physical activity behaviour recorded by a Fitbit activity tracker in Australian adults.¹⁷⁴ A significant increase in the total weekly physical activity level recorded by the Fitbit was reported.¹⁷⁴ Hultquist et al.¹⁷⁵ reported that sedentary women who were given a pedometer and were instructed to walk 10,000 steps a day, took approximately 2,000 more steps per day than women who were only instructed to walk briskly for 30 minutes every day. Based on all these studies,^{159,173–175} the use of an activity tracker such as a Fitbit that constantly records and displays the real-time physical activity level and provides instant feedback may increase awareness and help to reduce inactivity.^{176,177}

A study conducted with 248 ambulatory adults with MS who were asked to wear the Fitbit One over a 23-day study period showed an average of 20 days of wearing the device and a mean of 4,393 steps per day.¹⁷⁸ At the end of the study, the adherence rate of the participants for using the Fitbit One was 87%, and 68% of participants reported the device useful for self-management of activity behaviour.¹⁷⁸ Therefore, their results¹⁷⁸ showed that it is feasible to integrate these technologies with the everyday life of individuals with MS in order to measure and increase physical activity levels and improve MS symptoms and health-related quality of life. Nevertheless, it is unknown whether it is feasible to use a consumer-grade activity monitor such as the Fitbit One over a longer period such as a few months.

Feasibility studies are "an overarching concept for studies assessing whether a future study, project or development can be done".¹⁷⁹ They also help researchers to find out whether some components of the main study can and/or should be done, and, if so, how it could/should be conducted.¹⁸⁰ Feasibility studies play a significant role in the preliminary planning of a complex intervention with a randomized clinical trial (RCT) design and are also used to help making

decisions on the outcome measures (e.g., a consumer-grade activity tracker) used in the intervention.¹⁸¹ Conducting a feasibility study is, therefore, the first step with the purpose of determining whether a full intervention will be feasible to perform and if all the essential components of an intervention such as outcome measures will work properly together.¹⁸¹

The evidence indicates that four main feasibility metrics including process (e.g., recruitment), resources (e.g., monetary costs), management (e.g., personnel time requirements) and scientific outcomes (e.g., clinical/participant objective or reported outcome measures) required to be assessed before conducting an intervention.¹⁸² A scoping systematic review showed that one major limitation of prior research on activity interventions in MS is the lack of systematic feasibility testing (i.e., of the processes, resources, management and scientific outcomes of clinical trials) before conducting the intervention.¹⁸² It may lead to not achieving efficacy or effectiveness for changing the target outcome and consequently, misinterpretation of the intervention results.¹⁸² Thus, researchers must conduct feasibility studies as the first step before designing an intervention study and selecting the outcome measures.

1.5 Thesis Objectives and hypotheses

The main objectives of this project were to:

 Explore the preliminary efficacy of an intervention targeting reducing daily sedentary behaviour and increasing light-intensity activities on physical activity behaviour, symptoms and physical performance outcomes in persons with MS. The related hypothesis was that a new activity behaviour change intervention with focus on reducing daily sedentary behaviour and increasing light-intensity activities decreases daily sedentary time, increases light-intensity activities and improves symptoms and physical performance in persons with MS;

- 2) Evaluate the concurrent criterion validity of the ActivPAL3TM activity monitor to measure sedentary time and step counts against direct observation, and the concurrent criterion validity of the Fitbit One activity tracker in detecting step counts against direct observation in patients with MS in a laboratory setting. The related hypothesis was that a) the ActivPAL3TM activity monitor is a valid tool to measure sedentary time and step counts against direct observation in patients with MS in a laboratory setting and b) the Fitbit One activity tracker is a valid tool in detecting step counts against direct observation in patients with MS in a laboratory setting and b) the Fitbit One activity tracker is a valid tool in detecting step counts against direct observation in patients with MS in a laboratory setting.
- 3) Examine the convergent validity of the Fitbit activity tracker and the ActivPAL3TM activity monitor for measurement of step count in a free-living environment in patients with MS; The related hypothesis was that there is a strong association (convergent validity) between steps recorded by the Fitbit One activity tracker and the research-grade ActivPAL3TM activity monitor in a free-living environment in patients with MS.
- 4) Test the feasibility of the use of a Fitbit activity tracker in patients with MS over a long period. The related hypothesis was that It is feasible to use a consumer-grade activity tracker such as the Fitbit One to monitor daily activity behaviour over a few months in patients with MS.

1.6 Structure of the Dissertation

A comprehensive literature review on activity behaviour in individuals with MS and its measurement, interventions to reduce daily sedentary behaviour in persons with MS and the gap in the literature is provided in chapter 1. Chapter 2 addresses the primary objective of the dissertation and evaluates the preliminary efficacy of a new activity behaviour change intervention on reducing daily sedentary behaviour, increasing light intensity activities, and improving symptoms and physical performance in adults with MS. Chapter 3 contains a concurrent criterion validity study assessing the validity of the Fitbit One activity tracker and the ActivPAL3TM activity monitor as compared to direct observation (reference standard) in a laboratory setting which addresses the second objective of the dissertation. Chapter 4 addresses the third objective of the dissertation, a study examining the convergent validity of the Fitbit One activity tracker and the ActivPAL3TM activity monitor in a free-living environment in adults with MS. Chapter 5 addresses the fourth objective and discusses the feasibility of the use of the Fitbit One activity tracker to monitor daily activity behaviour over a few months in patients with MS. Chapter 6, the final chapter, summarizes the contributions and clinical implications of this research and provides recommendations for future research.

References:

- Milo R, Kahana E. Multiple sclerosis: geoepidemiology, genetics and the environment. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2010;9(5):A387-94.
- Alonso A, Hernán MA. Temporal trends in the incidence of multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. *Neurology*. 2008;71(2):129-135.
- Lassmann H. Pathophysiology of inflammation and tissue injury in multiple sclerosis: What are the targets for therapy. In: *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*. Vol 306. J Neurol Sci; 2011:167-169.
- Skene NG, Grant SGN. Identification of vulnerable cell types in major brain disorders using single cell transcriptomes and expression weighted cell type enrichment. *Front Neurosci.* 2016;10:16-27.
- 5. Deluca J, Nocentini U. Neuropsychological, medical and rehabilitative management of persons with multiple sclerosis. *NeuroRehabilitation*. 2011;29(3):197-219.
- Chari DM. Remyelination In Multiple Sclerosis. In: *International Review of Neurobiology*. 2007;79:589-620.
- Kobelt G, Thompson A, Berg J, Gannedahl M, Eriksson J. New insights into the burden and costs of multiple sclerosis in Europe. *Mult Scler*. 2017;23(8):1123-1136.
- Prevalence and incidence of multiple sclerosis | MS Trust. https://mstrust.org.uk/az/prevalence-and-incidence-multiple-sclerosis. Accessed January 19, 2021.
- 9. Vidal-Jordana A, Montalban X. Multiple Sclerosis: Epidemiologic, Clinical, and Therapeutic Aspects. *Neuroimaging Clin N Am.* 2017;27(2):195-204.
- PHAC releases incidence and prevalence rates of Multiple Sclerosis in Canada MS Society of Canada. https://mssociety.ca/research-news/article/phac-releases-incidenceand-prevalence-rates-of-multiple-sclerosis-in-canada. Accessed January 18, 2021.
- 11. Hirst C, Swingler R, Compston DAS, Ben-Shlomo Y, Robertson NP. Survival and

cause of death in multiple sclerosis: A prospective population-based study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2008;79(9):1016-1021.

- Hurwitz BJ. Analysis of current multiple sclerosis registries. *Neurology*. 2011;76 (1 Supplement 1):S7-13.
- 13. Compston A, Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet*. 2008;372(9648):1502-1517.
- Sadovnick AD. The genetics and genetic epidemiology of multiple sclerosis: the "hard facts". *Adv Neurol.* 2006;98:17-25.
- Westerlind H, Ramanujam R, Uvehag D, et al. Modest familial risks for multiple sclerosis: A registry-based study of the population of Sweden. *Brain*. 2014;137(3):770-778.
- Sadovnick AD, Armstrong H, Rice GPA, et al. A population-based study of multiple sclerosis in twins: Update. *Ann Neurol.* 1993;33(3):281-285.
- Koch-Henriksen N, Sørensen PS. The changing demographic pattern of multiple sclerosis epidemiology. *Lancet Neurol*. 2010;9(5):520-532.
- Sintzel MB, Rametta M, Reder AT. Vitamin D and Multiple Sclerosis: A Comprehensive Review. *Neurol Ther*. 2018;7(1):59-85.
- McDowell T-Y, Amr S, Culpepper WJ, et al. Sun Exposure, Vitamin D and Age at Disease Onset in Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis. *Neuroepidemiology*. 2011;36(1):39-45.
- 20. Simpson S, Taylor B, Blizzard L, et al. Higher 25-hydroxyvitamin D is associated with lower relapse risk in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* 2010;68(2):193-203.
- 21. Berg-Hansen P, Celius EG. Socio-economic factors and immigrant population studies of multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand*. 2015;132(S199):37-41.
- 22. Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *Lancet Neurol*. 2018;17(2):162-173.
- 23. Hou Y, Jia Y, Hou J. Natural Course of Clinically Isolated Syndrome: A Longitudinal

Analysis Using a Markov Model. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1).

- 24. Dobson R, Giovannoni G. Multiple sclerosis a review. *Eur J Neurol*. 2019;26(1):27-40.
- Types of MS | National Multiple Sclerosis Society.
 https://www.nationalmssociety.org/What-is-MS/Types-of-MS. Accessed February 1, 2021.
- Weinshenker BG, Bass B, Rice GP, et al. The natural history of multiple sclerosis: a geographically based study. Clinical course and disability. *Brain*. 1989;112 (1):133-146.
- Scalfari A, Neuhaus A, Daumer M, Muraro PA, Ebers GC. Onset of secondary progressive phase and long-term evolution of multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2014;85(1):67-75.
- Rovaris M, Confavreux C, Furlan R, Kappos L, Comi G, Filippi M. Secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: Current knowledge and future challenges. *Lancet Neurol.* 2006;5(4):343-354.
- Lublin FD, Reingold SC. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: results of an international survey. National Multiple Sclerosis Society (USA) Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials of New Agents in Multiple Sclerosis. *Neurology*. 1996;46(4):907-911.
- Miller DH, Leary SM. Primary-progressive multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol*. 2007;6(10):903-912.
- Alonso A, Hernan MA. Temporal trends in the incidence of multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. *Neurology*. 2008;71(2):129-135.
- 32. Curti E, Graziuso S, Tsantes E, Crisi G, Granella F. Correlation between cortical lesions and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Behav*.

2018;8(6):e00955.

- Rommer PS, Eichstädt K, Ellenberger D, et al. Symptomatology and symptomatic treatment in multiple sclerosis: Results from a nationwide MS registry. *Mult Scler J*. 2019;25(12):1641-1652.
- Sutliff MH. Contribution of impaired mobility to patient burden in multiple sclerosis. *Curr Med Res Opin*. 2010;26(1):109-119.
- 35. Myhr KM, Vedeler C, Grønning M, Nyland HI, Riise T, Midgard R. Disability and prognosis in multiple sclerosis: Demographic and clinical variables important for the ability to walk and awarding of disability pension. *Mult Scler*. 2001;7(1):59-65.
- Miller A, Dishon S. Health-related Quality of Life in Multiple Sclerosis: The Impact of Disability, Gender and Employment Status. *Qual Life Res.* 2006;15(2):259-271.
- Hincapié-Zapata ME, Suárez-Escudero JC, Pineda-Tamayo R, Anaya JM. Quality of life in multiple sclerosis and other chronic autoimmune and non-autoimmune diseases. *Rev Neurol.* 2009;48(5):225-230.
- 38. Ploughman M, Austin MW, Murdoch M, et al. Factors influencing healthy aging with multiple sclerosis: a qualitative study. *Disabil Rehabil*. 2012;34(1):26-33.
- Crawford A, Hollingsworth HH, Morgan K, Gray DB. People with mobility impairments: Physical activity and quality of participation. *Disabil Health J*. 2008;1(1):7-13.
- Klaren RE, Hubbard EA, Zhu W, Motl RW. Reliability of Accelerometer Scores for Measuring Sedentary and Physical Activity Behaviors in Persons With Multiple Sclerosis. *Adapt Phys Act Q.* 2016;33(2):195-204.
- 41. Motl RW, McAuley E, Snook EM. Physical activity and multiple sclerosis: a metaanalysis. *Mult Scler*. 2005;11(4):459-463.
- 42. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical

fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Rep*. 100(2):126-131.

- 43. Jetté M, Sidney K, Blümchen G. Metabolic equivalents (METS) in exercise testing, exercise prescription, and evaluation of functional capacity. *Clin Cardiol*. 1990;13(8):555-565.
- 44. Freedson PS, Melanson E, Sirard J. Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1998;30(5):777-781.
- 45. Janssen I, Ross R. Vigorous intensity physical activity is related to the metabolic syndrome independent of the physical activity dose. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2012;41(4):1132-1140.
- 46. Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *Br J Sports Med.* 2020;54(24):1451-1462.
- 47. Warburton DER, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity. *Curr Opin Cardiol*.
 2017;32(5):541-556.
- 48. Doring A, Pfueller CF, Paul F, Dorr J. Exercise in multiple sclerosis -- an integral component of disease management. *EPMA J.* 2011;3(1):2.
- 49. Dalgas U, Stenager E. Exercise and disease progression in multiple sclerosis: can exercise slow down the progression of multiple sclerosis? *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*. 2012;5(2):81-95.
- Sandroff BM, Dlugonski D, Weikert M, Suh Y, Balantrapu S, Motl RW. Physical activity and multiple sclerosis: new insights regarding inactivity. *Acta Neurol Scand*. 2012;126(4):256-262.
- 51. Motl RW, Arnett PA, Smith MM, Barwick FH, Ahlstrom B, Stover EJ. Worsening of symptoms is associated with lower physical activity levels in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J.* 2008;14(1):140-142.

- 52. Dalgas U, Langeskov-Christensen M, Stenager E, Riemenschneider M, Hvid LG. Exercise as Medicine in Multiple Sclerosis-Time for a Paradigm Shift: Preventive, Symptomatic, and Disease-Modifying Aspects and Perspectives. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* 2019;19(11):88.
- 53. Beckerman H, de Groot V, Scholten MA, Kempen JCE, Lankhorst GJ. Physical activity behavior of people with multiple sclerosis: understanding how they can become more physically active. *Phys Ther*. 2010;90(7):1001-1013.
- 54. Crayton H, Heyman RA, Rossman HS. A multimodal approach to managing the symptoms of multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. 2004;63(11 suppl 5):S12-S18.
- 55. Motl RW, McAuley E, Wynn D, Suh Y, Weikert M, Dlugonski D. Symptoms and physical activity among adults with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* 2010;198(3):213-219.
- 56. Motl RW. Physical activity and its measurement and determinants in multiple sclerosis. *Minerva Med.* 2008;99(2):157-165.
- 57. Motl RW, McAuley E, Wynn D, Vollmer T. Lifestyle Physical Activity and Walking Impairment over Time in Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* 2011;90(5):372-379.
- Motl RW, McAuley E, Sandroff BM, Hubbard EA. Descriptive epidemiology of physical activity rates in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand*. 2015;131(6):422-425.
- Godin G, Shephard RJ. Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1997;29:36-38.
- Klaren RE, Motl RW, Dlugonski D, Sandroff BM, Pilutti LA. Objectively quantified physical activity in persons with multiple sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2013;94(12):2342-2348.

- 61. csepguidelines. https://csepguidelines.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2018/10/CSEP_MS_PAGuidelines_adults_en.pdf. Published 2018. Accessed December 8, 2020.
- 62. Streber R, Peters S, Pfeifer K. Systematic Review of Correlates and Determinants of Physical Activity in Persons With Multiple Sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2016;97(4):633-645.
- Kohn CG, Baker WL, Sidovar MF, Coleman CI. Walking Speed and Health-Related
 Quality of Life in Multiple Sclerosis. *Patient-Centered Outcomes Res.* 2014;7(1):55-61.
- 64. Motl RW, Sebastião E, Klaren RE, McAuley E, Stine-Morrow EAL, Roberts B.
 Physical activity and healthy aging with multiple sclerosis—Literature review and research directions. *Eur Neurol Rev.* 2016;12(1):29-33.
- 65. Hubbard EA, Motl RW, Manns PJ. The descriptive epidemiology of daily sitting time as a sedentary behavior in multiple sclerosis. *Disabil Health J*. 2015;8(4):594-601.
- 66. Marrie RA, Reider N, Cohen J, et al. A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of cardiac, cerebrovascular, and peripheral vascular disease in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*. 2015;21(3):318-331.
- Tremblay MS, Aubert S, Barnes JD, et al. Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN) - Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2017;14(1):75.
- 68. Ezeugwu V, Klaren RE, A Hubbard E, Manns PT, Motl RW. Mobility disability and the pattern of accelerometer-derived sedentary and physical activity behaviors in people with multiple sclerosis. *Prev Med reports*. 2015;2:241-246.
- Cavanaugh JT, Gappmaier VO, Dibble LE, Gappmaier E. Ambulatory Activity in Individuals With Multiple Sclerosis. *J Neurol Phys Ther*. 2011;35(1):26-33.

- Sasaki J, Motl R, Cutter G, Marrie R, Tyry T, Salter A. National estimates of selfreported sitting time in adults with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J - Exp Transl Clin*. 2018;4(1):205521731875436.
- Hubbard EA, Motl RW. Sedentary behavior is associated with disability status and walking performance, but not cognitive function, in multiple sclerosis. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* 2015;40(2):203-206.
- Matthews CE, Chen KY, Freedson PS, et al. Amount of Time Spent in Sedentary Behaviors in the United States, 2003-2004. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2008;167(7):875-881.
- 73. Healy GN, Matthews CE, Dunstan DW, Winkler EAH, Owen N. Sedentary time and cardio-metabolic biomarkers in US adults: NHANES 200306. *Eur Heart J*. 2011;32(5):590-597.
- 74. Wilmot EG, Edwardson CL, Achana FA, et al. Sedentary time in adults and the association with diabetes, cardiovascular disease and death: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetologia*. 2012;55(11):2895-2905.
- Healy GN, Matthews CE, Dunstan DW, Winkler EAH, Owen N. Sedentary time and cardio-metabolic biomarkers in US adults: NHANES 2003-06. *Eur Heart J*. 2011;32(5):590-597.
- 76. Wilmot EG, Edwardson CL, Achana FA, et al. Sedentary time in adults and the association with diabetes, cardiovascular disease and death: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetologia*. 2012;55(11):2895-2905.
- 77. Biswas A, Oh PI, Faulkner GE, et al. Sedentary time and its association with risk for disease incidence, mortality, and hospitalization in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Intern Med.* 2015;162(2):123-132.
- 78. Patterson R, McNamara E, Tainio M, et al. Sedentary behaviour and risk of all-cause, cardiovascular and cancer mortality, and incident type 2 diabetes: a systematic review

and dose response meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33(9):811-829.

- 79. Matthews CE, George SM, Moore SC, et al. Amount of time spent in sedentary behaviors and cause-specific mortality in US adults. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2012;95(2):437-445.
- Panahi S, Tremblay A. Sedentariness and Health: Is Sedentary Behavior More Than Just Physical Inactivity? *Front Public Heal*. 2018;6:258.
- 81. Saunders TJ, McIsaac T, Douillette K, et al. Sedentary behaviour and health in adults: an overview of systematic reviews. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*. 2020;45(10):S197-S217.
- 82. Liu Q, Liu F, Li J, et al. Sedentary behavior and risk of incident cardiovascular disease among Chinese adults. *Sci Bull*. 2020;65(20):1760-1766.
- Ross R, Chaput JP, Giangregorio LM, et al. Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Adults aged 18-64 years and Adults aged 65 years or older: an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*. 2020;45(10):S57-S102.
- 84. Hubbard EA, Motl RW, Manns PJ. The descriptive epidemiology of daily sitting time as a sedentary behavior in multiple sclerosis. *Disabil Health J.* 2015;8(4):594-601.
- Bollaert RE, Motl RW. Physical and Cognitive Functions, Physical Activity, and Sedentary Behavior in Older Adults With Multiple Sclerosis. *J Geriatr Phys Ther*. 2019;42(4):304-312.
- 86. Hubbard EA, Motl RW, Fernhall B. Sedentary behavior and blood pressure in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Int J MS Care*. 2018;20(1):1-8.
- 87. Davis MG, Fox KR, Stathi A, Trayers T, Thompson JL, Cooper AR. Objectively measured sedentary time and its association with physical function in older adults. J Aging Phys Act. 2014;22(4):474-481.
- 88. Bellettiere J, Winkler EAH, Chastin SFM, et al. Associations of sitting accumulation

patterns with cardio-metabolic risk biomarkers in Australian adults. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(6):e0180119.

- Larsen RN, Kingwell BA, Sethi P, Cerin E, Owen N, Dunstan DW. Breaking up prolonged sitting reduces resting blood pressure in overweight/obese adults. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*. 2014;24(9):976-982.
- Dunstan DW, Kingwell BA, Larsen R, et al. Breaking Up Prolonged Sitting Reduces Postprandial Glucose and Insulin Responses. *Diabetes Care*. 2012;35(5):976-983.
- 91. Lee IM, Shiroma EJ. Using accelerometers to measure physical activity in large-scale epidemiological studies: Issues and challenges. *Br J Sports Med.* 2014;48(3):197-201.
- 92. Hamilton MT. The role of skeletal muscle contractile duration throughout the whole day: reducing sedentary time and promoting universal physical activity in all people. J Physiol. 2018;596(8):1331-1340.
- 93. Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Whitt MC, et al. Compendium of physical activities: an update of activity codes and MET intensities. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2000;32(9 Suppl):S498-504.
- 94. Ekblom-Bak E, Ekblom B, Vikström M, de Faire U, Hellénius M-L. The importance of non-exercise physical activity for cardiovascular health and longevity. *Br J Sports Med.* 2014;48(3):233-238.
- 95. Donahoo WT, Levine JA, Melanson EL. Variability in energy expenditure and its components. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2004;7(6):599-605.
- 96. Chastin SFM, De Craemer M, De Cocker K, et al. How does light-intensity physical activity associate with adult cardiometabolic health and mortality? Systematic review with meta-analysis of experimental and observational studies. *Br J Sports Med.* 2019;53(6):370-376.
- 97. Dunstan DW, Kingwell BA, Larsen R, et al. Breaking Up Prolonged Sitting Reduces

Postprandial Glucose and Insulin Responses. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(5):976-983.

- 98. Healy GN, Dunstan DW, Salmon J, et al. Breaks in sedentary time: beneficial associations with metabolic risk. *Diabetes Care*. 2008;31(4):661-666.
- 99. Saunders TJ, Larouche R, Colley RC, Tremblay MS. Acute sedentary behaviour and markers of cardiometabolic risk: a systematic review of intervention studies. *J Nutr Metab.* 2012;2012:712435.
- 100. Thorp AA, Kingwell BA, Sethi P, Hammond L, Owen N, Dunstan DW. Alternating Bouts of Sitting and Standing Attenuate Postprandial Glucose Responses. *Med Sci Sport Exerc.* 2014;46(11):2053-2061.
- 101. Bailey DP, Locke CD. Breaking up prolonged sitting with light-intensity walking improves postprandial glycemia, but breaking up sitting with standing does not. J Sci Med Sport. 2015;18(3):294-298.
- 102. Chastin SFM, Egerton T, Leask C, Stamatakis E. Meta-analysis of the relationship between breaks in sedentary behavior and cardiometabolic health. *Obesity*. 2015;23(9):1800-1810.
- Piercy KL, Troiano RP, Ballard RM, et al. The Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. JAMA. 2018;320(19):2020.
- 104. Manns PJ, Dunstan DW, Owen N, Healy GN. Addressing the nonexercise part of the activity continuum: a more realistic and achievable approach to activity programming for adults with mobility disability? *Phys Ther*. 2012;92(4):614-625.
- 105. Miles-Chan JL, Dulloo AG. Posture Allocation Revisited: Breaking the Sedentary Threshold of Energy Expenditure for Obesity Management. *Front Physiol*. 2017;8:420.
- 106. Villablanca PA, Alegria JR, Mookadam F, Holmes DR, Wright ; R Scott, Levine JA. Nonexercise Activity Thermogenesis in Obesity Management. *Mayo Clin Proc.*

2015;90(4):509-519.

- 107. Motl RW, Bollaert R. Sedentary behavior in persons with multiple sclerosis: Is the time ripe for targeting a new health behavior? *Kinesiol Rev.* 2019;8(1):63-69.
- 108. Maher JP, Sliwinski MJ, Conroy DE. Feasibility and preliminary efficacy of an intervention to reduce older adults' sedentary behavior. *Transl Behav Med*. 2017;7(1):52-61.
- 109. Fitzsimons CF, Kirk A, Baker G, Michie F, Kane C, Mutrie N. Using an individualised consultation and activPALTM feedback to reduce sedentary time in older Scottish adults: results of a feasibility and pilot study. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2013;57(5):718-720.
- 110. Barone Gibbs B, Brach JS, Byard T, et al. Reducing Sedentary Behavior Versus Increasing Moderate-to-Vigorous Intensity Physical Activity in Older Adults: A 12-Week Randomized, Clinical Trial. J Aging Health. 2017;29(2):247-267.
- 111. Gardiner PA, Eakin EG, Healy GN, Owen N. Feasibility of Reducing Older Adults' Sedentary Time. *Am J Prev Med.* 2011;41(2):174-177.
- 112. Aunger JA, Doody P, Greig CA. Interventions targeting sedentary behavior in nonworking older adults: a systematic review. *Maturitas*. 2018;116:89-99.
- 113. Sutherland CA, Kynn M, Cole RL, Gray MA. Interventions reducing sedentary behaviour of adults: An update of evidence. *Health Educ J*. 2020;79(3):362-374.
- 114. Hadgraft NT, Winkler E, Climie RE, et al. Effects of sedentary behaviour interventions on biomarkers of cardiometabolic risk in adults: Systematic review with meta-analyses. *Br J Sports Med.* 2021;55(3):144-154.
- 115. Klaren RE, Hubbard EA, Motl RW. Efficacy of a behavioral intervention for reducing sedentary behavior in persons with multiple sclerosis: a pilot examination. *Am J Prev Med.* 2014;47(5):613-616.
- 116. Bussmann JBJ, Ebner-Priemer UW, Fahrenberg J. Ambulatory Activity Monitoring.

Eur Psychol. 2009;14(2):142-152.

- 117. Hagstromer M, Ainsworth BE, Oja P, Sjostrom M. Comparison of a subjective and an objective measure of physical activity in a population sample. *J Phys Act Health*. 2010;7(4):541-550.
- 118. Kim Y, Mehta T, Lai B, Motl RW. Immediate and Sustained Effects of Interventions for Changing Physical Activity in People with Multiple Sclerosis: Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2020;101(8):1414-1436.
- 119. Lai B, Young HJ, Bickel CS, Motl RW, Rimmer JH. Current Trends in Exercise Intervention Research, Technology, and Behavioral Change Strategies for People with Disabilities: A Scoping Review. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2017;96(10):748-761.
- 120. Motl RW, Pekmezi D, Wingo BC. Promotion of physical activity and exercise in multiple sclerosis: Importance of behavioral science and theory. *Mult Scler J - Exp Transl Clin.* 2018;4(3):2055217318786745.
- 121. Bandura A. Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Heal Educ Behav*. 2004;31(2):143-164.
- 122. Motl RW, McAuley E, Wynn D, Sandroff B, Suh Y. Physical activity, self-efficacy, and health-related quality of life in persons with multiple sclerosis: Analysis of associations between individual-level changes over one year. *Qual Life Res.* 2013;22(2):253-261.
- 123. Suh Y, Weikert M, Dlugonski D, Sandroff B, Motl RW. Social cognitive correlates of physical activity: findings from a cross-sectional study of adults with relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis. *J Phys Act Health*. 2011;8(5):626-635.
- 124. Dlugonski D, Wojcicki TR, McAuley E, Motl RW. Social cognitive correlates of

physical activity in inactive adults with multiple sclerosis. *Int J Rehabil Res.* 2011;34(2):115-120.

- 125. Motl RW, Snook EM, McAuley E, Gliottoni RC. Symptoms, self-efficacy, and physical activity among individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Res Nurs Heal*. 2006;29(6):597-606.
- Baird JF, Silveira SL, Motl RW. Social Cognitive Theory and Physical Activity in Older Adults with Multiple Sclerosis. *Int J MS Care*. 2021;23(1):21-25.
- 127. Motl RW, Sasaki JE, Cederberg KL, Jeng B. Social-cognitive theory variables as correlates of sedentary behavior in multiple sclerosis: Preliminary evidence. *Disabil Health J.* 2019;12(4):622-627.
- 128. Ryan JM, Fortune J, Stennett A, et al. Safety, feasibility, acceptability and effects of a behaviour-change intervention to change physical activity behaviour among people with multiple sclerosis: Results from the iStep-MS randomised controlled trial. *Mult Scler J*. 2020;26(14):1907-18.
- Ryan JM, Fortune J, Stennett A, et al. Changing physical activity behaviour for people with multiple sclerosis: Protocol of a randomised controlled feasibility trial (iStep-MS). *BMJ Open.* 2017;7(11):e018875.
- 130. LaPorte RE, Montoye HJ, Caspersen CJ. Assessment of physical activity in epidemiologic research: problems and prospects. *Public Health Rep.* 1985;100(2):131-146.
- Hart TL, Ainsworth BE, Tudor-Locke C. Objective and subjective measures of sedentary behavior and physical activity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2011;43(3):449-456.
- Leitzmann, Michael F., Jochem, Carmen, Schmid D. Sedentary Behaviour Epidemiology. (Leitzmann MF, Jochem C, Schmid D, eds.). Cham: Springer

International Publishing; 2018.

- 133. Igelstrom H, Emtner M, Lindberg E, Asenlof P. Level of Agreement Between Methods for Measuring Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity and Sedentary Time in People With Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Obesity. *Phys Ther.* 2013;93(1):50-59.
- 134. Healy GN, Clark BK, Winkler EAH, Gardiner PA, Brown WJ, Matthews CE.
 Measurement of adults' sedentary time in population-based studies. *Am J Prev Med*.
 2011;41(2):216-227.
- 135. Hills AP, Mokhtar N, Byrne NM. Assessment of physical activity and energy expenditure: an overview of objective measures. *Front Nutr.* 2014;1:5.
- Motl RW, Snook EM, Agiovlasitis S, Suh Y. Calibration of accelerometer output for ambulatory adults with multiple sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2009;90(10):1778-1784.
- 137. Motl RW, Snook EM, Agiovlasitis S, Suh Y. Calibration of Accelerometer Output for Ambulatory Adults With Multiple Sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*.
 2009;90(10):1778-1784.
- Sandroff BM, Motl RW, Suh Y. Accelerometer output and its association with energy expenditure in persons with multiple sclerosis. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* 2012;49(3):467-475.
- Hart TL, Ainsworth BE, Tudor-Locke C. Objective and subjective measures of sedentary behavior and physical activity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2011;43(3):449-456.
- 140. Klaren RE, Hubbard EA, Zhu W, Motl RW. Reliability of Accelerometer Scores for Measuring Sedentary and Physical Activity Behaviors in Persons With Multiple Sclerosis. Adapt Phys Activ Q. 2016;33(2):195-204.
- 141. Fanning J, Mullen SP, McAuley E. Increasing Physical Activity With Mobile Devices: A Meta-Analysis. *J Med Internet Res.* 2012;14(6):e161.

- 142. Muntaner A, Vidal-Conti J, Palou P. Increasing physical activity through mobile device interventions: A systematic review. *Health Informatics J*. 2016;22(3):451-469.
- 143. Napolitano MA, Borradaile KE, Lewis BA, et al. Accelerometer use in a physical activity intervention trial. *Contemp Clin Trials*. 2010;31(6):514-523.
- 144. Ferguson T, Rowlands A V, Olds T, Maher C. The validity of consumer-level, activity monitors in healthy adults worn in free-living conditions: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2015;12(1):42.
- 145. García-Massó X, Serra-Añó P, García-Raffi LM, Sánchez-Pérez EA, López-Pascual J, Gonzalez LM. Validation of the use of Actigraph GT3X accelerometers to estimate energy expenditure in full time manual wheelchair users with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord.* 2013;51(12):898-903.
- 146. Chen KY, Bassett DR. The technology of accelerometry-based activity monitors: current and future. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2005;37(11 Suppl):S490-500.
- 147. Byrom B, Stratton G, Mc Carthy M, Muehlhausen W. Objective measurement of sedentary behaviour using accelerometers. *Int J Obes*. 2016;40(11):1809-1812.
- 148. Kozey-Keadle S, Libertine A, Lyden K, Staudenmayer J, Freedson PS. Validation of wearable monitors for assessing sedentary behavior. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2011;43(8):1561-1567.
- 149. Kim Y, Barry VW, Kang M. Validation of the ActiGraph GT3X and activPAL
 Accelerometers for the Assessment of Sedentary Behavior. *Meas Phys Educ Exerc Sci.* 2015;19(3):125-137.
- 150. Atkin AJ, Gorely T, Clemes SA, et al. Methods of Measurement in epidemiology: Sedentary Behaviour. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2012;41(5):1460-1471.
- 151. Sellers C, Dall P, Grant M, Stansfield B. Validity and reliability of the activPAL3 for measuring posture and stepping in adults and young people. *Gait Posture*. 2016;43:42-

47.

- 152. Stansfield B, Hajarnis M, Sudarshan R. Characteristics of very slow stepping in healthy adults and validity of the activPAL3TM activity monitor in detecting these steps. *Med Eng Phys.* 2015;37(1):42-47.
- 153. Taraldsen K, Askim T, Sletvold O, et al. Evaluation of a body-worn sensor system to measure physical activity in older people with impaired function. *Phys Ther*. 2011;91(2):277-285.
- 154. Coulter EH, Miller L, McCorkell S, et al. Validity of the activPAL3 activity monitor in people moderately affected by Multiple Sclerosis. *Med Eng Phys.* 2017;45:78-82.
- 155. Diaz KM, Krupka DJ, Chang MJ, et al. Validation of the Fitbit One(R) for physical activity measurement at an upper torso attachment site. *BMC Res Notes*. 2016;9:213.
- 156. Sloan RA, Kim Y, Sahasranaman A, Müller-Riemenschneider F, Biddle SJH, Finkelstein EA. The influence of a consumer-wearable activity tracker on sedentary time and prolonged sedentary bouts: Secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Res Notes*. 2018;11(1):1-6.
- 157. Guitar NA, MacDougall A, Connelly DM, Knight E. Fitbit Activity Trackers Interrupt Workplace Sedentary Behavior: A New Application. *Work Heal Saf.* 2018;66(5):218-222.
- 158. Mansi S, Milosavljevic S, Baxter GD, Tumilty S, Hendrick P. A systematic review of studies using pedometers as an intervention for musculoskeletal diseases. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2014;15(1):231.
- Bravata DM, Smith-Spangler C, Sundaram V, et al. Using Pedometers to Increase Physical Activity and Improve Health. *JAMA*. 2007;298(19):2296.
- 160. Heesen C, Böhm J, Reich C, Kasper J, Goebel M, Gold S. Patient perception of bodily functions in multiple sclerosis: gait and visual function are the most valuable. *Mult*

Scler J. 2008;14(7):988-991.

- Asch P van. Impact of Mobility Impairment in Multiple Sclerosis 2 Patients' Perspectives. *Eur Neurol Rev.* 2011;6(2):115.
- Scalfari A, Neuhaus A, Degenhardt A, et al. The natural history of multiple sclerosis, a geographically based study 10: relapses and long-term disability. *Brain*.
 2010;133(7):1914-1929.
- 163. Treacy D, Hassett L, Schurr K, Chagpar S, Paul SS, Sherrington C. Validity of Different Activity Monitors to Count Steps in an Inpatient Rehabilitation Setting. *Phys Ther.* 2017;97(5):581-588.
- 164. Simpson LA, Eng JJ, Klassen TD, et al. Capturing step counts at slow walking speeds in older adults: comparison of ankle and waist placement of measuring device. J *Rehabil Med.* 2015;47(9):830-835.
- 165. Balto JM, Kinnett-Hopkins DL, Motl RW. Accuracy and precision of smartphone applications and commercially available motion sensors in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J - Exp Transl Clin.* 2016;2:2055217316634754.
- 166. Diaz KM, Krupka DJ, Chang MJ, et al. Fitbit(R): An accurate and reliable device for wireless physical activity tracking. *Int J Cardiol*. 2015;185:138-140.
- Paul SS, Tiedemann A, Hassett LM, et al. Validity of the Fitbit activity tracker for measuring steps in community-dwelling older adults. *BMJ open Sport Exerc Med*. 2015;1(1):e000013.
- 168. Middel Weerd A, Van Der Ploeg HP, Van Halteren A, Twisk Jwr, Brug J, Te Velde Sj. A Validation Study of the Fitbit One in Daily Life Using Different Time Intervals. *Med Sci Sport Exerc.* 2017;49(6):1270-1279.
- 169. Reid RER, Insogna JA, Carver TE, et al. Validity and reliability of Fitbit activity monitors compared to ActiGraph GT3X+ with female adults in a free-living

environment. J Sci Med Sport. 2017;20(6):578-582.

- 170. Van Blarigan EL, Kenfield SA, Tantum L, Cadmus-Bertram LA, Carroll PR, Chan JM. The Fitbit One Physical Activity Tracker in Men With Prostate Cancer: Validation Study. JMIR Cancer. 2017;3(1):e5.
- 171. Hui J, Heyden R, Bao T, et al. Validity of the fitbit one for measuring activity in community-dwelling stroke survivors. *Physiother Canada*. 2018;70(1):81-89.
- 172. Filli L, Sutter T, Easthope CS, et al. Profiling walking dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: Characterisation, classification and progression over time. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):1-3.
- 173. Hartman SJ, Nelson SH, Weiner LS. Patterns of Fitbit Use and Activity Levels Throughout a Physical Activity Intervention: Exploratory Analysis from a Randomized Controlled Trial. *JMIR mHealth uHealth*. 2018;6(2):e29.
- 174. Vandelanotte C, Duncan MJ, Maher CA, et al. The Effectiveness of a Web-Based Computer-Tailored Physical Activity Intervention Using Fitbit Activity Trackers: Randomized Trial. *J Med Internet Res.* 2018;20(12):e11321.
- 175. Hultquist CN, Albright C, Thompson DL. Comparison of walking recommendations in previously inactive women. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2005;37(4):676-683.
- 176. Rooney B, Smalley K, Larson JK, Havens S. Is knowing enough? Increasing physical activity by wearing a pedometer. *Wisconsin Medical Journal*. 2003;102(4):31-36.
- 177. Paschali AA, Kalantzi-Azizi A, Goodrick GK, Papadatou D, Balasubramanyam A. Accelerometer feedback to promote physical activity in adults with type 2 diabetes: A pilot study. *Percept Mot Skills*. 2005;100(1):61-68.
- 178. DasMahapatra P, Chiauzzi E, Bhalerao R, Rhodes J. Free-Living Physical Activity Monitoring in Adult US Patients with Multiple Sclerosis Using a Consumer Wearable Device. *Digit Biomarkers*. 2018;2(1):47-63.

- 179. Eldridge SM, Lancaster GA, Campbell MJ, et al. Defining Feasibility and Pilot Studies in Preparation for Randomised Controlled Trials: Development of a Conceptual Framework. Lazzeri C, ed. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(3):e0150205.
- Eldridge SM, Chan CL, Campbell MJ, et al. CONSORT 2010 statement: Extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials. *BMJ*. 2016;355.
- 181. Abbott JH. The Distinction between Randomized Clinical Trials (RCTs) and Preliminary Feasibility and Pilot Studies: What They Are and Are Not. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2014;44(8):555-558.
- 182. Learmonth YC, Motl RW. Important considerations for feasibility studies in physical activity research involving persons with multiple sclerosis: A scoping systematic review and case study. *Pilot Feasibility Stud.* 2018;4(1):1-1.
CHAPTER 2. Preliminary Efficacy of the "SitLess with MS" Intervention for Changing Sedentary Behaviour, Symptoms, and Physical Performance in Multiple Sclerosis

Golnoush Mehrabani, Saeideh Aminian, Sarah Norton, Robert W. Motl, and Patricia J. Manns

Submitted to *Disability and Rehabilitation Journal* on January 4, 2021 and received minor revisions. The deadline for submitting the revised version is June 26, 2021. This Chapter is formatted according to the specifications of *Disability and Rehabilitation Journal*.

Abstract

Background: People with multiple sclerosis (MS) engage in more sedentary behaviour than healthy peers, and this might contribute towards worse symptoms, function, and quality of life (QOL).

Purpose: We examined the preliminary efficacy of an intervention that focuses on sitting less and moving more for changing sedentary behaviour outcomes, symptoms, QOL, and physical performance in adults with MS.

Methods: Persons with mild-to-moderate MS disability took part in a 15-week pre-post trial. Sedentary behaviour, symptoms, QOL, and physical performance were measured pre-post intervention and at follow-up. An unstructured linear mixed-effects model determined change over time per outcome.

Results: Forty-one persons with MS participated (age 50 ± 10.3 years). There were significant reductions in total sedentary time (d=0.34) and the number of long (\geq 30 minutes) bouts of sedentary time (d=0.39) post-intervention. Fatigue, depression, anxiety, sleep quality, total pain, QOL, gait speed, walking endurance and function improved significantly after the intervention (P < 0.05). There was no significant change in cognition. Those changes were maintained during the 7-week follow-up, except for sedentary behaviour and sleep quality.

Conclusions: This study provides preliminary support for the efficacy of an intervention focused on reducing sitting and increasing light intensity activity for improving outcomes in adults with MS.

Keywords: Multiple sclerosis, sedentary behaviour, MS-related symptoms, physical performance, activity behaviour change, ActivPAL

2.1 Introduction

The provision of exercise training is recognized as a symptomatic and diseasemodifying treatment during the early stages of MS [1]. Exercise training has yielded improvements in function, symptoms, and quality of life (QOL) in persons with MS, and has been associated with the reduction in rates of MS relapses and disability progression over time [1,2]. To date, only 1 in 5 persons with MS participate in sufficient amounts of moderate-tovigorous intensity physical activity (MVPA) necessary for health benefits [3]. Current interventions and programs focusing on exercise training as a form of physical activity are not changing population levels of physical activity in MS [4].

There has been recent interest in sedentary behaviour among persons with MS, as persons with this disease spend a large proportion of the day sitting [5,6]. There is consistent evidence of a link between high levels of sedentary behaviour and increased morbidity (e.g. obesity, cardiovascular disease, diabetes and colon, endometrium and lung cancers) and mortality in epidemiological studies [7–9]. Recently, a comprehensive review of sedentary behaviour literature by the United States Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee (PAGAC) [10] reported a strong dose-response relationship between sedentary behaviour and both all-cause mortality and cardiovascular disease mortality in adults and the elderly. These associations are independent of physical activity levels [11,12]. A recent systematic review [13] supporting the new Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines [14] demonstrated an association between high levels of sedentary time with cognitive function, disability, depression, physical activity levels and physical health-related quality of life in healthy adults. In addition, the evidence indicates the substantial association between sedentary behaviour and disability status [5,15,16], walking endurance [15], walking speed [15], function [17] and blood-pressure outcomes [18] in individuals with MS.

The growing body of evidence documenting the negative outcomes of too much sitting overall and in MS supports a new approach for activity promotion. A focus on decreasing sedentary behaviour may be more feasible than focusing on increasing MVPA levels in those with disability [9,19] such as persons with MS. Nevertheless, sedentary behaviour interventions have been infrequently studied in the MS population [20].

To date, two studies have tested behavioural interventions for reducing sedentary behaviour in people with MS. One study reported a significant reduction in self-reported sedentary time following a 6-month internet-based behavioural intervention based on the social cognitive theory [21]. The study was limited by the inclusion of a self-report measure of sedentary time, and differences between the intervention and control group in reported sedentary time at baseline [21]. Another study examined the feasibility and initial efficacy of a 3-month behaviour change intervention on the levels of fatigue, pain and objectively measured activity behaviour immediately and 6-months post-intervention [22]. No difference in the total daily sedentary time was observed between the intervention and control groups [22]. Not primarily and explicitly focusing on the reduction of sedentary behaviour and more focus on the increase of physical activity levels in the intervention group might be responsible for no difference in sedentary behaviour outcomes between groups following the intervention.

To date, there is little information on interventions that focus on reducing sedentary behaviour and secondary improvements in symptoms and physical performance in the MS population. Therefore, we evaluated the preliminary efficacy of a sedentary behaviour intervention on sedentary behaviour, symptoms and physical performance outcomes immediately post-intervention and 7-weeks post-intervention.

2.2 Material and Methods

2.2.1 Study Design

The protocol for the "SitLess with MS" study has been published [23]. The study involved a single group, repeated measures design, and was approved by the Health Research Ethics Board of the University of Alberta (# Pro000667657), the Northern Alberta Clinical Trials and Research Centre, and the Alberta Health Services Edmonton Zone (operational approval for recruitment through the Northern Alberta MS Clinic). We have further published a manuscript describing the feasibility outcomes (process and management, and progression criteria) of the intervention [24]. This paper focuses on efficacy outcomes.

2.2.2 Intervention

Briefly, the 15-week intervention included behavioural change strategies based on principles from social cognitive theory including self-monitoring, goal setting, and self-efficacy for sedentary behaviour change [23]. The intervention encompassed two 7-week stages (SitLess and MoveMore), with an interim week between stages which allowed for interim activity measurement. The SitLess stage focused on interrupting prolonged sitting and the MoveMore stage was focusing on maintaining reduction in overall sitting time and replacing it with light-intensity physical activity during the day. The intervention was internet-based and included weekly coaching sessions with an intervention coach and the participant (excluding Weeks 0 and 15). The individual coaching sessions were used to expedite knowledge translation and strategies for activity behaviour change and to help accountability and compliance with the intervention [23]. A newsletter designed according to the core determinants of social cognitive theory (i.e., self-efficacy, goal setting, facilitators, and barriers) accompanied each coaching session [23].

2.2.3 Participants and Recruitment

Participants were recruited through community programs and the Northern Alberta MS Clinic at the University of Alberta as detailed in the protocol paper [23]. Participants were included based on the following criteria: (1) diagnosis of MS confirmed by a neurologist; (2) one-year post-diagnosis; (3) age \geq 18 years old; (4) mild or moderate neurological disability (defined by Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) score of 1-6.5) [25]; (5) relapse-free within the previous 3 months; (6) stable use of disease-modifying drugs and rehabilitation over the previous 6 months; (7) physically inactive (defined as insufficiently active by a score of less than 14 from the Godin-Shephard Leisure-Time Physical Activity Questionnaire) [26]; (8) able to walk 10 meters with or without a walking aid; and (9) mobile phone access. The sample size target was in accordance with previous activity behaviour interventions with persons with MS and stroke populations [27–30].

2.2.4 Study Procedures

There were 3 measurement points including pre-intervention (baseline), postintervention (Week 15) and follow-up (Week 22) (see figure 2-1 for the timeline of study activities). At each measurement point, we assessed sedentary behaviour, symptoms (fatigue, depression, anxiety, pain, sleep quality, cognitive impairment and QOL), and physical performance based on gait speed, walking endurance, lower extremity strength and function. Participants wore an ActivPAL3TM (PAL Technologies Ltd, Glasgow, UK) for 7 days without removal at each measurement point. An ActivPAL log was given to each participant to record wake and bedtimes, and any instances that they removed the device for any reason. After completion of 7 full days of monitoring, participants mailed the monitor to the research team. A Fitbit One was given to each participant at the baseline measurement session and they were asked to wear it daily during waking hours, throughout the 15-week intervention.



Figure 2-1: Timeline of the "SitLess with MS" intervention program.

The figure is redrawn based on the figure from P.J. Manns, G. Mehrabani, S. Norton, S. Aminian, R.W. Motl, The SitLess With MS Program: Intervention Feasibility and Change in Sedentary Behavior, Arch. Rehabil. Res. Clin. Transl. (2020) 100083.

2.2.5 Measures

Data on sociodemographic characteristics were collected at baseline. MS-related characteristics (i.e., type and duration), anthropometric measures, and disability status were collected at all 3-time points.

2.2.5.1 Symptoms and physical performance

Symptoms, QOL, and physical performance outcome measurements are provided in table 2-1. The full description of each outcome measure and its psychometric properties is provided in the protocol paper [23].

Variable	Measure	Score				
Disability Status	Clinician-measured Expanded Disability Status Scale,	Total score: 0 - 10				
Disubility Status	Self-reported Patient Determined Disease Steps Scale	Total score: 0 - 8				
Fatigue	Self-reported Fatigue Severity Scale	Total score: 1 - 7				
	Self-reported Modified Fatigue Impact Scale	Total score: 0 - 84				
Depression	Self-reported Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale	Depression subscale total score: 0 - 21				
Anxiety	Self-reported Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale	Anxiety subscale total score: 0 - 21				
Pain	Self-reported Short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire	Total pain score: 0 - 45				
Sleep problems	Self-reported Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index	Total score: 0 - 21				
Cognition	Performance-based Symbol Digit Modalities Test	Total score: Depending on age and education status				
Quality of Life	Self-reported Medical Outcomes Study Short-Form Health Survey	Subs cores and Total score				
Gait-speed	Clinician-measured 10-meter Walk Test	Total score: meters/seconds				
Walking Endurance	Clinician-measured 6-minute Walk Test	Total score: meters				
Function	Clinician-measured Short Physical Performance Battery Test	Total score: 0 - 12				

 Table 2-1: Measures of symptoms, quality of life, and physical performance in adults with MS

2.2.5.2 Sedentary Behaviour

Sedentary behaviour was objectively measured by the ActivPAL3TM. The ActivPAL3TM provides output about body postures (lying/sitting, standing, and stepping) by use of the proprietary algorithm in the manufacturer-provided software [31,32]. It reports time spent in sedentary behaviour (sitting or lying), time spent in upright positions (standing and walking), numbers of sit-to-stand and stand-to-sit transitions, and step counts [31]. The ActivPAL3TM monitor has excellent validity in measuring sedentary and upright time and the number of postural transitions in healthy adults [33], people with disability, and the elderly [34]. Three main sedentary behaviour outcomes were collected from the ActivPAL3TM including average total sedentary time per day (minutes), average number of daily breaks in sedentary time (sit-to-stand transitions) and the average number of prolonged sedentary bouts \geq 30 minutes per day. The ActivPAL3TM monitor was attached to the midline of the anterior aspect of each participant's stronger thigh by waterproof non-allergic adhesive pads (3M TegadermTM, 3M Company, Canada).

ActivPAL3TM data for each participant was downloaded to a computer for analysis in Excel spreadsheet (Microsoft Corporation) in 15-second epochs during a 24-hour day, using Professional Research Edition software (PAL Software Suite Version 8). Participants who wore the ActivPAL3TM for at least 5 valid days at each time point were included in the analysis. A valid day was defined as a day where the ActivPAL3TM reported movement (standing or stepping) for at least 6 hours during wake time [35]. Wake and bedtimes were determined using the Chastin method [36], with a few adjustments. Wake time was defined as the first standing event after a long continuous period \geq 2.5 hours of non-upright posture. Bedtime was defined by the last standing event before a long continuous period \geq 3 hours of non-upright posture. Standing or stepping with a duration of \geq 15 minutes occurring before 1:00 AM and

after a sedentary bout of ≥ 2.5 hours was classified as waking time [37]. Wear time was calculated as bedtime minus wake time. Logs were reviewed for verification after preliminary wake and bedtimes were determined using the event files. Once event files were prepared with documented wake and bedtimes, the R package version 3.6.1 (PAactivpal) [38] was used to determine sedentary outcomes.

2.2.6 Data analysis

Descriptive statistics (mean, SD) were used to describe the participants, sedentary behaviour outcomes, symptoms and physical performance at pre-intervention, immediate postintervention and follow-up. Linear mixed-effects models were used to determine whether sedentary behaviour outcomes, symptoms and physical performance outcomes changed over time (from pre-intervention (Week 0) vs immediate post-intervention (Week 15) vs follow-up (Week 22)). An unstructured variance-covariance structure (ie., each time point was assumed to have its variance) was used. Mixed-effects models were used because they are more rigorous in the analysis of repeated measure designs compared to conventional methods such as repeated measures analysis of variance [39]. The fixed-effect part of the model included the outcome variable adjusted for the participants' age and sex (known covariates of activity behaviour) [40]. Pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni corrections were used to compare differences. Effect sizes were calculated using Cohen's d (d) and were interpreted as small (0.20), medium (0.50) or large (0.80). All analysis was conducted in SPSS software version 24 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0; Armonk, NY: IBM Corp) at a significance level of P < 0.05.

2.3 Results

Forty-one persons with MS participated. Participants had mild to moderate disability and ranged in age from 31-72 years with a mean age of 50 ± 10.3 years. Ninety percent of participants were female. Twenty-six (63.4%) of participants had relapsing-remitting MS and average disease duration was 14.3 ± 11.3 years. Participant characteristics are provided in table 2-2. Of the 41 participants who were enrolled at baseline, 39 completed the program and postintervention assessment, and 36 completed the follow-up assessment. The flow of participants and reasons for loss to post- intervention and follow-up has been displayed in the feasibility paper [24].

Characteristics	N (%) or Mean (SD)	Range
Age (Years old)		31-72
< 40	7(1707%)	
$40 \le age < 65$	7(17.0770) 28(68,2%)	
≥ 65	20(00.270)	
	0 (14.0)	
Clinician measured disability status		1.5-6.5
Mild disability (EDSS < 4)	18 (43.9%)	
Moderate disability ($4 \le EDSS \le 6.5$)	23 (56.1%)	
Salf reported massure disability status		0.6
No disability (DDDS $= 0$)	2(4.80/)	0-0
Mild disability (PDDS $= 0$)	2(4.070) 10(24.29/)	
$M_{1} = \frac{1}{100} + \frac{1}{100$	10(24.5%)	
Moderate disability $(3 \le PDDS \le 6)$	29 (70.7%)	
Discourse duration (Variat)		1.50
2 5	8(10.59/)	1-30
 5 10 	$\delta(19.3\%)$	
J-10	10(24.4%)	
11-20	15 (36.6%)	
>20	8 (19.5%)	
Use of walking Aid		
None	18 (43.9%)	
Single Cane	6 (14.6%)	
Double Cane	6 (14.6%)	
Walker	9 (22.0%)	
Quad Cane	2 (4.9%)	
~		
Weight (Kilograms)	77.5 (19.1)	45-122
Height (Metres)	1.6 (0.07)	1.5-1.8
BMI (Kilograms/metres ²)		17.2-44.3
BMI<25	17 (41.4%)	
25 < BMI < 30	7 (17.07%)	
BMI > 30	17 (41.4%)	
	17 (11.1/0)	
Education		
High school or less	10 (24.4%)	
College/Diploma	15 (36.6%)	
Bachelors	11 (26.8%)	
Masters	5 (12 2%)	

Table 2-2: Participant characteristics

EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale; PDDS: Patients Determined Disease Steps Scale; BMI: Body Mass Index.

Forty, 37 and 30 participants had valid ActivPAL data at baseline, post-intervention and follow-up, respectively. The average total daily sedentary time, total number of breaks in sedentary time and total number of long sedentary bouts (\geq 30 minutes) per day were 626.4 minutes (69% of daily wake time), 54.6 per day and 5.8 bouts at baseline, respectively. There was a significant reduction in total daily sedentary time and total number of long sedentary bouts \geq 30 minutes per day from baseline to immediate post-intervention (table 2-3). Levels of fatigue, depression, anxiety, sleep quality, total pain, QOL, gait speed, walking endurance and function improved from baseline to immediate post-intervention (tables 2-4 and 2-5). There was no significant change in cognition and the total number of sedentary breaks per day (tables 2-3 and 2-4). The changes that occurred from baseline to immediate post-intervention were sustained at follow-up (i.e., there was no change from immediate post to follow-up) for the majority of the outcomes except for sleep quality and sedentary behaviour outcomes (tables 2-3, 2-4 and 2-5). The effect sizes per outcome are provided in table 2-6. The largest effect size was observed for depression (d=0.79), followed by fatigue (d=0.63) and anxiety (d=0.55).

-	B (W	eek 0)	PI (We	eek 15)	PI - B		FU (W	eek 22)	FU - B		FU - PI	
Variable		= 40	N =	= 37	N = 37		N = 30		N = 30		N = 30	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	MD (95%CI)	р	Mean	SD	MD (95%CI)	р	MD (95%CI)	р
Total sedentary minutes per day from ^a ActivPAL	626.41	141.59	577.93	131.60	-38.11 (-73.12, -3.10)	0.034	596.53	145.90	-30.52 (-73.88, 12.83)	0.162	7.59 (-25.00,40.19)	0.637
Total number of breaks per day from ^a ActivPAL	54.59	19.31	55.84	20.58	0.309 (-3.46, 4.08)	0.869	54.12	21.28	-0.492 (-4.59, 3.56)	0.817	-0.801 (-4.97, 3.37)	0.698
Total number of sedentary bouts ≥ 30 minute per day from ^a ActivPAL	5.81	2.13	4.98	1.86	-0.702 (-1.26, -0.14)	0.015	5.38	2.33	-0.338 (-1.02, 0.34)	0.324	0.364 (-0.15, 0.88)	0.161
Wake time (minutes per day)	907.80	79.20	887.40	75	-17.22 (-40.62, 6.24)	0.145	913.80	53.40	-1.02 (-24.66, 22.62)	0.931	16.02 (-5.82, 38.16)	0.144

 Table 2-3: Change in sedentary behaviour outcomes across three time points

B: Baseline; PI: Post-intervention; FU: Follow-up; p: Level of significance, N: Number of participants; MD: Mean difference; CI: Confidence interval.

B		ek ())	PI (We	ek 15)	PI - B		FU (W	eek 22)	FU – B	FU – B		
Variables	<i>D</i> (ck 10)	N = 39			ccx 22)	N = 36		N = 36	
_	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	MD (95%CI)	р	Mean	SD	MD (95%CI)	р	MD (95%CI)	р
FSS Score	5.49	1.23	4.62	1.29	-0.84 (-1.14, -0.55)	0.000	4.86	1.63	-0.57 (-0.85, -0.29)	0.000	0.27 (-0.06, 0.61)	0.114
MFIS Total Score	47.66	15.43	38.03	15.17	-9.33 (-13.56, -5.11)	0.000	38.17	15.45	-8.01 (-11.95, -4.06)	0.000	1.32 (-2.29, 4.94)	0.463
Depression	7.07	4.20	4.08	3.00	-2.91 (-4.13, -1.70)	0.000	4.64	3.25	-2.23 (-3.41, -1.05)	0.000	0.68 (0.01, 1.35)	0.047
Anxiety	8.32	4.75	5.77	4.22	-2.48 (-3.64, -1.31)	0.000	6.50	4.45	-1.74 (-2.90, -0.58)	0.004	0.73 (-0.41, 1.88)	0.202
Sleep quality	8.80	4.11	7.33	4.10	-1.31 (-2.53, -0.10)	0.034	7.39	3.98	-1.09 (-2.34, 0.15)	0.085	0.22 (-0.71, 1.15)	0.635
Sensory pain	10.86	7.28	9.59	6.88	-1.23 (-2.99, 0.52)	0.162	7.58	5.82	-2.93 (-4.30, -1.55)	0.000	-1.69 (-3.31, -0.07)	0.041
Affective Pain	3.17	2.31	2.17	2.30	-0.99 (-1.59, -0.39)	0.002	2.11	2.35	-0.94 (-1.61, -0.28)	0.006	0.04 (-0.58, 0.68)	0.879
Total Pain	14.03	9.08	11.76	8.60	-2.22 (-4.24, -0.20)	0.032	9.69	7.74	-3.87 (-5.64, -2.10)	0.000	-1.64 (-3.67, 0.38)	0.108
Cognition	44.20	10.40	45.90	11.82	1.98 (-0.01, 3.98)	0.051	46.47	11.66	2.23 *(-0.12, 4.59)	0.063	0.25 *(-1.78, 2.28)	0.805
QoL (General health)	48.41	25.74	56.92	21.01	8.05 (3.17, 12.93)	0.002	56.52	20.76	6.26 (0.77, 11.75)	0.026	-1.78 (-6.04, 2.47)	0.400
QoL (Fatigue)	31.95	19.13	49.30	18.26	17.18 (10.41, 23.96)	0.000	43.19	18.67	10.54 (2.86, 18.22)	0.008	-6.64 (-12.72, - 0.55)	0.033
QoL (Physical functioning)	43.17	25.75	51.02	25.24	8.24 (3.69, 12.80)	0.001	51.38	24.74	6.37 (2.90, 9.84)	0.001	-1.87 (-6.57, 2.81)	0.423
QoL (Emotional wellbeing)	60.78	23.31	71.15	16.61	10.26 *(4.44, 16.07)	0.001	71.00	16.73	9.39 (2.89, 15.90)	0.006	-0.86 (-5.12, 3.40)	0.684

Table 2-4: Change in symptoms and quality of life across three time points

B: Baseline; PI: Post-intervention; FU: Follow-up; p: Level of significance; FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale; MFIS: Modified Fatigue Impact scale; QoL: Quality of Life; N: Number of participants; MD: Mean difference; CI: Confidence interval. * The number of participants was 34 for cognition and emotional wellbeing QoL

	B (Week 0)		(Week 0) PI (Week 15)			PI - B			eek 22)		FU - B		FU - PI			
Variables	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	N	MD (95%CI)	р	Mean	SD	N	MD (95%CI)	р	Ν	MD (95%CI)	р	
Gait Speed (10-meter walk test)	0.99	0.42	1.04	0.43	39	0.077 (0.03, 0.12)	0.002	1.12	0.38	33	0.096 (0.03, 0.15)	0.002	33	0.019 (-0.03, 0.07)	0.45	
6-minute walk distance	283.34	133.80	308.59	149.53	39	31.37 (17.91, 44.84)	0.000	339.20	140.20	33	43.34 (24.76, 61.92)	0.000	33	11.96 (-1.80, 25.73)	0.086	
SPPB- Balance score	3.00	1.26	2.82	1.21	39	-0.19 (-0.48, 0.09)	0.174	3.22	1.12	32	0.11 (-0.17, 0.39)	0.431	32	0.30 (0.06, 0.55)	0.015	
SPPB- Chair sit- stand score	1.76	1.46	2.29	1.55	38	0.53 (0.20, 0.85)	0.002	2.53	1.45	32	0.70 (0.31, 1.08)	0.001	32	0.17 (-0.09, 0.43)	0.193	
SPPB- Gait Speed score	3.22	1.12	3.41	1.06	39	0.20 (0.07, 0.33)	0.003	3.67	0.77	33	0.33 (0.15, 0.50)	0.000	33	0.13 (-0.00, 0.26)	0.064	
SPPB total score	7.98	3.43	8.50	3.43	38	0.54 (0.15, 0.94)	0.008	9.45	2.97	31	1.13 (0.60, 1.65)	0.000	31	0.58 (0.16, 0.99)	0.007	

Table 2-5: Change in physical performance outcomes across three time points

B: Baseline; PI: Post-intervention; FU: Follow-up; p: Level of significance; SPPB: Short Physical Performance Battery; N: Number participants; MD: Mean difference; CI: Confidence interval.

Variables	Effect Size				
variables	PI-B	Fu-B			
Total sedentary minutes per day from the ActivPAL	0.34	0.21			
Total number of breaks in sedentary time from the ActivPAL	0.06	0.02			
Number of long sedentary bouts \geq 30 minutes per day from the ActivPAL	0.39	0.20			
Fatigue (Fatigue Severity Scale)	0.61	0.44			
Fatigue (Modified Fatigue Impact Scale)	0.60	0.59			
Depression	0.79	0.64			
Anxiety	0.55	0.39			
Sleep Problems	0.35	0.34			
Total Pain	0.26	0.50			
Cognition	0.15	0.20			
Quality of Life (General health)	0.37	0.35			
Gait Speed	0.12	0.31			
Walking endurance	0.17	0.39			
Short Physical Performance Battery-Balance score	0.15	0.18			
Short Physical Performance Battery-Chair sit-stand score	0.35	0.50			
Short Physical Performance Battery-Total score	0.15	0.44			

Table 2-6: Effect size of the "SitLess with MS" intervention on sedentary behaviour outcomes, symptoms and physical performance outcomes

B: Baseline; PI: Post-intervention; FU: Follow-up.

2.4 Discussion

This study examined the preliminary efficacy of a sedentary behaviour change intervention for improving symptoms and physical performance in adults with MS with mild to moderate disability. Participants significantly reduced daily sedentary time and the number of long sedentary bouts \geq 30 minutes per day pre-post intervention. This indicates that the intervention had the intended impact of changing sedentary behaviour. There further were improvements in fatigue, depression, anxiety, sleep quality, total pain, QoL, gait speed, walking endurance and function. The significant change in sedentary behaviour outcomes was not sustained at follow-up, however, the improvements were sustained for symptoms and physical performance measures, except for sleep quality. Cognition, as measured by the SDMT, was the only outcome that did not change from baseline to post-intervention or follow-up.

One previous study [22] tested the efficacy of a 6-month sedentary behaviour intervention in adults with MS using a self-report measure of sedentary time and reported a 99-min reduction in total daily sedentary time in favour of the intervention group with a small effect size (η^2 : 0.06) [21]. The effect sizes of the present study on reducing total daily sedentary time and total daily number of long sedentary bouts \geq 30 minutes were 0.34 and 0.39, respectively, and these effects are small in magnitude. Nevertheless, the use of a device measure of sedentary behaviour (i.e. ActivPAL3TM) in the present study may provide more accurate data (less bias than self-report), and better capture the complexity and various dimensions of sedentary behaviour with more continuous assessment of free-living sedentary behaviour [41,42].

Another recent study [22] examined the feasibility and initial efficacy of a 3-month behaviour change intervention on activity behaviour outcomes and levels of fatigue and pain in adults with MS with use of the ActivPAL3µ for measurement of sedentary behaviour. As described in the study protocol, the intervention was comprised of a handbook and four one-on-one face-toface physical activity sessions with participants, along with the usual care services [29]. The control group received usual care services [29]. The handbook primarily focused on increasing physical activity levels and largely did not focus on reducing sedentary behaviour [29]. The intervention and control groups reduced total daily sedentary time by 54 and 24 minutes, respectively, and there was no significant difference in the total daily sedentary time between groups post-intervention [22]. The small number of participants in the trial likely resulted in underpowered data analysis, and contributed to the lack of difference in sedentary behaviour outcomes between groups [22]. More engagement of participants in the control group in some of the usual care services (e.g., contact with MS nurse and occupational therapist) compared to the intervention group [29], and not explicitly targeting reduction of sedentary behaviour may also contribute to the absence of difference between groups [29], Nevertheless, the effect size of the intervention on reducing daily sedentary time was 0.41 for the intervention group [22] which is similar to the magnitude of change that we report in this study. They reported a significant reduction in the level of fatigue between groups at post-intervention and follow-up and a significant decrease in the level of pain at follow-up [22].

In regards to interventions, Spence and colleagues [43] suggested that interventions with a focus on changing posture (e.g. sitting to standing) while maintaining the same activity (e.g. standing while watching TV) may increase daily light-intensity physical activity. These researchers further suggested that those interventions might have greater potential to reduce sedentary behaviour than interventions that focus on substitution of daily sedentary behaviour with another behaviour such as MVPA [43]. Accordingly, primarily targeting sedentary behaviour and focus on increasing light intensity activities with our intervention rather than asking for MVPA changes (i.e., occupy a small fraction of the day and may not substantially reduce sedentary time), may explain the significant reduction in sedentary behaviour outcomes we report. This type of intervention may be more feasible for people who have challenges with movement. However, to date, there is not enough research on this type of intervention in people with mobility disability such as individuals with MS. More research with larger samples including a control group is

needed to determine the effect of those interventions on reducing sedentary behaviour.

Fatigue, depression and anxiety are three of the most commonly reported symptoms in the MS population [44,45]. The observed effect sizes for those outcomes in the present study were moderate in magnitude (table 2-6), while we report small effects on pain, sleep quality, and QOL (table 2-6). Previous research allows comparison of the effect sizes reported from the "SitLess with MS" intervention with those reported in a trial that focused on increasing lifestyle physical activity, especially walking [46]. Researchers reported a significant improvement in the levels of fatigue, depression and anxiety at post-intervention [46], and no significant improvements in pain, sleep quality, and QOL with an intervention focusing only on lifestyle physical activity [46]. The effect sizes of the intervention were moderate to large (0.82, 0.64, 0.64) for fatigue, depression and anxiety, and small (0.45 and 0.42) for decrease in pain and improvement of sleep quality in the intervention group [46]. The effect sizes are comparable with the effect sizes in the present study thereby suggesting that an intervention targeting sedentary behaviour has a similar impact on MS-related symptoms as an intervention focusing on increasing lifestyle physical activity.

The finding of a similar effect from a sedentary behaviour intervention as compared to one focusing on increasing light intensity activity make sense. Sedentary behaviour and light-intensity physical activity are usually almost perfectly correlated [47] such that increasing light-intensity physical activity reduces sedentary time. A study by Kozey-Keadle et al. [48] tested the effect of a 12-week trial with obese participants in 4 intervention foci (exercise; reduction of sedentary time and increase non-exercise physical activity; exercise and reduce sedentary time; control) on sedentary behaviour and non-exercise physical activity. They reported no significant changes in sedentary time and non-exercise physical activity in the exercise group (exercised 5 days per week

at a moderate intensity) [48]. However, they reported a reduction in free-living sedentary time and an increase in non-exercise physical activity in the groups that included the reduction in sedentary behaviour component [48]. Their results demonstrated the importance of targeting intervention for the desired change. They concluded that Interventions targeting multiple behaviours (sedentary behaviour and non-exercise physical activity) may be able to successfully increase daily activity [48]. The results from the current and the above studies [46,48] indicate that clinicians might be able to recommend either for the management of symptoms in MS.

Participants made gains in physical performance outcomes and continued to make gains even after the intervention ended. Based on the obtained effect sizes, the greatest improvement amongst physical performance outcomes was observed for the SPPB-Chair sit-stand test which is an indicator of the lower-extremity strength. This improvement is in line with the focus of our intervention on sitting less (i.e., promoting the action of moving from sitting to standing), which is exactly what is tested with the chair sit to stand test. Our preliminary findings indicate that an intervention that focuses on sitting less and moving more can affect physical performance.

Cognition, as measured by the SDMT, was unchanged from baseline to post-intervention and 7-week post-intervention. Cognition is complex in nature and consists of different domains such as memory, attention and information processing [49,50]. The use of the SDMT which primarily measures information processing speed [51,52] may help to explain our findings related to cognition.

Based on the evidence, frequency, duration and intensity of activity over time are considered important factors when evaluating the effects of activity on cognition [53–55]. For instance, research shows that moderate-intensity exercise is related to improvement in working

memory and cognitive flexibility, while high-intensity exercise enhances the information processing speed [56]. Peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factors significantly increase after high-intensity physical activity, but not after low-intensity activity [57] which might be responsible for improvement in cognition following activities with higher intensity. A recent 3-week exercise intervention that included 5 weekly moderate-to-vigorous training sessions reported a significant improvement in cognitive performance as measured by the SDMT in adults with MS [58]. Although shorter in duration (i.e., 3 weeks), the exercise intensity (working out for 30 minutes daily at lactate threshold) was higher than in the present study. Another study [59] which evaluated the effectiveness of a 6-month internet-based physical activity intervention on cognitive performance measured by oral SDMT also reported a clinically meaningful improvement in cognition in patients with mild disability, but not in persons with moderate disability [59]. Therefore, the intensity may play a role in the potential for impact of an intervention on cognition. Primarily targeting reduction in daily sitting time and increasing light-intensity activities such as slow walking following the "SitLess with MS" intervention may not have enough intensity to create a significant change in the level of cognition in a duration of 15 weeks [53–57]. Our results are congruent with a recent systematic review on healthy adults [13] that reported replacing seated with standing workstations (i.e. changing posture from sitting to standing as a light-intensity physical activity) does not lead to improvements in cognitive function. Our findings are also in agreement with another systematic review that showed interventions targeting reduction in sedentary behaviour in adults at the workplace are not associated with changes in cognitive performance [60].

2.5 Study Limitations

The lack of a control group allowed evaluation of preliminary efficacy of the intervention only. The follow-up period was 7 weeks and provides only an estimation of the long-term sustainability of the intervention effects. The effect on the primary outcome (sedentary behaviour) was not sustained over a short follow-up. Only patients with MS who had mild to moderate disability were included, and the findings are not generalizable among non-ambulatory persons with MS.

2.6 Conclusion

The present research provides support for a less intense whole-day activity behaviour intervention in MS. Further research including randomized controlled trials focusing on sitting less and moving more (i.e., changing behavioural topography from sitting to standing) in MS populations is required to replicate the effect under conditions of high internal validity. Future research may focus on the issue of adherence – is long term adherence actually better with a lower intensity focus? That possibility is hypothesized but requires testing. A strategy to facilitate improvement in light-intensity activities such as slow walking and a reduction in sitting time may be a first step towards promoting activity levels and increasing energy expenditure in persons with MS.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Dr. Penny Smyth, Dr. Jennifer McCombe, and Margaret Prociuk, from the Northern Alberta MS Clinic at the University of Alberta, for their invaluable help with recruitment in this project. Finally, we are grateful to Dr. Kate Lyden who generously provided guidance specific to the analysis of ActivPAL data.

Declaration of interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Funding

This work was supported by the Alberta Innovates, Novartis Translational Research Fund.

References

- [1] Dalgas U, Langeskov-Christensen M, Stenager E, et al. Exercise as medicine in multiple sclerosis-time for a paradigm shift: preventive, symptomatic, and diseasemodifying aspects and perspectives. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2019;19(11):88.
- [2] Dalgas U, Stenager E. Exercise and disease progression in multiple sclerosis: can exercise slow down the progression of multiple sclerosis? Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2012;5(2):81–95.
- Klaren RE, Motl RW, Dlugonski D, et al. Objectively quantified physical activity in persons with multiple sclerosis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2013;94(12):2342– 2348.
- [4] Motl RW, Sandroff BM, Kwakkel G, et al. Exercise in patients with multiple sclerosis. Lancet Neurol. 2017;16(10):848–856.
- [5] Ezeugwu V, Klaren RE, Hubbard EA, et al. Mobility disability and the pattern of accelerometer-derived sedentary and physical activity behaviors in people with multiple sclerosis. Prev Med reports. 2015;2:241–246.
- [6] Sasaki J, Motl RW, Cutter G, et al. National estimates of self-reported sitting time in adults with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J - Exp Transl Clin. 2018;4(1):205521731875436.
- [7] Wilmot EG, Edwardson CL, Achana FA, et al. Sedentary time in adults and the association with diabetes, cardiovascular disease and death: systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetologia. 2012;55(11):2895–2905.

- [8] Biswas A, Oh PI, Faulkner GE, et al. Sedentary time and its association with risk for disease incidence, mortality, and hospitalization in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2015;162(2):123–132.
- [9] Katzmarzyk PT, Powell KE, Jakicic JM, et al. Sedentary Behavior and Health: Update from the 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2019;51(6):1227–1241.
- [10] Health.gov [Internet]. Washington (DC): Department of Health and Human Services; 2018. 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report. [cited 2020 Oct 14]. Available from: https://health.gov/sites/default/files/201909/PAG_Advisory_Committee_Report. pdf
- [11] Owen N, Healy GN, Matthews CE, et al. Too much sitting: the population health science of sedentary behavior. Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 2010;38(3):105–113.
- [12] Matthews CE, Chen KY, Freedson PS, et al. Amount of time spent in sedentary behaviors in the United States, 2003-2004. Am J Epidemiol. 2008;167(7):875–881.
- [13] Saunders TJ, McIsaac T, Douillette K, et al. Sedentary behaviour and health in adults: an overview of systematic reviews. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2020;45(10 (Suppl. 2)):S197-S217.
- [14] Ross R, Chaput JP, Giangregorio LM, et al. Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Adults aged 18-64 years and Adults aged 65 years or older: an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. Appl Physiol Nutr

Metab. 2020;45(10 (Suppl. 2)):S57-S102.

- [15] Hubbard EA, Motl RW. Sedentary behavior is associated with disability status and walking performance, but not cognitive function, in multiple sclerosis. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2015;40(2):203–206.
- [16] Hubbard EA, Motl RW, Manns PJ. The descriptive epidemiology of daily sitting time as a sedentary behavior in multiple sclerosis. Disabil Health J. 2015;8(4):594–601.
- [17] Bollaert RE, Motl RW. Physical and cognitive functions, physical activity, and sedentary behavior in older adults with multiple sclerosis. J Geriatr Phys Ther. 2019;42(4):304–312.
- [18] Hubbard EA, Motl RW, Fernhall B. Sedentary behavior and blood pressure in patients with multiple sclerosis. Int J MS Care. 2018;20(1):1–8.
- [19] Manns PJ, Dunstan DW, Owen N, et al. Addressing the nonexercise part of the activity continuum: a more realistic and achievable approach to activity programming for adults with mobility disability? Phys Ther. 2012;92(4):614–625.
- [20] Marck CH, Learmonth YC, Chen J, et al. Physical activity, sitting time and exercise types, and associations with symptoms in Australian people with multiple sclerosis. Disabil Rehabil. 2020;1-9.
- [21] Klaren RE, Hubbard EA, Motl RW. Efficacy of a behavioral intervention for reducing sedentary behavior in persons with multiple sclerosis: a pilot examination. Am J Prev Med. 2014;47(5):613–616.

- [22] Ryan JM, Fortune J, Stennett A, et al. Safety, feasibility, acceptability and effects of a behaviour-change intervention to change physical activity behaviour among people with multiple sclerosis: Results from the iStep-MS randomised controlled trial. Mult Scler J. 2020;26(14):1907-1918.
- [23] Aminian S, Motl RW, Rowley J, et al. Management of multiple sclerosis symptoms through reductions in sedentary behaviour: protocol for a feasibility study. BMJ Open. 2019;9(4):e026622.
- [24] Manns PJ, Mehrabani G, Norton S, et al. The SitLess With MS program: Intervention feasibility and change in sedentary behavior. Arch Rehabil Res Clin Transl. 2020;2(4):100083.
- [25] Kurtzke JF. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). Neurology. 1983;33(11):1444–1452.
- [26] Godin G, Shephard RJ. Godin-Shephard Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1997;29(6):S36–S38.
- [27] Learmonth YC, Adamson BC, Kinnett-Hopkins D, et al. Results of a feasibility randomised controlled study of the guidelines for exercise in multiple sclerosis project. Contemp Clin Trials. 2017;54:84–97.
- [28] English C, Healy GN, Olds T, et al. Reducing sitting time after stroke: A phase II safety and feasibility randomized controlled trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2016;97(2):273–280.
- [29] Ryan JM, Fortune J, Stennett A, et al. Changing physical activity behaviour for

people with multiple sclerosis: Protocol of a randomised controlled feasibility trial (iStep-MS). BMJ Open. 2017;7(11):e018875.

- [30] Hale LA, Mulligan HF, Treharne GJ, et al. The feasibility and short-term benefits of Blue Prescription: A novel intervention to enable physical activity for people with multiple sclerosis. Disabil Rehabil. 2013;35(14):1213–1220.
- [31] Kim Y, Barry VW, Kang M. Validation of the ActiGraph GT3X and ActivPAL Accelerometers for the assessment of sedentary behavior. Meas Phys Educ Exerc Sci. 2015;19(3):125–137.
- [32] Ryan CG, Grant PM, Tigbe WW, et al. The validity and reliability of a novel activity monitor as a measure of walking. Br J Sports Med. 2006;40(9):779–784.
- [33] Sellers C, Dall P, Grant M, et al. Validity and reliability of the ActivPAL3 for measuring posture and stepping in adults and young people. Gait Posture. 2016;43:42–47.
- [34] Taraldsen K, Askim T, Sletvold O, et al. Evaluation of a body-worn sensor system to measure physical activity in older people with impaired function. Phys Ther. 2011;91(2):277–285.
- [35] Winkler EAH, Bodicoat DH, Healy GN, et al. Identifying adults' valid waking wear time by automated estimation in activPAL data collected with a 24 h wear protocol. Physiol Meas. 2016;37(10):1653–1668.
- [36] Chastin SFM, Culhane B, Dall PM. Comparison of self-reported measure of sitting time (IPAQ) with objective measurement (activPAL). Physiol Meas.

2014;35(11):2319–2328.

- [37] Van Der Berg JD, Willems PJB, Van Der Velde JHPM, et al. Identifying waking time in 24-h accelerometry data in adults using an automated algorithm. J Sports Sci. 2016;34(19):1867–1873.
- [38] Lyden K, Keadle SK, Staudenmayer J, et al. The activPALTM accurately classifies activity intensity categories in healthy adults. Med Sci Sport Exerc. 2017;49(5):1022–1028.
- [39] Krueger C, Tian L. A comparison of the general linear mixed model and repeated measures ANOVA using a dataset with multiple missing data points. Biol Res Nurs. 2004;6(2):151–157.
- [40] Hallal PC, Andersen LB, Bull FC, et al. Global physical activity levels: Surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects. Lancet. 2012;380(9838):247–257.
- [41] Hart TL, Ainsworth BE, Tudor-Locke C. Objective and subjective measures of sedentary behavior and physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(3):449– 456.
- [42] Kozey-Keadle S, Libertine A, Lyden K, et al. Validation of wearable monitors for assessing sedentary behavior. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(8):1561–1567.
- [43] Spence JC, Rhodes RE, Carson V. Challenging the Dual-Hinge approach to intervening on sedentary behavior. Am J Prev Med. 2017;52(3):403–406.
- [44] Rommer PS, Eichstädt K, Ellenberger D, et al. Symptomatology and symptomatic treatment in multiple sclerosis: Results from a nationwide MS registry. Mult Scler

J. 2019;25(12):1641–1652.

- [45] Ploughman M, Beaulieu S, Harris C, et al. The Canadian survey of health, lifestyle and ageing with multiple sclerosis: methodology and initial results. BMJ Open. 2014;4(7):e005718.
- [46] Pilutti LA, Dlugonski D, Sandroff BM, et al. Randomized controlled trial of a behavioral intervention targeting symptoms and physical activity in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J. 2014;20(5):594–601.
- [47] Hamilton MT. The role of skeletal muscle contractile duration throughout the whole day: reducing sedentary time and promoting universal physical activity in all people. J Physiol. 2018;596(8):1331–1340.
- [48] Kozey-Keadle S, Staudenmayer J, Libertine A, et al. Changes in sedentary time and physical activity in response to an exercise training and/or lifestyle intervention. J Phys Act Heal. 2014;11(7):1324–1333.
- [49] DeLuca GC, Yates RL, Beale H, et al. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: clinical, radiologic and pathologic insights. Brain Pathol. 2015;25(1):79–98.
- [50] Patti F. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J. 2009;15(1):2–8.
- [51] Costa SL, Genova HM, Deluca J, et al. Information processing speed in multiple sclerosis: Past, present, and future. Mult Scler. 2017;23(6):772–789.
- [52] Benedict RHB, Deluca J, Phillips G, et al. Validity of the Symbol Digit Modalities Test as a cognition performance outcome measure for multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2017;23(5):721–733.

- [53] Hillman CH, Erickson KI, Kramer AF. Be smart, exercise your heart: Exercise effects on brain and cognition. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2008;9(1):58–65.
- [54] Erickson KI, Voss MW, Prakash RS, et al. Exercise training increases size of hippocampus and improves memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(7):3017–3022.
- [55] Chang YK, Tsai CL, Hung TM, et al. Effects of acute exercise on executive function: A study with a Tower of London task. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2011;33(6):847–865.
- [56] Chang YK, Etnier JL. Exploring the dose-response relationship between resistance exercise intensity and cognitive function. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2009;31(5):640–656.
- [57] Hötting K, Röder B. Beneficial effects of physical exercise on neuroplasticity and cognition. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2013;37(9):2243–2257.
- [58] Bahmani DS, Kesselring J, Papadimitriou M, et al. In patients with multiple sclerosis, both objective and subjective sleep, depression, fatigue, and paresthesia improved after 3 weeks of regular exercise. Front Psychiatry. 2019;10:265.
- [59] Sandroff BM, Klaren RE, Pilutti LA, et al. Randomized controlled trial of physical activity, cognition, and walking in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol. 2014;261(2):363–372.
- [60] Magnon V, Vallet GT, Auxiette C. Sedentary behavior at work and cognitive functioning: A systematic review. Front Public Health. 2018;6:239.

CHAPTER 3. Validity of ActivPAL3TM and Fitbit One activity monitors in adults with multiple sclerosis in a laboratory setting

Golnoush Mehrabani, Saeideh Aminian, Douglas P. Gross, Patricia J. Manns

This manuscript was submitted to *Journal of Medical Engineering and Physics* on August 26, 2020. The paper was rejected with the suggestion to change to a technical report. The deadline for submitting the new manuscript is May 31st, 2021. This Chapter is formatted according to the specifications of *Journal of Medical Engineering and Physics*.

ABSTRACT

Background: People with multiple sclerosis (MS¹) sit more and are less active than peers, despite public health recommendations. Accurate measurement of physical activity behaviour helps patients to understand and change activity levels and can be used to evaluate activity interventions. We examined the validity of ActivPAL3TM for measuring sitting time, standing time, numbers of postural transitions and steps and the validity of Fitbit One for measuring steps in ambulatory patients with MS.

Methods: Thirty-two ambulatory patients with MS aged 18 to 65 years old wore ActivPAL3TM and Fitbit One (using both waist and ankle placement) monitors while performing a series of postural and walking tasks in a laboratory setting. Recorded data from the ActivPAL3TM and Fitbit Ones were compared against direct observation as the criterion measure.

Results: The ActivPAL3TM demonstrated validity evidence as a measurement tool for sedentary behaviour (sitting time), standing time and steps (ICC²: 0.98). The waist-worn (ICC: 0.88) and ankle-worn (ICC: 0.72) Fitbit Ones demonstrated validity evidence for measurement of steps. The ankle-worn Fitbit One performed better (ICC: 0.89) than the waist-worn Fitbit One (ICC: 0.76) in people with walking aids.

¹ Multiple Sclerosis

² Intraclass correlation coefficients

Conclusions: Both ActivPAL3TM and Fitbit One can be used to accurately measure steps in the MS population.

Keywords: Validity, Accelerometers, Measurement, ActivPAL3TM, Fitbit, Steps, Sedentary behaviour
3.1 Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic progressive disease of the central nervous system [1]. The consequences of MS include balance and walking disabilities [2,3] as well as comorbidities such as hypertension, coronary heart disease, and obesity [4]. Together the sequelae and co-occurring conditions related to MS may lead to physical inactivity [5] and large amounts of sedentary behaviour [6,7].

Accurate assessment of physical activity and sedentary behaviour is essential to identify current activity levels and to allow evaluation of the effectiveness of activity interventions. Activity behaviour can be measured by self-report and/or observation. Questionnaires, surveys, diaries and logbooks are self-reported tools that can be used to measure physical activity and sedentary behaviour [8,9]. Observed measurement relies on information generated through direct observation or from activity monitors [10]. Even though self-report assessment provides researchers useful information, observed measurement appears more accurate [11]. Accelerometry and pedometry are the most commonly used measurement tools, yielding outcomes such as activity counts, sitting time and steps taken [12]. Accelerometers are typically consumer-grade such as Fitbit (less expensive and accessible to the general public) [13,14] or research-grade such as ActivPAL3TM (more expensive, shown to be more accurate, not used by the general public) [15,16].

When we are deciding on the selection of the appropriate activity measurement tools as part of an intervention, we need to consider that the most common way people with MS are active is through walking.[17] Many patients with MS use walking aids or walk slowly [18]. Thus, a selected activity monitor must be accurate in people with MS who walk at different speeds or with variable gait patterns.

People with MS may especially benefit from the utilization of consumer-grade activity monitors since they provide an opportunity for individuals to monitor their daily physical activity. These monitors can be synchronized to smartphones and computers to generate immediate feedback and can encourage individuals to increase their activity levels by monitoring daily steps taken as a surrogate for physical activity.

Balto et al. [19] evaluated the precision and accuracy of different consumer-grade activity trackers for measuring steps in ambulatory adults with MS and reported the Fitbit One (Fitbit Inc, San Francisco, CA, USA) as the most accurate and precise device. However, there was no criterion measure used in their study. Activity trackers produced by Fitbit are popular and widely utilized. Fitbit activity trackers (e.g. Fitbit One) record steps, stairs climbed, distance travelled, sleep, and calories burned. The Fitbit One can be attached to the hip, bra, or ankle. Earlier studies in healthy adults [20], and communitydwelling elderly [21] showed the hip-worn Fitbit One accurately measured step counts. Treacy et al. [22] and Simpson et al. [23] found the Fitbit One worn on the ankle had excellent agreement with direct observation of steps in individuals who walk slowly such as patients with stroke [22] and the elderly [23]. However, poor agreement was observed at slower gait speeds when the Fitbit One was attached to the hip [22]. Patients with MS may have slow or altered gait [24] with frequent bilateral gait deficits, as compared to people with stroke who typically have hemiplegic gait patterns [25]. Use of walking aid (e.g., cane, or walker), which is also common in people with MS, is also likely to influence activity tracker accuracy. Therefore, the validity of the Fitbit One in both locations (i.e., hip and ankle) must be determined with persons with MS.

Measuring posture - a surrogate for sedentary behaviour - and distinguishing between standing and sitting is an important component of understanding and quantifying sedentary behaviour [26]. Accelerometers worn on the thigh, such as ActivPAL3TM (PAL Technologies Ltd, Glasgow, UK), have the ability to differentiate between standing (thigh vertical) and sitting (thigh horizontal) in comparison with the waist or the wrist-worn accelerometers such as ActiGraph [26]. The research-grade activity monitor, ActivPAL3TM, measures sitting/lying and upright (standing and walking) times, numbers of sit-to-stand and stand-to-sit transitions and step counts. The ActivPAL3TM monitor has previously shown excellent ability to measure sitting and upright times, number of postural transitions and step counts in healthy adults [27], people with disability [28], and the elderly [28]. Although evidence suggests that the ActivPAL may be the gold standard for measuring sedentary time [11,29], to date, no study has examined the validity of the ActivPAL3TM in assessing sedentary behaviour in individuals with MS. Therefore, this study aimed to evaluate:

- the concurrent criterion validity of the ActivPAL3TM activity monitor for measuring time spent in sitting and standing, and number of postural transitions against direct observation in ambulatory patients with MS;
- 2) the concurrent criterion validity of the ActivPAL3TM and the Fitbit One activity monitors for measuring step counts against direct observation in ambulatory patients with MS.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Study Design

This methodological study utilized a concurrent criterion validity design. Ethical approval was granted by the institutional Health Research Ethics committee of the University of Alberta (Pro00067657 AME2).

3.2.2 Participants

Participants were included if they met the following criteria: (1) aged \geq 18 years old; (2) confirmed diagnosis of MS of at least one-year duration; (3) stable in terms of disease-modifying drugs and rehabilitation over the previous 6 months; and (4) able to walk 10 meters with or without a walking aid.

3.2.3 Recruitment

Thirty-two participants were recruited through the MS Clinic at the University of Alberta via posters and flyers, as well as website announcements at the MS Society of Alberta. Participants were screened on the phone to ensure they met the inclusion criteria and received the study information letter by email. Participants who met inclusion criteria and agreed to participate were enrolled.

3.2.4 Study Procedures and Data Collection

Prior to data collection, all included monitors were assessed for functionality by the researcher (GM). First, all ActivPALs3TM and Fitbits were connected to the same computer to synchronize the time on the devices. Each ActivPAL3TM was set up and worn

by the researcher (GM) as per the manufacturer's instructions (anterior mid-thigh). The researcher then performed different activities including sitting, standing, stepping, sit-tostand, and stand-to-sit postural transitions for 30 minutes. Following that, all Fitbit activity trackers were attached to the researcher's waist for 30 minutes to record the number of steps. The start and end time for each activity were directly recorded from the computer by the researcher (direct observation). It was then compared with the ActivPAL3TM and Fitbit monitors' recorded start and end times to assess the accuracy of each device against direct observation. The monitors were included in the study if the accuracy of the devices was ≥ 95 % (research-grade) [27] and ≥ 90 % (consumer-grade) [30] compared to direct observation by the researcher. This preliminary testing of the activity monitors was done once prior to the start of data collection.

Participants were invited to a 1.5-hour data collection session. The research study was explained to them and any questions and/or concerns were addressed. All participants signed the consent form prior to taking part in the study. Demographic data and physical characteristics of participants including age, sex, self-reported height and weight, and use of assistive devices were obtained. Participants were categorized into two different groups based on the use of walking aids.

The researcher examined the strength of participants' legs with a manual muscle test to determine the stronger leg. One ActivPAL3TM monitor and two Fitbit One activity trackers were then initialized and positioned on the participant as follows. The ActivPAL3TM monitor was attached to the midline of the anterior aspect of the participant's stronger thigh by waterproof non-allergic adhesive pads (Tegaderm, 3M Company, Canada). Two Fitbit Ones were attached to the participants' stronger side at the following locations: (i) on the waistband, just above the greater trochanter (Fitbit –

Waist) by a clip, and (ii) on the ankle, just above the lateral malleolus (Fitbit – Ankle) by an elastic band. Waist attachment was in accordance with the manufacturers' guidelines. A video camera was set up and connected to the same computer as the monitors, to synchronize the time on each of the devices. After synchronization, the video camera was placed appropriately to capture the different movement activities during the session.

Participants performed a series of tasks (Table 3-1) including sitting, standing, walking, sit-to-stand, and stand-to-sit transitions. Based on the ActivPAL3TM manufacturer's settings, a minimum seated duration of 10 seconds and a minimum upright duration of 10 seconds is required to register a sitting or standing event by the ActivPAL3TM [31]. Therefore, the participants were asked to perform the 5-repeated chair postural transition test, incorporating a hold of at least 10 seconds between transitions. Instructions and the starting cue such as "Are you ready? 3, 2, 1, start," was given before each task. Participants were given adequate rest between each test.

Finally, participants completed a 6-minute walk test using a standard protocol [32] on a 30-meter track. The researcher (GM) walked slightly behind and to the side of the participant. Participants were instructed to stand still for 1-minute prior to and after the 6-minute walk, to mark the start and stop times accurately. The start and end time of the walking test was also expressed verbally and recorded onto video.

Posture/Movement	Activity and timing	Measurement
Sitting	Sitting on a chair for 5	ActivPAL3 TM ; Direct observation
	minutes	
Standing	Standing still for 5 minutes	ActivPAL3 ^{1M} ; Direct observation
Stepping	6-minute walk test	ActivPAL3 TM ; Direct observation; Fitbit One
Sit-to-Stand and Stand- to-Sit Transitions	5 repetitions of postural transitions	ActivPAL3 TM ; Direct observation

Table 3-1: Tasks performed by participants

3.2.5 Instruments

ActivPAL3TM is a small (3.5 cm × 5.3 cm × 0.7 cm), light-weight (15 grams), triaxial, research-grade physical activity monitor. It measures accelerations of the thigh at a sampling frequency of 20 Hertz with signal generation related to thigh inclination [33]. The device summarizes data in 15-second intervals (epochs) over a 24-hour period [34] and provides output for body postures (lying/sitting, standing, and stepping) using a proprietary algorithm in the manufacturer-provided software. In general, the ActivPAL3TM measures time spent in sedentary behaviour (sitting or lying), and upright positions (standing and walking), numbers of sit-to-stand and stand-to-sit transitions, and step counts [33].

The Fitbit One activity tracker is a light-weight (8 grams) and small ($4.8 \times 1.9 \text{ cm} \times 1.0 \text{ cm}$), triaxial, consumer-grade accelerometer that records steps, stairs climbed, distance travelled, sleep, and calories burned. It is a relatively affordable device that can provide real time feedback on either the device itself, on a smartphone or via simple software accessed by the internet. The device summarizes data in 60-second intervals (epochs).

Direct observation derived from a digital video camera (HDR-PJ270, Sony Corporation, Japan) was used as a criterion measure for all the sedentary and physical activities. Procedures related to direct observation were as follows. Two researchers viewed the videos independently and timed sitting and standing, counted the number of postural transitions, and calculated the step counts during the 6-minute walk test. A handheld step counter (H102-4, Keihoku Keiki Kogyo Co. Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) was used for counting steps. There was no difference in recorded sitting and standing times, and number of postural transitions between two researchers. The number of steps typically differed by one or two steps and was mainly due to the classification of when a step occurred at the end of the 6-minute walk test. The step counts were recounted until consensus was achieved for cases of dissimilar counts.

3.2.6 Data Analysis

Data from the ActivPAL3TM, the Fitbits, and the video camera were downloaded to a computer for analysis using Professional Research Edition software (PAL Software Suite Version 8), Fitabase (Small Steps Labs LLC), and VLC Media Player (version 2.2.6), respectively. All data from the activity monitors were downloaded to Excel and exported to SPSS statistical package Version 24 (Armonk, New York, USA, IBM Corp).

Descriptive statistics were calculated including means and standard deviations for each continuous variable (sitting time, standing time and number of postural transitions) and percentage for categorical variables.

The ActivPAL3TM reports transitions and postural information (unlike Fitbit) thus the validity of transitions and time in certain postures is only reported for the ActivPAL3TM. Mean, standard deviation and proportion (percentage) were used to

determine validity of the ActivPAL3TM for measuring sitting and standing times and number of postural transitions against direct observation. Validity of the ActivPAL3TM and the Fitbit Ones (ankle and waist placement) for measuring step counts against direct observation was tested in several ways including Intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC), mean absolute percentage error (MAPE³), and Bland-Altman plots.

ICCs for continuous data were used to compare:

- the total step counts recorded by the ActivPAL3TM with the steps derived from direct observation during the 6-minute walk;
- the total step counts recorded by the Fitbit Ones with the steps derived from direct observation during the 6-minute walk;
- the total number of steps recorded by the ActivPAL3TM with total step counts recorded by the Fitbit Ones during the 6-minute walk.

ICC estimates and their 95% confidence intervals were calculated based on a single rater (k = 1), absolute-agreement, 2-way mixed-effects model. An ICC value > 0.90 was defined as "excellent", an ICC value between 0.75 and 0.90 ($0.75 \le ICC \le 0.90$) was defined as "good", an ICC value between 0.50 and 0.74 ($0.50 \le ICC \le 0.74$) was defined as "moderate", and an ICC value less than 0.50 (ICC < 0.50) was defined as "poor" [35].

³ Mean absolute percentage error

The mean absolute percentage error ([|activity monitor recorded steps - direct observation|/direct observation] \times 100) was also calculated for the number of steps from the devices to show the magnitude of error for each device against direct observation. Bland–Altman plots were used to provide a visual illustration of agreement between the different measurements [36]. Small mean differences and narrow limits of agreement in Bland–Altman plots indicated greater agreement.

Measured variables from the devices were reported in three groups; the full sample, people who use walking aids and people without walking aids.

3.3 Results

Thirty-two (28 females and 4 males) ambulatory adults with MS participated. The data for one participant did not match the time frame of direct observation, thus data from thirty-one participants were analyzed. Participant characteristics are outlined in Table 3-2.

Mean (SD) or n (%)	Range
49 (9.6)	29-65
28 (90.3 %)	
74.7 (15.3)	45-109
1.6 (0.1)	1.5-1.8
27.6 (5.1)	19-37
8 (25.8 %)	
5 (16.1 %)	
	Mean (SD) or n (%) 49 (9.6) 28 (90.3 %) 74.7 (15.3) 1.6 (0.1) 27.6 (5.1) 8 (25.8 %) 5 (16.1 %)

Table 3-2: Participants' characteristics (n = 31)

n: Number of participants, SD: Standard Deviation; kg: Kilogram; m: Meter

The majority of participants (n = 25) were middle-aged and 22 out of 31 were classified as overweight or obese as defined by a body mass index \geq 25. Eighteen participants (58%) used no walking aids.

Sitting and standing times were accurately recorded by the ActivPAL3TM 100% of the time for all participants (Table 3-3). Sit-to-stand (Up) and stand-to-sit (Down) transitions were recorded accurately in 24 and 23 participants, respectively (Table 3-3).

Variables	Direct observation	ActivPA	ActivPAL3 TM	
	(n=31)	(n=31)		
	Mean ± (SD)	Mean (SD) or n (%) $300 \pm (0)$ $299.9 \pm (0.1)$		
Sitting time (seconds)	$300 \pm (0)$			
Standing time (seconds)	$300 \pm (0)$			
Number of sit-to-stand	*5	5 out of 5	24 (77%)	
transitions		4 out of 5	4 (12.9%)	
		2 out of 5	1 (3.2%)	
		1 out of 5	2 (6.4%)	
Number of stand-to-sit	*5	5 out of 5	23 (74.1%)	
transitions		4 out of 5	4 (12.9%)	
		3 out of 5	2 (6.4%)	
		2 out of 5	1 (3.2%)	
		0 out of 5	1 (3.2%)	

 Table 3-3: Averages for the duration of postures and number of transitions

 recorded by the ActivPAL3TM and direct observation

n: Number of participants; SD: Standard Deviation.

*All participants performed 5 postural transitions.

The number of transitions recorded by the ActivPAL3TM out of 5 directly observed transitions and the number of participants for each recorded number of transitions is shown above.

The number of steps recorded during the 6-minute walk by each of the measurement devices is summarized in Table 3-4. In comparison with direct observation, the ActivPAL3TM underestimated the number of steps for all but 3 participants. The

ActivPAL3[™] underestimated steps by an average of 12 in people without walking aids and 18 steps in people with walking aids (Table 3-4). The Fitbit Ones, regardless of placement on the waist or ankle, underestimated the number of steps in all participants during the 6-minute walk. On average, the waist-worn Fitbit One underestimated the number of steps taken by 24 and 61 steps in individuals without and with walking aids, respectively (Table 3-4). The ankle-worn Fitbit One underestimated step counts by 41 steps in those who used walking aids and 61 steps in those without walking aids (Table 3-4).

 Table 3-4: Step count during the 6-minute walk as measured by direct observation, the ActivPAL3TM and Fitbit One Locations

Variables	Full sample		No Walk	ing aids	Use of Walking aids		
	n=31		n=1	8	n=13		
	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	
DO steps (Counts)	625.6 (117.5)	369-862	684.3 (86.0)	551-862	544.2 (108.2)	369-728	
AP steps (Counts)	611.2 (121.2)	354-848	672.6 (81.6)	550-848	526.1 (117.6)	354-722	
FBw steps (Counts)	586.2 (146.2)	248-848	660.7 (93.3)	513-848	483 (145.8)	248-721	
FBa steps (Counts)	573.4 (105.1)	342-750	623.7 (80.2)	481-750	503.7 (97.4)	342-694	

AP: ActivPAL3TM; DO: Direct Observation; FBw: Waist-worn Fitbit; FBa: Ankle-worn Fitbit; SD: Standard Deviation; n: Number of participants

The mean absolute percentage error (MAPE) for the steps recorded by the ActivPAL3TM and the Fitbit Ones against direct observation is shown in Figure 3-1. The ActivPAL had the smallest MAPE in all 3 groups (Figure 3-1). The waist-worn Fitbit One had smaller MAPE than the ankle-worn Fitbit One in persons who didn't use walking aids. A smaller MAPE for the ankle-worn Fitbit One in comparison with the waist-worn Fitbit One was observed in individuals with walking aids (Figure 3-1).



Figure 3-1: Mean absolute percentage error for the steps from the ActivPAL3TM and the two Fitbit locations against direct observation.

ICCs for the ActivPAL3TM and the Fitbit Ones against direct observation are shown in Table 3-5. There was good agreement (ICC: 0.90, CI: 0.78-0.95) between the ActivPAL3TM and the waist-worn Fitbit One and good agreement (ICC: 0.75, CI: 0.49-0.88) between the ActivPAL3TM and the ankle-worn Fitbit One for step counts. The waist-worn Fitbit One was also in good agreement (ICC: 0.76, CI: 0.56-0.87) with the ankle-worn Fitbit One for measurement of steps.

AP: ActivPAL; FBw: Waist-worn Fitbit; FBa: Ankle-worn Fitbit; MAPE: Mean Absolute Percentage Error; n: Number of participants

Step counts against	Whole sample		No walking aids		Use of walking aids	
direct observation	(n = 31)		(n = 18)		(n = 13)	
	ICC	95% CI	ICC	95% CI	ICC	95% CI
ActivPAL	0.98	(0.90-0.99)	0.97	(0.87-0.99)	0.97	(0.79-0.99)
Fitbit-waist	0.88	(0.60-0.95)	0.94	(0.48-0.98)	0.76	(0.21-0.93)
Fitbit-ankle	0.72	(0.31-0.88)	0.33	(-0.07-0.66)	0.89	(0.08-0.97)

Table 3-5: ICC for the ActivPAL3TM and the Fitbits against direct observation

ICC: Intraclass Correlation Coefficient; CI: Confidence Interval; n: Number of participants

Bland-Altman plots which provide a visual illustration of the agreement between the devices and direct observation for measuring steps in the whole sample are shown in Figure 3-2. The mean difference between the steps recorded by direct observation and the devices, as well as between devices, and their 95% limits of agreement are shown in Table 3-6. For the ActivPAL3TM, the mean difference was smaller, and the limits of agreement narrower than those for the Fitbit Ones (Figure 3-2 and Table 3-6). The waist-worn Fitbit One had smaller mean difference and narrower limits of agreement than the ankle-worn Fitbit One (Figure 3-2 and Table 3-6). The Bland-Altman plots were in agreement with the ICCs and the MAPE for the full sample.

The mean difference between the ActivPAL3TM and the waist-worn Fitbit One was smaller, and their limits of agreement were narrower than between the ActivPAL3TM and the ankle-worn Fitbit One (Figure 3-2 and Table 3-6). These findings were in accordance with the ICC results.



















Figure 3-2: Bland-Altman plots comparing step counts over a 6-minute walk test for the ActivPAL3TM and the two Fitbit One Locations.

(A) Comparison between the ActivPAL3TM and direct observation, (B) Comparison between the waist-worn Fitbit One and direct observation, (C) Comparison between the ankle-worn Fitbit One and direct observation, (D) Comparison between the ActivPAL3TM and the waist-worn Fitbit One, (E) Comparison between the ActivPAL3TM and the ankle-worn Fitbit One, (F) Comparison between the waist-worn Fitbit One and the ankle-worn Fitbit One. The middle line indicates the mean difference between the two measures, upper and lower lines indicate the limits of agreement (± 1.96 standard deviations of the mean difference).

AP: ActivPAL3TM; FBw: Waist-worn Fitbit One; FBa: Ankle-worn Fitbit One

(-81.6, 131.6)

(-106.2, 181.8)

ActivPAL3 TM		Fitbit-waist		Fitbit-ankle	
MD	95% LoA	MD	95% LoA	MD	95% LoA
14.3	(-19.3, 48.0)	39.3	(-61.6, 140.3)	52.1	(-87.1, 191.4)
	MD 14.3	MD 95% LoA 14.3 (-19.3, 48.0)	ActivPAL3*** Fitt MD 95% LoA MD 14.3 (-19.3, 48.0) 39.3	ActivPAL3 Fitbit-waist MD 95% LoA MD 95% LoA 14.3 (-19.3, 48.0) 39.3 (-61.6, 140.3)	ActivPAL3*** Fitbit-waist Fitbit MD 95% LoA MD 95% LoA MD 14.3 (-19.3, 48.0) 39.3 (-61.6, 140.3) 52.1

23.1

12.8

(-83.2, 129.4)

(-160.4, 186)

36.5

12.8

(-109.3, 182.4)

(-160.4, 186)

Table 3-6: Bland–Altman mean differences and limits of agreement from the devices against direct observation and the devices against each other for measuring step counts during the 6-minute walk

MD: Mean Difference; LoA: Limits of Agreement

25

37.8

3.4 Discussion

ActiVPAL3TM

Fitbit-waist

Fitbit-ankle

The results of this study provide concurrent validity evidence supporting the use of the ActivPAL3TM for measurement of sedentary behaviour (sitting time), standing time and step counts in ambulatory patients with MS. Moreover, results support the use of the waist- and the ankle-worn Fitbit Ones for the measurement of steps in the MS population. However, the waist-worn Fitbit One provided more accurate results in people who did not use walking aids while the ankle-worn Fitbit One performed better in individuals with walking impairment and consequently, the use of assistive devices such as cane or walker. Results of our study regarding the recorded sitting and standing times by the ActivPAL are similar to Taraldsen et al. [28] who found that the ActivPAL accurately recorded both sedentary and standing times in all participants (i.e. patients with stroke and the elderly). The results were also in agreement with the results of Larkin et al. [37] and Sellers et al. [27] who reported the ActivPAL as a valid measure of sedentary and standing times in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (MAPE: 1.4% and 8.4% for sitting and standing times, respectively) and adults and young people (percentage error within \pm 5% of direct observation), respectively.

The ActivPAL accurately recorded the number of postural transitions (5 out of 5) in approximately 75% of the participants in the current study which is less than Taraldsen et al. [28] who reported that the device accurately recorded postural transitions 100% of the time. The accuracy of the ActivPAL for measurement of postural transitions we observed was more similar to Larkin et al. [37] who reported the device underestimated transition counts by 36%. The variability in the reported rates of postural transitions across the studies may be related to the differences in the range of motion of leg joints which can be caused by many factors such as muscle weakness, stiffness or spasticity and reduced dynamic stability in patients with MS and rheumatoid arthritis. These factors may influence the proper thigh inclination and therefore, the ability of the ActivPAL to differentiate sitting from standing accurately leading to underestimation of the number of postural transitions.

In regard to step counts, the MAPE for the ActivPAL3TM in our study was 2.3%. This means that for 1000 steps the device misses approximately 23 steps on average, which indicates high accuracy of the ActivPAL3TM for the measurement of steps in the MS population. The magnitude of error for the ActivPAL3TM was higher in people who

used walking aids. Our results are similar to the findings of Coulter et al. [38] who reported that the ActivPAL3TM was valid for the measurement of upright time and step count in patients with MS. However, our study extends the findings by Coulter and colleagues [38] by the assessment of the validity of the ActivPAL3TM for all the recorded parameters including sedentary time, standing time, numbers of postural transitions as well as steps in patients with MS. Our results were also in agreement with the findings of Seller et al. [27] who reported the MAPE of 3.4% in adults and 5.4% in young people.

Impaired knee and ankle control and reduced movements and range of motion in both joints that affect gait are common in patients with MS [18,39]. Previous studies with assessment of gait patterns in individuals with MS showed reduced step length and gait speed [24,40–42]. This may contribute to the underestimation of step counts by the ActivPAL and the Fitbit Ones in the majority of the participants in the current study.

In general, the MAPE for the waist-worn Fitbit One (6.2%) was smaller than the ankle-worn Fitbit One (8.3%) which indicated higher accuracy of the waist-worn Fitbit One in measuring steps in our sample. The results of our study regarding the ankle-worn Fitbit One are similar to findings by Simpson et al. [23], Treacy et al. [22] and Klassen et al. [43] who reported that the ankle-worn Fitbit One had significantly less error than the waist-worn Fitbit One in measuring steps in slow-walking older adults [23], slow-walking patients admitted to rehabilitation setting [22] and patients with stroke [43]. These findings may be explained by the ability of the ankle-worn device to record small accelerations compared to the waist-worn device. Accelerations at the ankle are perhaps greater than the accelerations at the hip during leg swing in slow-walking individuals and therefore, the ankle-worn device is more likely to record steps than the waist-worn Fitbit One in people who walk slowly. On the other hand, our findings regarding the waist-worn

Fitbit One were in agreement with the results reported by Takacs et al. [44], Paul et al. [21], and Floegel et al. [45] who found that the waist-worn Fitbit One was valid for measuring the number of steps in healthy adults, older adults without walking impairment, and the elderly with varied ambulatory abilities who don't use assistive devices. Our results are also similar to a systematic review of all Fitbit devices [46] that indicated a trend of underestimating steps in Fitbit studies in controlled settings. The study [46] demonstrated a greater tendency of the Fitbit activity trackers to accurately measure steps during normal walking speed with torso placement, and during slow walking with ankle placement.

Based on our results, the ActivPAL3TM had the highest agreement for steps taken compared with direct observation. In addition, the mean difference in Bland-Altman plots for the ActivPAL3TM was smaller and the limits of agreement were narrower than the plots for the Fitbit Ones. Treacy et al. [22] found a higher level of agreement between direct observation and an ankle-worn Fitbit One than between the ActivPAL and directlyobserved steps in patients admitted in general and stroke rehabilitation wards, which is in contrast with our findings. This could be due to the fact that patients with MS have different walking patterns compared with the patients with stroke, which could affect the accuracy of the ankle-worn Fitbit One and the ActivPAL for capturing steps. Storm et al. [47] also reported higher agreement between the waist-worn Fitbit One and visually counted steps than between the ActivPAL and steps counted by the researcher. These different findings could be potentially explained by differences in the populations under study which may be a function of walking speed, walking pattern, or device placement and, therefore, the accuracy of the devices for recording steps. The results of our study cannot be generalized to other populations due to individual differences and characteristics.

3.5 Limitations

There are limitations to this study. Our sample size was relatively small and most of our participants were females with MS, therefore, the validity of the devices could be different in a male-dominant sample [48]. However, the majority of the MS population is female [49]. Our study was performed in a laboratory setting in which participants walked through a straight line in a hall-way. Greater errors may have been observed if walking had been assessed in a free-living environment. Additionally, our protocol encompassed a short walking test, therefore it is possible that smaller errors would have been observed over a longer walking distance. Lastly, we did not measure gait speed and cadence so in the future validity of the Fitbit One in individuals with MS with various gait speeds should be examined.

3.6 Conclusion

The ActivPAL3TM demonstrated adequate concurrent validity for the measurement of sedentary behaviour in patients with MS. The device also appears accurate for measuring step count, which is the main form of physical activity performed by people with MS. The waist- and the ankle-worn Fitbit One positions were accurate for measuring step count. However, the ankle-worn Fitbit One is recommended for patients with MS who experience difficulty walking or use assistive devices as this placement performed better in people who walk slowly. Furthermore, the waist-worn Fitbit One may provide a more accurate daily record of steps in people with MS without the use of

walking aids. Future studies are recommended within free-living environments with larger samples of patients with MS, especially those with mobility impairments.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Jacqueline Rowley and Sarah Norton for their help with data collection in this project.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Funding

This work was supported by the Alberta Innovates Novartis Translational Research Fund.

References:

- [1] Marrie RA, Reider N, Cohen J, Stuve O, Trojano M, Cutter G, et al. A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of cardiac, cerebrovascular, and peripheral vascular disease in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2015;21:318–31.
- [2] Sutliff MH. Contribution of impaired mobility to patient burden in multiple sclerosis. Curr Med Res Opin 2010;26:109–19.
- [3] Myhr KM, Vedeler C, Grønning M, Nyland HI, Riise T, Midgard R. Disability and prognosis in multiple sclerosis: Demographic and clinical variables important for the ability to walk and awarding of disability pension. Mult Scler 2001;7:59–65.
- [4] Marrie RA, Reider N, Cohen J, Stuve O, Trojano M, Cutter G, et al. A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of cardiac, cerebrovascular, and peripheral vascular disease in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2015;21:318–31.
- [5] Motl RW, McAuley E, Sandroff BM, Hubbard EA. Descriptive epidemiology of physical activity rates in multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurol Scand 2015;131:422–5.
- [6] Ezeugwu V, Klaren RE, A Hubbard E, Manns PT, Motl RW. Mobility disability and the pattern of accelerometer-derived sedentary and physical activity behaviors in people with multiple sclerosis. Prev Med Reports 2015;2:241–6.
- [7] Sasaki J, Motl R, Cutter G, Marrie R, Tyry T, Salter A. National estimates of selfreported sitting time in adults with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J - Exp Transl Clin 2018;4:205521731875436.

- [8] LaPorte RE, Montoye HJ, Caspersen CJ. Assessment of physical activity in epidemiologic research: problems and prospects. Public Health Rep 1985;100:131–46.
- [9] Bussmann JBJ, Ebner-Priemer UW, Fahrenberg J. Ambulatory activity monitoring. Eur Psychol 2009;14:142–52.
- [10] Hills AP, Mokhtar N, Byrne NM. Assessment of physical activity and energy expenditure: An overview of objective measures. Front Nutr 2014;1:5.
- [11] Hart TL, Ainsworth BE, Tudor-Locke C. Objective and subjective measures of sedentary behavior and physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2011;43:449–56.
- [12] Motl RW, Snook EM, Agiovlasitis S, Suh Y. Calibration of accelerometer output for ambulatory adults with multiple sclerosis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2009;90:1778–84.
- [13] Fanning J, Mullen SP, McAuley E. Increasing Physical Activity With Mobile Devices: A Meta-Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2012;14:e161.
- [14] Muntaner A, Vidal-Conti J, Palou P. Increasing physical activity through mobile device interventions: A systematic review. Health Informatics J 2016;22:451–69.
- [15] Napolitano MA, Borradaile KE, Lewis BA, Whiteley JA, Longval JL, Parisi AF, et al. Accelerometer use in a physical activity intervention trial. Contemp Clin Trials 2010;31:514–23.
- [16] Ferguson T, Rowlands A V, Olds T, Maher C. The validity of consumer-level, activity monitors in healthy adults worn in free-living conditions: a cross-sectional

study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2015;12:42.

- [17] Weikert M, Dlugonski D, Balantrapu S, Motl RW. Most common types of physical activity self-selected by people with multiple sclerosis. Int J MS Care. 2011;13(1):16-20.
- [18] Kelleher KJ, Spence W, Solomonidis S, Apatsidis D. The characterisation of gait patterns of people with multiple sclerosis. Disabil Rehabil 2010;32:1242–50.
- [19] Balto JM, Kinnett-Hopkins DL, Motl RW. Accuracy and precision of smartphone applications and commercially available motion sensors in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J - Exp Transl Clin 2016;2:2055217316634754.
- [20] Diaz KM, Krupka DJ, Chang MJ, Peacock J, Ma Y, Goldsmith J, et al. Fitbit(R): An accurate and reliable device for wireless physical activity tracking. Int J Cardiol 2015;185:138–40.
- [21] Paul SS, Tiedemann A, Hassett LM, Ramsay E, Kirkham C, Chagpar S, et al. Validity of the Fitbit activity tracker for measuring steps in community-dwelling older adults. BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med 2015;1:e000013.
- [22] Treacy D, Hassett L, Schurr K, Chagpar S, Paul SS, Sherrington C. Validity of different activity monitors to count steps in an inpatient rehabilitation setting. Phys Ther 2017;97:581–8.
- [23] Simpson L, Eng J, Klassen T, Lim S, Louie D, Parappilly B, et al. Capturing step counts at slow walking speeds in older adults: Comparison of ankle and waist placement of measuring device. J Rehabil Med 2015;47:830–5.

- [24] Filli L, Sutter T, Easthope CS, Killeen T, Meyer C, Reuter K, et al. Profiling walking dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: Characterisation, classification and progression over time. Sci Rep 2018;8.
- [25] Balaban B, Tok F. Gait disturbances in patients with stroke. PM R 2014;6:635–42.
- [26] Byrom B, Stratton G, Mc Carthy M, Muehlhausen W. Objective measurement of sedentary behaviour using accelerometers. Int J Obes 2016;40:1809–12.
- [27] Sellers C, Dall P, Grant M, Stansfield B. Validity and reliability of the activPAL3 for measuring posture and stepping in adults and young people. Gait Posture 2016;43:42–7.
- [28] Taraldsen K, Askim T, Sletvold O, Einarsen EK, Bjastad KG, Indredavik B, et al. Evaluation of a body-worn sensor system to measure physical activity in older people with impaired function. Phys Ther 2011;91:277–85.
- [29] Kozey-Keadle S, Libertine A, Lyden K, Staudenmayer J, Freedson PS. Validation of wearable monitors for assessing sedentary behavior. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2011;43:1561–7.
- [30] Battenberg AK, Donohoe S, Robertson N, Schmalzried TP. The accuracy of personal activity monitoring devices. Sem Arthroplasty 2017;28:71–5.
- [31] PAL Technologies Ltd. ActivPAL^{3TM} operating guide. Glas PAL Technol Ltd; 2010.
- [32] Goldman MD, Marrie RA, Cohen JA. Evaluation of the six-minute walk in multiple sclerosis subjects and healthy controls. Mult Scler J 2008;14:383–90.

- [33] Kim Y, Barry VW, Kang M. Validation of the ActiGraph GT3X and activPAL accelerometers for the assessment of sedentary behavior. Meas Phys Educ Exerc Sci 2015;19:125–37.
- [34] Ryan CG, Grant PM, Tigbe WW, Granat MH. The validity and reliability of a novel activity monitor as a measure of walking. Br J Sports Med 2006;40:779 LP 784.
- [35] Koo TK, Li MY. A Guideline of selecting and reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for reliability research. J Chiropr Med 2016;15:155–63.
- [36] Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. Lancet (London, England) 1986;1:307–10.
- [37] Larkin L, Nordgren B, Purtill H, Brand C, Fraser A, Kennedy N. Criterion validity of the activPAL activity monitor for sedentary and physical activity patterns in people who have Rheumatoid Arthritis. Phys Ther 2016;96:1093–101.
- [38] Coulter EH, Miller L, McCorkell S, McGuire C, Algie K, Freeman J, et al. Validity of the activPAL3 activity monitor in people moderately affected by Multiple Sclerosis. Med Eng Phys 2017;45:78–82.
- [39] Van der Linden ML, Scott SM, Hooper JE, Cowan P, Mercer TH. Gait kinematics of people with Multiple Sclerosis and the acute application of Functional Electrical Stimulation. Gait Posture 2014;39:1092–6.
- [40] Kelleher KJ, Spence W, Solomonidis S, Apatsidis D. The characterisation of gait patterns of people with multiple sclerosis. Disabil Rehabil 2010;32:1242–50.

- [41] Benedetti MG, Piperno R, Simoncini L, Bonato P, Tonini A, Giannini' S. Gait abnormalities in minimally impaired multiple sclerosis patients. Mult Scler 1999;5:363–8.
- [42] Lizrova Preiningerova J, Novotna K, Rusz J, Sucha L, Ruzicka E, Havrdova E. Spatial and temporal characteristics of gait as outcome measures in multiple sclerosis (EDSS 0 to 6.5). J Neuroeng Rehabil 2015;12:14.
- [43] Klassen TD, Semrau JA, Dukelow SP, Bayley MT, Hill MD, Eng JJ. Consumer-Based physical activity monitor as a practical way to measure walking intensity during inpatient stroke rehabilitation. Stroke 2017;48:2614–7.
- [44] Takacs J, Pollock CL, Guenther JR, Bahar M, Napier C, Hunt MA. Validation of the Fitbit One activity monitor device during treadmill walking. J Sci Med Sport 2014;17:496–500.
- [45] Floegel TA, Florez-Pregonero A, Hekler EB, Buman MP. Validation of consumerbased hip and wrist activity monitors in older adults with varied ambulatory abilities. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2017;72:229–36.
- [46] Feehan LM, Geldman J, Sayre EC, Park C, Ezzat AM, Young Yoo J, et al. Accuracy of fitbit devices: Systematic review and narrative syntheses of quantitative data. JMIR MHealth UHealth 2018;6.
- [47] Storm FA, Heller BW, Mazzà C. Step detection and activity recognition accuracy of seven physical activity monitors. PLoS One 2015;10:e0118723.
- [48] Van Domelen DR, Caserotti P, Brychta RJ, Harris TB, Patel K V, Chen KY, et al.

Is there a sex difference in accelerometer counts during walking in older adults? J Phys Act Health 2014;11:626–37.

[49] Harbo HF, Gold R, Tintora M. Sex and gender issues in multiple sclerosis. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 2013;6:237–48.

CHAPTER 4. Comparison of Fitbit One and ActivPAL3TM in adults with multiple sclerosis in a freeliving environment

Golnoush Mehrabani, Douglas P. Gross, Saeideh Aminian, Patricia J. Manns

Submitted to *Journal for the Measurement of Physical Behaviour* on November 27, 2020 and received minor revisions after the first review. The revised manuscript was submitted on March 31st, 2021 and was accepted on May 13, 2021. This Chapter is formatted according to the specifications of *Journal for the Measurement of Physical Behaviour*.

Abstract

Walking is the most common and preferred way for people with multiple sclerosis (MS) to be active. Consumer-grade wearable activity monitors may be used as a tool to assist people with MS to track their walking by counting the number of steps. We evaluated the validity of Fitbit One activity tracker in individuals with MS by comparing step counts measured over a 7-day period against ActivPAL3TM. Twenty-five ambulatory adults with MS with an average age 51.7 (10.2) years and gait speed 0.98 (0.47) metres/seconds, median EDSS 5.5 (2.5-6.5), and 15 years post-MS diagnosis wore Fitbit One (using both waist and ankle placement) and ActivPAL3TM for 7 consecutive days. Validity of Fitbit One for measuring step counts against ActivPAL3TM was assessed using Intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC), Bland-Altman plots and t-tests. Regardless of wearing location (waist or ankle), there was good agreement between steps recorded by Fitbit One and ActivPAL3TM [ICC: 0.86 (0.82, 0.90)]. The ankle-worn Fitbit measured steps more accurately [ICC: 0.91 (0.81, 0.95)] than the waist-worn Fitbit [ICC: 0.81 (0.62, 0.85)] especially in individuals (n = 12) who walked slowly (gait speed = 0.74 m/s). Fitbit One as a user-friendly, inexpensive, consumer-grade activity tracker can accurately record steps in persons with MS in a free-living environment.

Keywords: Validity, Step counts, Physical activity, Activity monitor

4.1 Introduction

Regular physical activity leads to decreased risk of more than 25 chronic health conditions including obesity, cancers and hypertension (Warburton & Bredin, 2017). In people with multiple sclerosis (MS), physical activity is associated with reduction in rates of MS relapses, improvement of MS symptoms, and slowed disability progression over time (Dalgas & Stenager, 2012; Doring et al., 2011; Motl et al., 2008; Sandroff et al., 2012). However, physical activity levels are significantly reduced in persons with MS (Beckerman et al., 2010; Motl et al., 2005). The symptoms of MS such as fatigue, pain or depression in addition to disability accumulation represent the primary explanation for low levels of physical activity in the MS population (Crayton et al., 2004). These manifestations make it difficult for patients with MS to achieve or maintain the recommended amount of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity (Motl, 2008; Motl et al., 2011; Motl et al., 2010).

Precise measurement of physical activity is essential to identify current activity levels, to assess changes in populations over time, and to evaluate the effectiveness of interventions aimed at increasing activity levels. When considering the measurement of physical activity in a population, it is important to identify the context in which the majority of activity takes place. Walking is the most common mode of activity in the context of a free-living environment and the preferred way to achieve physical activity throughout the day in individuals with MS (Weikert et al., 2011). Thus, consumer-grade wearable activity monitors may be an effective way of assisting individuals with MS to track their walking activities by counting the number of steps, a surrogate for physical activity levels (Balto et al., 2016). A valid consumer-grade activity tracker in a free-living

condition has the potential to provide valuable information as it is easy to use and may be beneficial for documenting individuals' status in clinical care over time (Arvidsson et al., 2019).

There are numerous consumer-grade wearable activity monitors on the market. Many have been tested in people with disabilities, including those with MS. Fitbit devices (Fitbit Inc, San Francisco, CA, USA) are amongst the most popular and user-friendly ones. Balto et al. (2016) conducted a study in a laboratory-setting and reported the Fitbit One as the most accurate and precise device in comparison with other consumer-grade activity monitors for measuring steps in ambulatory adults with MS. Earlier studies demonstrated the validity of the Fitbit One for measuring step counts in laboratory settings in healthy adults (Diaz et al., 2015), the elderly (Paul et al., 2015; L. A. Simpson et al., 2015) and patients admitted to rehabilitation wards (Treacy et al., 2017). Furthermore, there is evidence regarding the validity of the Fitbit One for measurement of steps in free-living environments in healthy adults (Ferguson et al., 2015; Middelweerd et al., 2017), female adults (Reid et al., 2017), men with prostate cancer (Van Blarigan et al., 2017), and stroke survivors (Hui et al., 2018). However, different gait patterns including frequent bilateral gait deficits and/or slower walking (Filli et al., 2018) in individuals with MS can impact activity tracker accuracy in a free-living environment. Moreover, use of walking aids (e.g., cane or walker) which is also prevalent in people with MS may influence the accuracy of the activity tracker.

Research-grade activity monitors provide more accurate activity data in comparison to consumer-grade devices (Napolitano et al., 2010). However, they are more expensive, less user-friendly and not accessible to the general public (Ferguson et al., 2015; Napolitano et al., 2010), which limits their daily use outside the research context.

Some of the research-grade monitors such as ActivPAL3TM (PAL Technologies Ltd, Glasgow, UK) are considered accurate for measuring the daily number of steps and have been previously validated in adults (Sellers et al., 2016), young people (Sellers et al., 2016), the elderly with impaired function (Taraldsen et al., 2011) and patients with stroke (Taraldsen et al., 2011). There is also evidence regarding the validity of the ActivPAL3TM for measuring step counts in patients with MS with moderate disability in a laboratory-setting depending on cadence and EDSS levels. (Coulter et al., 2017) It is unknown whether the Fitbit One provides similar information to that gained from a research-based monitor such as ActivPAL3TM. Therefore, this study assessed the validity of the Fitbit One activity tracker in persons with MS within a free-living environment by comparing step counts measured over a 7-day period against ActivPAL3TM.

4.2 Material and Methods

4.2.1 Study Design

We used a convergent validity design to compare step count measurement of a consumer-grade activity monitor (i.e., Fitbit One) to a previously validated researchgrade accelerometer (i.e., ActivPAL3TM). This study was part of a larger study called the "SitLess with MS" intervention program, which focused on interrupting prolonged sitting and replacing it with light-intensity physical activity during the day in ambulatory adults with MS (Aminian et al., 2019). This project was approved by the Health Research Ethics Board of the University of Alberta (# Pro000667657), the Northern Alberta Clinical Trials and Research Centre, and the Alberta Health Services Edmonton Zone (operational approval for recruitment through the Northern Alberta MS Clinic).

4.2.2 Study Context

This study used data collected during the interim time point (Week 8) of the "SitLess with MS" intervention. This was a 15-week activity promotion program where individual weekly coaching sessions were provided to participants with MS (excluding Weeks 0 and 15) to facilitate activity behaviour change and increase accountability and compliance with the program. The intervention was 15 weeks in length and included activity measurement (with a research-grade monitor) at baseline (Week 0), intervention mid-point (Week 8) and post-intervention (Week 15) (Aminian et al., 2019). The activity measurement at the interim time point, when the ActivPAL3TM and the Fitbit One were worn simultaneously for a 7-day period, is the focus of this study. The 7-day interim activity measurement period started at midnight after the first coaching session of the "MoveMore" stage of the program and lasted until midnight before the second coaching session of the "MoveMore" stage, which included 7 consecutive days (Week 8) (Aminian et al., 2019).

4.2.3 Participants and Recruitment

Participants in the "SitLess with MS" program were recruited through community programs and the Northern Alberta MS Clinic at the University of Alberta as detailed in the protocol paper (Aminian et al., 2019). Participants were eligible for inclusion if they were: 1) diagnosed with MS by a neurologist for at least one year; 2) aged 18 years or over; 3) mild or moderately disabled (defined by Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) score of 1-6.5) (Kurtzke, 1983); 4) relapse-free within the previous 3 months; and 5) able to walk 10 meters with or without a walking aid. Recruitment was done through community programs and the Northern Alberta MS Clinic at the University of
Alberta as described in the protocol paper (Aminian et al., 2019). All participants provided written informed consent for participation in the "SitLess with MS" program.

4.2.4 Study Procedures and Data Collection

4.2.4.1 Procedure for activity data collection at baseline time point

Participant characteristics including age, sex, body mass index (BMI), MS-related characteristics (i.e., type and duration), and disability status (defined by EDSS score) were collected at the baseline measurement session of the "SitLess with MS" intervention.

The Fitbit One was provided to each participant at the baseline measurement session of the program. At that time, the Fitbit application was installed on their phone, iPad, or laptop. The monitor was configured based on age, sex, height, and weight. Participants received basic instructions at this baseline session including log-in information as well as information about how to use the device and synchronize the Fitbit to the computer. Written instructions were provided to supplement the teaching at the baseline measurement session. Participants were asked to wear the Fitbit during all waking hours throughout the full intervention (15 weeks) and to remove it during waterbased activities such as showering or swimming. A Fitbit log was given to each participant and they were asked to record wake and bedtimes and any time they removed the device for any reason. The intervention coach was able to view the participants' Fitbit data and reminded them to wear it (if needed) during their weekly sessions. Participants retained the Fitbit after intervention completion.

The Fitbit was worn either on the waist or the ankle, and placement was recorded. Evidence indicates that the Fitbit One performs better when worn on the ankle if walking

122

more slowly (Hui et al., 2018; Klassen et al., 2017; Treacy et al., 2017). Gait speed 0.80 meters/seconds appears to be the threshold where the accuracy of the Fitbit starts to decrease. Thus, participants who walked at a gait speed < 0.80 meters/ seconds during the 10-meter walk test at the baseline measurement session of the "SitLess with MS" program were directed to wear the device on a band around their ankle.

4.2.4.2 Procedure for activity data collection at interim time point

Participants wore the Fitbit, as described above, during the 7 days of data collection at the interim time point. They also wore the ActivPAL3TM, which was initialized and mailed to them. An ActivPAL log was given to each participant to record wake and bedtimes, and any instances that they removed the device for any reason. They were instructed to attach the ActivPAL3TM to the midline of the anterior aspect of the stronger thigh by waterproof non-allergic adhesive pads (Tegaderm, 3M Company, Canada) and wear it at all times during the 7-day period. After completion of 7 full days of activity monitoring, participants mailed the ActivPAL monitor along with the ActivPAL log to the research team. The Fitbit was worn on the same side as the ActivPAL (on either the waist or ankle).

4.2.5 Instruments

Fitbit One activity tracker is a small (4.8 x 1.9 cm x 1.0 cm) and lightweight (8 g) triaxial accelerometer that uses proprietary algorithms to count steps, distance travelled, stairs climbed, sleep, and calories burned. The Fitbit One can provide real-time feedback on either the device itself, on a smartphone or through simple software accessed by the internet (Fitbit website). The device collects data in 60-second intervals (epochs) and can be attached to the hip, bra, or ankle.

ActivPAL3TM activity monitor is a small (3.5 cm \times 5.3 cm \times 0.7 cm) and lightweight (15 grams) triaxial accelerometer. The device measures thigh accelerations at a sampling frequency of 20 Hertz (Kim et al., 2015). It summarizes data in 15-second intervals (epochs) over a 24-hour period with the battery capacity allowing continuous recording for 7-10 days (Ryan et al., 2006). The monitor uses proprietary analysis algorithms in the manufacturer-provided software to determine posture (sitting time and upright time) and stepping (stepping time and step counts).

4.2.6 Data Management and Analysis

Steps data from the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM activity monitors were downloaded to a computer for analysis, using Fitabase (Small Steps Labs LLC) and Professional Research Edition software (PAL Software Suite Version 8), respectively.

The number of valid days for the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM activity monitors throughout the 7 day-period were determined for each participant with the main goal of determining the number of days where valid days from the two monitors matched. A valid day for the Fitbit One was defined as one in which the Fitbit was worn for at least 10 hours (Gomersall et al., 2016; Middelweerd et al., 2017; Van Blarigan et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2015) during the 24-hour period from 12 AM to 12 AM. We considered a measurement day as "valid" when there was at least a 10-hour window between the time when the first two steps were taken in the morning (wake time) and the time when the last few steps were taken at night (bedtime). The participant's log was reviewed after preliminary analysis for confirmation of findings from the excel output.

A valid day for the ActivPAL3TM was defined as a day where the device reported movement (standing or stepping) for at least 6 hours during wake time (Winkler et al.,

2016). The Chastin method (Chastin et al., 2014) with a few adjustments was used to determine wake and bedtimes. Wake time was defined as the first standing event after a long continuous period ≥ 2.5 hours of non-upright posture. Bedtime was defined by the last standing event before a long continuous period ≥ 3 hours of non-upright posture. Standing or stepping with a duration of ≥ 15 minutes occurring before 1:00 AM and after a sedentary bout of ≥ 2.5 hours was classified as waking time (van der Berg et al., 2016). To verify wake and bedtimes, the log was also checked. The R package version 3.6.1. (PAactivpal) (Lyden et al., 2017) was used to determine total daily step counts.

Participants who wore the Fitbit One for at least 3 valid days throughout the 7-day period with 3 matching valid days for the ActivPAL were included in the analysis. Valid days did not have to be consecutive. All analyzed data from the devices in the Excel spreadsheets were exported to SPSS statistical package Version 24 (Armonk, New York, USA, IBM Corp).

The total number of steps from the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM during each valid day was calculated for each participant. Descriptive statistics were presented as mean per day and standard deviation for the number of steps recorded by the Fitbit One activity tracker and the ActivPAL3TM during the 7-day free-living condition.

Validity of the Fitbit One for measuring step counts against the ActivPAL3TM was examined in several ways including Intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC), Bland-Altman plots and paired sample t-test. Intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) for continuous data and their 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) were used to determine the level of correlation and agreement between the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM. A 2way mixed-effects model, absolute-agreement definition, and single rater type (k = 1) were used to determine convergent validity between the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM for matched valid days of the 7-day time period. An ICC value > 0.90 was defined as excellent, an ICC value between 0.75 and 0.90 ($0.75 \le ICC \le 0.90$) was defined as good, an ICC value between 0.50 and 0.74 ($0.50 \le ICC \le 0.74$) was defined as moderate, and an ICC value less than 0.50 (ICC < 0.50) was defined as poor (Koo & Li, 2016).

Bland–Altman plots were used to provide a visual representation of the differences between the steps recorded by the Fitbit and the ActivPAL against the means of the differences between the steps recorded by two devices in order to identify systematic differences between the devices (Bland & Altman, 1986). A paired sample t-test was also used to determine whether there is a statistically non-significant difference between the number of steps recorded by the two devices.

The number of steps on matched valid days was compared. Then, the average number of steps per valid day was calculated for each participant for the two devices and was compared. All analyses were conducted in SPSS software version 24 at a significance level of P < 0.05.

As discussed in the methods section, participants wore the Fitbit on either the waist or the ankle, allowing a sub-group analysis according to monitor placement. In addition, participants were divided into two groups based on their gait-speed: 1) Higher gait-speed group (≥ 0.80 m/s) and 2) Lower gait-speed group (< 0.80 m/s) (Bohannon & Williams Andrews, 2011). All analyses described above were repeated for both monitor placement and both gait-speed groups.

4.3 Results

Twenty-five participants (23 females and 2 males) out of the 41 ambulatory adults with MS who participated in the "SitLess with MS" program had at least 3 matching valid days between the two monitors. The other 16 participants in the "SitLess with MS" program either didn't have ActivPAL data (ActivPAL3TM didn't record any data due to malfunction) or 3 matching valid days between the two devices. Participant characteristics are provided in Table 4-1.

Characteristics	Mean (SD) or n (%)	Min/Max
	Values	
Age (years)	51.7 (10.2)	33-72
Sex (female)	23 (92%)	
Weight (kilogram)	76.9 (16.5)	45-109
Height (metre)	1.6 (0.06)	1.5-1.8
Body Mass Index (kilograms /metre ²)	28.6 (6.2)	17.2-44.3
Type of MS		
Relapsing-remitting	16 (64%)	
Secondary progressive	6 (24%)	
Primary progressive	3 (12%)	
MS Duration (years)	15.4 (12.4)	2-50
EDSS		
Mild disability (EDSS < 4)	12 (48%)	2-3.5
Moderate disability ($4 \le EDSS \le 6.5$)	13 (52%)	5.5-6.5
Median (IQR)	5.5 (2.5-6.5)	
Uses Cane (unilateral, bilateral, or quad)	8 (32%)	
Uses Walker	5 (20%)	
Gait Speed (metres/second) *	0.98 (0.47)	0.03-1.71
Higher gait-speed group $(n = 16)$	1.28 (0.24)	0.83-1.71
Lower gait-speed group $(n = 9)$	0.44 (0.25)	0.03-0.72

Table 4-1: Participants' characteristics (N = 25)

Note. N: Number; SD: Standard Deviation; IQR: Interquartile Range.

* The gait speed that was measured at the baseline session of the "SitLess with MS" program is reported.

The majority of participants (n = 22) were middle-aged, diagnosed with relapsingremitting MS (n = 16) and had reported moderate levels of disability (n = 13). Sixteen out of 25 were classified as overweight or obese as defined by a body mass index \geq 25. Twelve participants (48%) used no walking aids.

The average number of steps recorded by the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM for participants with matched valid data and the average number of steps during valid days are summarized in Table 4-2. The overall mean (SD), minimum and maximum absolute differences between the ActivPAL3TM and the Fitbit One were 1237.3 (1182.4), 3, and 7002 steps, respectively (Table 4-2).

	ActivPAL3 TM step counts		Fitbit One step counts			Absolute Diff devices	erence	between	the	
	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	
Day 1 $(n = 21)^*$	5005.3 (3141.6)	82	11708	4707.9 (3461.6)	72	11586	1301.1 (1221.8)	4	3747	
Day 2 $(n = 24)^*$	4969.1 (2918.2)	60	10884	4770 (3051.7)	225	11116	1358.8 (1453.4)	105	7002	
Day 3 $(n = 23)^*$	4746 (3057.2)	58	11778	4510.7 (3142.2)	160	10717	1115.1 (1044.3)	87	3891	
Day 4 $(n = 23)^*$	4326.1 (2671.7)	36	11674	4181.8 (3146.3)	83	10311	1197.2 (1097.7)	23	4323	
Day 5 $(n = 25)^*$	4991.6 (4087)	28	13718	4880.8 (4365.5)	65	13864	1260.2 (1272.3)	3	4465	
Day 6 $(n = 21)^*$	4711.9 (3049)	34	12394	4331.7 (3578.1)	126	12211	1333.6 (1190.5)	19	3972	
Day 7 $(n = 18)^*$	4437.6 (2996.9)	66	11936	4194 (3316.4)	146	11593	1082 (1029.8)	8	3409	
Average over valid days $(n = 25)$	4752.5 (3126.5)	28	13718	4527.4 (3418.7)	65	13864	1237.3 (1182.4)	3	7002	

Table 4-2: Daily and average step counts for each device and absolute differences between the devices during valid days

Note. n: Number of participants with valid data, SD: Standard Deviation

*The number of individuals who participated in the study was 25. However, the number of individuals with valid Fitbit data on each day was different from the number of individuals with valid ActivPAL data on the same day. Therefore, n reflects the number of participants with both valid ActivPAL and Fitbit data on each day of the 7-day period and is thus less than 25.

The comparison (ICCs and t-test results) between the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM is shown in Table 4-3. In general, there was good agreement between the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM [overall average ICC = 0.86 (95% CI: 0.82, 0.90)] (Table 4-3). T-test results showed a statistically non-significant difference between the devices (Table 4-3).

Association between AP and FB ICC (95% CI) p-value t value p-value Day1 $(n = 21)^*$ 0.85 (0.68, 0.93) < 0.001 -0.76 0.45 Day 2 $(n = 24)^*$ 0.78 (0.55, 0.89) < 0.001 -0.48 0.63 Day 3 $(n = 23)^*$ 0.88 (0.74, 0.94) < 0.001 -0.73 0.46 Day 4 $(n = 23)^*$ 0.84 (0.67, 0.93) < 0.001 -0.42 0.67 Day 5 $(n = 25)^*$ 0.91 (0.85, 0.96) < 0.001 -0.32 0.75 Day 6 $(n = 21)^*$ 0.86 (0.69, 0.94) < 0.001 0.99 0.33 Day 7 $(n = 18)^*$ 0.89 (0.73, 0.95) < 0.001 -0.69 0.49 0.10 Average over valid days 0.86(0.82, 0.90)< 0.001-1.65

 Table 4-3: Intraclass Correlation Coefficients and paired sample t-test between the devices for daily stepcounts and the average step counts during valid days

Note. AP: ActivPAL3TM; FB: Fitbit One; n: Number of participants with valid Fitbit and ActivPAL data; ICC: Intraclass Correlation Coefficients; CI: Confidence Interval, P: level of significance (< 0.05)

*The number of individuals who participated in the study was 25. However, the number of individuals with valid Fitbit data on each day was different from the number of individuals with valid ActivPAL data on the same day. Therefore, n reflects the number of participants with both valid ActivPAL and Fitbit data on each day of the 7-day period.

Bland-Altman plots providing a visual representation of the systematic differences and agreement between the devices for measuring steps are shown in Figure 4-1. The difference between the average step counts over valid days for the two devices was plotted against the mean of the average recorded steps over valid days for those devices for all 25 participants. For the majority of participants (n = 23), data (black round points) are placed around the mean and between the lower and upper limits of agreement. The outliers (black triangles) are related to only 2 participants with waist-worn Fitbits.



Figure 4-1: Bland-Altman plot comparing the average step counts over valid days from the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM for all participants

Note. The solid line indicates the mean difference (205.4) between the two measures. The dashed lines indicate the upper (3541.33) and lower (-3130.53) limits of agreement (\pm 1.96 standard deviations of the mean difference).

Each black point is the difference between the average step counts over valid days by two devices against the mean of the average recorded steps over valid days for those devices for each participant. The outliers are shown with triangles.

After analysis of the data for all participants, data were examined using stratified groups according to Fitbit placement and gait speed. Seventy-five % of those who chose to wear the Fitbit on their ankle (n = 9) used walking aids such as a cane or walker, whereas 70% of participants with the waist-worn Fitbit (n = 9) did not use any walking aids. The average gait speed in those who chose to wear the Fitbit on their ankle was 0.74 m/s while it was 1.20 m/s in those who wore the Fitbit on their waist. The average number of steps for participants for both Fitbit locations (waist and ankle), for the matched ActivPAL, the absolute difference between each Fitbit location and the matched ActivPAL, and the association between the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL (ICC) are shown

in Table 4-4. In general, there was good to excellent agreement between steps as recorded

by the waist- and the ankle-worn Fitbit Ones and the ActivPAL3TM (Table 4-4).

	Waist-worn Fitbit (n = 13)	it ActivPAL3 TM (n = 13) Mean (SD) Min-Max		Ankle-worn Fitbit (n = 12)	$\begin{array}{c} \text{ActivPAL3}^{\text{TM}} \\ \text{(n = 12)} \end{array}$		
	Mean (SD)			Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)		
	Min-Max			Min-Max	Min-Max		
Average step counts	4800.7 (3130.2)	5742.2 (2956.3) 1098-13718		4415.2 (3726.1)	3745.8 (2995.5)		
during valid days	491-13864			65-13205	28-10444		
Absolute difference between the devices	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	
over valid days*	1524.8 (1139.3)	51	4465	895.6 (1148.7)	3	7002	
ICC (95% CI)	0.81 (0.62-0.89)**			0.91 (0.81-0.95) ***			

Fable 4-4: Average step counts, absolute differences, and Intraclass Correlation
Coefficients for two Fitbit locations

Note. n: Number of participants with valid data; SD: Standard Deviation; ICC: Intraclass Correlation Coefficients; CI: Confidence Interval

*The mean (SD), minimum and maximum absolute differences between the Waist-worn Fitbit and the ActivPAL3TM and between the Ankle-worn Fitbit and the ActivPAL3TM.

The ICC between the waist-worn Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM; *The ICC between the Ankle-worn Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM.

The average step counts for two activity monitors, the absolute differences between the devices, and the association between the two devices (ICC) at each gaitspeed group are shown in Table 4-5. Overall, there was moderate to good agreement between steps recorded by the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM at both gait-speed groups (Table 4-5).

	Gait speed ≥ 0.80 metres/second			Gait speed < 0.80 metres/second			
	Fitbit One (n = 16)	Ac (n	tivPAL3 TM = 16)	Fitbit One (n = 9)	ActivPA (n =	лL3 ^{тм} 9)	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)		Mean (SD)	Mean	Mean (SD)	
	Min/Max	Mi	n/Max	Min/Max	Min/	Max	
Average step counts during valid	5924 (3223.8)	6170 (2802.7)		1999.7 (1964)	2123.1 (1654.9)		
uays	/49-13804	1098-13/18		03-7198	28-	0434	
Absolute Difference between the devices over	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	
valid days	1392.4 (1155.6)	4	4465	924 (1185.2)	3	7002	
ICC (95% CI)	0.82 (0.74-0.87)			0.66 (0.47-0.79)			

 Table 4-5: Average step counts, absolute differences, and Intraclass Correlation

 Coefficients for both gait-speed groups

Note. n: Number of participants with valid data; SD: Standard Deviation; ICC: Intraclass Correlation Coefficients; CI: Confidence Interval

4.4 Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study testing the convergent validity of the Fitbit One in ambulatory adults with MS through comparison with a research-grade activity monitor (ActivPAL3TM) in a free-living environment. In general, we found a good agreement between steps recorded by the commercially available Fitbit One and the research-grade ActivPAL3TM. The devices were comparable for quantifying the number of daily steps, however, the ICC confidence intervals for each day of the 7-day period were wide (Table 3) and the Bland Altman plot had wide limits of agreement with some outliers (Figure 1). Therefore, although the Fitbit One might be an accurate device for reporting steps in individuals with MS in a free-living environment over multiple days, the results should be interpreted with caution.

The level of agreement between the Ankle-worn Fitbit and the ActivPAL3TM was higher (ICC = 0.91) and the 95% CI was narrower (CI: 0.81, 0.95) than between the waistworn Fitbit and the ActivPAL3TM. This indicates that the ankle-placement may be more accurate in slow-walking individuals such as patients with MS.

Coulter et al. (2017) demonstrated the ability of the ActivPAL3TM to accurately measure walking activity in patients with MS with moderate disability (EDSS scores 4 -6.5) within a laboratory setting. They found that the validity of the device for measuring the number of steps varied depending on cadence and EDSS levels with underestimating steps in those with slow cadences and higher EDSS levels (Coulter et al., 2017). They reported that steps measured by the ActivPAL3TM in people moderately affected with MS with slow cadences should be interpreted with caution (Coulter et al., 2017). Misclassifying walking periods as standing by the ActivPAL3TM and the lower acceleration of the thigh during the swing phase of gait in people with slow cadences which does not exceed the required threshold by the ActivPAL3TM to record a step taken were mentioned as the main factors for underestimating steps (Coulter et al., 2017). Since the median EDSS in our sample was 5.5 which indicates moderate level of disability, the ActivPAL3TM likely underestimated step counts especially in those with slower gait speed. Therefore, ActivPAL3TM is not valid in measuring steps for everyone with MS as slow walking in those with a greater disability is where it starts to fail. Even though the Fitbit was comparable with the ActivPAL3TM for recording the number of daily steps, the ActivPAL3TM is not the gold standard as it underestimates steps in those with slow cadences.

Although there are no studies to allow direct comparison of our findings (i.e., Fitbit vs ActivPAL), several researchers have tested the validity of the waist-worn Fitbit One against the ActiGraph (ActiGraph, Pensacola, FL, USA) in different populations. Our results are similar to the results of Reid et al., (2017), Middelweerd et al. (2017) and Van Blarigan et al. (2017) who reported the Fitbit One as a valid tool for measurement of steps in comparison with the ActiGraph GT3X in a free-living environment in women, healthy young adults and men with prostate cancer, respectively. In these studies, the Fitbit One slightly overestimated daily step counts by an average of 1100 (Reid et al., 2017), 677 (Middelweerd et al., 2017), and 700 (Van Blarigan et al., 2017) steps compared to the ActiGraph GT3X while we observed the Fitbit One to slightly underestimate daily steps counts by an average 1273 steps in comparison to the ActivPAL3TM. Although the ActiGraph GT3X and the ActivPAL3TM are both triaxial accelerometers, the differences in the device structure, placement, and algorithm for measuring steps might be responsible for the underestimation or overestimation of steps in comparison with the Fitbit One. Our findings are also in agreement with the findings of Hui et al. (2018) who found that the ankle-worn Fitbit One was in agreement with the ankle-worn Actical (Philips Respironics, Baltimore, MD, USA) for measuring the number of steps in adults with stroke in a free-living environment. They found that the Fitbit One underestimated step counts by an average of 220 steps per day (Hui et al., 2018) which is less than the current study. Accelerations at the ankle recorded by the Actical are possibly greater than the accelerations at the thigh throughout leg swing particularly in people who walk slowly and as a result, the ankle-worn device is more likely to capture more steps in slow-walking individuals such as patients with stroke and/or MS. It might be the reason that in our study, the waist-worn Fitbit slightly underestimated the number of steps compared to the thigh-worn ActivPAL3TM while the ankle-worn Fitbit slightly overestimated steps. Considering research conducted to date, it appears the Fitbit One is comparable to some of the most accurate research-grade devices

for measurement of steps in a free-living environment. It may be a good choice in clinical practice and everyday wear.

Our findings regarding the ankle placement of the Fitbit One are in agreement with the results of Simpson et al. (2015), Treacy et al. (2017) and Klassen et al. (2017), who found that an ankle-worn device could accurately measure steps in slow-walking older adults (Simpson et al., 2015), slow-walking patients admitted to rehabilitation settings (Treacy et al., 2017), and patients with stroke (Klassen et al., 2017), respectively. The results of our study are also similar to the findings of Feehan et al. (2018) who reported that the step count accuracy was higher when the Fitbit Device was worn on the waist during normal-speed walking and when it was worn on the ankle during slow walking activities.

Even though we had more participants with bilateral gait deficits (as would be expected with MS) than previous studies in persons with stroke, gait speed continues to be one of the central determinants of accuracy. Regardless of the Fitbit placement, when participants were split into 2 groups based on their gait speed the ICC between the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM was less (ICC = 0.66 (0.47-0.79)) in the lower gait-speed group (< 0.80 m/s) which indicated a lower accuracy of the Fitbit One in individuals with very slow walking speed. This finding is in agreement with the results of Treacy et al. (2017) and Hui et al. (2018) who reported less accuracy of the Fitbit One in lower gait speeds in slow-walking patients admitted to rehabilitation settings and patients with stroke, respectively.

4.5 Limitations

The study involved a modestly sized sample of adults with MS with mild to moderate disability, reducing statistical power for some of the subgroup analyses undertaken. The number of participants for both the waist- and the ankle- placement and high and low gait-speed groups is relatively small and the majority of our sample were females and the association between the devices could be different in a male-dominant sample. Studies including more participants for each wearing location with various gait speeds (e.g., at least 30 participants at each group) and incorporating more male participants should be conducted in the future. Since only the validity of the Fitbit One device was assessed in the current study, the findings should not be generalized to other Fitbit devices.

4.6 Conclusion

Commercially available, relatively inexpensive devices, such as the Fitbit One, have the ability to measure step count reasonably well in a free-living environment. The device can encourage users to set specific activity goals (e.g., daily step counts) and to monitor progress throughout the day, week or month. In clinical situations, when the use of a research-grade activity monitor is not feasible and/or when patients with MS are keen to monitor their daily steps, the Fitbit One is an appropriate choice to be recommended by clinicians.

The ability of wearing the Fitbit One in different locations allows for a more comfortable wearing experience. Although the waist placement appears to be accurate in healthy populations, the ankle placement seems to capture steps more accurately in slowwalking individuals such as patients with MS. Our findings of the ankle placement of the Fitbit activity tracker were novel in the MS population which highlights the importance of activity monitor placement on the validity of the measurements by the activity monitor in research settings or/and clinical practice.

Overall, the Fitbit One appears to be a useful and attractive tool for measuring step counts in the MS population given its user-friendly interface, low price, and ability to provide real-time monitoring. However, there are errors in using the Fitbit One in people with MS and data should be interpreted with caution.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Jacqueline Rowley and Sarah Norton for their help with data collection in this project.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Funding

This work was supported by the Alberta Innovates Novartis Translational Research Fund.

References

- Aminian, S., Motl, R. W., Rowley, J., & Manns, P. J. (2019). Management of multiple sclerosis symptoms through reductions in sedentary behaviour: protocol for a feasibility study. *BMJ Open*, 9(4), e026622.
- Arvidsson, D., Fridolfsson, J., & Börjesson, M. (2019). Measurement of physical activity in clinical practice using accelerometers. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 286(2), joim.12908.
- Balto, J. M., Kinnett-Hopkins, D. L., & Motl, R. W. (2016). Accuracy and precision of smartphone applications and commercially available motion sensors in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal - Experimental, Translational and Clinical, 2*, 2055217316634754.
- Beckerman, H., de Groot, V., Scholten, M. A., Kempen, J. C. E., & Lankhorst, G. J. (2010). Physical activity behavior of people with multiple sclerosis: understanding how they can become more physically active. *Physical Therapy*, 90(7), 1001–1013.
- Bland, J. M., & Altman, D. G. (1986). Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. *The Lancet*, *1*(8476), 307–310.
- Bohannon, R. W., & Williams Andrews, A. (2011). Normal walking speed: a descriptive meta-analysis. *Physiotherapy*, *97*(3), 182–189.
- Chastin, S. F. M., Culhane, B., & Dall, P. M. (2014). Comparison of self-reported measure of sitting time (IPAQ) with objective measurement (activPAL). *Physiological Measurement*, 35(11), 2319–2328.

- Cicchetti, D. V. (1994). Guidelines, Criteria, and Rules of Thumb for Evaluating Normed and Standardized Assessment Instruments in Psychology. *Psychological Assessment*, 6(4), 284–290.
- Coulter, E. H., Miller, L., McCorkell, S., McGuire, C., Algie, K., Freeman, J., Weller, B., Mattison, P. G., McConnachie, A., Wu, O., & Paul, L. (2017). Validity of the activPAL3 activity monitor in people moderately affected by Multiple Sclerosis. *Medical Engineering & Physics*, 45, 78–82.
- Dalgas, U., & Stenager, E. (2012). Exercise and disease progression in multiple sclerosis: can exercise slow down the progression of multiple sclerosis? *Therapeutic Advances in Neurological Disorders*, 5(2), 81–95.
- Diaz, K. M., Krupka, D. J., Chang, M. J., Peacock, J., Ma, Y., Goldsmith, J., Schwartz, J. E., & Davidson, K. W. (2015). Fitbit(R): An accurate and reliable device for wireless physical activity tracking. *International journal of cardiology* (Vol. 185, pp. 138–140).
- Doring, A., Pfueller, C. F., Paul, F., & Dorr, J. (2011). Exercise in multiple sclerosis -an integral component of disease management. *The EPMA Journal*, *3*(1), 2.
- Feehan, L. M., Geldman, J., Sayre, E. C., Park, C., Ezzat, A. M., Young Yoo, J., Hamilton, C. B., & Li, L. C. (2018). Accuracy of fitbit devices: Systematic review and narrative syntheses of quantitative data. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth* (Vol. 6, Issue 8). JMIR Publications.
- Ferguson, T., Rowlands, A. V, Olds, T., & Maher, C. (2015). The validity of consumerlevel, activity monitors in healthy adults worn in free-living conditions: a cross-

sectional study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *12*(1), 42.

- Filli, L., Sutter, T., Easthope, C. S., Killeen, T., Meyer, C., Reuter, K., Lörincz, L.,
 Bolliger, M., Weller, M., Curt, A., Straumann, D., Linnebank, M., & Zörner, B.
 (2018). Profiling walking dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: Characterisation,
 classification and progression over time. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1).
- Gomersall, S. R., Ng, N., Burton, N. W., Pavey, T. G., Gilson, N. D., & Brown, W. J. (2016). Estimating Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in a Free-Living Context: A Pragmatic Comparison of Consumer-Based Activity Trackers and ActiGraph Accelerometry. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(9), e239.
- Hui, J., Heyden, R., Bao, T., Accettone, N., Catherine, Richardson, J., & Tang, A. (2018).
 Validity of the fitbit one for measuring activity in community-dwelling stroke survivors. *Physiotherapy Canada*, 70(1), 81–89.
- Kim, Y., Barry, V. W., & Kang, M. (2015). Validation of the ActiGraph GT3X and activPAL Accelerometers for the Assessment of Sedentary Behavior. *Measurement* in Physical Education and Exercise Science, 19(3), 125–137.
- Klassen, T. D., Semrau, J. A., Dukelow, S. P., Bayley, M. T., Hill, M. D., & Eng, J. J.
 (2017). Consumer-Based Physical Activity Monitor as a Practical Way to Measure
 Walking Intensity During Inpatient Stroke Rehabilitation. *Stroke*, 48(9), 2614–2617.
- Kurtzke, J. F. (1983). Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology*, *33*(11), 1444–1452.

- Lyden, K., Keadle, S. K., Staudenmayer, J., & Freedson, P. S. (2017). The activPALTM Accurately Classifies Activity Intensity Categories in Healthy Adults. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 49(5), 1022–1028.
- Middelweerd, A., Van Der Ploeg, H. P., Van Halteren, A., Twisk, J. W. R., Brug, J., & Te Velde, S. J. (2017). A Validation Study of the Fitbit One in Daily Life Using Different Time Intervals. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 49(6), 1270–1279.
- Motl, R.W., Arnett, P. A., Smith, M. M., Barwick, F. H., Ahlstrom, B., & Stover, E. J. (2008). Worsening of symptoms is associated with lower physical activity levels in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 14(1), 140–142.
- Motl, R. W., McAuley, E., & Snook, E. M. (2005). Physical activity and multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 11(4), 459–463. https://doi.org/10.1191/1352458505ms11880a
- Napolitano, M. A., Borradaile, K. E., Lewis, B. A., Whiteley, J. A., Longval, J. L., Parisi,
 A. F., Albrecht, A. E., Sciamanna, C. N., Jakicic, J. M., Papandonatos, G. D., &
 Marcus, B. H. (2010). Accelerometer use in a physical activity intervention trial. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 31(6), 514–523.
- Paul, S. S., Tiedemann, A., Hassett, L. M., Ramsay, E., Kirkham, C., Chagpar, S., & Sherrington, C. (2015). Validity of the Fitbit activity tracker for measuring steps in community-dwelling older adults. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, 1(1), e000013.
- Reid, R. E. R., Insogna, J. A., Carver, T. E., Comptour, A. M., Bewski, N. A., Sciortino,

C., & Andersen, R. E. (2017). Validity and reliability of Fitbit activity monitors compared to ActiGraph GT3X+ with female adults in a free-living environment. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, *20*(6), 578–582.

- Ryan, C. G., Grant, P. M., Tigbe, W. W., & Granat, M. H. (2006). The validity and reliability of a novel activity monitor as a measure of walking. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40(9), 779–784.
- Sandroff, B. M., Dlugonski, D., Weikert, M., Suh, Y., Balantrapu, S., & Motl, R. W. (2012). Physical activity and multiple sclerosis: new insights regarding inactivity. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 126(4), 256–262.
- Sellers, C., Dall, P., Grant, M., & Stansfield, B. (2016). Validity and reliability of the activPAL3 for measuring posture and stepping in adults and young people. *Gait & Posture*, 43, 42–47.
- Simpson, L. A., Eng, J. J., Klassen, T. D., Lim, S. B., Louie, D. R., Parappilly, B., Sakakibara, B. M., & Zbogar, D. (2015). Capturing step counts at slow walking speeds in older adults: comparison of ankle and waist placement of measuring device. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 47(9), 830–835.
- Taraldsen, K., Askim, T., Sletvold, O., Einarsen, E. K., Bjastad, K. G., Indredavik, B., & Helbostad, J. L. (2011). Evaluation of a body-worn sensor system to measure physical activity in older people with impaired function. *Physical Therapy*, 91(2), 277–285.
- Treacy, D., Hassett, L., Schurr, K., Chagpar, S., Paul, S. S., & Sherrington, C. (2017). Validity of Different Activity Monitors to Count Steps in an Inpatient Rehabilitation

Setting. Physical Therapy, 97(5), 581–588.

- Van Blarigan, E. L., Kenfield, S. A., Tantum, L., Cadmus-Bertram, L. A., Carroll, P. R.,
 & Chan, J. M. (2017). The Fitbit One Physical Activity Tracker in Men With Prostate Cancer: Validation Study. *JMIR Cancer*, 3(1), e5.
- van der Berg, J. D., Willems, P. J. B., van der Velde, J. H. P. M., Savelberg, H. H. C. M., Schaper, N. C., Schram, M. T., Sep, S. J. S., Dagnelie, P. C., Bosma, H., Stehouwer, C. D. A., & Koster, A. (2016). Identifying waking time in 24-h accelerometry data in adults using an automated algorithm. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *34*(19), 1867– 1873.
- Wang, J. B., Cadmus-Bertram, L. A., Natarajan, L., White, M. M., Madanat, H., Nichols, J. F., Ayala, G. X., & Pierce, J. P. (2015). Wearable Sensor/Device (Fitbit One) and SMS Text-Messaging Prompts to Increase Physical Activity in Overweight and Obese Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, 21(10), 782–792.
- Warburton, D. E. R., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2017). Health benefits of physical activity. *Current Opinion in Cardiology*, 32(5), 541–556.
- Weikert, M., Dlugonski, D., Balantrapu, S., Motl, RW. (2011). Most common types of physical activity self-selected by people with multiple sclerosis. *International journal of MS*,13(1):16-20.
- Winkler, E. A. H., Bodicoat, D. H., Healy, G. N., Bakrania, K., Yates, T., Owen, N., Dunstan, D. W., & Edwardson, C. L. (2016). Identifying adults' valid waking wear time by automated estimation in activPAL data collected with a 24 h wear protocol.

Physiological Measurement, 37(10), 1653–1668.

CHAPTER 5. Feasibility of use of a Fitbit activity tracker in adults with multiple sclerosis over 15 weeks

This chapter has not been submitted yet and the format is similar to Chapter 1.

5.1 Introduction

According to the According to the Canadian physical activity guidelines for special populations, adults with multiple sclerosis (MS) should engage in a minimum of 30 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic activity twice a week and resistance training activities including all major muscle groups 2 days per week to gain optimal health benefits.¹ This is in line with the current evidence that exercise (physical activity) is a symptomatic and disease-modifying treatment in MS^{2,3} and it is considered "medicine" for 26 chronic health conditions including MS.⁴ Despite the benefits, physical activity levels are significantly reduced in persons with MS.^{5,6} Less than 20% of patients with MS meet recommended physical activity guidelines⁷ and there is a linear decline in their physical activity levels over time.⁸ Inactivity increases the risk of comorbidities (e.g., hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, obesity, and type 2 diabetes)⁹ and has detrimental effects on mobility, balance, muscle strength, disability progression and quality of life.^{9,10}

A study by Ronda et al. with 2,600 men showed that inactive people are frequently not aware they are insufficiently active.¹¹ The use of an activity monitor that constantly records and displays the real-time physical activity level and provides instant feedback may increase awareness and help to reduce inactivity.^{12,13} Hultquist et al.¹⁴ reported that sedentary women who were given a pedometer and were instructed to walk 10,000 steps a day, took approximately 2,000 more steps per day than women who were only instructed to walk briskly for 30 minutes every day. Two systematic reviews also found that consistent use of wearable activity trackers is associated with higher levels of physical activity over time.^{15,16}

Walking is the most common way to achieve physical activity in patients with MS and can be considered an ideal behaviour to target since both intensity and frequency can be gradually increased over time. Based on the evidence, the number of steps per day represents a reliable and valid measure of daily walking behaviour in MS.^{17,18} Consumergrade wearable activity monitors may be used as a beneficial tool to help individuals with MS track their walking activities by counting the daily number of steps, a surrogate for daily physical activity levels.¹⁹ However, adherence to wearing an activity tracker is important in order to reap the potential benefits of increasing awareness of activity behaviour through monitoring. For instance, a study on 248 ambulatory adults with MS who were asked to wear the Fitbit One (Fitbit, Inc., San Francisco, CA, USA) over a 23day study period showed an average of 20 days of wearing the device and a mean of 4,393 steps per day.²⁰ At the end of the study, the adherence rate of the participants for using the Fitbit One was 87%, and 68% of participants reported the device useful for selfmanagement of activity behaviour.²⁰ Therefore, their results²⁰ showed that it is feasible to integrate these technologies with the everyday life of individuals with MS in order to measure and increase physical activity levels and improve MS-related symptoms and health-related quality of life. Nevertheless, it is unknown whether it is feasible to use a consumer-grade activity monitor such as the Fitbit One over a longer period such as a few months. Therefore, we assessed the feasibility of the use of a consumer-grade activity monitor (i.e. Fitbit One) over 15 weeks in ambulatory adults with MS.

The efficacy of the "SitLess with MS" intervention, a behaviour change intervention focused on sitting less and moving more,²¹ on the step counts recorded by the Fitbit One and by the research-grade activity monitor (i.e. ActivPAL3TM (PAL Technologies Ltd, Glasgow, UK)) will also be evaluated.

5.2 Material and Methods

5.2.1 Study Design

This study was part of a larger study called the "SitLess with MS" program, which used a single group repeated measures design. The "SitLess with MS program" focused on interrupting prolonged sitting and replacing it with light-intensity physical activity in ambulatory adults with MS. The intervention and study methods are described in detail in the protocol paper ²¹. This project was approved by the Health Research Ethics Board of the University of Alberta (# Pro000667657), the Northern Alberta Clinical Trials and Research Centre, and the Alberta Health Services Edmonton Zone (operational approval for recruitment through the Northern Alberta MS Clinic).

5.2.2 Study Context

This study reports on the physical activity data (from Fitbit and ActivPAL monitors) collected during the "SitLess with MS" intervention. The intervention was a 15-week activity promotion program including two stages: SitLess stage (Weeks 1-7) and MoveMore stage (Weeks 8-15). Weekly coaching sessions (excluding Weeks 0 and 15) between an intervention coach and a participant were used to facilitate activity behaviour change and enhance accountability and compliance with the program. There were 4 measurement points including pre-intervention or baseline (Week 0), intervention midpoint or interim (Week 8), post-intervention (Week 15) and follow-up (Week 22) (see figure 1 for the timeline of study activities).



Figure 5-1: Timeline of the "SitLess with MS" intervention program.

The figure is redrawn based on the figure from Aminian S, Motl RW, Rowley J, Manns PJ. Management of multiple sclerosis symptoms through reductions in sedentary behaviour: protocol for a feasibility study. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(4):e026622. Participants were seen in person at baseline, post-intervention, and 7 weeks post-intervention only. Participants wore the Fitbit during the 15-week intervention. They wore the ActivPAL for 7 consecutive days at baseline (Week 0), interim (Week 8), Post-intervention (week 15) and 7-weeks post-intervention (Week 22) for measurement of activity behaviour change over time.

5.2.3 Participants and Recruitment

Inclusion criteria for this study were as follows: 1) diagnosis of MS by a neurologist for at least one year; 2) age 18 years or over; 3) mild or moderately disability (defined by Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS)²² score of 1-6.5); 4) relapse-free within the previous 3 months; 5) able to walk 10 meters with or without a walking aid; 6) physically inactive (defined as insufficiently active by a score of less than 14 on the Godin-Shephard Leisure-Time Physical Activity Questionnaire)²³; and 7) mobile phone access. Recruitment was done through community programs and the Northern Alberta MS Clinic at the University of Alberta as explained in the protocol paper.²¹ All

participants provided a written consent form before the baseline measurement.

5.2.4 Study Procedures and Data Collection

Participant demographic and clinical characteristics including age, sex, body mass index (BMI), MS-related characteristics (i.e., type and duration), and disability status (defined by EDSS score) were collected at the baseline assessment of the "SitLess with MS" intervention.

Participants attended the baseline measurement session and were set up with an ActivPAL3TM activity monitor to wear for 7 days (Week 0) (See Figure 5-1). They were also instructed how to attach the ActivPAL3TM to the midline of the anterior aspect of the stronger thigh by waterproof non-allergic adhesive pads (Tegaderm, 3M Company, Canada) in case they had to remove it for any reason and wear it again. Participants were given a log to write down any time they removed the device for any reason.

A Fitbit One was given to each participant by researcher as a self-monitoring tool at the baseline measurement session. The Fitbit application was installed on their phone, iPad or laptop and was initialized based on age, sex, height, and weight. Written instructions were provided to supplement the teaching at the baseline measurement session.

On day 1 of the intervention, participants had the first one-on-one coaching session of the SitLess stage. At that time, they removed the ActivPAL3TM and started wearing the Fitbit One activity tracker (Week 1) (See Figure 5-1). They were instructed to wear the Fitbit during all waking hours throughout the 15-week intervention period and to only remove it during water-based activities such as showering or swimming. Participants attached the Fitbit One to the same side as the ActivPAL3TM on one of the

following locations: (i) on the waistband, just above the greater trochanter by a clip, or (ii) on the ankle, just above the lateral malleolus by an elastic band. Based on the research evidence, the Fitbit One performs better for people who walk slowly, when worn on the ankle.^{24–26} For the most part participants who walked more slowly wore the device on a band around their ankle, but Fitbit placement was the choice of participants. Participants received a Fitbit log (i.e., different from the ActivPAL log) at the baseline measurement session to write down any time they removed the device for any reason.

During the weekly coaching sessions (excluding Weeks 0 and 15), the participants and coaches reviewed and discussed the Fitbit activity graphs together to interpret participants' activity behaviours. The following strategies were used to facilitate Fitbit wear for the participants. A researcher (GM) viewed the participants' Fitbit data on a weekly basis, and if participants were not wearing the monitor, the intervention coach was alerted. In the next coaching session, the intervention coach discussed Fitbit wear with the participant and encouraged them to wear it daily. Participants were contacted directly if there were apparent or reported technical issues with the Fitbit. Participants received a new Fitbit if the technical difficulties were not solvable, or if the monitor was lost.

The follow-up time point (Week 22) is not the focus of the current study as we didn't follow the participants' Fitbit wear after the post-intervention measurement session.

On the day of the first one-on-one coaching session of the MoveMore stage (First day of Week 8), participants put on the ActivPAL3TM, which was initialized and mailed to them. Participants wore the ActivPAL3TM for 7 days (see Figure 5-1). The

152

ActivPAL3TM was worn for the assessment of activity-related behaviour change at the end of the SitLess stage compared to pre-intervention. The ActivPAL3TM was removed on the day of the second one-on-one coaching session of the MoveMore stage (The first day of Week 9). An ActivPAL3TM was again initialized and given to each participant to wear at the post-intervention measurement session, extending for the 7 days after intervention completion (See Figure 5-1). The ActivPAL3TM was worn for the assessment of activity-related behaviour change at the end of the MoveMore stage compared to pre-intervention and the end of the SitLess stage. The ActivPAL3TM was mailed to the research team by each participant after completion of the 7-full day monitoring at each measurement time point.

5.2.5 Instruments

ActivPAL3TM is a small (3.5 cm \times 5.3 cm \times 0.7 cm), light-weight (15 grams), triaxial, research-grade physical activity monitor. It measures accelerations of the thigh at a sampling frequency of 20 Hertz with signal generation related to thigh inclination ²⁷. The device summarizes data in 15-second intervals (epochs) over a 24-hour period ²⁸ and provides output for body postures (lying/sitting, standing, and stepping) using a proprietary algorithm in the manufacturer-provided software. In general, the ActivPAL3TM measures time spent in sedentary behaviour (sitting or lying), and upright positions (standing and walking), numbers of sit-to-stand and stand-to-sit transitions, and step counts. ²⁷ For this study, we focus on the measurement of stepping. Sedentary behaviour outcomes have been reported previously.²⁹

The Fitbit One activity tracker is a light-weight (8 grams) and small (4.8 cm x 1.9 cm x 1.0 cm), triaxial consumer-grade accelerometer that records steps, stairs climbed,

distance travelled, sleep, and calories burned. It is a relatively affordable device that can provide real-time feedback on either the device itself, on a smartphone or via simple software accessed by the internet. The device summarizes data in 60-second intervals (epochs). A study in ambulatory adults with MS reported the Fitbit One as the most accurate and precise device in comparison with other consumer-grade activity monitors for measuring steps in a laboratory-setting.¹⁹ The evidence indicates validity of the Fitbit One for measurement of steps in free-living environments in healthy adults,^{30,31} female adults,³² men with prostate cancer³³ and stroke survivors.²⁶ Therefore, the Fitbit One was selected to be used in the "SitLess with MS" program.

A Fitbit Zip (Fitbit, Inc., San Francisco, CA, USA) was given to participants if they lost their Fitbit One during the 15-week intervention and the Fitbit One was not available. The Fitbit Zip is a small ($3.5 \text{ cm} \times 2.9 \text{ cm} \times 0.9 \text{ cm}$) and light-weight (8 g) triaxial consumer-grade accelerometer. The device records step count, distance, and energy expenditure (kcal) with 4 to 6 months of battery life. Evidence indicates high accuracy of the Fitbit Zip for measuring step counts in healthy adults^{31,34,35} and patients with Stroke³⁶. In addition, it can be attached to either the hip or ankle as with the Fitbit One.

5.2.6 Data Management and Analysis

Steps data from the Fitbit One for each participant were downloaded weekly to an Excel spreadsheet, using Fitabase (Small Steps Labs LLC). Steps data from the ActivPAL3TM for each participant were downloaded to a computer for analysis, using Professional Research Edition software (PAL Software Suite Version 8). The ActivPAL3TM data were downloaded in the Excel spreadsheet as the number of steps taken every 15-seconds during a 24-hour day.

Fitbit feasibility

The total number of Fitbit valid days during 15 weeks of the intervention was calculated for each participant, using the rules below:

A valid day for the Fitbit One was defined as one in which the Fitbit was worn for at least 10 hours^{30,33,37,38} during the 24-hour period from 12 AM to 12 AM. We considered a measurement day as 'valid' when there was at least a 10-hour window between the time when the first two steps were taken in the morning (wake time) and the time when the last few steps were taken at night (bedtime). The participant's log was reviewed after preliminary analysis for confirmation of findings from the excel output.

The mean number of valid days over the 15-week intervention was computed for the full sample. The number of valid days the Fitbit was worn during each of the SitLess and the MoveMore stages for each participant were also calculated, allowing determination of any differences in valid days between stages. The percentage of the total number of valid days at each stage in relation to the total number of valid days for the full intervention was calculated for each participant.

<u>Preliminary efficacy of the "SitLess with MS" intervention on steps data recorded by</u> <u>the activity monitors</u>

The preliminary efficacy of the "SitLess with MS" intervention on the number of steps recorded by the Fitbit and the ActivPAL were evaluated at 3 different time points. The Fitbit time points were different from the ActivPAL time points. Each time point is defined below (See Table 5-1).

Timeline	Start	End	Timeline duration
Baseline ActivPAL	Midnight after the	Midnight before the	Seven consecutive
time point (Week 0)	baseline measurement	first coaching session	days
	session	of the SitLess stage	
Baseline Fitbit	Midnight after the first	Midnight before the	Seven consecutive
time point (Week 1)	coaching session of the	second coaching	days
	SitLess stage	session of the Sit-Less	
		stage	
Interim Fitbit and	Midnight after the first	Midnight before the	Seven consecutive
ActivPAL	coaching session of the	second coaching	days*
time point	MoveMore stage	session of the	
(Week 8)		MoveMore stage	
Post-Intervention	Midnight after the final	Midnight before the	Seven consecutive
Fitbit time point	coaching session of the	day of post-	days
(Week 14)	MoveMore stage	intervention	
		assessment	
Post-Intervention	Midnight after the		Seven consecutive
ActivPAL time point	post-intervention		days
(Week 15)	measurement session		

 Table 5-1: Three-time points for the measurement of activity behaviour by Fitbit

 and ActivPAL

*As Week 8 is the end of the SitLess stage and the beginning of the MoveMore stage, it was considered as the interim time point and was included in the analysis.

Participants who wore the Fitbit for at least 3 valid days throughout the three 7day time points (Week 1, Week 8, and Week 14) and the ActivPAL3TM for at least 3 valid days throughout the three 7-day time points (Week 0, Week 8 and Week 15) were included in the analysis. Valid days did not have to be consecutive.³⁸

A valid day for the ActivPAL3TM was defined as a day where the device reported movement (standing or stepping) for at least 6 hours during wake time.³⁹ The Chastin method⁴⁰ with a few adjustments was used to determine wake and bedtimes. Wake time was defined as the first standing event after a long continuous period \geq 2.5 hours of nonupright posture. Bedtime was defined by the last standing event before a long continuous period \geq 3 hours of non-upright posture. Standing or stepping with a duration of \geq 15 minutes occurring before 1:00 AM and after a sedentary bout of \geq 2.5 hours was classified as waking time.⁴¹ To verify wake and bedtimes, the log was also checked. The R package version 3.6.1. (PAactivpal)⁴² was used to determine total daily step counts.

As the preliminary efficacy of the "SitLess with MS" intervention program on the number of steps recorded by the Fitbit One and the ActivPAL3TM were evaluated separately, the valid days for the Fitbit One were not necessarily the same as the valid days for the ActivPAL3TM. The total number of steps from the Fitbit One during each valid day throughout the three 7-day time points (Week 1, Week 8 and Week 14) and the total number of steps from the ActivPAL during each valid day throughout the three 7-day time points (Week 1, Week 8 and Week 14) and the total number of steps from the ActivPAL during each valid day throughout the three 7-day time points (Week 15) were determined for each participant. Then, the total number of steps per the number of valid days and the average step counts during those valid days were computed at each time point for each participant.

All data from the Fitbits and the ActivPAL3TM activity monitors in the excel spreadsheets were exported to SPSS software version 24 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0; Armonk, NY: IBM Corp). Descriptive statistics were presented as mean and standard deviation (SD) and percentage to describe the study participants, daily step counts from the Fitbit and the ActivPAL^{3TM}, and the Fitbit feasibility outcomes. A linear mixed effect model respecting the independence of measures over time was used to determine whether the average number of steps from the Fitbit and the ActivPAL changed over time from Week 0 or 1 vs Week 8 vs Week 14 or 15. The effect size was calculated using Cohen's d for the average number of steps at Week 8 and Week 14 or 15 for both devices and was interpreted as small, medium, or large. All the analyses were conducted in SPSS software version 24 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0;
Armonk, NY: IBM Corp) at a significance level of p < 0.05.

5.3 Results

Forty-one participants were enrolled in the "SitLess with MS" program at baseline and 41 and 39 participants completed the interim and post-intervention assessments, respectively. Participants were primarily female (n = 37) and had moderate levels of disability (n=23) as demonstrated by the EDSS scores. The majority of participants (n = 31) were middle-aged, diagnosed with relapsing-remitting MS (n=26) and classified as overweight or obese as defined by a body mass index \geq 25 (n=24). Twenty-three out of 41 participants used walking aids. Participants' characteristics are presented in Table 5-

2.

Characteristics	Mean (SD) or n (%)	Min/Max	
	Values		
Age (years)	50.5 (10.2)	31-72	
Sex (female)	37 (90 %)		
Weight (kilograms)	77.5 (19.1)	45-122	
Height (metres)	1.6 (0.07)	1.5-1.8	
Body Mass Index (kilograms /metre ²)	28.4 (6.2)	17.2-44.3	
Type of MS			
Relapsing-remitting	26 (63%)		
Secondary progressive	11 (27%)		
Primary progressive	4 (10%)		
MS Duration (years)	14.3 (11.2)	1-50	
EDSS	18 (110/2)	1525	
Mild disability (EDSS $<$ 4)	10(4470) 23(56%)	1.5-5.5	
Moderate disability ($4 \le EDSS \le 6.5$)	23(3070)	4-0.5	
Median (IQR)	5.5 (2.5-0.5)		
Walking Aids			
Cane (unilateral, bilateral, or quad)	14 (34%)		
Walker	9 (22%)		
Education			
High school or less	10 (24%)		
College/Diploma	15 (37%)		
Bachelors	11 (27%)		
Masters	5 (12%)		

Table 5-2: Participants' characteristics (n = 41)

MS: Multiple sclerosis; n: Number; SD: Standard Deviation; IQR: Interquartile Range.

For 2 participants, the Fitbit Zip was used to replace a lost Fitbit One and 3 participants also started the intervention with the Fitbit Zip, because the Fitbit One was no longer available.

Feasibility of Fitbit Use

According to the rules for determination of a Fitbit valid day (i.e., the Fitbit was worn for at least 10 hours during the 24-hour period from 12 AM to 12 AM), 34, 33 and 34 participants met the Fitbit wear criteria at baseline, interim and post-intervention, respectively. These participants were included in the feasibility analysis. The average number of Fitbit steps per valid day during each week of the "SitLess with MS" program is summarised in Table 5-3. The last weekly coaching session between a participant and an intervention coach was done on Week 14 and there was no coaching session at Week 15. Some participants therefore might forget to wear the Fitbit from the time they woke up in the morning at Week 15 since there was no reminder and as a result, the number of participants with valid Fitbit data at Week 15 was fewer (Table 5-3).

Week	Number of	Number of steps per valid day					
	participants with valid Fitbit data	Mean (Standard Deviation)	Min-Max				
Week 1	34	4767.5 (4021)	231-15705				
Week 2	35	4148 (3378)	98-12052				
Week 3	36	4219.4 (3633.2)	130-14035				
Week 4	35	4312.9 (3250.4)	153-11691				
Week 5	34	4251.1 (3228.1)	215-11187				
Week 6	35	4203.3 (2887.7)	59-9983				
Week 7	35	4745.7 (3347.3)	139-12091				
Week 8	33	5103.6 (3592.4)	317-16460				
Week 9	33	4866.5 (3657)	213-16326				
Week 10	34	4900.6 (3231.5)	144-11376				
Week 11	34	5092 (3361.7)	184-12667				
Week 12	34	4963.3 (3482)	306-12394				
Week 13	34	5199.3 (3347.6)	203-12666				
Week 14	34	5291.2 (3553.6)	171-14544				
Week 15	26	4479.7 (3036)	152-13366				

Table 5-3: Number of Fitbit steps per valid day at each week of the "SitLess with MS" Intervention

The average number of Fitbit valid days during the SitLess stage, the MoveMore stage and the Full intervention are shown in Table 5-4. In general, the average length of the intervention was 100.2 (7.7) days and on average there were 85 Fitbit valid days

(85%) throughout the full intervention period (Table 5-4). The average number of Fitbit valid days at the SitLess stage composes 49.6% of the Full intervention valid days, which is almost similar to the MoveMore stage.

Intervention	Number of Fitbit valid days					
	Mean (Standard Deviation)	Min-Max				
SitLess stage	42.5 (8.8)	6-49				
MoveMore stage	42.8 (11.7)	0-49				
Full intervention	85.6 (19.7)	6-98				

Table 5-4: Number of Fitbit valid days at each stage and full intervention

Preliminary efficacy of the intervention on Fitbit and ActivPAL recorded steps

Analysis of the preliminary efficacy of the "SitLess with MS" intervention on Fitbit steps data was limited to 33 and 34 participants at interim and post-intervention time points, respectively. This was due to the number of participants with valid Fitbit data at those time points. (Table 5-5). There was no significant change in the average number of Fitbit steps per valid day from baseline to interim and post-intervention (See Table 5-5).

Analysis of the preliminary efficacy of the "SitLess with MS" intervention on ActivPAL steps data was limited to 27 and 37 participants at interim and post-intervention time points, respectively. This was the number of participants with valid ActivPAL data at those time points. (See Table 5-5). There was a significant increase in average step counts per valid day recorded by the ActivPAL from baseline to post-intervention (see Table 5-5). However, no significant change from baseline to the interim time point was observed (See Table 5-5).

Time points		n	Steps per valid days		n	Steps per valid days from		
			from Fitbit			ActivPAl3 TM		
Baseline								
Mean	SD	34	4767.5	4021	40	4668.9	2993.6	
Interim								
Mean	SD	33	4925	3317.7	27	4405.3	2935.7	
Post-interve	ntion							
Mean	SD	34	5291.2	3553.6	37	5563.6	3239.3	
Interim-Bas	eline							
Mean differe	nce	р	291.6	1.00		304	0.29	
(95% CI)			(-648, 1231.4)			(-148.7, 756.8)		
Destintation Desslins								
	tion-Dasenn							
Mean differe	nce	р	523.7	0.59		639	0.02	
(95% CI)			(-484.5, 1532.1) (77.7, 1200.3)			200.3)		
Postintervention-interim								
Mean differe	nce	р	232	0.90		335	0.69	
(95% CI)			(-327.2, 7	791.4)	(-356.5, 1026.5)			

Table 5	5-5: C	hange in	number	of ster	os per	valid dav	s across	three-time	points

SD: Standard Deviation; p: Level of significance, n: Number of participants; CI: Confidence interval

The effect size of the intervention on the number of steps recorded by the activity monitors is shown in Table 5-6. The ActivPAL showed larger effect sizes at all 3-time points.

	Cohen's d Eff		
	PI-B	interim-B	PI-interim
Steps from Fitbit One	0.14	0.04	0.10
Steps from ActivPAl3 TM	0.29	0.08	0.37

 Table 5-6: Effect size of the intervention on the number of steps recorded by the activity monitors

B: Baseline; PI: Post-intervention

5.4 Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study testing the feasibility of using a consumergrade activity tracker such as the Fitbit over a few months (i.e., 15 weeks) in adults with MS. The current study expands the published literature on the feasibility of the use of a consumer-grade activity monitor to record free-living activity behaviour over a longer period in individuals with MS. The average number of Fitbit valid days was 85 (i.e., 85% of the full intervention period) showing that participants were willing to monitor their activity behaviour over a long period of time. The number of Fitbit valid days (i.e., days with wearing the Fitbit for at least 10 hours) was not different during both the SitLess and the MoveMore stages which means that the focus of the stage did not affect wear. Although the Fitbit application only provides real-time feedback on the number of daily steps (i.e., the primary focus of the MoveMore stage), it didn't make any difference in Fitbit wear at both stages. The results, therefore, indicate the feasibility of wearing the Fitbit activity tracker in interventions that focus on sedentary behaviour and/or physical activity in the MS population. No significant change was observed in the average number of Fitbit steps per valid day from baseline to interim and post-intervention time points. The intervention showed a non-significant small effect on the steps recorded by the Fitbit (d: 0.14). However, measurements from the ActivPAL showed a statistically significant increase in average step counts per valid day from baseline to post-intervention (Table 5-5). The effect of the intervention on recorded steps from the ActivPAL was also small (effect size of d: 0.29, see Table 5-6) but statistically significant.

The ActivPAL3TM is a research-grade accelerometer and is more accurate⁴³ than a consumer-grade activity tracker such as the Fitbit One for measuring daily step counts. Therefore, it might be able to record more steps especially at slower gait speeds than the Fitbit activity tracker. Moreover, participants were asked to wear the ActivPAL for 24 hours while they were instructed to only wear the Fitbit during waking hours and to remove it before going to bed (maximum 16 hours per day). Sometimes participants might not have worn the Fitbit from the time they woke up in the morning and as a result, the Fitbit was worn for fewer hours. All the above reasons may cause the Fitbit to miss recording some activity (i.e., fewer steps) comparing to the ActivPAL and as a result, the interventions didn't show a non-significant effect on the number of steps recorded by the Fitbit.

The average number of Fitbit steps per valid day at baseline (Week 1), interim (Week 8) and post-intervention (Week 14) time points were 4,767.5, 5,103.6, and 5,291.2, respectively which demonstrates a greater change from baseline to interim than from interim (beginning of the MoveMore Stage) to post-intervention. The results show that although participants took more steps in the MoveMore stage as the main focus of the MoveMore stage was on increasing daily step counts, the magnitude of change from

interim to post-intervention was less. It is possible that the participants were more motivated at the beginning of the "Sitless with MS" intervention to change their activity behaviour or/and wore the Fitbit for more hours daily. Furthermore, although the program had separated focusing on the reduction of sedentary behaviour and increasing light-intensity physical activity in 2 different stages, our intervention might be more suitable for motivating people to decrease sedentary time than encouraging them to take more steps. Therefore, more change in the number of steps from baseline to interim than interim to post-intervention might be a result of the overall reduction in total daily sedentary time rather than trying to take more steps. In addition, seasonality may play a role in the non-significant change in the average number of steps from baseline to interim and to post-intervention time points since our data were collected from 2017 to 2019 and data collection was done in Fall and Winter for some participants when physical activity is lower.⁴⁴ The variability in the course of the disease may also contribute to less change in the step counts for some participants as their symptoms are worse sometimes and they take probably fewer steps on those days.

The average number of daily steps at the SitLess stage (i.e., average of steps from Weeks 1-7) was $4,378.2 \pm 3,392.2$ which is less than the average daily steps at the MoveMore stage (i.e., average of steps from Weeks 8-14) $(5,059 \pm 3,460.8)$. This is likely explained by the fact the main focus of the SitLess stage was interrupting prolonged sitting while the MoveMore stage primarily focused on increasing the daily number of steps, an overall increase in daily light-intensity physical activity and maintaining reduction in total daily sedentary time.

The average daily number of steps during 15 weeks was 4,702.94 (3,400.5) which is similar to a study using the Fitbit One for measurement of daily steps over 23 days (i.e., $4,393 \pm 2,603$) in 114 ambulatory adults with MS.²⁰ They reported an average of 20 days of wearing the device over the 23-day study period (i.e. 86% of the full intervention period)²⁰ which is the same as the current study. The mean age of participants in the current study was 50 years old with a mean disease duration of 14 years and the majority were females with relapsing-remitting MS, which is very similar to the aforementioned study.²⁰ Furthermore, participants in our study received weekly coaching sessions to accelerate accountability and compliance with the program and participants in that study also received regular email reminders throughout the study period containing information on how to use the activity monitor and contact information for study personnel.²⁰ It demonstrates the effect of coaching and being in contact with participants on facilitating wear and adherence and compliance with wearing the activity tracker. Thus, adherence with wear might be different in a study with no coaching or communication with participants (e.g., sending email reminders). The reported step counts in our study at baseline are less than another study measuring 7-day activity behaviour of 645 adults with MS using either Yamax SW-200a pedometers or ActiGraph accelerometers.⁴⁵ They reported an average of $5,903 \pm 3,185$ daily steps in their sample.⁴⁵ The majority of their participants had mild disability (PDDS score \leq 2) and shorter disease duration (i.e., 9.3 ± 7.8 years).⁴⁵ The average age of the sample was 46.3 years, which is younger than our sample.⁴⁵ In addition, the steps were measured by ActiGraph accelerometer for 58% of participants^{45,} which is more accurate than a consumer-grade activity tracker⁴³ and might be able to record more daily steps. All those differences might explain the higher number of daily steps in their study comparing to the current study.

The average daily step count (i.e., the average of steps during the entire 15-week intervention) for persons with MS from the current sample $(4,702.94 \pm 3,400.5)$ is less

than the mean daily step count observed in persons with other neuromuscular diseases (i.e., 5,769 steps).⁴⁶ It is also significantly less than the average step counts from previous studies of 3,744 healthy adults in the United States $(9,676 \pm 1,079)^{47}$ and 1,853 healthy adults in Finland $(7,499 \pm 2,908)$.⁴⁸ These findings indicate that individuals with MS are less physically active than the general population.^{5,49} Nevertheless, different physical activity monitors were used in both studies and the duration of wearing the activity monitors was 7 days. Thus, the difference in daily steps might be due to differences in the study population or/and measurement devices.

The results of our study regarding the step count recorded by the ActivPAL are different from a randomized controlled trial by Ryan et. al. which evaluated the effectiveness of a 3-month behaviour change intervention on the levels of objectively measured activity behaviour immediately and 6-months post-intervention in adults with MS.⁵⁰ The average number of steps recorded by the ActiGraph GT3X in the intervention group at baseline, post-intervention and follow-up were $3,334.7 \pm 2,384.7, 3,560.1 \pm 2,506.1$ and $3,798.2 \pm 2,988.8,^{50}$ respectively. This indicates less change from baseline to 3 months and 9 months in comparison to our study from baseline to interim and post-intervention. Even though they primarily focused on increasing daily physical activity levels and less focus was on reduction of sedentary behaviour⁵¹ in the intervention and follow-up was less than our study. The differences in study design and type of research-grade activity monitor and the longer period of the follow-up (9 months) might be responsible for the lower change in average number of steps in Ryan's study.

5.5 Limitations

A limitation of this study was the small sample size; however, the "SitLess with MS" intervention was a pilot feasibility study and the number of participants was in line with other feasibility studies. ^{51–54} The majority of our sample were White females with relapsing-remitting MS, and the results may be different in a sample including persons with progressive MS and various ethnicities. The lack of a control group didn't allow the evaluation of the effectiveness of the intervention and the preliminary efficacy was thus tested. Only patients with MS who had mild to moderate disability were included, and the findings are not generalizable among non-ambulatory persons with MS. Since the Fitbit One and the Fitbit Zip have been used in the current study and they are mainly worn on the waist (54%), the findings should not be generalized to other Fitbit devices.

5.6 Conclusion

The present research provides evidence that participants with MS will wear a Fitbit over the 15-week period of an intervention. In general, wearing a Fitbit activity monitor is convenient and is compatible with most daily activities, making it a practical choice for everyday use. The device encourages users to set specific activity goals (e.g., daily step counts) and to monitor progress throughout the day, week or month. It also provides instant feedback on goal achievement, either on the device or through a user-friendly web-based interface, which may make it a useful tool for documenting persons' activity status in clinical care over time.⁵⁵ In regard to evaluating the efficacy of an intervention on the step counts recorded by activity monitors, the research-grade devices might be a better choice as they are more accurate. Nevertheless, if a consumer-grade activity tracker is worn 24 hours, the findings from the study may be more accurate and

the chance of missing activity data and lack of intervention effect may be less. Lastly, testing activity behaviour interventions with randomized controlled trial design in individuals with MS is suggested to compare the effectiveness of the intervention on activity behaviour outcomes with other research in the MS population.

References:

- csepguidelines. Published 2018. Accessed December 8, 2020. <u>https://csepguidelines.ca/wp_content/uploads/2018/10/CSEP_MS_PAGuidelines_ad</u> ults_en.pdf
- Dalgas U, Langeskov-Christensen M, Stenager E, Riemenschneider M, Hvid LG. Exercise as Medicine in Multiple Sclerosis—Time for a Paradigm Shift: Preventive, Symptomatic, and Disease-Modifying Aspects and Perspectives. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* 2019;19(11).
- Dalgas U, Stenager E. Exercise and disease progression in multiple sclerosis: can exercise slow down the progression of multiple sclerosis? *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*. 2012;5(2):81-95.
- 4. Pedersen BK, Saltin B. Exercise as medicine Evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in 26 different chronic diseases. *Scand J Med Sci Sport*. 2015;25:1-72.
- Motl RW, McAuley E, Snook EM. Physical activity and multiple sclerosis: a metaanalysis. *Mult Scler*. 2005;11(4):459-463.
- Beckerman H, de Groot V, Scholten MA, Kempen JCE, Lankhorst GJ. Physical activity behavior of people with multiple sclerosis: understanding how they can become more physically active. *Phys Ther*. 2010;90(7):1001-1013.
- Klaren RE, Motl RW, Dlugonski D, Sandroff BM, Pilutti LA. Objectively quantified physical activity in persons with multiple sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2013;94(12):2342-2348.

- Motl RW, McAuley E, Sandroff BM. Longitudinal Change in Physical Activity and Its Correlates in Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis. *Phys Ther*. 2013;93(8):1037-1048.
- 9. Marrie RA, Horwitz R, Cutter G, Tyry T, Campagnolo D, Vollmer T. Comorbidity, socioeconomic status and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*. 2008;14(8):1091-1098.
- Latimer-Cheung AE, Pilutti LA, Hicks AL, et al. Effects of Exercise Training on Fitness, Mobility, Fatigue, and Health-Related Quality of Life Among Adults With Multiple Sclerosis: A Systematic Review to Inform Guideline Development. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2013;94(9):1800-1828.e3.
- Ronda G, Van Assema P, Brug J. Stages of change, psychological factors and awareness of physical activity levels in the Netherlands. *Health Promot Int*. 2001;16(4):305-314.
- 12. Rooney B, Smalley K, Larson JK, Havens S. Is knowing enough? Increasing physical activity by wearing a pedometer. *WMJ*. 2003;102(4):31-6.
- Paschali AA, Kalantzi-Azizi A, Goodrick GK, Papadatou D, Balasubramanyam A. Accelerometer feedback to promote physical activity in adults with type 2 diabetes: A pilot study. *Percept Mot Skills*. 2005;100(1):61-68.
- Hultquist CN, Albright C, Thompson DL. Comparison of walking recommendations in previously inactive women. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2005;37(4):676-683.
- Bravata DM, Smith-Spangler C, Sundaram V, et al. Using Pedometers to Increase Physical Activity and Improve Health. *JAMA*. 2007;298(19):2296.

- Lewis ZH, Lyons EJ, Jarvis JM, Baillargeon J. Using an electronic activity monitor system as an intervention modality: A systematic review Health behavior, health promotion and society. *BMC Public Health*. 2015;15(1):585.
- Motl RW, Pilutti LA, Learmonth YC, Goldman MD, Brown T. Clinical Importance of Steps Taken per Day among Persons with Multiple Sclerosis. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(9).
- Motl RW, Sandroff BM, Sosnoff JJ. Commercially available accelerometry as an ecologically valid measure of ambulation in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Expert Rev Neurother*. 2012;12(9):1079-1088.
- Balto JM, Kinnett-Hopkins DL, Motl RW. Accuracy and precision of smartphone applications and commercially available motion sensors in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J - Exp Transl Clin.* 2016;2:2055217316634754.
- 20. DasMahapatra P, Chiauzzi E, Bhalerao R, Rhodes J. Free-Living Physical Activity Monitoring in Adult US Patients with Multiple Sclerosis Using a Consumer Wearable Device. *Digit Biomarkers*. 2018;2(1):47-63.
- Aminian S, Motl RW, Rowley J, Manns PJ. Management of multiple sclerosis symptoms through reductions in sedentary behaviour: protocol for a feasibility study. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(4):e026622.
- 22. Kurtzke JF. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology*. 1983;33(11):1444-1452.
- 23. Godin G, Shephard RJ. Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire. Med Sci Sports

Exerc. 1997;29:36-38.

- Treacy D, Hassett L, Schurr K, Chagpar S, Paul SS, Sherrington C. Validity of Different Activity Monitors to Count Steps in an Inpatient Rehabilitation Setting. *Phys Ther.* 2017;97(5):581-588.
- 25. Klassen TD, Semrau JA, Dukelow SP, Bayley MT, Hill MD, Eng JJ. Consumer-Based Physical Activity Monitor as a Practical Way to Measure Walking Intensity During Inpatient Stroke Rehabilitation. *Stroke*. 2017;48(9):2614-2617.
- 26. Hui J, Heyden R, Bao T, et al. Validity of the fitbit one for measuring activity in community-dwelling stroke survivors. *Physiother Canada*. 2018;70(1):81-89.
- 27. Kim Y, Barry VW, Kang M. Validation of the ActiGraph GT3X and activPAL Accelerometers for the Assessment of Sedentary Behavior. *Meas Phys Educ Exerc Sci.* 2015;19(3):125-137.
- 28. Ryan CG, Grant PM, Tigbe WW, Granat MH. The validity and reliability of a novel activity monitor as a measure of walking. *Br J Sports Med*. 2006;40(9):779-784.
- 29. Manns PJ, Mehrabani G, Norton S, Aminian S, Motl RW. The SitLess With MS Program: Intervention Feasibility and Change in Sedentary Behavior. Arch Rehabil Res Clin Transl. 2020;2(4):100083.
- MiddelWeerd A, Van Der Ploeg Hp, Van Halteren A, Twisk JWR, Brug J, Te Velde SJ. A Validation Study of the Fitbit One in Daily Life Using Different Time Intervals. *Med Sci Sport Exerc.* 2017;49(6):1270-1279.
- 31. Ferguson T, Rowlands A V, Olds T, Maher C. The validity of consumer-level,

activity monitors in healthy adults worn in free-living conditions: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2015;12(1):42.

- 32. Reid RER, Insogna JA, Carver TE, et al. Validity and reliability of Fitbit activity monitors compared to ActiGraph GT3X+ with female adults in a free-living environment. *J Sci Med Sport*. 2017;20(6):578-582.
- Van Blarigan EL, Kenfield SA, Tantum L, Cadmus-Bertram LA, Carroll PR, Chan JM. The Fitbit One Physical Activity Tracker in Men With Prostate Cancer: Validation Study. *JMIR Cancer*. 2017;3(1):e5.
- 34. Singh AK, Farmer C, Van Den Berg MLE, Killington M, Barr CJ. Accuracy of the FitBit at walking speeds and cadences relevant to clinical rehabilitation populations. *Disabil Health J.* 2016;9(2):320-323.
- 35. An HS, Jones GC, Kang SK, Welk GJ, Lee JM. How valid are wearable physical activity trackers for measuring steps? *Eur J Sport Sci*. 2017;17(3):360-368.
- Schaffer SD, Holzapfel SD, Fulk G, Bosch PR. Step count accuracy and reliability of two activity tracking devices in people after stroke. *Physiother Theory Pract*. 2017;33(10):788-796.
- 37. Gomersall SR, Ng N, Burton NW, Pavey TG, Gilson ND, Brown WJ. Estimating Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in a Free-Living Context: A Pragmatic Comparison of Consumer-Based Activity Trackers and ActiGraph Accelerometry. J Med Internet Res. 2016;18(9):e239.
- 38. Wang JB, Cadmus-Bertram LA, Natarajan L, et al. Wearable Sensor/Device (Fitbit

One) and SMS Text-Messaging Prompts to Increase Physical Activity in Overweight and Obese Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Telemed e-Health*. 2015;21(10):782-792.

- 39. Winkler EAH, Bodicoat DH, Healy GN, et al. Identifying adults' valid waking wear time by automated estimation in activPAL data collected with a 24 h wear protocol. *Physiol Meas*. 2016;37(10):1653-1668.
- Chastin SFM, Culhane B, Dall PM. Comparison of self-reported measure of sitting time (IPAQ) with objective measurement (activPAL). *Physiol Meas*. 2014;35(11):2319-2328.
- 41. Van der Berg JD, Willems PJB, van der Velde JHPM, et al. Identifying waking time in 24-h accelerometry data in adults using an automated algorithm. *J Sports Sci.* 2016;34(19):1867-1873.
- Lyden K, Keadle Sk, Staudenmayer J, Freedson PS. The activPALTM Accurately Classifies Activity Intensity Categories in Healthy Adults. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2017;49(5):1022-1028.
- 43. Napolitano MA, Borradaile KE, Lewis BA, et al. Accelerometer use in a physical activity intervention trial. *Contemp Clin Trials*. 2010;31(6):514-523.
- 44. Pivarnik JM, Reeves MJ, Rafferty AP. Seasonal variation in adult leisure-time physical activity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2003;35(6):1004-1008.
- 45. Dlugonski D, Pilutti LA, Sandroff BM, Suh Y, Balantrapu S, Motl RW. Steps per day among persons with multiple sclerosis: Variation by demographic, clinical, and

device characteristics. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2013;94(8):1534-1539.

- 46. Tudor-Locke C, Washington TL, Hart TL. Expected values for steps/day in special populations. *Prev Med*. 2009;49(1):3-11.
- 47. Tudor-Locke C, Johnson WD, Katzmarzyk PT. Accelerometer-determined steps per day inus adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2009;41(7):1384-1391.
- Hirvensalo M, Telama R, Schmidt MD, et al. Daily steps among Finnish adults: Variation by age, sex, and socioeconomic position. *Scand J Public Health*. 2011;39(7):669-677.
- Sandroff BM, Dlugonski D, Weikert M, Suh Y, Balantrapu S, Motl RW. Physical activity and multiple sclerosis: New insights regarding inactivity. *Acta Neurol Scand*. 2012;126(4):256-262.
- 50. Ryan JM, Fortune J, Stennett A, et al. Safety, feasibility, acceptability and effects of a behaviour-change intervention to change physical activity behaviour among people with multiple sclerosis: Results from the iStep-MS randomised controlled trial. *Mult Scler J*. 2020;26(14):1907-18.
- Ryan JM, Fortune J, Stennett A, et al. Changing physical activity behaviour for people with multiple sclerosis: Protocol of a randomised controlled feasibility trial (iStep-MS). *BMJ Open.* 2017;7(11):e018875.
- Learmonth YC, Adamson BC, Kinnett-Hopkins D, Bohri M, Motl RW. Results of a feasibility randomised controlled study of the guidelines for exercise in multiple sclerosis project. *Contemp Clin Trials*. 2017;54:84-97.

- 53. English C, Healy GN, Olds T, et al. Reducing Sitting Time after Stroke: A Phase II Safety and Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial. *Archives of Physical Medicine* and Rehabilitation. 2016;97(2):273-80.
- 54. Hale LA, Mulligan HF, Treharne GJ, Smith CM. The feasibility and short-term benefits of Blue Prescription: A novel intervention to enable physical activity for people with multiple sclerosis. *Disabil Rehabil*. 2013;35(14):1213-1220.
- Arvidsson D, Fridolfsson J, Börjesson M. Measurement of physical activity in clinical practice using accelerometers. *J Intern Med.* J Intern Med. 2019;286(2):137-153.

CHAPTER 6. GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

6.1 Discussion of research findings

The main purpose of this project was to test the preliminary efficacy of the "SitLess with MS" program- a new activity behaviour change intervention- on reducing daily sedentary behaviour and improving symptoms and physical performance outcomes in adults with MS. My work complements and enhances the work related to the "SitLess with MS" program, which included the publication of the protocol,¹ and the feasibility findings.² Prior to this thesis, no intervention with the primary focus on reduction of daily sedentary time in adults with MS and comprehensive assessment of MS symptoms and physical performance outcomes was conducted. We used validated activity and symptom measures and reported that the 15-week intervention led to a 38-min reduction in daily sedentary behaviour on average, increased step counts by 639 as measured by ActivPAL, and an improvement in most of the common symptoms experienced by those with MS.

The first step began with a review of the literature for the prevalence of sedentary behaviour and existing interventions on reducing sedentary behaviour in the MS population. The evidence from the literature indicates that adults with MS spend over 60% of their daily waking hours in sedentary behaviours.^{3,4} In addition, replacing sedentary behaviour with standing and/or stepping (light-intensity physical activities) is associated with beneficial health outcomes in community dwelling adults.⁵ Every 2-hour spent standing and/or stepping per day is beneficially associated with lower fasting blood glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides, body mass index and waist circumference.⁵ A gap in the literature regarding the interventions with the main focus on reducing daily sedentary behaviour in MS was identified. The first study in this thesis (Chapter 2) entitled, "Preliminary efficacy of the SitLess with MS intervention for changing sedentary behaviour, symptoms, and physical performance in multiple sclerosis" addressed that gap.

The "SitLess with MS" program was a 15-week telerehabilitation intervention (i.e., internet based intervention) which included objective monitoring of activity behaviour by ActivPAL3TM and Fitbit One activity monitors.¹ The validity of the activity monitors used in the intervention was tested in both laboratory-setting and free-living environments. The validity work enhanced confidence in the results of the "SitLess with MS" intervention on activity behaviour outcomes and was presented in Chapters 3 and 4. As this research program progressed, it also became clear that an additional gap in the literature was related to the feasibility of the long-term use of the consumer-grade activity trackers for daily monitoring of activity behaviour in adults with MS. Therefore, the fourth study (chapter 5) entitled "Feasibility of the use of Fitbit One activity tracker over 15 weeks in adults with multiple sclerosis" was performed.

The findings from these interrelated studies demonstrated support for a less intense wholeday activity behaviour intervention in individuals with MS in order to maximize health benefits, particularly in those with mobility impairments. A strategy to expedite reduction in daily sitting time and increase in light-intensity activities such as slow walking may be more feasible, acceptable, less challenging, and a first step towards promoting activity levels and increasing energy expenditure in people with MS especially those with mobility disability. The findings from the validity studies confirmed that the monitors were providing valid information in the "SitLess with MS" intervention. We found that the validity of the ActivPAL3TM for measuring sedentary behaviour was not different from what has been reported in other populations with disabilities⁶⁻⁸ It showed that using the device in a different population (i.e., patients with MS) did not change the validity of the ActivPAL3TM. Our results were also similar to the findings of Coulter et al.⁹ who reported that the ActivPAL3TM was valid for the measurement of upright time and step counts in patients with MS. Moreover, our findings demonstrated that wearing the Fitbit One over a long period in real life and/or research settings is feasible and acceptable by individuals with MS.

6.2 Strengths and limitations of the thesis

The "SitLess with MS" intervention was a novel activity behaviour change program in adults with MS that focused on whole day activity behaviour rather than targeting moderate to vigorous-intensity physical activity only and primarily targeted reduction in daily sedentary behaviour. The intervention was accessible as it was delivered within the home environment and included strategies such as breaking up sitting with standing up or/and walking around at frequent intervals throughout the day which makes it possible and easy for most to do in any setting. In addition, the intervention program involved objective monitoring of total daily activity behaviour which provided more accurate data than self-report measures.

Weekly coaching sessions between an intervention coach and a participant were a key strength of the "SitLess with MS" program. The individual coaching sessions were used to expedite knowledge translation and strategies for activity behaviour change and to help accountability and compliance with the intervention. Weekly coaching sessions helped participants to understand that some physical activity even at light-intensity is better than none and they should not necessarily perform moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activities in order to gain health benefits. Participants also learnt about the detrimental effects of sedentary behaviour on their health and the possible ways to reduce daily sedentary time and to increase total activity levels and energy expenditure during the day. The sample size (n = 41) was adequate and acceptable for a feasibility study, in accordance with previous activity behaviour interventions with persons with MS and stroke populations. ^{10–13}

The findings of the free-living validity study added more evidence to the findings of the laboratory-setting validity study and strengthened the evidence regarding the accuracy of the consumer-grade Fitbit One for measuring steps in the MS population. Our findings of the ankle placement of the Fitbit activity tracker were novel in the MS population which highlights the importance of activity monitor placement on the validity of the measurements by the activity monitor in research settings or/and clinical practice. The findings from the validity studies also help clinicians and researchers in the selection of an appropriate tool for measurement of activity behaviour in clinical practice or/and research interventions in patients with MS.

The main limitation of the "SitLess with MS" intervention was the single-group design and lack of a control group which allowed evaluation of preliminary efficacy of the intervention only. Patients with MS who were physically inactive and had mild to moderate disability were only included, and the findings are not generalizable among non-ambulatory persons with MS. The follow-up period was 7 weeks and provided only an estimation of the long-term sustainability of the intervention effects. In addition, the laboratory-setting validity study included a small sample size (n = 32) and patients with mild to moderate disability only, which limits the generalization of the findings to a free-living environment and non-ambulatory individuals with MS. Moreover, many commercially available activity monitors such as the Fitbit One activity tracker do not report sedentary time and we could not examine the convergent validity of the Fitbit One against the research-grade ActivPAL3TM for measurement of sedentary behaviour in the MS population.

6.3 Practical implications and recommendations

Our research suggests that ambulatory people with MS spent approximately 10 hours on sedentary behaviour every day. There should be a good balance between total daily physical activity, rest period or sitting and sleep (7-8 hours per day is normal). A gradual reduction in daily sedentary time might be the first step for reducing daily sedentary behaviour and indirectly increasing the daily light-intensity physical activity levels such as moving around the house. For individuals with MS, an initial target might be no more than 7-8 hours of sitting or/and lying down in order to make a balance between 24-hour activity behaviour components (i.e., physical activity, sleep and sedentary behaviour). It is a reasonable goal and may be more feasible and sustainable over time to increase total daily activity levels. If they could achieve the goal of no more than 7 hours of sedentary time per day, they could be more encouraged to set new goals and work towards more reduction in sedentary time throughout the day which is in accordance with principals of social cognitive theory.¹⁴ In addition to the total sedentary time per day, the number of breaks in sedentary time and step counts during the day are also important. Persons with MS can gradually increase the number of daily steps by moving more often around the house, in the backyard or neighborhood and may use an activity tracker for encouragement and monitor of their daily levels.

Furthermore, it may be important for clinicians to provide information and education on the health consequences of prolonged sedentary behaviour for patients with MS. This recommendation is in line with recent activity guidelines for general population and people with disability.^{15,16} They can describe that a reduction in sedentary behaviour may improve patients' physical and mental health, which is supported by the findings from this thesis. When patients understand how their behaviours might influence their health, they may be more motivated to change such detrimental habits.

Clinicians can also educate patients on strategies to break up sitting regularly at home or/and workplace and to avoid prolonged periods of uninterrupted sitting. Evidence indicates that interrupting sedentary time every 30 minutes could decrease the negative health risks associated with prolonged sedentary behaviour.¹⁷ When the patients experience improvements in their physical and mental health by sitting less and moving more (taking more steps), it increases confidence and motivation to engage in more activities.

There are a few practical strategies for reducing daily sedentary behaviour that was discussed by intervention coaches in the coaching sessions and can be recommended by health care professionals:

- Planning to regularly stand or take steps after 30 minutes of uninterrupted sitting for at least one minute at home or/and workplace
- Standing or walking around during TV advertisements, working with a computer or reading
- Using a high table or counter for support in standing while talking on the phone or reading
- Doing light-intensity activities such as washing the dishes or sweeping more often
- Setting an alarm on the phone or an activity tracker as a reminder to frequently break up sitting with standing or walking
- Using an activity tracker to monitor changes in the number of daily steps and total activity levels over time
- Lifestyle changes such as walking instead of using a car, bus or train, parking farther from a shopping center, workplace or grocery store to increase the walking distance, use of stairs instead of elevators, standing in the bus or train, moving on the chair while sitting

• Environmental changes such as height-adjustable desks for sit-to-stand transitions, standing computer desks at home and/or workplace, removing chairs from the TV area and use of kitchen counter in order to eat meals in a standing position

In clinical situations, when the use of a research-grade activity monitor is not feasible and/or when patients with MS are keen to monitor their daily steps, the Fitbit One is an appropriate choice to be recommended by clinicians.

6.4 Future research directions

The final section of this thesis identifies future research directions that may improve our knowledge of sedentary behaviour, and the importance of changing it, in those with MS.

There is limited research on the psychometric properties of measurement tools used to measure sedentary behaviour in the MS population. Inadequate research on the psychometrics of sedentary behaviour measures might explain less research on sedentary behaviour in MS. In addition, the majority of small research on the rate of sedentary behaviour in patients with MS (7.5 to 8 hours per day)^{18,19} has come from the self-report measures. Therefore, more research on sedentary behaviour using objective measures (i.e., activity monitors) and evaluation of the psychometric properties of those measures are needed in the MS population. Validity studies with a larger sample size, including adults with mild, moderate and severe mobility impairments (i.e., wheelchair users) and in a free-living environment are required to strengthen the evidence regarding the validity of the objective measures of sedentary behaviour in the MS population.

In addition, as it is not possible to use a research-grade activity monitor (e.g., ActivPAL) out of a research context and during daily life in healthy population and people with disability, a

valid consumer-grade activity tracker will be a useful tool for monitoring total daily sedentary time or the number of breaks in sedentary time per day. Two recent studies examined the concurrent validity of two consumer-grade activity trackers (i.e., Fitbit Flex and Fitbit Charge 2) for measuring sedentary behaviour against the ActiGraph GT3X in healthy adults.^{20,21} The results demonstrated a strong correlation between the Fitbits and the research-grade ActiGraph GT3X for measuring sedentary behaviour^{20,21} and indicated that a wrist-worn consumer-grade activity tracker might be a useful tool for measurement of daily sedentary behaviour in healthy individuals. However, the accuracy of waist-worn and/or ankle-worn commercially available activity trackers for measurement of sedentary behaviour might be different in healthy adults and/or individuals with disability such as people with MS which might underscore the importance of wearing location for more accuracy of sedentary behaviour measurement. Therefore, more studies evaluating the validity of the user-friendly popular consumer-grade activity trackers worn at different locations (e.g., wrist, waist and ankle) for measurement of sedentary behaviour against the valid researchgrade activity monitors (e.g., ActivPAL3TM) must be conducted in the MS population.

Moreover, our findings regarding the ankle placement of the Fitbit One for measuring step count was novel in people with MS. Nevertheless, the Fitbit One is not available in the market anymore which demonstrates the necessity of future research on ankle placement of the currently existing consumer-grade activity trackers such as Fitbit Inspire and/or Fitbit Charge 4 for measurement of steps in people with higher levels of disability who walk slowly (gait speed < 0.80 m/s) such as persons with MS with moderate disability.

In addition, no study has assessed the correlation between the recorded activity outcomes by a consumer-grade activity tracker (e.g., daily sedentary time or step counts) and common MS- related symptoms and/or physical performance outcomes over a few weeks or a few months in the MS population. It could provide a better understanding of the association between activity level and accumulation patten with clinical features of the disease. Such research is also needed to be conducted in the future.

Most activity behaviour interventions in MS have merely focused on increasing moderateto-vigorous physical activities and very few^{22,23} targeted reductions in sedentary behaviour as the main or secondary outcome of the intervention that was explained in detail in chapter 1. Future research on interventions targeting reduction in sedentary behaviour as the main outcome with accurate measurement of sedentary behaviour with valid activity monitors, a randomized controlled design, a larger sample size, a longer follow-up period and evaluating the effect of the intervention on most common MS symptoms and physical function outcomes in adults with different levels of disability is needed.

A systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the effectiveness of using computer, mobile or/and wearable technology in interventions with randomized controlled design aimed at reducing sedentary behaviour in healthy adults.²⁴ They reported that use of computer, mobile and wearable technology tools is effective for reducing total daily sedentary time as it led to an average 41.28 minutes per day reduction in sitting time in favour of the intervention group.²⁴ The pooled effects indicated mean reductions of 42.42 minutes/day, 37.23 minutes/day and1.65 minutes/day at short (\leq 3 months), medium (>3 to 6 months), and long-term follow-up (>6 months), respectively.²⁴ Thus, more research on effectiveness of utilisation of such technologies on reducing daily sedentary time in interventions with main focus on decreasing sedentary behaviour is required in people with disability such as individuals with MS.

There is also a lack of research on the consequences of high sedentary time on the risk of cardiovascular diseases, cancers, diabetes and mortality in the MS population. Furthermore, it is unknown whether the rates or patterns of sedentary behaviour predict the physical or mental health outcomes and/or quality of life in the MS population. The effect of a sedentary behaviour intervention on health outcomes such as biomarkers of cardiovascular disease in the MS population has not been examined yet. Therefore, future research on the effects of sedentary behaviour and its reduction on health outcomes such as cardiometabolic risk biomarkers are needed in the MS population. More research on the independent or cumulative role of physical activity and sedentary behaviour on the health and function of people with MS is also required.

Furthermore, no research regarding the adherence of people with MS to sedentary behaviour interventions and/or whether it is more feasible to reduce sedentary behaviour than to engaging in moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity exists. Future research comparing the effectiveness of interventions with focus on only moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity with interventions with main focus on reducing daily sedentary time and comparison of the adherence of people to those interventions in the MS population is needed.

6.5 Conclusions

Accurate measurement of volume and pattern of accumulation of sedentary time in MS is essential to determine current levels and to design interventions and strategies to decrease daily sedentary behaviour in order to maximize health and quality of life. Research on the validity of the research-grade activity monitors and the commercially available activity trackers measuring sedentary behaviour and physical activity is required as it helps researchers, clinicians and patients with MS to make decisions on how best to monitor and modify activity behaviour. Using research-grade activity monitor to measure sedentary behaviour, the findings of this thesis showed that patients with MS spend approximately 62% of their daily waking hours on sedentary behaviour. Breaking up sedentary behaviour with short periods of standing or slow walking at home and/or workplace and increasing the daily number of steps is a feasible way to modify activity behaviour during the day. This strategy can also improve MS symptoms and physical performance over time. It is probably the time for a paradigm shift from moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity to sitting less and moving more in order to promote activity in the MS population and the message "sit less and move more" may be more acceptable for the majority of patients with MS.

References

- Aminian S, Motl RW, Rowley J, Manns PJ. Management of multiple sclerosis symptoms through reductions in sedentary behaviour: protocol for a feasibility study. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(4):e026622.
- Manns PJ, Mehrabani G, Norton S, Aminian S, Motl RW. The SitLess With MS Program: Intervention Feasibility and Change in Sedentary Behavior. *Arch Rehabil Res Clin Transl.* 2020;2(4):100083.
- 3. Ezeugwu V, Klaren RE, Hubbard EA, Manns PT, Motl RW. Mobility disability and the pattern of accelerometer-derived sedentary and physical activity behaviors in people with multiple sclerosis. *Prev Med reports*. 2015;2:241-246.
- 4. Motl RW, McAuley E, Sandroff BM, Hubbard EA. Descriptive epidemiology of physical activity rates in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand*. 2015;131(6):422-425.
- Healy GN, Winkler EAH, Owen N, Anuradha S, Dunstan DW. Replacing sitting time with standing or stepping: associations with cardio-metabolic risk biomarkers. *Eur Heart* J. 2015;36(39):2643-2649.
- Sellers C, Dall P, Grant M, Stansfield B. Validity and reliability of the activPAL3 for measuring posture and stepping in adults and young people. *Gait Posture*. 2016;43:42-47.
- Taraldsen K, Askim T, Sletvold O, et al. Evaluation of a body-worn sensor system to measure physical activity in older people with impaired function. *Phys Ther*. 2011;91(2):277-285.
- Larkin L, Nordgren B, Purtill H, Brand C, Fraser A, Kennedy N. Criterion Validity of the octivPAL Activity Monitor for Sedentary and Physical Activity Patterns in People Who Have Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Phys Ther*. 2016;96(7):1093-1101.

- Coulter EH, Miller L, McCorkell S, et al. Validity of the activPAL3 activity monitor in people moderately affected by Multiple Sclerosis. *Med Eng Phys.* 2017;45:78-82.
- Learmonth YC, Adamson BC, Kinnett-Hopkins D, Bohri M, Motl RW. Results of a feasibility randomised controlled study of the guidelines for exercise in multiple sclerosis project. *Contemp Clin Trials*. 2017;54:84-97.
- 11. English C, Healy GN, Olds T, et al. Reducing Sitting Time after Stroke: A Phase II Safety and Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2016;97(2):273-80.
- Ryan JM, Fortune J, Stennett A, et al. Changing physical activity behaviour for people with multiple sclerosis: Protocol of a randomised controlled feasibility trial (iStep-MS). *BMJ Open.* 2017;7(11):e018875.
- Hale LA, Mulligan HF, Treharne GJ, Smith CM. The feasibility and short-term benefits of Blue Prescription: A novel intervention to enable physical activity for people with multiple sclerosis. *Disabil Rehabil*. 2013;35(14):1213-1220.
- 14. Bandura A. Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Heal Educ Behav*. 2004;31(2):143-164.
- 15. Pogrmilovic BK, Varela AR, Pratt M, et al. National physical activity and sedentary behaviour policies in 76 countries: Availability, comprehensiveness, implementation, and effectiveness. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2020;17(1):116.
- Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *Br J Sports Med.* 2020;54(24):1451-1462.
- 17. Diaz KM, Howard VJ, Hutto B, et al. Patterns of sedentary behavior and mortality in U.S. middle-aged and older adults a national cohort study. *Ann Intern Med.* 2017;167(7):465-475.

- 18. Hubbard EA, Motl RW, Manns PJ. The descriptive epidemiology of daily sitting time as a sedentary behavior in multiple sclerosis. *Disabil Health J.* 2015;8(4):594-601.
- Sasaki J, Motl R, Cutter G, Marrie R, Tyry T, Salter A. National estimates of self-reported sitting time in adults with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin*. 2018;4(1):205521731875436.
- Redenius N, Kim Y, Byun W. Concurrent validity of the Fitbit for assessing sedentary behavior and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2019;19(1):1-9.
- Mikkelsen M-LK, Berg-Beckhoff G, Frederiksen P, et al. Estimating physical activity and sedentary behaviour in a free-living environment: A comparative study between Fitbit Charge 2 and Actigraph GT3X. Bergman P, ed. *PLoS One*. 2020;15(6):e0234426.
- Klaren RE, Hubbard EA, Motl RW. Efficacy of a behavioral intervention for reducing sedentary behavior in persons with multiple sclerosis: a pilot examination. *Am J Prev Med.* 2014;47(5):613-616.
- Ryan JM, Fortune J, Stennett A, et al. Safety, feasibility, acceptability and effects of a behaviour-change intervention to change physical activity behaviour among people with multiple sclerosis: Results from the iStep-MS randomised controlled trial. *Mult Scler J*. 2020;26(14):1907-1918.
- 24. Stephenson A, McDonough SM, Murphy MH, Nugent CD, Mair JL. Using computer, mobile and wearable technology enhanced interventions to reduce sedentary behaviour: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2017;14(1):1-7.

REFERENCES

Abbott, J. H. (2014) 'The Distinction between Randomized Clinical Trials (RCTs) and Preliminary Feasibility and Pilot Studies: What They Are and Are Not', *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 44(8), pp. 555-558.

Ainsworth, B. E. *et al.* (2000) 'Compendium of physical activities: an update of activity codes and MET intensities', *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 32(9 Suppl), pp. S498-S504.

Alonso, A. and Hernan, M. A. (2008) 'Temporal trends in the incidence of multiple sclerosis: a systematic review', *Neurology*, 71(2), pp. 129–135.

Aminian, S. *et al.* (2019) 'Management of multiple sclerosis symptoms through reductions in sedentary behaviour: protocol for a feasibility study', *British Medical Journal Open*, 9(4), p. e026622.

An, H. S. *et al.* (2017) 'How valid are wearable physical activity trackers for measuring steps?', *European Journal of Sport Science*, 17(3), pp. 360–368.

Arvidsson, D., Fridolfsson, J. and Börjesson, M. (2019) 'Measurement of physical activity in clinical practice using accelerometers', *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 286(2), pp. 137-153.

Asch, P. van (2011) 'Impact of Mobility Impairment in Multiple Sclerosis 2 - Patients' Perspectives', *European Neurological Review*, 6(2), pp. 115-120.

Atkin, A. J. *et al.* (2012) 'Methods of Measurement in epidemiology: Sedentary Behaviour', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 41(5), pp. 1460–1471.

Aunger, J. A., Doody, P. and Greig, C. A. (2018) 'Interventions targeting sedentary behavior in non-working older adults: a systematic review', *Maturitas*, 116, pp.89-99.

Sandroff, B.M. *et al.* (2012) 'Physical activity and multiple sclerosis: New insights regarding inactivity', *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 126(4), pp. 256–262.

Bailey, D. P. and Locke, C. D. (2015) 'Breaking up prolonged sitting with light-intensity walking improves postprandial glycemia, but breaking up sitting with standing does not', *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 18(3), pp. 294–298.

Baird, J. F., Silveira, S. L. and Motl, R. W. (2021) 'Social Cognitive Theory and Physical Activity in Older Adults with Multiple Sclerosis', *International Journal of MS Care*, 23(1), pp. 21–25.

Balaban, B. and Tok, F. (2014) 'Gait Disturbances in Patients With Stroke', *The Journal* of Injury, Function and Rehabilitation, 6(7), pp. 635–642.

Balto, J. M., Kinnett-Hopkins, D. L. and Motl, R. W. (2016) 'Accuracy and precision of smartphone applications and commercially available motion sensors in multiple sclerosis.', *Multiple sclerosis journal - experimental, translational and clinical*, 2, p. 2055217316634754.

Bandura, A. (2004) 'Health promotion by social cognitive means', *Health education & behavior*, 31(2), pp. 143–64.
Barone Gibbs, B. *et al.* (2017) 'Reducing Sedentary Behavior Versus Increasing Moderateto-Vigorous Intensity Physical Activity in Older Adults: A 12-Week Randomized, Clinical Trial', *Journal of Aging and Health*, 29(2), pp. 247–267.

Battenberg, A. K. *et al.* (2017) 'The accuracy of personal activity monitoring devices', *Seminars in Arthroplasty*, 28(2), pp. 71–75.

Beckerman, H. *et al.* (2010) 'Physical activity behavior of people with multiple sclerosis: understanding how they can become more physically active', *Physical therapy*, 90(7), pp. 1001–1013.

Bellettiere, J. *et al.* (2017) 'Associations of sitting accumulation patterns with cardiometabolic risk biomarkers in Australian adults', *PLOS ONE*, 12(6), p. e0180119.

Benedetti, M. G. *et al.* (1999) 'Gait abnormalities in minimally impaired multiple sclerosis patients', *Multiple Sclerosis*, 5(5), pp. 363–368.

Berg-Hansen, P. and Celius, E. G. (2015) 'Socio-economic factors and immigrant population studies of multiple sclerosis', *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 132(S199), pp. 37–41.

van der Berg, J. D. *et al.* (2016) 'Identifying waking time in 24-h accelerometry data in adults using an automated algorithm', *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 34(19), pp. 1867–1873.

Biswas, A. *et al.* (2015) 'Sedentary time and its association with risk for disease incidence, mortality, and hospitalization in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis.', *Annals of internal medicine*, 162(2), pp. 123–132.

Bland, J. M. and Altman, D. G. (1986) 'Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement', *Lancet*, 1(8476), pp. 307–310.

Van Blarigan, E. L. *et al.* (2017) 'The Fitbit One Physical Activity Tracker in Men With Prostate Cancer: Validation Study', *Journal of Medical Internet Research Cancer*, 3(1), p. e6935.

Bohannon, R. W. and Andrews, A. W. (2011) 'Normal walking speed: a descriptive metaanalysis', *Physiotherapy*, 97(3), pp. 182–189.

Bollaert, R. E. and Motl, R. W. (2019) 'Physical and Cognitive Functions, Physical Activity, and Sedentary Behavior in Older Adults With Multiple Sclerosis', *Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy*, 42(4), pp. 304–312.

Bravata, D. M. *et al.* (2007) 'Using Pedometers to Increase Physical Activity and Improve Health', *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 298(19), pp. 2296–2304.

Bull, F. C. *et al.* (2020) 'World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 54(24), pp.1451-1462.

Bussmann, J. B., Ebner-Priemer, U. W. and Fahrenberg, J. (2009) 'Ambulatory Activity Monitoring', *European Psychologist*, 14(2), pp. 142–152.

Byrom, B. *et al.* (2016) 'Objective measurement of sedentary behaviour using accelerometers', *International Journal of Obesity*, 40(11), pp. 1809–1812.

Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E. and Christenson, G. M. (1985) 'Physical activity, exercise,

and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research', *Public health reports*, 100(2), pp. 126–131.

Cavanaugh, J. T. *et al.* (2011) 'Ambulatory Activity in Individuals With Multiple Sclerosis', *Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy*, 35(1), pp. 26–33.

Chari, D. M. (2007) 'Remyelination In Multiple Sclerosis', International review of neurobiology, 79, pp. 589–620.

Chastin, S. F. *et al.* (2015) 'Meta-analysis of the relationship between breaks in sedentary behavior and cardiometabolic health.', *Obesity*, 23(9), pp. 1800–1810.

Chastin, S. F. *et al.* (2019) 'How does light-intensity physical activity associate with adult cardiometabolic health and mortality? Systematic review with meta-analysis of experimental and observational studies', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 53(6), pp. 370–376.

Chastin, S. F., Culhane, B. and Dall, P. M. (2014) 'Comparison of self-reported measure of sitting time (IPAQ) with objective measurement (activPAL)', *Physiological Measurement*, 35(11), pp. 2319–2328.

Chen, K. Y. and Bassett, D. R. (2005) 'The technology of accelerometry-based activity monitors: current and future.', *Medicine and Science In Sports and Exercise*, 37(11 Suppl), pp. S490-S500.

Compston, A. and Coles, A. (2008) 'Multiple sclerosis', *Lancet*, 372(9648), pp. 1502–1517.

Coulter, E. H. *et al.* (2017) 'Validity of the activPAL3 activity monitor in people moderately affected by Multiple Sclerosis', *Medical Engineering & Physics*, 45, pp. 78–82.

Crawford, A. *et al.* (2008) 'People with mobility impairments: Physical activity and quality of participation', *Disability and Health Journal*, 1(1), pp. 7–13.

Crayton, H., Heyman, R. A. and Rossman, H. S. (2004) 'A multimodal approach to managing the symptoms of multiple sclerosis', *Neurology*, 63(11 suppl 5), pp. S12–S18.

CSEPguidelines (2018). Available at: https://csepguidelines.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2018/10/CSEP_MS_PAGuidelines_adults_en.pdf (Accessed: 8

December 2020).

Curti, E. *et al.* (2018) 'Correlation between cortical lesions and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis', *Brain and Behavior*, 8(6), p. e00955.

Dalgas, U. *et al.* (2019) 'Exercise as Medicine in Multiple Sclerosis-Time for a Paradigm Shift: Preventive, Symptomatic, and Disease-Modifying Aspects and Perspectives', *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports*, 19(11), pp.1-12.

Dalgas, U. and Stenager, E. (2012) 'Exercise and disease progression in multiple sclerosis: can exercise slow down the progression of multiple sclerosis?', *Therapeutic Advances in Neurological Disorders*, 5(2), pp. 81–95.

DasMahapatra, P. et al. (2018) 'Free-Living Physical Activity Monitoring in Adult US

Patients with Multiple Sclerosis Using a Consumer Wearable Device', *Digital Biomarkers*, 2(1), pp. 47–63.

Davis, M. G. *et al.* (2014) 'Objectively measured sedentary time and its association with physical function in older adults.', *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 22(4), pp. 474–81.

Deluca, J. and Nocentini, U. (2011) 'Neuropsychological, medical and rehabilitative management of persons with multiple sclerosis', *NeuroRehabilitation*, 29(3), pp. 197–219.

Diaz, K. M. *et al.* (2015) 'Fitbit(R): An accurate and reliable device for wireless physical activity tracking', *International Journal of Cardiology*, 185, pp. 138–140.

Diaz, K. M. *et al.* (2016) 'Validation of the Fitbit One(R) for physical activity measurement at an upper torso attachment site', *BMC Research Notes*, 9(1), pp.1-9.

Dlugonski, D. *et al.* (2011) 'Social cognitive correlates of physical activity in inactive adults with multiple sclerosis', *International Journal of Rehabilitation Research*, 34(2), pp. 115–120.

Dlugonski, D. *et al.* (2013) 'Steps per day among persons with multiple sclerosis: Variation by demographic, clinical, and device characteristics', *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 94(8), pp. 1534–1539.

Dobson, R. and Giovannoni, G. (2019) 'Multiple sclerosis – a review', *European Journal* of Neurology, 26(1), pp.27-40.

Van Domelen, D. R. *et al.* (2014) 'Is there a sex difference in accelerometer counts during walking in older adults?', *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 11(3), pp. 626–37.

Donahoo, W. T., Levine, J. A. and Melanson, E. L. (2004) 'Variability in energy expenditure and its components', *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 7(6), pp. 599–605.

Doring, A. *et al.* (2011) 'Exercise in multiple sclerosis -- an integral component of disease management', *The EPMA journal*. Switzerland, 3(1), p. 2. doi: 10.1007/s13167-011-0136-4.

Dunstan, D. W. *et al.* (2012) 'Breaking Up Prolonged Sitting Reduces Postprandial Glucose and Insulin Responses', *Diabetes care*, 35(5), pp. 976–983.

Hubbard, E. A., Motl, R.W. and Manns, P. J. (2015) 'The descriptive epidemiology of daily sitting time as a sedentary behavior in multiple sclerosis', *Disability and Health Journal*, 8(4), pp. 594–601.

Ekblom-Bak, E. *et al.* (2014) 'The importance of non-exercise physical activity for cardiovascular health and longevity', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 48(3), pp. 233–238.

Eldridge, S. M. *et al.* (2016) 'CONSORT 2010 statement: Extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials', *British Medical Journal*, 355.

Eldridge, S. M. *et al.* (2016) 'Defining Feasibility and Pilot Studies in Preparation for Randomised Controlled Trials: Development of a Conceptual Framework', *PLOS ONE*, 11(3), p. e0150205.

English, C. *et al.* (2016) 'Reducing Sitting Time after Stroke: A Phase II Safety and Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial', *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 97 (2), pp. 273–280.

Ezeugwu, V. *et al.* (2015) 'Mobility disability and the pattern of accelerometer-derived sedentary and physical activity behaviors in people with multiple sclerosis.', *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 2, pp. 241–246.

Fanning, J., Mullen, S. P. and McAuley, E. (2012) 'Increasing Physical Activity With Mobile Devices: A Meta-Analysis', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(6), p. e161.

Feehan, L. M. *et al.* (2018) 'Accuracy of fitbit devices: Systematic review and narrative syntheses of quantitative data', *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 6(8), p. e10527.

Ferguson, T. *et al.* (2015) 'The validity of consumer-level, activity monitors in healthy adults worn in free-living conditions: a cross-sectional study', *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 12(1), pp. 1-9.

Filli, L. *et al.* (2018) 'Profiling walking dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: Characterisation, classification and progression over time', *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), pp.1-13.

Fitzsimons, C. F. *et al.* (2013) 'Using an individualised consultation and activPALTM feedback to reduce sedentary time in older Scottish adults: results of a feasibility and pilot study', *Preventive Medicine*, 57(5), pp. 718–20.

Floegel, T. A. *et al.* (2017) 'Validation of Consumer-Based Hip and Wrist Activity Monitors in Older Adults With Varied Ambulatory Abilities', *Journals of Gerontology*, 72(2), pp. 229–236.

Freedson, P. S., Melanson, E. and Sirard, J. (1998) 'Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 30(5), pp. 777–81.

García-Massó, X. *et al.* (2013) 'Validation of the use of Actigraph GT3X accelerometers to estimate energy expenditure in full time manual wheelchair users with spinal cord injury', *Spinal Cord*, 51(12), pp. 898–903.

Gardiner, P. A. et al. (2011) 'Feasibility of Reducing Older Adults' Sedentary Time', American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 41(2), pp. 174–177.

Godin, G. and Shephard, R. J. (1997) 'Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 29, pp. 36–38.

Goldman, M. D., Marrie, R. A. and Cohen, J. A. (2008) 'Evaluation of the six-minute walk in multiple sclerosis subjects and healthy controls', *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 14(3), pp. 383–390.

Gomersall, S. R. *et al.* (2016) 'Estimating Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in a Free-Living Context: A Pragmatic Comparison of Consumer-Based Activity Trackers and ActiGraph Accelerometry', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(9), p. e239.

Guitar, N. A. et al. (2018) 'Fitbit Activity Trackers Interrupt Workplace Sedentary

Behavior: A New Application', Workplace Health and Safety, 66(5), pp. 218–222.

Hadgraft, N. T. *et al.* (2021) 'Effects of sedentary behaviour interventions on biomarkers of cardiometabolic risk in adults: Systematic review with meta-analyses', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 55(3), pp.144-154.

Hagstromer, M. *et al.* (2010) 'Comparison of a subjective and an objective measure of physical activity in a population sample', *Journal of physical activity & health*, 7(4), pp. 541–50.

Hale, L. A. *et al.* (2013) 'The feasibility and short-term benefits of Blue Prescription: A novel intervention to enable physical activity for people with multiple sclerosis', *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 35(14), pp. 1213–1220.

Hamilton, M. T. (2018) 'The role of skeletal muscle contractile duration throughout the whole day: reducing sedentary time and promoting universal physical activity in all people', *Journal of Physiology*, 596(8), pp. 1331–1340.

Harbo, H. F., Gold, R. and Tintora, M. (2013) 'Sex and gender issues in multiple sclerosis', *Therapeutic Advances in Neurological Disorders*, 6(4), pp. 237–248.

Hart, T. L., Ainsworth, B. E. and Tudor-Locke, C. (2011) 'Objective and subjective measures of sedentary behavior and physical activity', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 43(3), pp. 449–456.

Hartman, S. J., Nelson, S. H. and Weiner, L. S. (2018) 'Patterns of Fitbit Use and Activity Levels Throughout a Physical Activity Intervention: Exploratory Analysis from a Randomized Controlled Trial', JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 6(2), p. e29.

Healy, G. N. *et al.* (2008) 'Breaks in sedentary time: beneficial associations with metabolic risk', *Diabetes Care*, 31(4), pp. 661–666.

Healy, G. N. *et al.* (2011) 'Measurement of adults' sedentary time in population-based studies', *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 41(2), pp.216-227.

Healy, G. N. *et al.* (2011) 'Sedentary time and cardio-metabolic biomarkers in US adults: NHANES 2003-06', *European Heart Journal*, 32(5), pp. 590–597.

Heesen, C. *et al.* (2008) 'Patient perception of bodily functions in multiple sclerosis: gait and visual function are the most valuable', *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 14(7), pp. 988–991.

Hills, A. P., Mokhtar, N. and Byrne, N. M. (2014) 'Assessment of physical activity and energy expenditure: an overview of objective measures', *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 1, p. 5.

Hincapié-Zapata, M. E. *et al.* (2009) 'Quality of life in multiple sclerosis and other chronic autoimmune and non-autoimmune diseases', *Revista de Neurologia*, 48(5), pp. 225–230.

Hirst, C. *et al.* (2008) 'Survival and cause of death in multiple sclerosis: A prospective population-based study', *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 79(9), pp. 1016–1021.

Hirvensalo, M. *et al.* (2011) 'Daily steps among Finnish adults: Variation by age, sex, and socioeconomic position', *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 39(7), pp. 669–677.

Hou, Y., Jia, Y. and Hou, J. (2018) 'Natural Course of Clinically Isolated Syndrome: A

Longitudinal Analysis Using a Markov Model', Scientific Reports, 8(1), pp.1-7.

Hubbard, E. A. and Motl, R. W. (2015) 'Sedentary behavior is associated with disability status and walking performance, but not cognitive function, in multiple sclerosis', *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 40(2), pp. 203–206.

Hubbard, E. A., Motl, R. W. and Fernhall, B. (2018) 'Sedentary behavior and blood pressure in patients with multiple sclerosis', *International Journal of MS Care*, 20(1), pp. 1–8.

Hubbard, E. A., Motl, R. W. and Manns, P. J. (2015) 'The descriptive epidemiology of daily sitting time as a sedentary behavior in multiple sclerosis', *Disability and Health Journal*, 8(4), pp. 594–601.

Hui, J. *et al.* (2018) 'Validity of the fitbit one for measuring activity in community-dwelling stroke survivors', *Physiotherapy Canada*, 70(1), pp. 81–89.

Hultquist, C. N., Albright, C. and Thompson, D. L. (2005) 'Comparison of walking recommendations in previously inactive women', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 37(4), pp. 676–683.

Hurwitz, B. J. (2011) 'Analysis of current multiple sclerosis registries', *Neurology*, 76(1 Supplement 1), pp.S7-S13.

Igelstrom, H. *et al.* (2013) 'Level of Agreement Between Methods for Measuring Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity and Sedentary Time in People With Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Obesity', *Physical Therapy*, 93(1), pp. 50–59.

Janssen, I. and Ross, R. (2012) 'Vigorous intensity physical activity is related to the metabolic syndrome independent of the physical activity dose', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 41(4), pp. 1132–1140.

Jetté, M., Sidney, K. and Blümchen, G. (1990) 'Metabolic equivalents (METS) in exercise testing, exercise prescription, and evaluation of functional capacity', *Clinical Cardiology*, 13(8), pp. 555–565.

Kelleher, K. J. *et al.* (2010) 'The characterisation of gait patterns of people with multiple sclerosis', *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 32(15), pp. 1242–1250.

Kim, Y. *et al.* (2020) 'Immediate and Sustained Effects of Interventions for Changing Physical Activity in People with Multiple Sclerosis: Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials', *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, pp. 1414–1436.

Kim, Y., Barry, V. W. and Kang, M. (2015) 'Validation of the ActiGraph GT3X and activPAL Accelerometers for the Assessment of Sedentary Behavior', *Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science*, 19(3), pp. 125–137.

Klaren, R. E. *et al.* (2013) 'Objectively quantified physical activity in persons with multiple sclerosis', *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 94(12), pp. 2342–2348.

Klaren, R. E. *et al.* (2016) 'Reliability of Accelerometer Scores for Measuring Sedentary and Physical Activity Behaviors in Persons With Multiple Sclerosis', *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 33(2), pp. 195–204.

Klaren, R. E., Hubbard, E. A. and Motl, R. W. (2014) 'Efficacy of a behavioral intervention

for reducing sedentary behavior in persons with multiple sclerosis: a pilot examination', *American Journal Of Preventive Medicine*, 47(5), pp. 613–6.

Klassen, T. D. *et al.* (2017) 'Consumer-Based Physical Activity Monitor as a Practical Way to Measure Walking Intensity During Inpatient Stroke Rehabilitation', *Stroke*, 48(9), pp. 2614–2617.

Kobelt, G. *et al.* (2017) 'New insights into the burden and costs of multiple sclerosis in Europe', *Multiple Sclerosis*, 23(8), pp. 1123–1136.

Koch-Henriksen, N. and Sørensen, P. S. (2010) 'The changing demographic pattern of multiple sclerosis epidemiology', *Lancet Neurology*, 9(5), pp. 520-532.

Kohn, C. G. *et al.* (2014) 'Walking Speed and Health-Related Quality of Life in Multiple Sclerosis', *Patient-Centered Outcomes Research*, 7(1), pp. 55–61.

Koo, T. K. and Li, M. Y. (2016) 'A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research', *Journal of Chiropractic Medicine*, 15(2), pp. 155–163.

Kozey-Keadle, S. *et al.* (2011) 'Validation of wearable monitors for assessing sedentary behavior', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 43(8), pp. 1561–1567.

Kurtzke, J. F. (1983) 'Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS)', *Neurology*, 33(11), pp. 1444–52.

Lai, B. et al. (2017) 'Current Trends in Exercise Intervention Research, Technology, and

Behavioral Change Strategies for People with Disabilities: A Scoping Review', *American Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 96(10), pp.748-761.

LaPorte, R. E., Montoye, H. J. and Caspersen, C. J. (1985) 'Assessment of physical activity in epidemiologic research: problems and prospects', *Public Health Reports*, 100(2), pp. 131–146.

Larkin, L. *et al.* (2016) 'Criterion Validity of the activPAL Activity Monitor for Sedentary and Physical Activity Patterns in People Who Have Rheumatoid Arthritis', *Physical Therapy*, 96(7), pp. 1093–1101.

Larsen, R. N. *et al.* (2014) 'Breaking up prolonged sitting reduces resting blood pressure in overweight/obese adults', *Nutrition Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases*, 24(9), pp. 976–982.

Lassmann, H. (2011) 'Pathophysiology of inflammation and tissue injury in multiple sclerosis: What are the targets for therapy', *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 306(1-2), pp.167-169.

Latimer-Cheung, A. E. *et al.* (2013) 'Effects of Exercise Training on Fitness, Mobility, Fatigue, and Health-Related Quality of Life Among Adults With Multiple Sclerosis: A Systematic Review to Inform Guideline Development', *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 94(9), pp. 1800-1828.e3.

Learmonth, Y. C. *et al.* (2017) 'Results of a feasibility randomised controlled study of the guidelines for exercise in multiple sclerosis project', *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 54, pp.

Learmonth, Y. C. and Motl, R. W. (2018) 'Important considerations for feasibility studies in physical activity research involving persons with multiple sclerosis: A scoping systematic review and case study', *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, 4(1), pp.1-11.

Lee, I. M. and Shiroma, E. J. (2014) 'Using accelerometers to measure physical activity in large-scale epidemiological studies: Issues and challenges', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 48(3), pp.197-201.

Leitzmann, M. F., Jochem, C. and Schmid, D. (2018) *Sedentary Behaviour Epidemiology*, Springer International Publishing (Springer Series on Epidemiology and Public Health).

Lewis, Z. H. *et al.* (2015) 'Using an electronic activity monitor system as an intervention modality: A systematic review Health behavior, health promotion and society', *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), pp.1-15.

Van der Linden, M. L. *et al.* (2014) 'Gait kinematics of people with Multiple Sclerosis and the acute application of Functional Electrical Stimulation', *Gait and Posture*, 39(4), pp. 1092–1096.

Liu, Q. *et al.* (2020) 'Sedentary behavior and risk of incident cardiovascular disease among Chinese adults', *Science Bulletin*, 65(20), pp. 1760–1766.

Preiningerova, J. L. *et al.* (2015) 'Spatial and temporal characteristics of gait as outcome measures in multiple sclerosis (EDSS 0 to 6.5)', *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 12(1), p. 14.

208

Lublin, F. D. and Reingold, S. C. (1996) 'Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: results of an international survey. National Multiple Sclerosis Society (USA) Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials of New Agents in Multiple Sclerosis', *Neurology*, 46(4), pp. 907–911.

Lyden, K. *et al.* (2017) 'The activPALTM Accurately Classifies Activity Intensity Categories in Healthy Adults', *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 49(5), pp. 1022–1028.

Maher, J. P., Sliwinski, M. J. and Conroy, D. E. (2017) 'Feasibility and preliminary efficacy of an intervention to reduce older adults' sedentary behavior', *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 7(1), pp. 52–61.

Manns, P. J. et al. (2012) 'Addressing the nonexercise part of the activity continuum: a more realistic and achievable approach to activity programming for adults with mobility disability?', *Physical therapy*, 92(4), pp. 614–625.

Manns, P. J. *et al.* (2020) 'The SitLess With MS Program: Intervention Feasibility and Change in Sedentary Behavior', *Archives of Rehabilitation Research and Clinical Translation*, p. 100083.

Mansi, S. *et al.* (2014) 'A systematic review of studies using pedometers as an intervention for musculoskeletal diseases', *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 15(1), p. 231.

Marrie, R. A. *et al.* (2008) 'Comorbidity, socioeconomic status and multiple sclerosis', *Multiple Sclerosis*, 14(8), pp. 1091–1098. Marrie, R. A. *et al.* (2015) 'A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of cardiac, cerebrovascular, and peripheral vascular disease in multiple sclerosis', *Multiple Sclerosis*, 21(3), pp. 318–331.

Matthews, C. E. *et al.* (2008) 'Amount of Time Spent in Sedentary Behaviors in the United States, 2003-2004', *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 167(7), pp. 875–881.

Matthews, C. E. *et al.* (2012) 'Amount of time spent in sedentary behaviors and causespecific mortality in US adults', *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 95(2), pp. 437–45.

McDowell, T. Y. *et al.* (2011) 'Sun Exposure, Vitamin D and Age at Disease Onset in Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis', *Neuroepidemiology*, 36(1), pp. 39–45.

Middelweerd, A. *et al.* (2017) 'A validation study of the fitbit one in daily life using different time intervals', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 49(6), pp. 1270–1279.

Miles-Chan, J. L. and Dulloo, A. G. (2017) 'Posture Allocation Revisited: Breaking the Sedentary Threshold of Energy Expenditure for Obesity Management', *Frontiers in Physiology*, 8, p. 420.

Miller, A. and Dishon, S. (2006) 'Health-related Quality of Life in Multiple Sclerosis: The Impact of Disability, Gender and Employment Status', *Quality of Life Research*, 15(2), pp. 259–271.

Miller, D. H. and Leary, S. M. (2007) 'Primary-progressive multiple sclerosis', Lancet

Neurology, 6(10), pp. 903–912.

Milo, R. and Kahana, E. (2010) 'Multiple sclerosis: geoepidemiology, genetics and the environment', *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 9(5), pp. A387-A394.

Motl, R. W. *et al.* (2006) 'Symptoms, self-efficacy, and physical activity among individuals with multiple sclerosis', *Research in Nursing and Health*, 29(6), pp. 597–606.

Motl, R. W. (2008) 'Physical activity and its measurement and determinants in multiple sclerosis', *Minerva Medica*, 99(2), pp. 157–65.

Motl, R. W. *et al.* (2008) 'Worsening of symptoms is associated with lower physical activity levels in individuals with multiple sclerosis', *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 14(1), pp. 140–142.

Motl, R. W. *et al.* (2009) 'Calibration of accelerometer output for ambulatory adults with multiple sclerosis', *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 90(10), pp. 1778–1784.

Motl, R. W. *et al.* (2010) 'Symptoms and physical activity among adults with relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis', *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 198(3), pp. 213– 219.

Motl, R. W. *et al.* (2011) 'Lifestyle Physical Activity and Walking Impairment over Time in Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis', *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 90(5), pp. 372–379.

Motl, R. W. *et al.* (2013) 'Clinical Importance of Steps Taken per Day among Persons with Multiple Sclerosis', *PLoS ONE*, 8(9), p.e73247.

Motl, R. W. *et al.* (2013) 'Physical activity, self-efficacy, and health-related quality of life in persons with multiple sclerosis: Analysis of associations between individual-level changes over one year', *Quality of Life Research*, 22(2), pp. 253–261.

Motl, R. W. *et al.* (2015) 'Descriptive epidemiology of physical activity rates in multiple sclerosis', *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 131(6), pp. 422–425.

Motl, R. W. *et al.* (2016) 'Physical activity and healthy aging with multiple sclerosis— Literature review and research directions', *European Neurological Review*, 12(1), pp. 29– 33.

Motl, R. W. and Bollaert, R. (2019) 'Sedentary behavior in persons with multiple sclerosis: Is the time ripe for targeting a new health behavior?', *Kinesiology Review*, 8(1), pp. 63–69.

Motl, R. W., McAuley, E. and Sandroff, B. M. (2013) 'Longitudinal Change in Physical Activity and Its Correlates in Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis', *Physical Therapy*, 93(8), pp. 1037–1048.

Motl, R. W., McAuley, E. and Snook, E. M. (2005) 'Physical activity and multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis', *Multiple Sclerosis*, 11(4), pp. 459–463.

Motl, R. W., Pekmezi, D. and Wingo, B. C. (2018) 'Promotion of physical activity and exercise in multiple sclerosis: Importance of behavioral science and theory', *Multiple Sclerosis Journal - Experimental, Translational And Clinical*, 4(3), p. 2055217318786745.

Motl, R. W., Sandroff, B. M. and Sosnoff, J. J. (2012) 'Commercially available accelerometry as an ecologically valid measure of ambulation in individuals with multiple sclerosis', *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 12(9), pp.1079-1088.

Motl, R.W. *et al.* (2019) 'Social-cognitive theory variables as correlates of sedentary behavior in multiple sclerosis: Preliminary evidence', *Disability and Health Journal*, 12(4), pp. 622–627.

Muntaner, A., Vidal-Conti, J. and Palou, P. (2016) 'Increasing physical activity through mobile device interventions: A systematic review', *Health Informatics Journal*, 22(3), pp. 451–469.

Myhr, K. M. *et al.* (2001) 'Disability and prognosis in multiple sclerosis: Demographic and clinical variables important for the ability to walk and awarding of disability pension', *Multiple Sclerosis*, 7(1), pp. 59–65.

Napolitano, M. A. *et al.* (2010) 'Accelerometer use in a physical activity intervention trial', *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 31(6), pp. 514–523.

PAL Technologies Ltd. (2010) 'ACTIVPAL^{3TM} operating guide', PAL Technologies Ltd.

Panahi, S. and Tremblay, A. (2018) 'Sedentariness and Health: Is Sedentary Behavior More Than Just Physical Inactivity?', *Frontiers in Public Health*, 6, p. 258.

Paschali, A. A. *et al.* (2005) 'Accelerometer feedback to promote physical activity in adults with type 2 diabetes: A pilot study', *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 100(1), pp. 61–68.

Patterson, R. *et al.* (2018) 'Sedentary behaviour and risk of all-cause, cardiovascular and cancer mortality, and incident type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and dose response meta-analysis', *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 33(9), pp. 811–829.

Paul, S. S. et al. (2015) 'Validity of the Fitbit activity tracker for measuring steps in community-dwelling older adults.', *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, 1(1), p. e000013.

Pedersen, B. K. and Saltin, B. (2015) 'Exercise as medicine - Evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in 26 different chronic diseases', *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, 25, pp. 1–72

PHAC releases incidence and prevalence rates of Multiple Sclerosis in Canada — *MS Society of Canada*. Available at: https://mssociety.ca/research-news/article/phac-releasesincidence-and-prevalence-rates-of-multiple-sclerosis-in-canada (Accessed: 18 January 2021).

Piercy, K. L. *et al.* (2018) 'The Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans', *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 320(19), p. 2020.

Pivarnik, J. M., Reeves, M. J. and Rafferty, A. P. (2003) 'Seasonal variation in adult leisure-time physical activity', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 35(6), pp. 1004–1008.

Ploughman, M. *et al.* (2012) 'Factors influencing healthy aging with multiple sclerosis: a qualitative study', *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 34(1), pp. 26–33.

Prevalence and incidence of multiple sclerosis | *MS Trust*. Available at: https://mstrust.org.uk/a-z/prevalence-and-incidence-multiple-sclerosis (Accessed: 19 January 2021).

Reid, R. E. *et al.* (2017) 'Validity and reliability of Fitbit activity monitors compared to ActiGraph GT3X+ with female adults in a free-living environment', *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 20(6), pp. 578–582.

Rommer, P. S. *et al.* (2019) 'Symptomatology and symptomatic treatment in multiple sclerosis: Results from a nationwide MS registry', *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 25(12), pp. 1641–1652.

Ronda, G., Van Assema, P. and Brug, J. (2001) 'Stages of change, psychological factors and awareness of physical activity levels in the Netherlands', *Health Promotion International*, 16(4), pp. 305–314.

Rooney, B. *et al.* (2003) 'Is knowing enough? Increasing physical activity by wearing a pedometer', *WMJ-Madison-*, 102(4), pp.31-36.

Ross, R. *et al.* (2020) 'Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Adults aged 18-64 years and Adults aged 65 years or older: an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep', *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism,* 45(10), pp. S57–S102.

Rovaris, M. *et al.* (2006) 'Secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: Current knowledge and future challenges', *Lancet Neurology*, 5(4), pp. 343-354.

215

Ryan, C. G. *et al.* (2006) 'The validity and reliability of a novel activity monitor as a measure of walking', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40(9), pp. 779 LP – 784.

Ryan, J. M. *et al.* (2017) 'Changing physical activity behaviour for people with multiple sclerosis: Protocol of a randomised controlled feasibility trial (iStep-MS)', *British Medical Journal Open*, 7(11), p. e018875.

Ryan, J. M. *et al.* (2019) 'Safety, feasibility, acceptability and effects of a behaviourchange intervention to change physical activity behaviour among people with multiple sclerosis: Results from the iStep-MS randomised controlled trial', *Multiple Sclerosis Journal.* 26(14), pp.1907-1918.

Sadovnick, A. D. *et al.* (1993) 'A population-based study of multiple sclerosis in twins: Update', *Annals of Neurology*, 33(3), pp. 281–285.

Sadovnick, A. D. (2006) 'The genetics and genetic epidemiology of multiple sclerosis: the hard facts', *Advances in Neurology*, 98, pp. 17–25.

Sandroff, B. M. *et al.* (2012) 'Physical activity and multiple sclerosis: new insights regarding inactivity', *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 126(4), pp. 256–262.

Sandroff, B. M., Motl, R. W. and Suh, Y. (2012) 'Accelerometer output and its association with energy expenditure in persons with multiple sclerosis', *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 49(3), pp. 467–75.

Sasaki, J. *et al.* (2018) 'National estimates of self-reported sitting time in adults with multiple sclerosis', *Multiple Sclerosis Journal - Experimental, Translational and Clinical*,

Saunders, T. J. *et al.* (2012) 'Acute sedentary behaviour and markers of cardiometabolic risk: a systematic review of intervention studie', *Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*, 2012, p. 712435.

Saunders, T. J. et al. (2020) 'Sedentary behaviour and health in adults: an overview of systematic reviews', *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 45(10), pp. S197–S217.

Scalfari, A. *et al.* (2010) 'The natural history of multiple sclerosis, a geographically based study: relapses and long-term disability', *Brain*, 133(7), pp. 1914–1929.

Scalfari, A. *et al.* (2014) 'Onset of secondary progressive phase and long-term evolution of multiple sclerosis', *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 85(1), pp. 67–75.

Schaffer, S. D. *et al.* (2017) 'Step count accuracy and reliability of two activity tracking devices in people after stroke', *Physiotherapy Theory and Practice*, 33(10), pp. 788–796.

Sellers, C. *et al.* (2016) 'Validity and reliability of the activPAL3 for measuring posture and stepping in adults and young people.', *Gait & posture*, 43, pp. 42–47.

Simpson, L. *et al.* (2015) 'Capturing step counts at slow walking speeds in older adults: Comparison of ankle and waist placement of measuring device', *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 47(9), pp. 830–835. Simpson, S. *et al.* (2010) 'Higher 25-hydroxyvitamin D is associated with lower relapse risk in multiple sclerosis', *Annals of Neurology*, 68(2), pp. 193–203.

Singh, A. K. *et al.* (2016) 'Accuracy of the FitBit at walking speeds and cadences relevant to clinical rehabilitation populations', *Disability and Health Journal*, 9(2), pp. 320–323.

Sintzel, M. B., Rametta, M. and Reder, A. T. (2018) 'Vitamin D and Multiple Sclerosis: A Comprehensive Review', *Neurology and Therapy*, 7(1), pp.59-85.

Skene, N. G. and Grant, S. G. (2016) 'Identification of vulnerable cell types in major brain disorders using single cell transcriptomes and expression weighted cell type enrichment', *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 10, pp. 16–27.

Sloan, R. A. *et al.* (2018) 'The influence of a consumer-wearable activity tracker on sedentary time and prolonged sedentary bouts: Secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial NCT01855776 NCT', *BMC Research Notes*, 11(1), pp. 1–6.

Stansfield, B., Hajarnis, M. and Sudarshan, R. (2015) 'Characteristics of very slow stepping in healthy adults and validity of the activPAL3TM activity monitor in detecting these steps', *Medical Engineering & Physics*, 37(1), pp. 42–47.

Storm, F. A., Heller, B. W. and Mazzà, C. (2015) 'Step detection and activity recognition accuracy of seven physical activity monitors', *PloS One*, 10(3), p. e0118723.

Streber, R., Peters, S. and Pfeifer, K. (2016) 'Systematic Review of Correlates and Determinants of Physical Activity in Persons With Multiple Sclerosis', *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 97(4), pp. 633–645.

Suh, Y. *et al.* (2011) 'Social cognitive correlates of physical activity: findings from a crosssectional study of adults with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis', *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 8(5), pp. 626–635.

Sutherland, C. A. *et al.* (2020) 'Interventions reducing sedentary behaviour of adults: An update of evidence', *Health Education Journal*, 79(3), pp. 362–374.

Sutliff, M. H. (2010) 'Contribution of impaired mobility to patient burden in multiple sclerosis', *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 26(1), pp. 109–19.

Takacs, J. *et al.* (2014) 'Validation of the Fitbit One activity monitor device during treadmill walking', *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 17(5), pp. 496–500.

Taraldsen, K. *et al.* (2011) 'Evaluation of a body-worn sensor system to measure physical activity in older people with impaired function', *Physical therapy*, 91(2), pp. 277–285.

Thompson, A. J. *et al.* (2018) 'Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria', *Lancet Neurology*, 17(2), pp.162-173.

Thorp, A. A. *et al.* (2014) 'Alternating Bouts of Sitting and Standing Attenuate Postprandial Glucose Responses', *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 46(11), pp. 2053–2061.

Treacy, D. *et al.* (2017) 'Validity of Different Activity Monitors to Count Steps in an Inpatient Rehabilitation Setting', *Physical Therapy*, 97(5), pp. 581–588.

Tremblay, M. S. et al. (2017) 'Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN) -

Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome', *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. BioMed Central, 14(1), pp. 1-17.

Tudor-Locke, C., Johnson, W. D. and Katzmarzyk, P. T. (2009) 'Accelerometerdetermined steps per day inus adults', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 41(7), pp. 1384–1391.

Tudor-Locke, C., Washington, T. L. and Hart, T. L. (2009) 'Expected values for steps/day in special populations', *Preventive Medicine*, 49(1), pp. 3-11.

Types of MS | *National Multiple Sclerosis Society*, Available at: https://www.nationalmssociety.org/What-is-MS/Types-of-MS (Accessed: 1 February 2021).

Vandelanotte, C. *et al.* (2018) 'The Effectiveness of a Web-Based Computer-Tailored Physical Activity Intervention Using Fitbit Activity Trackers: Randomized Trial', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(12), p. e11321.

Vidal-Jordana, A. and Montalban, X. (2017) 'Multiple Sclerosis: Epidemiologic, Clinical, and Therapeutic Aspects', *Neuroimaging Clinics of North America*, 27(2), pp. 195-204.

Villablanca, P. A. et al. (2015) 'Nonexercise Activity Thermogenesis in Obesity Management', *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 90(4), pp. 509–519.

Wang, J. B. *et al.* (2015) 'Wearable Sensor/Device (Fitbit One) and SMS Text-Messaging Prompts to Increase Physical Activity in Overweight and Obese Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial', *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 21(10), pp. 782–792. Warburton, D. E. R. and Bredin, S. S. D. (2017) 'Health benefits of physical activity', *Current Opinion in Cardiology*, 32(5), pp. 541–556.

Weikert, M. *et al.* (2011) 'Most Common Types of Physical Activity Self-Selected by People with Multiple Sclerosis', *International Journal of MS Care*, 13(1), pp. 16–20.

Weinshenker, B. G. *et al.* (1989) 'The natural history of multiple sclerosis: a geographically based study: I. Clinical course and disability', *Brain*, 112(1), pp. 133-146.

Westerlind, H. *et al.* (2014) 'Modest familial risks for multiple sclerosis: A registry-based study of the population of Sweden', *Brain*, 137(3), pp. 770–778.

Wilmot, E. G. *et al.* (2012) 'Sedentary time in adults and the association with diabetes, cardiovascular disease and death: systematic review and meta-analysis', *Diabetologia*, 55(11), pp. 2895–905.

Winkler, E. A. *et al.* (2016) 'Identifying adults' valid waking wear time by automated estimation in activPAL data collected with a 24 h wear protocol', *Physiological Measurement*, 37(10), p. 1653.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Northern Alberta Clinical Trial Research Centre



Suite 507, 8215 112 Street NW Edmonton, AB T6G 2C8 EM: NACTRC@NACTRC.CA www.nactrc.ca

EDMONTON ZONE

ADMINISTRATIVE APPROVAL FOR CLINICAL RESEARCH All clinical research being conducted within the Edmonton Zone requires operational approval to access AHS areas and ethics approval by a recognized Alberta Research Ethics Board. Other related documents may be required depending on the scope of the study. Research in the Edmonton Zone cannot begin until Administrative Approval has been issued.

Protocol Title: Reducing sedentary behaviour: A novel opportunity for managing comorbidity in MS? Phase II

Principal Investigator: Patricia Manns Rehabilitation Medicine		unding Agency: unding Type: verhead Rate:	Alberta Innovates - Health Solutions (AIHS) Investigator-Initiated/Grant 0%		
Related Documents:	ID#	Submitted	Status	Effective	
Research Ethics:	Pro00067657		Approved	Apr 06, 2017	
AHS HIA Research Agreement:	RA83775	May 15, 2017	Not Required		

AHS Operational Approval: The following AHS areas have agreed to support your research. To gain access, you must have Edmonton Zone Administrative Approval.

35876: Kaye Edmonton Clinic - Multiple Sclerosis Clinic

Edmonton Zone Administrative Approval for Project (PRJ) #34545 May 15, 2017 Approved: Approved By: Ron Welch Director of Operations, NACTRC

Appendix B: Application for Operational Approval



APPLICATION FOR OPERATIONAL APPROVAL to Conduct Research at Alberta Health Services KAYE EDMONTON CLINIC MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS CLINIC



RESEARCH TITLE:	Expected Start Date:	2017-05-01
Reducing sedentary behaviour: A novel opportunity for managing comorbidity in MS?	Expected End Date:	2018-12-31
	Expected Number of Research Subjects:	45
	Research Category:	Interventional
	Research Type:	Procedure
	REB / REB #:	HREB / Pro00067657

PI INFORMATION:		STUDY	Study Coordinator	
Name:	Trish Manns	COORDINATOR:		
Zone:	Edmonton	Name:	Saeideh Aminian	
E	Babababa Madalaa	Zone:	Edmonton	
Faculty:	Renabilitation Medicine	Phone:	587-936-1180	
Phone:	780-492-7274	Empile	sacideb@ualherta.ca	
Email: trish.manns@ualberta.ca		Email.	saeiden@uaiberta.ca	

AREA IMPACT:

1) Will AHS staff from this area be expected to participate and/or carry out any duties related to this study??

- YES 2-3 Neurologists After the study is briefly introduced to potential participants by the neurologists, those who express interest will be asked to provide consent to be contacted by the research team (It will be one-time; 5 minutes for each potential participant).
- 2) Will AHS staff from this area require any training or education ??

NO

3) Are you expecting this AHS area to provide you with supplies and/or equipment? ?

NO

4) Funding Type: Investigator-Initiated Grant

NOTE: If the area being impacted determines that there are costs associated with your research, they will contact you prior to issuing Operational Approval.

QUESTIONS SPECIFIC TO THE AREA:

SUBMITTED BY / ASSESSORS / APPROVERS:

Requested By:	Saeideh Aminian	Date Requested:	2017-04-21
Assessed By:	Susan Larson	Date Assessed:	2017-05-01
Assessed By:	Elizabeth Seib	Date Assessed:	2017-05-04

Page 1 of 1

O/A #35876

Status: Approved

Appendix C: Approval From

4/26/2017

https://remo.ualberta.ca/REMO/Doc/D/EPJ9VL3RLSOKJE08EC3LVE7616/fromString.html#

Approval Form

Date:	April 6, 2017					
Study ID:	Pro00067657					
Principal Investigator:	Patricia Manns					
Study Title:	Reducing sedenta	ary behavi	iour: A novel opportunity for managing	comorbidity in M	MS?	
Approval Expiry Date:	Thursday, April 5,	2018				
Approved Consent Form:	Approval Date 4/6/2017 4/6/2017 4/6/2017		Approved Document Phase II-Information Letter Updated Phase III-Information Letter Updated Phases II & III-Consent Form Update	d		
Sponsor/Funding Agency:	Alberta Innovates	Health S	olutions	AIHS	C	anada
RSO Managed	Project ID	Project 1	Title		Speed Code	Other Information
Funding:	View RES0027829	9 Reducin managin	g sedentary behaviour: A novel opportu g comorbidity in MS?	unity for		

Thank you for submitting the above study to the Health Research Ethics Board - Health Panel . Your application, including the following, has been reviewed and approved on behalf of the committee;

- Consent to Contact Information (3/10/2017)
- Phases II & II Participant Data Sheet (3/10/2017)
- Phase III Recruitment Poster (3/10/2017)
- Phase II Quick Reference Guide Study Information and Inclusion Criteria (3/10/2017)
- Phase III Quick Reference Guide Study Information and Inclusion Criteria (3/10/2017)
- Phase III Recruitment Poster Updated (4/4/20147)
- Post-Intervention Interview Indicative Questions (3/10/2017)
- Fatigue Severity Scale Guide & Scoring (3/10/2017)
 Functional Capacity (6 Min Walk) Score Sheets (3/10/2017)
- Gait Speed (10m Walk) Score Sheets (3/10/2017)
- Godin Leisure-Time Questionnaire (3/10/2017)
- Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (3/10/2017)
- Kurtzke EDSS & FSS (3/10/2017)
- Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index & Scoring (3/10/2017)
- Modified Fatigue Impact Scale (3/10/2017)
- PDDS Performance Scales (3/10/2017)
- Quality of Life (SF-36) Questionnaire (3/10/2017)
- Short Physical Performance Battery Guide & Scoring (3/10/2017)
- Symbol Digit Modality Test (3/10/2017)
- Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Questionnaire (3/10/2017)
- Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire Guide & Scoring (3/10/2017)
- Phase II Post Intervention Interview Indicative Questions (4/4/2017)

https://remo.uaiberta.ca/REMO/Doc/0/EPJ9VL3RLSOKJE08EC3LVE7616/fromString.html#

1/2

https://remo.ualberta.ca/REMO/Doc/D/EPJ9VL3RLSOKJE08EC3LVE7616/fromString.html#

4/26/2017

- Phases II & III Ethics Research Proposal (3/10/2017)
- ActivPAL Instruction and Compliance Log (3/10/2017)
- Sit Less with MS Program Manual Mar 9 (3/10/2017)
- Stage I Newsletter 1 (3/10/2017)
- Stage II Newsletter 1 (3/10/2017)
- Skype Chat 1 Script (3/10/2017)
- Skype Chat 2 Script (3/10/2017)

The Health Research Ethics Board assessed all matters required by section 50(1)(a) of the Health Information Act. Subject consent for access to identifiable health information is required for the research described in the ethics application, and appropriate procedures for such consent have been approved by the HREB Health Panel. In order to comply with the Health Information Act, a copy of the approval form is being sent to the Office of the Information and Privacy Commissioner.

A renewal report must be submitted next year prior to the expiry of this approval if your study still requires ethics approval. If you do not renew on or before the renewal expiry date (Thursday, April 5, 2018), you will have to re-submit an ethics application.

Approval by the Health Research Ethics Board does not encompass authorization to access the patients, staff or resources of Alberta Health Services or other local health care institutions for the purposes of the research. Enquiries regarding Alberta Health approval should be directed to (780) 407-6041. Enquiries regarding Covenant Health approvals should be directed to (780) 735-2274.

Sincerely,

Anthony S. Joyce, PhD. Chair, Health Research Ethics Board - Health Panel

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system).

Appendix D: Notification of Approval – Amendment

6/15/2017

https://remo.ualberta.ca/REMO/Doc/0/4FVB54VRGO1454H5TGDQ08OV74/fromString.html#

Notification of Approval - Amendment

Date:	June 14, 2017				
Amendment ID:	Pro00067657_AM	E2			
Principal Investigator:	Patricia Manns				
Study ID:	MS1_Pro00067657	7			
Study Title:	Reducing sedentar	y behaviour: A novel opportunity for	managing comorbidity in N	IS?	
Sponsor/Funding Agency:	Alberta Innovates Health Solutions AIHS		AIHS	Canada	
	Project ID	Project Title		Speed Code	Other Information
RSO-Managed Funding:	View RES0027829	Reducing sedentary behaviour: A n managing comorbidity in MS?	ovel opportunity for		
Approved Consent Form:	Approval Date 6/7/2017	Approved Document Phases III-Consent Form	n Updated		

Approval Expiry Date: Thursday, April 5, 2018

Thank you for submitting an amendment request to the Health Research Ethics Board - Health Panel . The following has been reviewed and approved on behalf of the committee:

- Additional baseline testing of the validity of the ActivePAL3 and Fitbit activity tracker against video observation.
- Validity Study Protocol (5/29/2017)

Note: Approval for an amendment does not change the original approval date.

Sincerely,

Anthony S. Joyce, PhD. Chair, Health Research Ethics Board - Health Panel

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system).

https://remo.ualberta.ca/REMO/Doc/0/4FVB54VRGO1454H5TG0Q08OV74/fromString.html#

Appendix E: Sit Less with MS Poster

DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL THERAPY FACULTY OF REHABILITATION MEDICINE

> 2-50 Corbett Hall Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T8G 2G4 Tel: 780.492.5983 Fax: 780.492.4429 pt@rehabmed.ualberta.ca

Sit Less with MS: We want to test a program to help you manage the symptoms of MS



- · Who: People who have MS for one year or more.
- Where: University of Alberta campus Corbett Hall.
- · When: By appointment we can accommodate most schedules including weekends.
- Cost: There is NO COST. We'll give you a gift as a sign of our appreciation at the end of the project.

If you are interested or would like more information about this project, titled 'Reducing sedentary behaviour: A novel opportunity for managing comorbidity in MS?' please contact:

Saeideh Aminian at (780) 492-8968 or by email: <u>saeideh@ualberta.ca</u> Or Trish Manns @ trish.manns@ualberta.ca

Follow us on Twitter @SitLesswithMS Find us on Facebook SitLesswithMS

Appendix F: Information Letter (I)

Title: Reducing sedentary behaviour: A novel opportunity for managing comorbidity in MS?

Research Investigator:

Trish Manns ADDRESS 3-48 Corbett Hall Department of Physical Therapy University of Alberta Edmonton, AB, T6G 2G4 EMAIL trish.manns@ualberta PHONE NUMBER 780-492-7274

Co-Investigator

Robert Motl 1705 University Blvd. SHPB 336 Department of Physical Therapy University of Alabama at Birmingham Urbana Alabama 35233-1212 EMAIL robmotl@uab.edu PHONE NUMBER 205-934-7787

Background

We invite you to participate in a research project. We are developing and testing a program for adults with multiple sclerosis (MS). The program is designed to help you to interrupt and reduce your sitting time and replace it with light activities. Increasing activity may help you to manage your MS symptoms such as fatigue or pain.

<u>Purpose</u>

The purpose of this project is to determine the feasibility of a sedentary behaviour program for improving sedentary behaviour outcomes and co-morbidities such as walking disability and fatigue.

Program Procedures

If you decide to participate, we will ask you to come to the University of Alberta campus (Corbett Hall, 8205 114 Street) four times. If you come with your car we will provide you a parking pass. Your involvement in this project will be 24 weeks in total. The diagram below provides information about what we'll be doing.


The actual intervention duration will be 16 weeks which is divided into two stages: Stage I (Sit Less), and Stage II (Move more). The first time we'll see you is called baseline measurement (called Week 0 on the diagram). Before we start, you will be asked to sign a consent form. After that, we will measure your weight and height and ask you to answer a few questions about yourself (e.g., age), your MS (e.g., how long since you were diagnosed), and your medications. You will then complete several questionnaires including ones about fatigue, pain and reasoning, sleep, and physical activity. There are also some functional walking tests. These measurements will take about two hours. We repeat all these measurements two more times; at final (Week 16), and follow-up (Week 24).

You will also wear the small device below (ActivPAL monitor) at four measurement points: baseline (Week 0), interim (Week 8), final (Week 16), and follow-up (Week 24). At each measurement point, it should be worn at all times for **7 days.** The ActivPAL (see picture below) will be worn on your right thigh with non-allergenic tape and it measures your sitting, standing and walking time, and step counts. At the end of the baseline measurement period, we will attach the ActivPAL on your thigh and will collect it from you after 7 days at either your home or Corbett Hall. After that, a Fitbit (see picture below) will be worn on your waist, and we will teach you how to use it. This is the device you'll be using to track your activity during 16 weeks. We will ask you to complete a log book to record your bed-time and sleep-time and any times when you didn't wear the Fitbit.





ActivPAL3[™] monitor

Fitbit

In addition, every week from Week 2 to Week 16, we will send you a 2-page newsletter to read and then we will discuss it with you on Skype at the end of each week. At the end of the program, we will conduct an informal interview with you to get your feedback about the whole program. We may audio record the interview, and transcribe it word for word.

<u>Benefits</u>

• The information we collect from this research will be used to refine the internet-based program to reduce sedentary behaviour. By participating, you will help to ensure that the program is fully applicable to you and others with MS. There are NO COSTS to participation. At the end of the program, you will be asked to keep the Fitbit as our appreciation.

<u>Risk</u>

• There is minimal risk associated with participating. If you feel uncomfortable with any stage of the program, you can choose not to participate or answer the question and ask the assessor to move onto the next stage. During all assessments, you can take a rest at any time you wish.

Voluntary Participation

- You are under no obligation to participate in this program. The participation is completely voluntary.
- You can opt out of the program without penalty. Even if you agree to be in the program, you can change your mind and withdraw at any time. In the event of opting out in the middle of the interview, we will erase your interview.

Confidentiality & Anonymity

- Information we collect from you will be anonymous. Participants will not be identified in the dissemination of the research.
- The data (including audio files and transcripts) will be kept confidential. Only the primary researchers (Manns, Motl) and selected staff or graduate students they supervise will have access to the data.

- Data will be kept in a secure place for a minimum of 5 years following completion of the research project. Electronic data is password protected.
- If you would like to receive a copy of the final report from this research project, please make us aware of that by leaving your email address.

Further Information

• If you have any further questions regarding this project, please do not hesitate to contact Trish

Manns (<u>trish.manns@ualberta.ca</u>) or Saeideh Aminian at 780-492-8968, <u>saeideh@ualberta.ca</u>

• The plan for this project has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615.

Saeideh Aminian, PhD Post-Doctoral Fellow Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine University of Alberta Phone: 780-492-8968 Email: saeideh@ualberta.ca

Appendix G: Information Letter (II)

Title: Reducing sedentary behaviour: A novel opportunity for managing comorbidity in MS?

Research Investigator:

Trish Manns ADDRESS 3-48 Corbett Hall Department of Physical Therapy University of Alberta Edmonton, AB, T6G 2G4 EMAIL trish.manns@ualberta PHONE NUMBER 780-492-7274

Co-Investigator

Robert Motl 1705 University Blvd. SHPB 336 Department of Physical Therapy University of Alabama at Birmingham Urbana Alabama 35233-1212 EMAIL robmotl@uab.edu PHONE NUMBER 205-934-7787

Background

We invite you to participate in a research project. We are developing and testing a program for adults with multiple sclerosis (MS). The program is designed to help you to interrupt and reduce your sitting time and replace it with light activities. Increasing activity may help you to manage your MS symptoms such as fatigue or pain.

<u>Purpose</u>

The purpose of this project is to determine the feasibility of a sedentary behaviour program for improving sedentary behaviour outcomes and co-morbidities such as walking disability and fatigue.

Program Procedures

If you decide to participate, we will ask you to come to the University of Alberta campus (Corbett Hall, 8205 114 Street) four times. If you come with your car we will provide you a parking pass. Your involvement in this project will be 24 weeks in total. The diagram below provides information about what we'll be doing.



The actual intervention duration will be 16 weeks which is divided into two stages: Stage I (Sit Less), and Stage II (Move more). Before you enter the lab to perform the tests, one video camera will be set with an elevated view of the lab with a wide shot of the room to capture your sitting and standing activities. Another camera will be set in a hallway to record the numbers of your postural transitions and steps. The first time we'll see you is called baseline measurement (called Week 0 on the diagram). Before we start, you will be asked to sign a consent form. After that, we will measure your weight and height and ask you to answer a few questions about yourself (e.g., age), your MS (e.g., how long since you were diagnosed), and your medications. You will then complete several questionnaires including ones about fatigue, pain and reasoning, sleep, and physical activity. There are also some functional walking tests. These measurements will take about two hours. We repeat all these measurements two more times; at final (Week 16), and follow-up (Week 24).

You will also wear the small device below (ActivPAL monitor) at four measurement points: baseline (Week 0), interim (Week 8), final (Week 16), and follow-up (Week 24). At each measurement point, it should be worn at all times for **7 days.** The ActivPAL (see picture below) will be worn on your right thigh with non-allergenic tape and it measures your sitting, standing and walking time, and step counts. At the end of the baseline measurement period, we will attach the ActivPAL on your thigh and will collect it from you after 7 days at either your home or Corbett Hall. After that, a Fitbit (see picture below) will be worn on your waist, and we will teach you how to use it. This is the device you'll be using to track your activity during 16 weeks. We will ask you to complete a log book to record your bed-time and sleep-time and any times when you didn't wear the Fitbit.



ActivPAL3[™] monitor



Fitbit

In addition, every week from Week 2 to Week 16, we will send you a 2-page newsletter to read and then we will discuss it with you on Skype at the end of each week. At the end of the program, we will conduct an informal interview with you to get your feedback about the whole program. We may audio record the interview, and transcribe it word for word.

<u>Benefits</u>

• The information we collect from this research will be used to refine the internet-based program to reduce sedentary behaviour. By participating, you will help to ensure that the

program is fully applicable to you and others with MS. There are NO COSTS to participation. At the end of the program, you will be asked to keep the Fitbit as our appreciation.

<u>Risk</u>

• There is minimal risk associated with participating. If you feel uncomfortable with any stage of the program, you can choose not to participate or answer the question and ask the assessor to move onto the next stage. During all assessments, you can take a rest at any time you wish.

Voluntary Participation

- You are under no obligation to participate in this program. The participation is completely voluntary.
- You can opt out of the program without penalty. Even if you agree to be in the program, you can change your mind and withdraw at any time. In the event of opting out in the middle of the interview, we will erase your interview.

Confidentiality & Anonymity

- Information we collect from you will be anonymous. Participants will not be identified in the dissemination of the research.
- The data (including audio and video files and transcripts) will be kept confidential. Only the primary researchers (Manns, Motl) and selected staff or graduate students they supervise will have access to the data.
- Data will be kept in a secure place for a minimum of 5 years following completion of the research project. Electronic data is password protected.
- If you would like to receive a copy of the final report from this research project, please make us aware of that by leaving your email address.

Further Information

- If you have any further questions regarding this project, please do not hesitate to contact Trish Manns (<u>trish.manns@ualberta.ca</u>) or Golnoush Mehrabani at (<u>golnoush@ualberta.ca</u>).
- The plan for this project has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615.

Golnoush Mehrabani, MD PhD student Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine University of Alberta Phone: 780-492-8968 Email: golnoush@ualberta.ca

Appendix H: Consent Form

Department of Physical Therapy 2-50 Corbett Hall

Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2G4

Tel: 780.492.5983 Fax: 780.492.4429

Participant ID:

CONSENT

Title: Reducing sedentary behaviour: A novel opportunity for managing comorbidity in MS?

Principal Investigator(s): Dr. Patricia Manns	Phone Number(s): 780.492.7274
Co-Principal Investigator: Dr. Robert Motl	Phone Number(s): 205.934.7787

Do you understand that you have been asked to be in a research study?		Yes □	
Have you read and received a copy of the attached Information Sheet?			
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in taking part in this research stu	udy?		
Do you understand the post-intervention interview will be audio recorded?			
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?			
Do you understand that you are free to leave the study at any time, without having to give a reason and without any penalty?			
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you?			
Do you understand who will have access to your study records?			
Who explained this study to you?			
I agree to take part in this study:			
Signature of Research Participant			
(Printed Name)		_	
Date:			
I believe that the person signing this form understands what is involved in the study participate.	y and voluntari	y agree	es to
Signature of Investigator or Designee D	Date	_	
THE INFORMATION SHEET MUST BE ATTACHED TO THIS CONSENT FOR THE RESEARCH PARTICIPANT	MANDA COP	Y GIVE	IN TO
Saeideh Aminian, PhD			
Post-Doctoral Fellow			
Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine			
University of Alberta			
Phone: 780-492-8968			

Email: saeideh@ualberta.ca

Appendix I: Consent to Release Contact Information



Consent to Release Contact Information

I,, give my
permission to, to give my name and
contact information to Dr. Trish Manns. The information (name, contact information) provided
to Dr. Manns (or her Post-doc) indicates my willingness to be contacted to discuss participation
in a research study (Titled: Reducing sedentary behaviour: A novel opportunity for managing
comorbidity in MS?). I know that signing this form does not mean that I consent to participate
in the study, only that I consent to be contacted.
This consent is effective today
I know that I can revoke my consent at any time.
Signed
Date
Contact information of person consenting to be contacted:
Name: Phone: Email (if you prefer):

Department of Physical Therapy

3-48 Corbett Hall • University of Alberta • Edmonton • Canada • T6G 2G4 Telephone: (780) 492-7274 • Fax: (780) 492-4429

Appendix J: Consent Form

Department of Physical Therapy 2-50 Corbett Hall Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2G4

Tel: 780.492.5983 Fax: 780.492.4429

Participant ID:

CONSENT

Title: Reducing sedentary behaviour: A novel opportunity for managing comorbidity in MS?

Principal Investigator(s): Dr. Patricia Manns Co-Principal Investigator: Dr. Robert Motl	Phone Number(s): Phone Number(s):	780.492 205.934	2.7274 4.7787
Do you understand that you have been asked to be in a research study?		Yes D	<u>No</u> □
Have you read and received a copy of the attached Information Sheet?			
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in taking part in this re	esearch study?		
Do you understand all the activities that you are performing in the lab wil	be video recorded?		
Do you understand the video recordings will be used for academic purpo will not be published in any form outside of this project without your writte	ses only and en permission?		
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?			
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you?			
Do you understand who will have access to your study records?			
Who explained this study to you?			
I agree to take part in this study:			
Signature of Research Participant			
(Printed Name)			
Date:			
I believe that the person signing this form understands what is involved i participate.	n the study and volunta	rily agree	es to
Signature of Investigator or Designee	Date		
THE INFORMATION SHEET MUST BE ATTACHED TO THIS CONSI THE RESEARCH PARTICIPANT	ENT FORM AND A CO	PY GIVE	N TO

Golnoush Mehrabani, MD PhD student Phone: 780-492-8968 Email: golnoush@ualberta.ca



Appendix K: "Sit Less with MS" Manual

Sit	t Lo	ess
WĪ	th	20
	\mathbb{S}	14

Table of Contents	Page
Overview of Sit Less with MS Program	3-5
Sit Less with MS Team	6
Sit Less with MS Program	7-8
Sit-Less Programs	9
Move-More Programs	10
Safety Information	11
Fitbit	12
How to use a Fitbit!	13-15
Newsletters	16
What participants are saying?	17
Events and Fitbit wear log	18-23

Welcome to the Sit Less **W**rogram!

On behalf of everyone at **Hallaboratory**, Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, at the University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada, we would like to welcome you to the Sit Less with MS Program!

What is the Sit Less with MS

The **Sit Less with MS** program is designed to help you reduce prolonged sitting and move more frequently throughout the day.

By participating in this program, you will improve your overall activity level and reduce prolonged sitting.

People with MS are in danger of sitting disease! Indeed, sitting is the new smoking and is associated with conditions like obesity, heart disease, diabetes, early death, depression, anxiety, and even sleep problems (see the next page for an illustration of the danger of prolonged sitting). These conditions make MS symptoms worse!

This program is designed as a new approach for **optimizing life** with MS. We will help you to sit less, move more, and live the best life!

Sit Less with MS is not another exercise program.

Sit Less with MS will give you the skills and resources to sit

less and move more with a focus on creating a long-term habit.





What will I get from in the Sit Less with MS program?

The Sit Less with MS program will provide you with:

- A manual to give you a road-map of how to successfully interrupt prolonged sitting and move more.
- Newsletters to guide you along the road to success, featuring inspiring topics such as setting goals and maintaining your ability to sit less and move more in the long-term (see page 16).
- ◆ Exclusive one-on-one mentorship with our Sit Less with MS team over Skype[™] or the phone. The days and times of these calls will be determined between you and your designated specialist.
- A Fitbit for self-monitoring your daily activity including number of steps per day.

How does Sit Less with MS

- All of the program materials you will receive have an important role in helping you to frequently interrupt your sitting, to reduce your overall sitting time, and to move more.
- Take the time to read and look through the program materials, and remember to wear your Fitbit whenever you are awake to monitor and improve your activity level.
- Throughout the program you will receive newsletters and calls from the Sit Less with MS team to teach you the skills you need to be successful. Remember to ask our team questions, we are here to help you to be successful!



The Sit Less with MS Team

(Top from left)

Trish Manns (Professor & Principal Investigator) - University of Alberta Saeideh Aminian (Post-Doctoral Fellow & Program Manager) - University of Alberta Robert W. Motl (Professor & Co-Principal Investigator) - University of Alabama

(Down from left)

Jacqueline Rowley (Interventionist & MSc Student) - University of Alberta

Victor Ezeugwu (PhD Student) - University of Alberta

Golnoush Mehrabani (PhD Student) - University of Alberta

Contact Information

6

Phone Number: 780-492-8968 Skype ID: SitLesswithMS Email: SitLesswithMS@ualberta.ca

Like us on Facebook: SitLesswithMS Follow Us on Twitter: @SitLesswithMS



What is the **B**vith MS Program?

The Sit Less with MS program consists of simple and easy steps that will help you sit less and move more. The Sit Less with MS program will last for a total of **24 weeks** and is divided into two stages and a follow-up period (illustrated on the next page):

Stage I: SIT-LESS (8 weeks). The goal during this stage is to interrupt prolonged periods of sitting throughout the day. For example, getting up twice every hour or half-hour.

Stage II: MOVE-MORE (8 weeks). The aim of stage II is to replace prolonged sitting or lying with taking steps. For example, walking 5000 steps per day, in addition to interrupting your sitting.

Follow-Up (8 weeks). The follow-up stage is 8 weeks long. During those 8 weeks, we will leave you on your own, but we will do one more assessment at the end.









Sit-Less Stage

We are individualizing the programs for the needs and capacity of each of you based on three levels (White, Yellow, Green).

Table of Sit-Less Programs With your help, we will choose a Sit-Less program (White, Yellow, or Green) that is the best for you!							
Frequency Week Programs							
		White	Yellow	Green			
		Numbe	er of interru	uptions			
es es	1,2	1	2	4			
30 aut	3,4	2	3	5			
ă Ē	5,6	3	4	6			



Move-More Stage								
We are individualizing the programs for the needs and capacity of each of you based on three levels (White, Yellow, Green).								
Table of Move-More Programs With your help, we will choose a Move-More program (White, Yellow, or Green) that is the best for you!								
Frequency	Week	Programs						
		White	Yellow	Green				
		Nu	mber of St	eps				
>	1,2	1000	3000	5000				
Dail	3,4	2000	4000	6000				
	5,6	3000	5000	7000				



Safety

This program is designed with your safety in mind.

- We recommend that you let your health professional know that you are taking part in the Sit Less with MS Program.
- If you have trouble balancing, please interrupt your sitting by staying close to a large piece of stable furniture, a wall or another safe surface.
- Perform your sit-less, and move-more programs in a safe place; avoid slippery floors, poor lighting, throw rugs, and other potential tripping hazards.
- Remember to use your usual walking aid while walking or moving more.
- If at any time you feel lightheaded, overheated, or you begin to feel sharp or intense pain, STOP. It is important that you do not over-exert yourself.
- Record in a diary or log book any trouble or pain you have above what you normally experience during your activities, and bring your concerns up with the program team. Do not stress if you have a bad day and cannot complete your program, it's OK.

Muscle soreness, and some fatigue are normal responses to moving more. However, if soreness or fatigue persist and interfere with your daily life, please let the **Sit Less with MS** team know.



Fitbit

What is Fitbit?

Fitbit is a wireless activity tracker that monitors daily activity levels, including number of interruptions in your sitting, number of steps, distance walked, and number of active minutes per day.

Why use a Fitbit activity tracker?

Research has shown that monitoring your activity level provides motivation to sit less and move more and helps you to keep track your progress over time.

What is the wireless sync dongle?

You do not need the wireless dongle for this study BUT it is in the Fitbit box. The wireless sync dongle is a small USB device used to wirelessly connect your Fitbit to a computer (Laptop or Desktop).

field

In the Sit Less with MS program, we ask you to regularly synchronize (sync) your Fitbit with your mobile phone. You don't need the dongle to do that but your mobile's Bluetooth must be on. <u>Please continue reading to learn how to use a</u> Fitbit.



How to use a Fitbit

What is inside the Fitbit box?

- Fitbit One wireless activity tracker
- Clip
- 3. Wireless sync dongle
- Sleep wristband
- 5. Charging cable



How to turn on your Fitbit?

You will turn on your Fitbit by holding down the button for 10-12 seconds.

How to charge your Fitbit?

You will charge your Fitbit by plugging the charging cable into a USB port on a computer (Laptop or Desktop). Make sure to align the gold contacts on your Fitbit with the gold contacts on the inside of the charging cable, then plug it into the computer's USB port. Charging typically takes about an hour or two. A fully charged Fitbit will last about 5 days before another charge is needed.

How to set up your Fitbit on your mobile phone so you can see your activity information?

We will help you to download the Fitbit application on your phone. The Fitbit application is compatible with mobile devices that support iOS and Android. We will do this with you when we meet you at Corbett Hall. We are able to remotely log into your web-based Fitbit account to see your activity data and chat with you about your progress.

How to synchronize your Fitbit information on your mobile phone?

To update your Fitbit activity information, we ask you regularly synchronize (sync) your Fitbit. To do this, turn on your mobile's Bluetooth, then open the Fitbit application, click "sync" on your Fitbit application. Your Fitbit must be within 20 feet of your mobile to be synchronized and let it to upload new information.

How to wear your Fitbit?

The Fitbit tracker should be attached on your waist-band clipped to your pocket or attached to a belt OR in your ankle-band (You will choose the placement of your Fitbit at the baseline assessment). The Fitbit is not waterproof and should be taken off showering. swimming or other water-based events. During the day, we would like you to wear the Fitbit at all times (except water activities).





<section-header>How to use a FitbitMat information can you get by just looking at your Fitbit?Steps takenFloors climbedRecent activity levels(represented by an expanding flower)Distance traveledCalories burnedWhat are we looking at SIT-LESS stage?

At this stage, monitoring is designed to increase your understanding of how much you are interrupting sitting. This information is found only when you log in to the Fitbit website (http://www.fitbit.com); using the <u>username</u> MSSitLessStudy @gmail.com, and the <u>password</u> rehab2017. You will not find it on the dashboard on your mobile. Once you log in, go to "log", and then go to "activities" for that day (see the charts below). We will do this with you at the first Skype chat (coaching session).

below).

The spikes (green, yellow, orange) below represent times when there is some movement. There are no spikes in the areas of the day with long periods of sitting (see green arrows below).

How to use a Fitbit



What are we looking at MOVE-MORE stage?

At this stage, the message is Move More – thus, the focus is on number of steps per day, as displayed on the Fitbit dashboard on your phone (see below). During the coaching sessions, we'll touch base about this.



Note: Please contact the Sit Less with MS team if you have any questions or trouble with the Fitbit. Phone Number: 780-492-8968

Newsletters

Every week, you will receive a newsletter to guide you along the road to success, featuring inspiring topics such as setting goals and maintaining your ability to sit less and move more in the long-term.

What kind of information will I find in the newsletters?





The road-map you see on the newsletters outlines the sequence of newsletters that you will receive. You will see the little Sit Less with MS mascot moves along the path to the destination where you are frequently interrupting your sitting () and moving more ().



What participants saying?

<u>Kristine</u>

"I've been living with MS for almost 23 years now. I had become less confident in my walking and balance, because I get so tired all the time. I was feeling more sluggish and depressed when I was not doing anything. If you are stuck sitting on a chair all day, your muscles and joints get stiffer and more sore and it's even harder to get up.

I found that if I change my position by making myself busy around the house and socialising with friends, I feel physically and mentally much better. It is really easy to get used to sitting and forget getting up but once you change it, you see the benefits.

Now, I know I have to get up more and walk more, even with my walker, to control those feelings."

17



Events & Fitbit why

	ID: MONTH							
	SUNDAY	MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	SATURDAY	
1.								
Please								
indicate								
Fitbit								
was N <u>ot</u> worn.								
2								
2. Please								
indicate								
for								
removal (e.g.,								
swimming, shower).								
3.								
Please record								
any falls.								
Sit Le								
with	×							

l 🍋 🦛

	ID:	ID: MONTH							
	SUNDAY	MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	SATURDAY		
1.									
Please indicate times the									
Fitbit was N <u>ot</u> worn.									
2.									
Please indicate reason for									
removal (e.g., swimming, shower).									
3.									
Please record any falls.									
Sit Le	19 It Less								

	ID: MONTH								
	SUNDAY	MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	SATURDAY		
1.									
Please indicate times the									
Fitbit was N <u>ot</u> worn.									
2.									
Please indicate reason									
removal (e.g., swimming, shower).									
3. Please record any falls.									
Sit Le	20 It Less								

		ID: MONTH							
	SUNDAY	MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	SATURDAY		
1.									
Please									
times the									
Fitbit was N <u>ot</u> worn.									
2.									
Please indicate reason									
removal (e.g., swimming, shower).									
2									
Please									
any falls.									
	21								

	ID: MONTH						
	SUNDAY	MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	SATURDAY
1.							
Please							
indicate							
times the Fitbit							
was N <u>ot</u>							
worn.							
2.							
Please indicate							
reason for							
removal							
swimming,							
shower).							
3.							
Please							
any falls.							
				22			
sit Le	ss						

Events & Fitbit why

	ID: MONTH						TH
	SUNDAY	MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	SATURDAY
1.							
Please							
indicate							
times the Fitbit							
was N <u>ot</u> worn							
2.							
Please indicate							
reason for							
removal							
(e.g., swimming,							
snower).							
3.							
Please record							
any falls.							
				23			
it Less							

Appendix L: Fitbit One Manual

fitbit one

Wireless Activity + Sleep Tracker





Product Manual

Table of Contents

Getting Started	1
What you'll find in the box	1
What's in this document	1
Setting up your Fitbit One	3
Setting up your tracker on your mobile device	3
Setting up your tracker on your PC (Windows 10 only)	3
Setting up your tracker on your PC (Windows 8.1 and below)	4
Setting up your tracker on your Mac	4
Syncing your tracker data to your Fitbit account	5
Getting to know your Fitbit One	6
Placement	6
Changing the display for left-handed use	6
Battery life and charging	6
Determining your current battery level	7
Charging your tracker	7
Tracking with Fitbit One	8
Viewing all-day stats	8
Using the display	8
Tracking sleep	8
Tracking exercise	9
Using the fitbit.com Dashboard	10
Browser requirements	10
Adding and removing tiles	10
Managing your One from fitbit.com	11
Using silent alarms	12
Setting silent alarms	12

	Dismissing silent alarms	12
	Updating your Fitbit One	13
	Troubleshooting your Fitbit One	14
I	Return Policy and Warranty	15
I	Regulatory and Safety Notices	16
	USA: Federal Communications Commission (FCC) statement	16
	Canada: Industry Canada (IC) statement	17
	European Union (EU)	17
	China	18
	Wireless sync dongle	18
	One	18
	Israel	19
	Serbia	19
	South Korea	19
	Taiwan	20
	Other	20
	Safety statement	20
	Important safety instructions	20
	Built-in battery precautions	20
	Disposal and recycling information	21

Getting Started

Welcome to the Fitbit One™ Wireless Activity + Sleep Tracker.

What you'll find in the box

Your Fitbit One box includes:

- 1. Fitbit One Wireless Activity + Sleep Tracker
- 2. Clip
- 3. Wireless sync dongle
- 4. Sleep wristband
- 5. Charging cable



What's in this document

We get you started quickly by creating a Fitbit® account and making sure the tracker can synchronize the data it collects with your Fitbit dashboard. The dashboard is where you can analyze your data, see historical trends, set goals, log food and water, keep up with friends, and much more. As soon as you're done setting up your tracker, you're ready to start moving.
Next, we explain how to find and use the features that interest you and adjust your preferences. To find more information, tips, and troubleshooting, please browse our comprehensive articles at http://help.fitbit.com.

Setting up your Fitbit One

To make the most of your One, use the free Fitbit app available for iOS®, Android™, and Windows® 10 mobile devices. If you don't have a compatible mobile device, you can use a computer and fitbit.com instead.

Setting up your tracker on your mobile device

The Fitbit app is compatible with more than 200 mobile devices that support iOS, Android, and Windows 10 operating systems.

To get started:

- Make sure the Fitbit app is compatible with your mobile device by checking <u>http://www.fitbit.com/devices</u>.
- 2. Find the Fitbit app in one of these locations, depending on your device:
 - The Apple® App Store® for iOS devices such as an iPhone® or iPad®.
 - The Google Play[™] Store for Android devices such as the Samsung[®] Galaxy[®] S5 and Motorola Droid Turbo.
 - The Microsoft
 ® Windows Store for Windows 10 mobile such as the Lumia[™] phone or Surface[™] tablet.
- Install the app. Note that you'll need an account with the applicable store before you can download even a free app such as Fitbit.
- 4. When the app is installed, open it and tap Join Fitbit to get started. You'll be guided through the process of creating a Fitbit account and connecting (pairing) your One to your mobile device. Pairing makes sure the tracker and mobile device can communicate with one another (sync their data).

Note that the personal information you're asked during setup is used to calculate your basal metabolic rate (BMR), which helps determine your estimated calorie expenditure. This information is private unless you go into your Privacy settings and opt to share age, height, or weight with Fitbit friends.

After setup you're ready to get moving.

Setting up your tracker on your PC (Windows 10 only)

If you don't have a mobile device, you can set up and sync your tracker on your Windows 10 PC using the same Fitbit app available for Windows mobile devices.

To get the app, click the Start button and open the Windows Store (called Store). Search for "Fitbit app." Note that if you've never downloaded an app from the store to your computer, you'll be prompted to create an account.

Open the app and follow the instructions to create a Fitbit account and set up your One. You can set up and sync wirelessly if your computer has Bluetooth®, otherwise you'll need to use the wireless sync dongle that came in the box with your Fitbit One.

Setting up your tracker on your PC (Windows 8.1 and below)

If you don't have a compatible mobile device, you can set up your tracker with a computer and see your Fitbit stats on fitbit.com. To use this setup method you'll first install a free software application called Fitbit Connect that lets One sync its data with your fitbit.com dashboard.

To install Fitbit Connect and set up your tracker:

- Go to <u>http://www.fitbit.com/setup</u>.
- 2. Scroll down and click the option to download.
- 3. When prompted, save the file that appears.
- Double-click the file (FitbitConnect_Win.exe). The Fitbit Connect installer opens.
- Click Continue to move through the installer.
- 6. When prompted, choose Set up a New Fitbit Device.
- Follow the onscreen instructions to create a Fitbit account and connect your One. If your computer has Bluetooth, setup can take place wirelessly. If not you'll be prompted to plug in the wireless sync dongle that came in the box with your Fitbit One.

Note that the personal information you're asked during setup is used to calculate your basal metabolic rate (BMR), which helps determine your estimated calorie expenditure. This information is private unless you go into your Privacy settings and opt to share age, height, or weight with Fitbit friends.

Setting up your tracker on your Mac

If you don't have a compatible mobile device, you can set up your tracker with a computer and see your Fitbit stats on fitbit.com. To use this setup method you'll first install a free software application called Fitbit Connect that lets One sync its data with your fitbit.com dashboard.

To install Fitbit Connect and set up your tracker:

- Go to http://www.fitbit.com/setup.
- 2. Scroll down and click the option to download.
- 3. When prompted, save the file that appears.
- Double-click the file (Install Fitbit Connect.pkg). The Fitbit Connect installer opens.
- 5. Click Continue to move through the installer.
- 6. When prompted, choose Set up a New Fitbit Device.
- Follow the onscreen instructions to create a Fitbit account and connect your One.

Note that the personal information you're asked during setup is used to calculate your basal metabolic rate (BMR), which helps determine your estimated calorie expenditure. This information is private unless you go into your Privacy settings and opt to share age, height, or weight with Fitbit friends.

Syncing your tracker data to your Fitbitaccount

Once you've set up and started using One, you'll need to make sure it regularly transfers (syncs) its data to Fitbit so you can track your progress, see your exercise history, earn badges, analyze your sleep logs, and more on your Fitbit dashboard. A daily sync is recommended but not required.

The Fitbit apps use Bluetooth Low Energy (BLE) technology to sync with your Fitbit tracker. Each time you open the app it will sync if the tracker is nearby, and the app will also sync periodically throughout the day if you have the all-day sync setting enabled. If you're running the Fitbit app on a Windows 10 PC that doesn't have Bluetooth, you'll need to make sure the tracker is connected to the computer.

Fitbit Connect on a Mac® also uses Bluetooth for syncing (if available), otherwise you'll need to make sure your wireless sync dongle is plugged into the computer. Fitbit Connect on a PC requires that you plug in your wireless sync dongle. You can force Fitbit Connect to sync at any time or it will happen automatically every 15 minutes if:

- Your tracker is within 20 feet of your computer and has new data to upload (meaning that if you haven't moved, an automatic sync won't occur).
- · The computer is powered on, awake, and connected to the Internet.

Getting to know your Fitbit One

This section tells you how best to wear and recharge your tracker.

Placement

The One is most accurate when worn on or very close to your torso. A clip designed to keep the tracker secured to your clothing is included in your package.

A sleep wristband for your One is also included in your package.

To avoid losing your tracker, we recommend that you wear it in your pocket, clipped to your pocket, or clipped to your bra.



The One is not designed to be worn in direct contact with the skin. Always use the silicone holder when clipping it to a bra or waistband, with the display facing outward. Do not wear the One inside your bra.

Some users may experience skin irritation even when wearing the One as instructed on the bra or waistband. If this occurs we recommend clipping it on your pocket, belt, or other external piece of clothing.

The One is sweat-proof and rainproof. It is not waterproof and should not be taken swimming.

Changing the display for left-handed use

By default your tracker is oriented for right-handed individuals. If you're left handed, you can reorient the display to make it easier to read. To do so, log into your fitbit.com dashboard and click the gear icon in the upper right. Click Settings > Devices and then find and adjust the Left-handed button.

Battery life and charging

The One is powered by a rechargeable built-in battery. Your fully charged One has a battery life of up to two weeks.

Determining your current battery level

You can check your battery level in a couple places:

- While charging your One, press the button on your tracker to view the battery indicator on screen.
- On your fitbit.com dashboard.

Charging your tracker

To charge your One, align the gold contacts on your tracker with the gold contacts on the inside of the charging cable, then plug the cable into your computer's USB port. Charging typically takes about an hour.

Note: Every night at midnight, your tracker will reset itself. This means your goal progress and daily data will begin at zero again. This does not delete the data stored on your tracker. That data will be uploaded to your dashboard the next time you sync your tracker. The time this reset occurs is based on the time zone set on your fitbit.com profile.

Tracking with Fitbit One

Your One tracks a variety of stats automatically whenever you're wearing it. Your tracker's latest data is uploaded to your Fitbit dashboard whenever you sync.

Viewing all-day stats

Press the button on your One to see the time of day and cycle through these all-day stats:

Steps taken
Floors climbed
Recent activity levels (represented by an expanding flower)
Distance traveled
Calories burned
335 0.00
307 Ph 0
1363 60

Note that your One resets at midnight according to the time zone you've selected for your account. The reset ensures that One can track your daily totals correctly, and does not delete the previous day's data. All your data will appear on your dashboard when you sync your tracker.

Using the display

When you first set up your One and press the button to scroll through your stats, you see the stat category (e.g. STEPS) followed by the stat and its icon. After you've cycled through each screen 5 times and can recognize the stat icon, the stat category no longer appears so that you can scroll more quickly.

Any time your tracker is reset, it will enter "beginner mode" and show the stat category again for the first 5 cycles. This will happen if you shut down and then restart your tracker, upgrade your tracker, or charge your tracker after the battery drained completely.

Tracking sleep

You can use your One to track how long and how well you sleep. The One will track your movement throughout the night to provide you with information about the quality of your sleep.

 Place your tracker into the slot in your wristband and wrap it around your non-dominant wrist.

- Once you are in bed and ready to fall asleep, press and hold the tracker's button for 2+ seconds. You will see a blinking stopwatch and clock. The other icons will also blink, indicating that your tracker is in sleep mode.
- When you wake up, press and hold the button for 2+ seconds to stop the sleep recording. The icons will stop blinking to indicate you've exited sleep mode. Once you exit sleep mode, your tracker will resume, displaying your daily totals.

Once the data syncs, graphs on your dashboard will reveal how long you slept and the number of times you woke up. You can also use your dashboard to set a goal for hours slept.

Note: If you forgot to press the button on your tracker, but were wearing it while you slept, you can enter your sleep times manually in your online sleep log.

Tracking exercise

Though your One automatically tracks several stats throughout the day, you can also track stats for a specific exercise or workout as well. Similar to the trip mode on a car's odometer, activity mode brings closer scrutiny to a specific time period.

For example, if you put your One in activity mode and go for a run, you can view stats measured for that run, such as calories burned or steps taken. When you end activity mode at the end of the run and sync your data, your can log in to your fitbit.com dashboard and see a summary of the activity's stats such as pace, duration, and more.

To start a recording, hold your tracker's button down for 2-3 seconds until a flashing stopwatch and running numbers appear as they do in sleep mode.

During the activity the display icons will blink. When you press the tracker's button to cycle between screens, the stats represent the activity that has occurred since the recording started.

To exit activity mode, hold your tracker's button down for 2-3 seconds until the icons and numbers on the display stop flashing.

Using the fitbit.com Dashboard

Fitbit provides a free online tool — the fitbit.com dashboard — to help you track, manage, and evaluate your fitness progress. Use the dashboard to see your daily totals, analyze details about specific activities, view historical graphs, and log food.

Browser requirements

Brow	/ser	Mac Version	Windows Version
0	Apple Safari	5.0.5 and higher	Not Supported
0	Google Chrome	12 and higher	12 and higher
8	Microsoft Internet Explorer	Not Supported	8 and higher
Ð	Mozilla Firefox	3.6.18 and higher	3.6.18 and higher

Adding and removing tiles

Information on the dashboard appears in tiles. Add or remove tiles to customize the dashboard. If you remove a tile, you can add it back at any time.

To add a tile:

- 1. Click the grid icon on the upper left side of the dashboard.
- 2. Check the tile(s) you want to add, then click Done.

To delete a tile:

- 1. Hover over a tile until you see the gear icon at the lower left.
- Click the gear icon, then click Remove Tile.
 When prompted, confirm that you want to remove the tile.

Managing your One from fitbit.com

To manage various settings for your account, click the gear icon in the top right corner of your fitbit.com dashboard and select Settings. From here you can edit your personal information, your notification preferences, your privacy settings, and much more.

The Devices page allows you to monitor or edit:

- · The date and time of your last sync.
- Your tracker's battery level.
- · The firmware version running on your tracker.
- Your time zone.
- Your sleep tracking sensitivity option.
- · Your handedness preference: left-handed or right-handed.
- Your tracker's greeting.

Using silent alarms

You can set up to eight gently vibrating silent alarms on your One. Silent alarms can be configured to recur every day, or on particular days of the week.

Note: Setting multiple alarms may drain the battery life of your One. Each alarm increases battery use by a small percentage.

Setting silent alarms

You can add, edit, and delete silent alarms from the Fitbit app or in the fitbit.com dashboard.

To set silent alarms using your fitbit.com dashboard:

- 1. Log in to your fitbit.com dashboard.
- 2. Click the gear icon in the top right corner of the screen.
- 3. Click Settings and find Silent Alarms.
- 4. Click the Add Alarm button.
- 5. Enter the time you want the alarm to alert you.
- 6. Choose how often you want the alarm to occur:
 - a. Once Your alarm will alert you at the specified time and not repeat.
 - b. Repeats Choose which days you want this alarm to repeat every week.
- Click Save.
- 8. Sync your Fitbit One to update your tracker with the new alarms:
 - Click the Fitbit Connect icon located near the date and time on your computer.
 - b. With your Fitbit One nearby, click Sync Now.
- 1. Tap Done.
- 2. Tap the Sync alarms with your tracker button.

Your Android device will now sync the alarm to your One.

Dismissing silent alarms

When your silent alarm goes off, your One will vibrate. This notification will repeat several times until dismissed. You can dismiss the alarm by pressing the button.

If you miss your alarm, your One will alert you again after a few minutes.

Updating your Fitbit One

Free feature enhancements and product improvements are occasionally made available through firmware updates. We recommend keeping your One up to date.

You'll be notified in the Fitbit app when an update is available. After you start the update, you'll see a progress bar on your tracker and in the Fitbit app until the process is complete, followed by a confirmation message.

Troubleshooting your Fitbit One

If your tracker is not working properly, review our troubleshooting information below. For other problems or more details, visit <u>http://help.fitbit.com</u>.

If your One is experiencing one of the following problems, it may be fixed by restarting your tracker:

- Not syncing
- Not tracking your steps
- Not responding to battery charge
- Not responding to button presses

Note: Restarting your tracker as described below reboots the device. Note that restarting your tracker does not delete any data.

To restart your tracker:

- 1. Plug your charging cable into your computer.
- Plug your One tracker into the charging cable, making sure that the gold contacts on your tracker align with the gold contacts in the inside of the charger.
- 3. Hold down your tracker's button for 10-12 seconds.
- 4. Remove your tracker from the charging cable and press its button until the screen turns on.

Your tracker should now work normally.

For additional troubleshooting or to contact Customer Support, see <u>http://help.fitbit.com</u>.

Return Policy and Warranty

Warranty information and the fitbit.com Store Return Policy can be found online at <u>http://www.fitbit.com/returns</u>.

Regulatory and Safety Notices

Model Name: FB103

USA: Federal Communications Commission (FCC) statement

This device complies with FCC part 15 FCC Rules.

Operation is subject to the following two conditions:

- 1. This device may not cause harmful interference and
- This device must accept any interference, including interference that may cause undesired operation of the device.

FCC Warning

Changes or modifications not expressly approved by the party responsible for compliance could void the user's authority to operate the equipment.

Note : This equipment has been tested and found to comply with the limits for a Class B digital device, pursuant to part 15 of the FCC Rules. These limits are designed to provide reasonable protection against harmful interference in a residential installation. This equipment generates, uses and can radiate radio frequency energy and, if not installed and used in accordance with the instructions, may cause harmful interference to radio communications. However, there is no guarantee that interference to radio or television reception, which can be determined by turning the equipment off and on, the user is encouraged to try to correct the interference by one or more of the following measures:

- Reorient or relocate the receiving antenna.
- · Increase the separation between the equipment and receiver.
- Connect the equipment into an outlet on a circuit different from that to which the receiver is connected.
- · Consult the dealer or an experienced radio/TV technician for help.

This device meets the FCC and IC requirements for RF exposure in public or uncontrolled environments.

Canada: Industry Canada (IC) statement

IC Notice to Users English/French in accordance with RSS GEN Issue 3:

This device complies with Industry Canada license exempt RSS standard(s). Operation is subject to the following two conditions:

- 1. this device may not cause interference, and
- this device must accept any interference, including interference that may cause undesired operation of the device.

Cet appareil est conforme avec Industrie Canada RSS standard exempts de licence (s). Son utilisation est soumise à Les deux conditions suivantes:

- 1. cet appareil ne peut pas provoquer d'interférences et
- 2. cet appareil doit accepter Toute interférence, y compris les interférences qui peuvent causer un mauvais fonctionnement du dispositive

This Class B digital apparatus complies with Canadian ICES-003.

Cet appareil numérique de la classe B est conforme à la norme NMB-003 du Canada.

FCC ID XRAFB103

IC ID 8542A-FB103

European Union (EU)

Declaration of Conformity with Regard to the EU Directive 1999/5/EC

Fitbit Inc. is authorized to apply the CE Mark on One, Model FB103, thereby declaring conformity to the essential requirements and other relevant provisions of Directive 1999/5/EC.

€

Compliant with the standard R&TTE 99/CE/05

Conforme à la norme R&TTE 99/CE/05

China



Wireless sync dongle

部件名称	8件名称 有毒和危险品						
Dongle Model FB1 50	俗 (Pb)	木银 (Hg)	午 (Cd)	六价铬 (Cr(VI))	多溴化苯 (PBB)	多溴化二苯醚 (PBDE)	
表带和表扣	0	0	0	0	0	0	
电子	×	0	0	0	0	0	
本表格依据 SJ/T 113	64 的规定	编制	2.14	4000		128	

One

部件名称	有毒和危险品							
One Model FB103	俗 (Pb)	木银 (Hg)	锅 (Cd)	六价铬 (Cr(VI))	多溴化苯 (PBB)	多溴化二苯醚 (PBDE)		
表带和表扣	0	0	0	0	0	0		
电子	X	0	0	0	0	0		
本表格依据 SJ/T 1136 0: 表示该项目中涉及(64 的规定的所有物制	编制 时,其包含	的有害物	质的含量低	∓ GB/T 26572	.标准的限制		
X:表示该项目中涉及的 准的限制要求。	的所有物料	8中至少7	有一种,其	包含的有害	物质的含量高	于 GB/T 26572. 4		

Israel

אישור התאמה 51-37309

אין לבצע כל שינוי טכני בחלק המודולארי של המוצר.

Serbia



H005 15

South Korea

"해당 우선설비는 전파혼신	가능성이 있으므로 인명만전과 관련된 서비스는 할 수 없습니다."	
사용 주파수 (Usedfrequency):	2402 MHz-2480 MHz	
채널수 (The number of channels): 40		
공중선전계강도 (Antenna power): 0.6	i dBi	
안테나타입 (Antenna type):	Vertical	
출력 (Output power):	1.45 mW/MHz E.I.R.P.	
안테나 종류 (Type of Antenna):	PCB	
KCC approval information		
2) Certificate number:	MSIP-CRM-XRA-FB103	
3) Applicant :	Fitbit, Inc.	
4) Manufacture:	Fitbit, Inc.	
5) Manufacture / Country of origin:	P.R.C.	

Taiwan



Other









Safety statement

This equipment has been tested to comply with safety certification in accordance with the specifications of EN Standard: EN60950-1:2006 + A12: 2011.

Important safety instructions

- Read these instructions.
- Keep these instructions.
- Heed all warnings
- Follow all instructions
- Do not attempt to open the tracker. Substances contained in this product and/or its battery may damage the environment and/or human health if handled and disposed of improperly.
- Do not tamper with your One.
- Do not use abrasive cleaners to clean your One.
- · Do not place your One in a Dishwasher, Washing Machine or Dryer.
- · Do not expose your One to extremely high or low temperatures.
- Do not use your One in a sauna or steam room.
- Do not leave your One in direct sunlight for an extended period of time.
- · Do not leave your One near open flames.
- · Do not dispose of your One in a fire. The battery could explode.
- Do not attempt to disassemble your One, it does not contain serviceable components.
- Never allow children to play with the One; the small components may be a choking hazard!

Built-in battery precautions

· Do not attempt to replace your One's battery. It is built-in and not changeable.

- Charge the battery in accordance with the instructions supplied with this guide.
- Use only the charger that shipped with your product to charge the battery.
- Charge your One using a certified computer, powered hub or power supply.
- Do not attempt to force open the built-inbattery
- Your product uses a California Energy Commission charger.

Disposal and recycling information



The symbol on the product or its packaging signifies that this product has to be disposed separately from ordinary household wastes at its end of life. Please kindly be aware that this is your responsibility to dispose electronic equipment at recycling centers so as to help conserve natural resources. Each country in the European Union should have its collection centers for electrical and electronic equipment recycling.

For information about your recycling drop off point, please contact your local related electrical and electronic equipment waste management authority or the retailer where you bought the product.

- Do not dispose of the One with household waste.
- Batteries are not to be disposed of in municipal waste stream and require separate collection.
- Disposal of the packaging and your One should be done in accordance with local regulations.

Please recycle!



Appendix M: How to Use Fitbit One



What is inside the Fitbit One package?

- 1. Fitbit One Wireless Activity Tracker
- 2. Clip
- 3. Wireless sync dongle
- 4. Sleep wristband
- 5. Charging cable



What is Fitbit?

Fitbit is a wireless activity tracker that monitors daily activity levels, including number of interruptions in your sitting, number of steps, distance walked, and number of active minutes per day.

How to turn on your Fitbit?

You will turn on your Fitbit by holding down the button for 10-12 seconds.

How to charge your Fitbit?

You will charge your Fitbit by plugging the charging cable into a USB port on a computer (Laptop or Desktop). Make sure to align the gold contacts on your Fitbit with the gold contacts on the inside of the charging cable, then plug it into the computer's USB port. Charging typically takes about an hour or two. A fully charged Fitbit will last about 5 days before another charge is needed.

How to set up your Fitbit on your mobile phone so you can see your activity information? We will help you to download the Fitbit application on your phone. The Fitbit application is compatible with mobile devices that support iOS and Android. We will do this with you when we meet you at Corbett Hall. We are able to remotely log into your web-based Fitbit account to see your activity data and chat with you about your progress.

How to synchronize your Fitbit information on your mobile phone?

To update your Fitbit activity information, we ask you regularly synchronize (sync) your Fitbit. To do this, turn on your mobile's Bluetooth, then open the Fitbit application, click "sync" on your Fitbit application. <u>Your Fitbit must be within 20 feet of your mobile to be synchronized and let it to upload new information.</u>

How to wear your Fitbit?

The Fitbit tracker should be attached on your hip (on your waist-band, clipped to your pocket or attached to a belt). The Fitbit is not waterproof and should be taken off showering, swimming or other water-based events. <u>During the day, we would like you to wear the Fitbit at all times (except water</u> activities).





What information can you get by just looking at your Fitbit?

- Steps taken
- 2. Floors climbed
- 3. Recent activity levels(represented by an expanding flower)
- Distance traveled
- Calories burned



What are we looking at SIT-LESS stage?

At this stage, monitoring is designed to increase your understanding of how much you are interrupting sitting. This information is found only when you log in to the Fitbit website (<u>www.fitbit.com</u>); using the username <u>MSSitLessStudy.....@gmail.com</u>, and the password <u>rehab2017</u>. You won't find it on the dashboard on your mobile. Once you log in, go to "log", and then go to "activities" for that day (see the graphs below). We will do this with you at the first Skype chat (coaching session).



The spikes (green, yellow, orange) below represent times when there is some movement. There are no spikes in the areas of the day with long periods of sitting (see green arrows below)





What are we looking at MOVE-MORE stage? At this stage, the message is Move More – thus, the focus is on number of steps per day, as displayed on the Fitbit dashboard on your phone (see below). During the coaching sessions, we'll touch base about this.



Appendix N: ActivPAL3TM Log

Phase II & III - ActivPAL Instruction and Compliance Log

Dear Participant,

Please read below instruction to learn more about the ActivPAL3[™] monitor:



- > The ActivPAL is a lightweight device that measures your sitting, standing and walking time, and step counts.
- The ActivPAL should be placed on the mid-line of your right thigh with 3M TegadermTM Film. Please ensure the orange side is on top and the man pictured is facing upward.
- The ActivPAL should be worn on your right thigh for seven continuous days. Please ensure that you wear the device all the time.
- If for any reason, you have to remove the ActivPAL from your thigh, please write it down in the log book attached to this instruction, and put the device back on as soon as you can.
- Please ensure that you write down your wake-up time and bed-time in the log book.

Please do not hesitate to call me on **587-936-1180** if you have any questions. **Saeideh Aminian**, Post-Doctoral Research fellow Phase II & III - ActivPAL Instruction and Compliance Log

Participant ID:

PARTICIPANT LOG

	Starting Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7	Day 8
	Date	Date	Date	Date	Date	Date	Date	Date
a. For each day, what time did you wake up?								
b. For each day, what time did you go to bed?								
c. For each day, what times were the monitor <u>Not</u> worn (e.g., 1:00pm-2:45pm)?	ActivPAL:	ActivPAL:	ActivPAL:	ActivPAL:	ActivPAL:	ActivPAL:	ActivPAL:	ActivPAL:
d. For each day, what was you were doing when you were <u>NOT</u> wearing the monitor? (e.g., swimming, showering)								

Please complete the log below for the next eight days starting from today. We would appreciate if you wear the monitor all the time.

Appendix O: Patient-Determined Disease Steps



PDDS: Patient-Determined Disease Steps

Participant ID: _____

Date: ____

This questionnaire is related to how well you walk. Please read the choices listed below and choose the one that best describes your own current situation. You might not find a description that reflects your condition exactly, but please mark the one category that describes your situation the closest.

D Normal: I may have some mild symptoms, mostly sensory due to MS but they do not limit my activity. If I do have an attack, I return to normal when the attack has passed.

I Mild Disability: I have some noticeable symptoms from my MS but they are minor and have only a small effect on my lifestyle.

2 Moderate Disability: I don't have any limitations in my walking ability. However, I do have significant problems due to MS that limit daily activities in other ways.

Gait Disability: MS does interfere with my activities, especially my walking. I can work a full day, but athletic or physically demanding activities are more difficult than they used to be. I usually don't need a cane or other assistance to walk, but I might need some assistance during an attack.

a 4 Early Cane: I use a cane or a single crutch or some other form of support (such as touching a wall or leaning on someone's arm) for walking all the time or part of the time, especially when walking outside. I think I can walk 25 feet in 20 seconds without a cane or crutch. I always need some assistance (cane or crutch) if I want to walk as far as 3 blocks.

5 Late Cane: To be able to walk 25 feet, I have to have a cane, crutch or someone to hold onto. I can get around the house or other buildings by holding onto furniture or touching the walls for support. I may use a scooter or wheelchair if I want to go greater distances.

G Bilateral Support: To be able to walk as far as 25 feet I must have 2 canes or crutches or a walker. I may use a scooter or wheelchair for longer distances.

PDDS Score: _____

Appendix P: Kurtzke Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS)



Kurtzke Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS)

Partic	ipant 1	D:
Date:		
	0.0	Normal neurological exam (all grade 0 in all Functional System (FS) scores)
	1.0	No disability, minimal signs in one FS (i.e. grade 1)
	1.5	No disability, minimal signs in more than one FS (> one FS grade 1)
	2.0	Minimal disability in one FS (one FS grade 2, others 0 or 1)
	2.5	Minimal disability in two FS (two FS grade 2, others 0 or 1)
	3.0 four FS	Moderate disability in one FS (one FS grade 3, others 0 or 1) or mild disability in three or S (3 or 4 FS grade 2, others 0 or 1) though fully ambulatory
	3.5 Fu grade	lly ambulatory but with moderate disability in one FS (one grade 3) and one or two FS 2; or two FS grade 3 (others 0 or 1) or five grade two (other 0 or 1).
	4.0 Fu relative grades or 6 c	Ily ambulatory without aid, self sufficient, up and about some 12 hours a day despite ely severe disability consisting of one FS grade 4 (others 0 or 1) or combination of lesser s exceeding limits of previous steps; able to walk without aid or rest for some <u>500 meters</u> ity blocks.

4.5 Fully ambulatory without aid, up and about much of the day, able to work a full day, may
otherwise have some limitation of full activity or require minimal assistance; characterized by
relatively severe disability usually consisting of one FS grade fours (others 0 or 1) or combinations



of lesser grades exceeding limits of previous steps; able to walk without aid or rest some <u>300</u> meters or nearly <u>4 city blocks</u>.

- 5.0 Ambulatory without aid or rest for about <u>200 meters or 2.5 citv blocks</u>; disability severe enough to impair full daily activities (e.g. to work a full day without special provisions); FS equivalents are one grade five alone (others 0 or 1); or combinations of lesser grades usually exceeding specifications for step 4.0.
- 5.5 Ambulatory without aid for about <u>100 meters or 1.25 citv blocks</u>; disability severe enough to preclude full daily activities; usual FS requirements are one grade 5 alone (others 0 or 1); or a combination of lesser grades usually exceeding those for step 4.0.
- 6.0 Intermittent or unilateral constant assistance (cane, crutch, brace) required to walk about 100 meters or 1.25 city blocks with or without resting; FS equivalents are combinations with more than two FS grade 3+.
- 6.5 Constant bilateral assistance (canes, crutches, braces) required to walk about 20 meters without resting; (Usual FS equivalents are combinations with more than two FS grade 3+).
- Note: EDSS steps 1.0 to 4.5 refer to patients who are fully ambulatory and the precise step number is defined by the FS scores. EDSS steps 5.0 to 9.5 are defined by the impairment to ambulation and usual equivalents in FS scores are provided.



Kurtzke Functional Systems Scores (FSS)

A. Pyramidal Functions

- 0 Normal
- 1 Abnormal signs without disability
- 2 Minimal disability
- 3 Mild (4+/5) to moderate (3/5) para-paresis or hemi-paresis (detectable weakness but most function is sustained for short periods, a fatigue problem)
 - Severe (≤2/5) mono-paresis (almost no function)
- 4 Marked (≤2/5 in 2 ore more muscle groups) para-paresis or hemi-paresis (function is difficult)
 - Moderate quadriparesis (function decreased but can be sustained for short periods)
 Monoplegia
- 5 Paraplegia, hemiplegia, or marked quadriparesis
- 6 Quadriplegia
- 9 Unknown

B. Cerebellar Functions

- 0 Normal
- 1 Abnormal signs without disability
- 2 Mild ataxia (tremor or clumsy movements easily seen, minor interference with function)
- 3 Moderate truncal or limb ataxia (tremor or clumsy movements interfere with function in all
- spheres)
- 4 Severe ataxia in all limbs (most function is very difficult)
- 5 Unable to perform coordinated movements due to ataxia
- 9 Unknown

C. Brainstem Functions

- 0 Normal
- 1 Signs only
- 2 Moderate / intermittent nystagmus or other mild disability
- 3 Severe / constant nystagmus, marked extraocular weakness (difficulty tracking), or moderate disability of other cranial nerves.
- 4 Marked dysarthria or other marked disability
- 5 Unable to swallow or speak
- 9 Unknown



D. Sensory Function

- 0 Normal
- 1 Vibration sense decrease in 1-2 limbs
- 2 Mild decrease in touch or pain or position sense (2-3 incorrect in any limb)
 Vibratory decrease in 1-4 limbs
- Moderate decrease in touch, pain or position sense (4-5 incorrect in any limb)
 Essentially lost vibration in 1-2 limbs
- 4 Marked decrease in touch or pain (6+ incorrect) in 1 or 2 limbs
 - Loss of proprioception (0 correct) in 1 or 2 limbs
 - Moderate decrease in touch or pain (4-5 incorrect) in more than 2 limbs
 Severe proprioceptive decrease (6+ incorrect) in more than 2 limbs
- 5 Loss of sensation (8+ incorrect in touch, pain, and vibration) in 1 or 2 limbs
 - Loss of proprioception for most of the body below the head
- 6 Sensation essentially lost below the head
- 9 Unknown

E. Bowel and bladder Function

- 0 Normal
- 1 Mild urinary hesitance, urgency, or retention (less than 50% of the time)
- 2 Moderate hesitance, urgency, retention of bowel or bladder (more than 50% of the time)
 Rare urinary incontinence (intermittent catheterization, manual compression to evacuate bladder, or finger evacuation of stool)
- 3 Frequent urinary incontinence (more than 50% of the time)
- 4 Need for almost constant catheterization and constant use of measures to evacuate stool
- 5 Loss of bladder function
- 6 Loss of bowel and bladder function
- 9 Unknown

4



F. Visual Function

- 0 Normal
- Scotoma (an area of partial alteration in the field of vision either diminished or entirely degenerated visual acuity) with visual acuity (corrected) better than 20/30
- 2 Worse eye with scotoma with maximal visual acuity (corrected of 20/30.20/59
- 3 Worse eye with large scotoma, or moderate decrease in fields, but with maximal visual acuity (corrected) of 20/60.20/99
- 4 Worse eye with marked decrease of fields and maximal visual acuity corrected of 20/100.20/200
 - Grade 3 plus maximal acuity of better eye 20/60 or less
- 5 Worse eye with maximal visual acuity (corrected) less than 20/200
 - Grade 4 plus maximal acuity of better eye of 20/60 or less
- 6 Grade 5 plus maximal visual acuity of better eye 20/60 or less
- 9 Unknown

<u>Record #1 if participant has presence of temporal pallor</u>

G. Cerebral (or mental) Functions

- 0 Normal
- 1 Mood alteration only (does not affect EDSS score)
- 2 Mild decrease in mentation / mental activity
- 3 Moderate decrease in mentation
- 4 Marked decrease in mentation (chronic brain syndrome)
- 5 Dementia or chronic brain syndrome severe or incompetent
- 9 Unknown

Appendix Q: Fatigue Severity Scale



Fatigue Severity Scale:

Participant ID: _____

Date: _____

This questionnaire is about fatigue and how it affects your function. Please circle the number between 1 and 7 that you feel best describes your usual way of life within the <u>last 4</u> <u>weeks</u>. 1 indicates "strongly disagree" and 7 indicates "strongly agree."

Read and Circle a Number	Strongly Disagre		e 🗲	Stro	ngly A	gly Agree	
1. My motivation is lower when I am fatigued.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2. Exercise brings on my fatigue.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3. I am easily fatigued.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4. Fatigue interferes with my physical functioning	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5. Fatigue causes frequent problems for me.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6. My fatigue prevents sustained physical functioning.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Fatigue interferes with carrying out certain duties and responsibilities.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8. Fatigue is among my most disabling symptoms.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9. Fatigue interferes with my work, family, or social life.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

FSS Scoring:

Add up total of circled numbers:

Divide by 9:_____TOTAL SCORE

Appendix R: Modified Fatigue Impact Scale

Date: _____

Fatigue is a feeling of physical tiredness and lack of energy that many people experience from time to time. People who have medical conditions like MS tend to experience stronger feelings of fatigue more often than others. This leads to a greater impact on their life.

The following is a list of statements that describe the effects of fatigue. Please read each statement carefully, and **circle** the number that best indicates how often fatigue has affected you in this way **over the past 4 weeks**. Please answer every question. If you are not sure which answer to select, choose the one that comes closest to describing you. Please ask the interviewer to explain any words or phrases that you do not understand.

Because of fatigue over the past 4 weeks:

0 :	= Never 1 = Rarely 2 = Sometimes	3= Often	4 =	Almos	t Alwa	ys	
1.	I have been less alert.	0	1	2	3	4	
2.	I have had difficulty paying attention	0	1	2	3	4	
	for long periods of time.						
3.	I have been unable to think clearly	0	1	2	3	4	
4.	I have been clumsy and uncoordinated.	0	1	2	3	4	
5.	I have been forgetful.	0	1	2	3	4	
6.	I have had to pace myself in my physical activitie	es. 0	1	2	3	4	
7.	I have been less motivated to do anything that	0	1	2	3	4	
	requires physical effort.						
8.	I have been less motivated to participate in	0	1	2	3	4	
	social activities.						
9.	I have been limited by my ability to do things av	vay 0	1	2	3	4	
	from home.						
10	I have trouble maintaining physical effort for	0	1	2	3	4	
	long periods.						
11	I have had difficulty making decisions.	0	1	2	3	4	
12	I have been less motivated to do anything that	0	1	2	3	4	
	requires thinking.						
13	My muscles have felt weak.	0	1	2	3	4	
14	I have been physically uncomfortable.	0	1	2	3	4	
15	I have had trouble finishing tasks that require	0	1	2	3	4	
	thinking.						

16. I have had difficulty organizing my thoughts when doing things at home or at work.	0	1	2	3	4	
17. I have been less able to complete tasks that	0	1	2	3	4	
require physical effort.						
18. My thinking has been slowed down.	0	1	2	3	4	
19. I have had trouble concentrating.	0	1	2	3	4	
20. I have limited my physical activities.	0	1	2	3	4	
21. I have needed to rest more often and	0	1	2	3	4	
for longer periode						

for longer periods.

Instructions for Scoring the MFIS

Items on the MFIS are aggregated into 3 subscales: physical, cognitive, and psychosocial, as well as the total MFIS score. All items are scaled so that higher scores indicate a greater impact of fatigue on a person's activities.

Physical Subscale:

This scale can range from 0-36. It is computed by adding raw scores on the following items: 4+6+7+10+13+14+17+20+21

Cognitive Subscale:

This scale can range from 0-40. It is computed by adding raw scores on the following items. 1+2+3+5+11+12+15+16+18+19

Psychosocial Subscale:

This scale can range from 0-8. It is computed by adding raw scores on the following items. 8+9

Total MFIS Score:

The total MFIS score can range from 0-84. It is computed by adding scores on the above 3 subscales.

Appendix S: SF-36 Quality of Life Questionnaire

Participant ID: _____

Date: _____

This questionnaire will ask you questions about your overall health. For each question, select the answer that most closely describes you.

Choose one option for each questionnaire item.

- 1. In general, would you say your health is:
 - \Box 1 Excellent
 - \square 2 Very good
 - □ 3 Good
 - 🗆 4 Fair
 - □ 5 Poor
- 2. Compared to 1 year ago, how would you rate your health in general now?
 - \square 1 Much better now than one year ago
 - $\hfill\square$ 2 Somewhat better now than one year ago
 - \square 3 About the same
 - \square 4 Somewhat worse now than one year ago
 - $\hfill\square$ 5 Much worse now than one year ago

The following are activities you might do during a typical day. Does **your health now limit you** in these activities? If so, how much?

		Yes, Limited a lot	Yes, limited a little	No, not limited at all
3.	Vigorous activities such as running, lifting heavy objects, strenuous sport participation.	□ 1	□ 2	□ 3
4.	Moderate activities such as moving a table, pushing a vacuum, playing golf	□ 1	□ 2	□ 3
5.	Lifting or carrying groceries	□ 1	□ 2	□ 3
6.	Climbing several flights of stairs	□ 1	□ 2	□ 3
7.	Climbing one flight of stairs	□ 1	□ 2	□ 3
8.	Bending, kneeling, or stooping	□ 1	□ 2	□ 3
9.	Walking more than a mile	□ 1	□ 2	□ 3
10	. Walking several blocks	□ 1	□ 2	□ 3
11	. Walking one block	□ 1	□ 2	□ 3
12	. Bathing or dressing yourself	□ 1	□ 2	□ 3

During the **past 4 weeks**, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities **as a result of your physical health**?

	Yes	No
13. Cut down the amount of time you spent on work or other activities	-	
14. Accomplished less than you would like		
15. Were limited in the kind of work or other activities	1	2 □
	1	2
Ib. Had difficulty performing the work or other activities (for example, it took extra effort.)	□ 1	□ 2
During the **past 4 weeks**, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities **as a result of any emotional issues** (such as feeling depressed or anxious)?

	Yes	INO
17. Cut down on the amount of time you spent on work or other activities		
	1	2
18. Accomplished less than you would like		
	1	2
19. Didn't do work or other activities as carefully as usual		
	1	2

20. During the **past 4 weeks**, to what extent has your physical health or emotions interfered with your normal social activities with friends, family, neighbours, or groups?

- $\square 1 Not at all$
- □ 2 Slightly
- □ 3 Moderately
- □ 4 Quite a bit
- □ 5 Extremely

21. How much **bodily** pain have you had during the **past 4 weeks**?

- □ 1 None
- \square 2 Very mild
- □ 3 Mild
- □ 4 Moderate
- □ 5 Severe
- □ 6 Very severe
- 22. During the **past 4 weeks**, how much did **pain** interfere with your normal work (including both work outside the home and housework)?
 - $\square 1 Not at all$
 - □ 2 Slightly
 - □ 3 Moderately
 - □ 4 Quite a bit
 - □ 5 Extremely

These questions are about how you feel and how things have been with you **during the past 4 weeks**. For each question, please give the one answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling.

How much time during the **past 4 weeks**...

	All of the time	Most of the time	A good of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
23. Have you felt full of energy?						
24. Have you been nervous?						
25. Have you felt so down in the dumps that nothing could cheer you up?						
26. Have you felt calm and peaceful?						
27. Have you had a lot of energy?						
28. Have you felt downhearted and blue?						
29. Have you felt worn out?						
30. Have you been a happy person?						
31. Have you felt tired?						

- 32. During the **past 4 weeks**, how much has your **physical health or emotional issues** interfered with your social activities (like visiting with friends, etc.)?
 - \square 1 All of the time
 - $\hfill\square$ 2 Most of the time
 - $\hfill\square$ 3 Some of the time
 - \square 4 A little of the time
 - $\hfill\square$ 5 None of the time

How TRUE or FALSE are **each** of the following statements for you?

33.I seem to get sick a little easier than others

- \Box 1 Definitely true
- \square 2 Mostly true
- □ 3 Don't know
- □ 4 Mostly false
- □ 5 Definitely false
- 34. I am as health as anybody I know
 - \Box 1 Definitely true

- \square 2 Mostly true
- □ 3 Don't know
- \square 4 Mostly false
- □ 5 Definitely false

35. I expect my health to get worse

- \Box 1 Definitely true
- □ 2 Mostly true
- □ 3 Don't know
- □ 4 Mostly false
- □ 5 Definitely false

36. My health is excellent

- \Box 1 Definitely true
- \square 2 Mostly true
- \square 3 Don't know
- \square 4 Mostly false
- □ 5 Definitely false

Appendix T: Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire

Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire

Participant ID: _____

Date: _____

 This question asks about your usual leisure-time exercise habits in a normal week. Fill out <u>how many times</u> on average you take part in mild, moderate, and strenuous exercise <u>for at least 15 minutes at a time</u> during your free time in a one-week period. Record this number on the line beside the question.

Times per Week

A. STRENUOUS EXERCISE (Heart beats rapidly)

(e.g., running, jogging, vigorous swimming, vigorous long distance cycling, basketball, soccer, cross country skiing.)

B. MODERATE EXERCISE (Not exhausting) (e.g., fast walking, easy

swimming, easy cycling, baseball, tennis, volleyball, alpine skiing, dancing.)

2.) During a typical **7-day period** (a week), in your leisure time, how often do you engage in any regular activity **long enough to work up a sweat** (heart beats rapidly)?

OFTEN D SOMETIMES D NEVER/RARELY

Appendix U: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale



Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)

Participant ID: _____

Date: _____

Instructions: This questionnaire asks about your <u>feelings over the past week</u>. Please read each heading and circle the reply that comes closest to describing how you have been feeling in the past week. Don't take too long to consider your replies, your immediate reaction to each item will be more accurate than a long thought out response.

1.) I feel tense or 'wound up':	Α	5.) I feel as if I am slowed down:	D
Most of the time	3	Nearly all of the time	3
A lot of the time	2	Very often	2
Time to time, occasionally	1	Sometimes	1
Not at all	0	Not at all	0
2.) I still enjoy the things I used to enjoy:	D	6.) I get a sort of frightened feeling like 'butterflies in the stomach':	Α
Definitely as much	0	Not at all	0
Not quite so much	1	Occasionally	1
Only a little	2	Quite often	2
Not at all	3	Very often	3
3.) I get a sort of frightened feeling like something awful is about to happen:	Α	7.) I have lost interest in my appearance:	D
Very definitely and quite badly	3	Definitely	3
Yes, but not too badly	2	I don't take as much care as I should	2
A little, but it doesn't worry me	1	I may not take quite as much care	1
Not at all	0	I take just as much care as ever	0
4.) I can laugh and see the funny side of things:	D	8.) I feel restless as if I have to be on the move:	Α
As much as I always could	0	Very much indeed	3
Not quite so much now	1	Quite a lot	2
Definitely not so much now	2	Not very much	1
Not at all	3	Not at all	0



9.) Worrying thoughts go through my mind:	Α	12.) I look forward with enjoyment to things:	D
A great deal of the time	3	A much as I ever did	0
A lot of the time	2	Rather less than I used to	1
From time to time but not too often	1	Definitely less than I used to	3
Only occasionally	0	Hardly at all	2
10.) I feel cheerful:	D	13.) I get sudden feelings of panic:	Α
Not at all	3	Very often indeed	3
Not often	2	Quite often	2
Sometimes	1	Not very often	1
Most of the time	0	Not at all	0
11.) I can sit at ease and feel relaxed:	Α	14.) I can enjoy a good book or radio or TV program:	D
Definitely	0	Often	0
Usually	1	Sometimes	1
Not often	2	Not often	2
Not at all	3	Very seldom	3

Scoring: Total Score: Depression (D) _____ Anxiety (A) _____

Appendix V: Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire



Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire

Participant ID: _____

Date: _____

This questionnaire relates to the pain that you typically experience.

 Please place a tick in the box that best represents the degree to which you experience each type of pain listed, on average day to day.

	None (0)	Mild (1)	Moderate (2)	Severe (3)
Throbbing				
Shooting				
Stabbing				
Sharp				
(intense)				
Cramping				
Gnawing				
(dull, constant)				
Hot-Burning				
Aching				
Heavy				
(part of body feels				
heavy)				
Tender (to touch)				
Splitting				
(intolerable,				
overpowering)				
Tiring/Exhausting				
Sickening				
Fearful				
Punishing/Cruel				

2.) Please make a mark on the line below to indicate the intensity of pain you feel on a typical day.

No Pain 🔶

→ Worst Possible Pain



3.) Please select one of the 6 words below that best describes your <u>typical pain</u> by placing a check mark on the line that corresponds to that level of pain.

(0) No Pain	
(1) Mild Pain	
(2) Discomforting	
(3) Distressing	
(4) Horrible	
(5) Excruciating	

Scoring:

		Score
I-a	S-PRI (Sensory Pain Rating Index)	
I-b	A-PRI (Affective Pain Rating Index)	
I-a+b	T-PRI (Total Pain Rating Index)	
П	PPI-VAS (Present Pain Intensity – Visual Analog	
	Scale)	
III	Evaluative Overall Intensity of Total Pain	
	Experience	

2

Appendix W: Symbol Digit Modalities Test



Appendix X: 10 Meter Walk Test Score Sheet

Participant ID: _____

Date: _____

Assistive Devices and/or Bracing Used: _____

Seconds to ambulate 10m (only the interim 10m are timed)

Self-Selected Velocity:	Trial 1	_sec.
Self-Selected Velocity:	Trial 2	sec.
Self-Selected Velocity:	Trial 3	sec.
Self-Selected Velocity:	Average Time	sec.

Actual Velocity: Divide 10 by the average seconds above

Average Self-Selected Velocity:_____m/sec

Appendix Y: 6 Minute Walk Test Score Sheet

Sit Less with
Participant ID:
Date:
Assessor 1:
Rate of perceived exertion before test:(RPE: 1-10)
Blood pressure before test:
Heart rate before test:
Assistive devices and/or bracing used:
Rate of perceived exertion at 2 minutes:
Rate of perceived exertion at 4 minutes:
Rate of perceived exertion upon completion of test:
Stopped or paused before 6 minutes? No / Yes If
yes: Duration:minsec

Sit	Le	SS
wit	h	1
M	S١	s

Participant ID: Date:
Assessor 2:
Time of day at start of 6MWT:am / pm
Lap counter:
Number of Laps Completed:
Residual distance walked in final lap:meters
Total distance covered in 6 minutes:meters
Supplemental oxygen during the test: No

Yes, Flow:____L/min

RPE: _____ SPO₂: _____ HR: ____ BP: ____

2



<u>Rate of</u>	Perceived Exertion (RPE) Scale:					
Rating	Perceived Exertion	Mins	0	2	4	,
6	No effort		Ĭ	_	Ť	
7	Extremely light				T	
8			ŀ	╡	\dagger	
9	Very light				Ŧ	
10					+	
11	Light		ľ	1	Ŧ	
12					1	
13	Somewhat hard				1	
14					+	
15	Hard				┨	
16					Ŧ	
17	Very hard					
18					+	
19	Extremely hard				-	
20	Maximal effort				-	

Appendix Z: Short Physical Performance Battery Score Sheet



Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB) Score Sheet:

Participant ID: _____

Date:

SCORING:

A. Side-by-side-stand

Held for 10 sec
1 point
Not held for 10 sec
0 points
Not attempted
0 points
If 0 points, end Balance Tests

Number of seconds held if less than 10 sec: _____sec

B. Semi-Tandem Stand

Held for 10 sec

I point
Not held for 10 sec

O points
Not attempted

O points (circle reason above)
If O points, end Balance Tests

Tried but unable	1
Participant could not hold position unassisted	2
Not attempted, you felt unsafe	3
Not attempted, participant felt unsafe	4
Participant unable to understand	
instructions	5
Other (specify)	6
Participant refused	7

Number of seconds held if less than 10 sec: _____sec

C. Tandem Stand

Number of seconds held if less than 10 sec: _____sec

D. Total Balance Tests score (sum points)

Comments: ____



GAIT SPEED TEST SCORING:

Length of walk test course: Four meters \Box Three meters \Box

A. Time for First Gait Speed Test (sec)

1.	Time for 3 or 4 meterssec	
2.	If participant did not attempt test or failed,	circle why:
	Tried but unable	1
	Participant could not walk unassisted	2
	Not attempted, you felt unsafe	3
	Not attempted, participant felt unsafe	4
	Participant unable to understand instructions	5
	Other (Specify)	6
	Participant refused	7
	Complete score sheet and go to chair stand	test

3. Aids for first walk.....None 🗆 Cane 🗆 Other 🗆

Comments:

B. Time for Second Gait Speed Test (sec)

1.	Time for 3 or 4 meters <u></u> sec	
2.	If participant did not attempt test or failed,	circle why:
	Tried but unable	1
	Participant could not walk unassisted	2
	Not attempted, you felt unsafe	3
	Not attempted, participant felt unsafe	4
	Participant unable to understand instructions	5
	Other (Specify)	6
	Participant refused	7

3. Aids for second walk..... None 🗆 Cane 🗆 Other 🗆

What is the time for the faster of the two walks? Record the shorter of the two times ______ sec [If only 1 walk done, record that time] ______ sec

If the participant was unable to do the walk: \Box 0 points

For 4-Meter Walk:

For 3-Meter Walk:

If time is more than 8.70 sec:	🗆 1 point	If time is more than 6.52 sec:	🗆 1 point
If time is 6.21 to 8.70 sec:	2 points	If time is 4.66 to 6.52 sec:	2 points
If time is 4.82 to 6.20 sec:	3 points	If time is 3.62 to 4.65 sec:	3 points
If time is less than 4.82 sec:	4 points	If time is less than 3.62 sec:	4 points



SC(Sin	DRING Igle Chair Stand Test		
A.	Safe to stand without help	YES	NO
B.	Results:		
	Participant stood without using arms		\rightarrow Go to Repeated Chair Stand Test
	Participant used arms to stand		\rightarrow End test; score as 0 points
	Test not completed		\rightarrow End test; score as 0 points
C.	If participant did not attempt test or failed, circle why: Tried but unable Participant could not stand unassisted Not attempted, you felt unsafe Not attempted, participant felt unsafe Participant unable to understand instructions Other (Specify) Participant refused	1 2 3 4 5 6 7	
Rej	peated Chair Stand Test		
A.	Safe to stand five times	PES	
B.	If five stands done successfully, record time in seconds.		
	Time to complete five stands sec		
c.	If participant did not attempt test or failed, circle why: Tried but unable Participant could not stand unassisted Not attempted, you felt unsafe Not attempted, participant felt unsafe Participant unable to understand instructions Other (Specify) Participant refused	1 2 3 4 5 6 7	
Sco	oring the Repeated Chair Test		
Par	ticipant unable to complete 5 chair stands or completes s	tands i	n >60 sec: 🗆 0 points
If	chair stand time is 16.70 sec or more:		□ 1 points
If o	chair stand time is 13.70 to 16.69 sec:		2 points
If c	chair stand time is 11.20 to 13.69 sec:		3 points
11.0	If chair stand time is 11.19 sec or less: 4 points		



Final Scores for SPPB:

Test Scores	
Total Balance Test score	points
Gait Speed Test score	points
Chair Stand Test score	points

Total Score

____ points (sum of points above)